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Note on Spelling and Transliteration 

English spellings of echnic and tribal names have vacied over che 

years. The currently accepted spellings of these names have been 

followed in most instances. An exception has been made in che case 

of Balochistan, where ' Baluchistan' is used co refer to the British 

period. Transliterations are orthograph ically minimalist, with no 

diacritic macks. 
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APA 

ARBA 

BLA 

BPLF 

BSO 

BSU 

CAP 

COQDA 

CSAS 

FCR 

GOB 

GOI 

HSA 

ISi 

IOR 

JUI 

KSNP 

MSFR 

Abbreviations 

Agent to the Governor General 

Awami League 

Assistant Political Agent 

Annual Report of the Baluchistan Agency 

Balochistan Liberation Army 

Balochistan Peoples Liberation Front 

(aka 'BAAM' in Urdu) 

Balochistan Students Organization 

Baluchistan States Union 

Constituent Assembly of Pakistan 

Commissioner of Querta District Archives 

Centre for South Asia Studies (Cambridge, UK) 

Frontier Crimes Regulations 

Government of Balochistan 

Government of India 

Home Secretariat Archives 

Inter-Services Intelligence 

India Office Records, British Library 

(London, UK) 

Jamaat Ulama-e-lslam 

Kalat State Nationalist Party 

Ministry for States and Frontier Regions 
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Native Assistant 

National Awarni Parry 

Political Agent 

Political Advisor ro the Khan 

Pakhcoonkhwa Milli Awami Parry 

Pakistan Muslim League 



Preface 

The Balochistan that Warren Swidler and I encountered in, 1962__ 

seemed to exist in another time. Shortly after our arrival, I observed 

a ,_e~nent sardar__(tribal chieO ho~g court on. .hi.Lla-wn. 

Pakistan had been in existence for about sixteen years. T~ 

hW..adopteA._a~ system similar tO the Britis~sardar had 

no state authority to administer just~ce. Yet there he was, seated in 

a chair, surrounded by tribesmen seated on the ground. He was 

clearly in charge, but there was an animated give and take with his 

audience, especially regarding some fines he was assessing. This 

seemed to be the embodiment of my anthropological training­

rradition alive and well in the post-colonial state. 

The village I call ~ Iiarna also appeared to exemplify the mid­

century anthropological time of village life, sub.lli.tence ecpnomics 

a~.~!Jci ns.hiP. 

The village itself, enclosed by mud walls with only a track linking 

it to the outside world, looked timeless. Despite several diagnostics 

that located Sharna in pre-modern, anthropological time, it was 

not and never had been timeless. Its founding was a byproduct of 

colonialism after the British had suppressed raiding in the valley. 

Sharna had existed for only about fifty years. It was established in 

the course of a shift from pastoral nomadism to rainfall cultivation - -
and seasonal transhumance. By the 1930s a couple of families had 

turned to Persian wheel irrigation. So in 1963 when investQ.rS from -Quetta were seeking_Qartnerships ln_ diesel pumps for.irrigatio n, it 

,;;;;; not surprising that several Sharna families accepteclthe._~. 
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I returned co Balochistan in 1996. Since my first visit Pakistan had 

suffered a civil war and th e separation of Bangladesh. The Soviets 

had come and gone in Afghanistan, where a civil war was underway. 

Sardars still held audiences like the one described, but Balochistan 

n;;; had a provincial government with some, albeit~ited, control 

over health, education and judicial services. Quetta swelled with 

Afghan refugees. T he villages of Dulai Valley were no longer 

subsistence-based. The old view down the valley with scattered 

fringes of trees markmg wells had been replaced with a dense swath 

of orchards down the centre. Despite the persistence of tribalism, 

th~f the pre-modern in much of Baloc~n. ~ 

The present study examines colonial history, but it is deeply 

informed by the years spent residing in Sharna and a short visit co 

a pastoral nomadic camp. Without the earlier first trip, I would 

have had no experience of tribespeople, diverse in temperament, 

talent and luck, living their daily lives, to mediate the opaque 

abstractions of tribals and sardars in the colonial archive. I am 

grateful to the men, women and children of Sharna. 

The help and advice of the late Nawab .... Ghaus Bux_Raisani.. was 

critical to the success of my earlier visit. He introduced Warren and 

I co the late Abdul Karim, who became both host and friend in 

Sharna. Matthew fua~nza~ur landlord in ~tt<k was unfailingly 

helpful. Fred and Carolyn Lavery took an interest in our work and 

provided much appreciated American hospitality. Although Warren 

and I later went our separate ways, our research was truly 

collaborative, and his contribution co my work is incalculable. 

~iz Luni, scholar ani._ archivist, sponsored my second trip. His 

support was crucial to my research project. Habib Ahmed Khan, 

in charge of the Home Secretariat archive, was consistently helpful. 

Nawab Aslam Raisani set up a visit to Sharna, where Sayed 
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Muhamad was a gracious hose. I owe a special debt to Paul Titus, 

whose research on refugees coincided with my projecc. We planned 

to co-author a book, but the pressures of other commitments led 

him to withdraw from that project. Pare of C hapter 4 derives from 

a draft he wrote. H e accompanied me on a monch-long visit to 

Sharna, and my discussion of recent economic changes there is 

based in large part on his research. 

I am graceful co the staffs of the India Office Records ac the British 

Library and at the Cencre for South Asian Studies in Cambridge, 

who were unfailingly helpful. Charlotte Coudrille, Mickey Hawke, 

and Bruce and Shirley Hyland provided housing for library research 

in London. Peter and Jane Schneider provided commenrs that 

improved this book. I owe special thanks for Adam Swidler for his 

unfailing help in sorting out computer problems. 

The 1960s research was funded by a fellowship from the National 

Institute of Meneal Health. A grant from The Wenner-Gren 

Foundation and a Fordham University Faculty Fellowship 

supported the lacer work. I am grateful to all three institutions. 

Pares of C hapter 2 are adapted from 'The Political Economy of a 

Tribal Chiefdom', American Ethn ologist 19(3), 1992, and 

'Pluralism in Pre-colonial Kalar' in The Baloch and Others, Carina 

Jahani, Agnes Korn and Paul Titus, eds. Material from 'On the 

Difficulty of Telling a Slave from a Wife' in The Ba/och and Their 

Neighbours, Carina Jahani and Agnes Korn , eds. , has been 

incorporated in Chapter 7 . 



Imporranc Locations in Colonial Baluchiscan 

Locations are approximate. 



Major Regions of Balochistan 

Sindh 

Arabian Sea 

• Now Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 





1 
Introduction 

'Remotely Colonial', is an intrinsically relative phrase, with both 

physical and cultural resonance. le is relative in the sense chat the 

quality of remoteness implies an external, metropolitan location, 

f~ rime and spass, from the place of che subject and 

the people who occupy chat place. Colonialism, too, is relacivized 

in the phrase. le introduces a comparative dimension; it suggests a 

colonialism that is ~gnificandy different from other colonialism~ . 

Remote colonialism implies relatively little investment because the 

colonizing power sees little or no opportunity for profit. Geo­

politically driven colonization is perhaps the clearest example of the 

economics of remoteness. The goal of such colonization is security 

with self-sufficiency: the colony should be enabled co !]1eet the coses 

of adequate secu ri ty as defined by the state. Such colonization 

encOdes a- raradox of remoteness as it is distant in some sense, while 

figuring centrally in the strategic interests of a mecropole. Typically, 

there is less arcention to economic issueL The colonial population 

is present largely for military and administrative u.£E_oses, and 

there are few, if any, settlers. 

In most parts of the formerly colonized world, the notion of remote 

colonialism carries an ironic resonance: for the local people subject 

to it, colonialism was never remote. The ~t-colonial consequences 

of remoc~colonialism have been as destructive as any other form. 

Qfcclo_nialism, especially as remote areas have become incorporated 

into new states. Populations of such areas entered the new national -
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arena with seve(!!l disadvantages: litcle economic development,~ 

~s of litera£X,._ and locally distinctive forms of governance. Even 

had they had the will to do so, governments of most post World 

War II countries were poorly equipped to integrate such people, as 

they struggled with inadequate capital investment and political 

rivalries fostered during colonial rule. 

As ' remote' is intrinsically relative, it is not surprising that it has 

acquired new mea0ng in the contemporary g}obalized wQild. If it 
once carried resonance of distance as encoding culturally exotic 

otherness, today it is more subversive, even threatening to the states 

thet dominate the global flows of economic and political power. In 

a world of states, remote is a marker of incomplete state integration, 

of government fai lures, and local resistance to incorporation in the 

new body-politic. The condition of remoteness is often associated 

with the persistence of local leaders in continuing to provide some 

services such as representation or intervention, when the demands 

of the state conflict with local interests. In this aspect, remoteness --<.~_problem for the state that includes such a ~ace. In some 

~es, remote areas have come to serve as staging grounds for 

organizations that challenge the authority of national governm.e.ru:s. 

In Pakistan, for example, dissidents repeatedly mount attacks on 

posts manned by such agents of the government as the police and 

the army. When such organizations mount an operation against 

distant, globally dominant states, like the recent bombings in 

European or American cities, they generate new tensions and 

international realignments. 

Topographical fearur~s such as rugged mountain ranges and 

unforgiving deserts, contribute to the sense of remoteness. T~el 

i~difficulc and limited. to routes around the natural barriers. 

Despite these obstacles, another paradox of remoteness is the 

presence of outsiders, as Ardner ( 1989: 218) points out. From the 
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point of view of the inhabitants, remote areas, historically, have 

been vulnerable to strangers engaged in conquest, usually elsewhere, 

or dislocated people seeking new territory. Today, remoteness is 

marketed to tourists seeking cultural authenticity. 1 

Both the past and the present of Balochisran exemplify the con­

diti(;';; of remoteness. Historically situated in the distant reaches - - -of ~e Persian and the Indian empires, it was periodically, and 

tenuously, attached to one or the other. Conquerors seeking the 

riches of South Asia have marched through it, from Darius and 

Alexander to the Portuguese and the British. It has been a new 

homeland for different people, as ev~ch, who gave 

their name to che region, ca.!!:e from elsewhexe. In the rimes 

when imperial reach was intermittent and limited, Balochistan 

was part of a larger frontier region structured by small polities 

and unstable zones of contestation. Since th e beginning of 

the nineteenth century, Balochistan has been both remote and 
' ..____ -

s~ategically important to world powers, first to Britain and now 

to the US.The British sought to secure the north-western borders 

Of Imperial India when they established a permanent presence in 

what is now Pakistani Balochistan. They restructured regional space 

when chey essentially imposed inrernacional borders upon Iran 

and Afghanistan. Incorporated into Pakistan in 1958, Balochistan 

remains remote to most Pakistanis, who know it primarily as the 

impoverished backwater of the country. Similarly, Pakistan, remains 

a distant place for those Baloch who have never travelled beyond 

their_erovincial borders. 

Kalat was a remote border chiefdom when it was drawn into British 

Imperial strategies in the nineteenth century. The ruler, Mehrab 

Khan, exercised a limited authority over a fractio,11.S acray of sardars 

(tribal chiefs), largely through the tactic of divide and dominate. 

The Kalat Khanate comprised the highland areas of Sarawan and 
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Jhalawan, and rhe lowland plain of Kach hi, while Makran, on rhe 

southern coasr, was tenuously connected to Kalar. T he small 

enclave of Lasbela. with the port town of Sonmiani, was effectively 

independent. Mose of the inhabitants of Kalar were pastoral 

nomads. A sering of vil lages existed along a caravan route that --- -S~fh.ed .from the coast to Kandahar. Since Kalar lacked any 

defined borders, there were disputed zones between the rulers of 

Kalar and the Sindhi rulers to the east, Pushruns to the north, and 

Persians to its west. 

In 1837, a British delegation met Mehrab Khan with the intention 

of obtaining his cooperation in the British invasion of Afghanistan. 

The Khan, reluctantly, signed a safe-passage agreement, but many 

of the sardars failed to observe it, raiding the British Indian army 

as it marched through the region. The British, in retaliation, 

mounted a punitive attack on Kalar town, and killed Mir Mehrab 

Khan. Despite rh ,s unpromising beginning, the British and_ the 

Sardars ended up creating what the B0!_sh rermed as 'tribal 

governance', a pol tical system that endured until 1958. 

Balochistan's remoteness has been produced and reproduced over 

the centuries. It was restructured by the British when they 

established Querta as rheir provincial headquarters and made it the 

centre of a rail and road network. The integrity of Kalar, deemed 

a native state by rhe British, was undermined when Sarawan and 

much of Kachhi were drawn into rhe British sphere of influence, 

while rhe remoteness of Jhalawan and Makran was reproduced in 

rhe new colonial order. This was not deliberate, but rarher the 

result of srraregically located transport nenvorks. Thus, though the 

whole of Baluchistan was remote vis-a-vis the Government of India, 

the British presence restructured internally remote spaces. 
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Remoteness is often a negotiation, especially in recent times. It is 
sometimes imposed on an area and its inhabitants, and arguably J.E. 
w~osed on Jhalawan and Makran by the British investment 

i.o....lnfr4StruCturaL development. At present the Government of 

Pakistan, with outside financial and technical assistance, is engaged 

in constructing a large port c~ at Gwadar (Makran). The project 

involves extensive infrastructure development, with a new inter­

national airport, a rail-link, and a coastal highway. As the plans have 

developed, the project has become more ambitious, even fantastical. 

Its backers envision G~adar becoming another Singapore or Dubai. 

For a time coastal resort communities advertised the good life, bur 

they fel{ victim to the collapse of the property bubble in 2006. 

This is a transformational project with the potential to cataptilr 

Milian from remoteness into a transfer point for Pakistani and 

global markets. It is not surprising that there has been considerable 
~ 

local resistance to the project, which has the potential to restructure 

Makran from a remote area to a site of deracinarion and extreme 

economic inequality. 

NATIVE STATES 

As the British moved across north India from east to west, they 

annexed some lands in direct rule. Elsewhere, they established 

treaty relations with principalities that became known as the Native 

or the Princely Stares. The rulers of these states were subordinated 

to, and protected by, the British. Although variable in detail, these 

treaties assured the ruler and his heirs a protected throne in 

exchange for British rights over foreign relations and other 

privileges. This form of indirect rule W_!S called paramountcy. In 

1864, the jurisprude, Henry Maine, argued chat sovereignity was 

divisible, providing a legal rationale for paramountcy (Ramusack 

2004: 95-6). There was a fiction at the heart of paramountcy: 

although the ruler was accorded the formal status of the head of 
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state, he ruled at the pleasure of the British. This fiction was 

normally obscured as paramountcy, placed great emphasis on 

diplomacy rather than the direct exercise of force. Diplomacy, 

however, was backed by the presence of the military, which was 

mandated by che British, but whose cost was, usually, paid by the 

state. As Coen (1971: 14) put it, ' ... if challenged, the British 

Government acre , in Indian Scares, by no mere reference co 

treaties or usage but by the strength of its right arm.' 

Despite some highly publicized exceptions like Hyderabad and 

Baroda, many native states had limited resources. The British 

appropriated much of the most-productive land of India. Within 

che scares, the ruler in turn retained che best tracts for his own use. 

Rulers were accustomed co distributing some of che royal estate in 

jagirs (land-grants co loyal nobility) or ocher grants designed to 

strengthen che throne. 2 The rulers of many native states were 

accustomed co retaining power by engaging in alliances with 

aristocracies, internal and external. Paramountcy discouraged direct 

c~cact between colonial officials and the ordinary subjects of 

native stares. These factors, combined with the reluctance of the 

Congress (Indian National Congress) to establish serious relations 

with the princes, contributed to the political marginalization of the 

stares in the independence movement. 

In the first-half of the nineteenth century, colonial authorities 

generally observed the distinction between internal and external 

relations, and there was little interference in the domestic matters 

of the state. Dalhousie, who served as the Viceroy from 1848 to 

1856, however, pursued a more activist policy cowards che states, 

breaching the boundary between internal and external affairs. He 

annexed those scares whose rulers died wichouc a natural heir and 

also the ones where the British deemed the government to be 

ineffectual, corrupt, and resistant co reform. Despite these 
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challenges, most Indian Stares remained loyal during che uprising 

of 18 5 7. They were rewarded by assurances chat the government 

would abandon the aggressive annexation of previous adminis­

trations. When Queen Victoria was proclaimed Empress of India 

in 1877, there were more than 600 Indian States. They ranged from 

Hyderabad, some 82,000 square miles in size, to some states less 

than ten square miles, 'estates rather than true states' (Allen and 

Dwivedi, 1986: 2). The Nizam (tide of the hereditary ruler) of 

Hyderabad was one of the richest men in the world, while the 

revenues of the small landlord, the talukdars and the jagirdars 
(land-owners) barely mer their expenses. Ramusack (2004: 8) 

estimates that only between sixty to ninety of these princely rulers 

played a significant role in the politics of the colonial period.3 

The Struggle of 18 5 7 was a crisis for the British rulers (Metcalf, 

1995: 43). With the end of the Ease India Company and che 

banishment of the last Mughal king, London assumed direct 

responsibility for the Indian Empire. The British found themselves 

presiding over two categories of subjects with different administrative 

structures and law codes, such chat the British head of the Indian 

state had two cities: Viceroy and Govenor General, the latter 

indicating his responsibili ty for che Native States. 

British officials, in collusion with the native princes, maintained a 

conservative form of cultural remoteness during the course of the 

nineteenth century. Imperial politicians in London and Calcucca 

fostered the construction of an ancient, exotic India (Cannadine, 

2002: 46). Fo..:_ many British officials, the rulers of the large princely 

states embodied the ' real India'. As the nineteenth century 

advanced, the contrast between the states and British India became 

more consciously drawn. The Imperial Assemblage of 1877 

embodied the British vision of a distinct relationship between the 

Queen-Empress and her Indian subjects, with special attention to 
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the princes. It was designed to display British authority and 

splendor (Cohn, 1987(1983]). The British created a new honours 

order, th~ar of India, which q~kly acquired three ranks, open 

to Britons and Indians alike. British officials manipulated honours 

both as rewards and punishments. There was some maneuvering 

for honours among the tribal elite in Kalar, bur it seemed 

predominately related to the ranking competi tion among the 

chiefs.4 

Many princes shared rn interest in horsemanship andJ!_unting with 

the colonial officials. These activities were markers of masculinity 

i~h-:lndra <md Britain. Princely India was famous for large, 

elaborately staged, hunts. Invitations to a hunt or ~~d by 

a !!1ajor prince w~highly valued in colonial society. 'The Gwalior 

tiger shoots, organised with meticulous precision so char rhe largest 

tigers always seemed to put in an appearance opposite the right 

shooting butt at the right rime, ensured that Madhav Rao dealt 

direct with Viceroys 1 arher than their Agents' (Allen and Dwivedi, 

1986: 71). The princes saw the advantage of waiting long hours for 

game with rhe Viceroy or a Chief Commissioner (Allen and 

Dwivedi, 1986: 90-104; Ramusack, 2004: 161). 

K.Af.AT ExcEPTIONALISM 

On the face of it, Ks.l..a.Lhad the attributes of a major native scare. 

~~ate, formally entided to direct relations with the 

Viceroy. Ir was a 'salute state' , with a nineteen-gun status, and only 

six scares ranked higher. Yet it is barely mentioned, if at all, in the 

literature dealing with the native states. In face, located at rhe far 

reaches of the British Indian Empire, Kalar had Ii de in common 

with the other oarive stares. Ahmad Yar Khan, ruler of Kalar from 

1933 until 1955, rejected the status of an Indian Stace on the 

grounds that there was nothing Indian about Kalar. In some ways 
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he was right because Kalar was fa r from exemplifying the ' real 

India', despite the pageantry of the an nual Sibi Fair. T he Bri tish, 

however, dismissed Ahmad Yar Khan's argument as Kalar had 

already become a princely state with the creaty of 1876. However, 

over rime, Kalat's formal status became increasingly ac odds wich 

ad~i.~.U:~cive practice, producing what can be called Kalar 

exceptional ism. 

The basis of this exceptionalism was created in che interaction 

bet\veen the colonial officials and che tribal elites. lt~ch the 

sardari resistance that culminated in tb.e Kachhi r1Jids of 187 L - - ·· 
These raids occurred-duri;g a debate over Kalar policy..,_beVtteen 

William Merewecher, C ommissioner of Sindh, and Roberc 

andeman, D epucy Commissioner in the Punjab, and chey 

screngchened Sandeman's position of dealing di reccly with che tribal 

chiefs (see Chapter 3). Kalar excepcionalism was extended in the 

de~ Mir Khodadad Khan in 1892, which is discussed ac 

length in Chapcer 6. The Khan probably did not expect co lose his 

throne when he challenged British authority. The Government of 

India, far from che scene in Calcuna, was hesitant, as a matter of 

policy, to depose che princely rulers. H ad chey been able to 

intervene ac an earlier scage, Khodadad Khan might have retained 

his position, and had the government nor forced him off che 

chrone, Calcuna mighc have entertained deposing his son, Mir 

Mahmud Khan, inscead. 

Mahmud Khan, who succeeded h is father, occupied the throne but 

refused co rule. H is tactics of avoidance and delay led the British ,.. 
co violate the g_eneral norms of paramountcy and step furcher into 

cne go~ance of Kalar, chus increasing che Bricish dependence on 

che scace's tribal adminiscracion. 
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What the British assumed to be a solidified native state was actually 

an unstable chiefdom based on the exchange of tribute for 

protection, in which power was decentralized. There was a weak 

central ruler and a number of sardars who led pastoral nomadic 

tribal formations and maintained landed-estates in Kachhi. Ethnic 

specialises-Hindu merchants, Afghan traders, and tenant culti­

vators were the cribure-paying clients of rhe Khan and the local 

sardars. The overlapping networks of trade and finance linked Kalar 

with Kandahar, to its north, in Afghanistan, and the town of 

Shikarpur, to its south, in Sindh. The contractual networks placed 

Kalar within a regional structure while conrriburing ro the lack of 

polirical cencralizarion. Two facrors produced Kalac's instability: rhe 

tribesman's right to relocate and transfer political allegiance, and 

the contested borders of the Khanace. These underwrote the 

inability of the ru li ng Ahmadzais and the Sarawan sardars to 

precipitate a more stable tributary scare. 

British power and geoscracegic concerns might have pushed Kalar 

toward greater centralization had the British understood the Kalar 

poli ty, a position which was espoused by Mereweacher. Calcutta's 

decision to back andeman and tribal government, allowed 

important decisions, such as the status of Makran, to be finessed, 

and ad hoc arrangements, such as entering into direct relations with 

Kharan, co cake place. These would become serious problems as 

decolonization got underway in the 1930s. 

Thµ.ciH&h-scab ilized a fluid Eolity. This had distinctive con­

sequences for diffe1enc pares of Kalar. The differences generated 

by the British reflected pre-existing variations in tribal formations 

and agrarian resources. Sarawan sardars, who controlled more 

prosperous estates than most of their Jhalawan counterparts, worked 

our parameters of cooperation with the colonial administration that 

ensured the success of tri bal governance. However, they asserted 
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intent to insulate women and tenants from colonial authority. The 

limitations of tribal governance became apparent in Jhalawan. 
- ---- -- .. The effectiveness of jirga (tribal court) decisions depended on 

comprrance:-Factionalized, the sardari lineages and ambitious 

fakhtr(Se'"ction heads) were not prone co compliance. 

Makran had different problems, as various branches of a 

conquering lineage controlled oases settlements and engaged in 

chronic hostilities with one another. After several unsuccessful 

attempts co control the unsecured border with Persia, t~ritish 

turned Makran over co a nazim (administrator), who was 

formally employed by the Khan , a technicality that allowc;d the -Agency's officials to keep a distance from Makran affairs. This 

was convenient, as the nazim kept the order desired by the 

British with methods unacceptable co both London and 

Calcutta. 

T~zation of the Khan and rise of 'tribal government', 

w.ere the conseg_uences of a series of events. Some, such as the First 

Afghan War (1839-42), were international in scope, while others, 

such as the protracted efforts of the Sarawan sardars to repossess 

their Kachhi estates, confiscated after the war, and enter into direct 

relations with che colonial state, were national in scope. Still ochers, 

such as the Khan's relations with the sardars, were local. Being 

remotely colonial at the borders of the Indian Empire, meant chat 

the treaty which designated the Khan as the ruler of the Kalar Scace, 

could be repeatedly finessed in favour of tribal governance. The 
~ 

Khan would be accorded all the prococol extended to the n;give 

princes, bur his throne would be no sear of power. The Pax 

Britannica mighc have led co the decay of tribal organization and 

sardari authority, had the British been willing to engage direccly 

with the cribespeople and the tenants, bur paramounccy discouraged 
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chis option. Agency officials were not averse to violating para­

mountcy, and the turn to tribal governance itself, was a fundamental 

breach of chat principle. Depe~dence on the sardars further 

dts~uraged direct dealings with the natives and elicic~d sanctions 

on officials who ignored che policy. 

During the course of several postings, Terence Kryes repeatedly 

attempted_to secure freedom for slaves. His efforts elicited two 

reprimands and several cautions from his superiors. 5 Managing the 

contradictions attendant on a Princely Scace, that was governed 

through a tribal confederation, led to tensions between Calcutta, 

determined to maintain che appearance of the state, and Agency 

officials coping with conditions on che ground. 

In the 1930s, the growing power of the Congress persuaded the 

British to develop a new arrangement for power-sharing in the 

Government of India le was a federation of provinces and the 

Native Scates and each princely ruler was permitted to decide 

whether to federate his scare. Decades of decisions postponed, issues 

cabled, and compromises made, resulted in Kalar being deemed 

ineligible to join the proposed government. In face, the Agency's 

officials, charged by Calcutta to produce the constitution of Kalar, 

had great difficulty naming what they and the tribal leaders had 

created over time. Was it a form of 'feudalism' as the Treacy of 1876 

suggested? Was it a 'tribal confederation', a term reluccancly 

accepted by Calcutta n the early years of the twentieth century? 

Or was Kalar sui generis, a 'multiple federal state', as Keyes had 

suggested in 1926? However the British characterized the Kalar chat 

they and the sardars had created, their commitment to it precluded 

their treaty obligations. When the activist ruler, Mir Ahmad Yar 

Khan was installed in 1933, the Agenc to the Governor General 

(AGG) argued chat the British could not honour the terms of the 

1876 Treacy chat pertained to the powers of the Khan. These 
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difficulcies disrupted pose-war negotiations for che transfer of 

power. Remotely colonial meant char ad hoc decisions designed co 

maintain ruder rendered· Kalar an exception co other Na rive States. -
Calcutta, with an eye coward London, relenrlessly upheld the 

appearance of paramounrcy, even while authorizing Agency 

breaches of it. For much of the colonial period, the British blamed 

their problems on che Khans, claiming that their character defects 

necessitated departures from policy. Mir Khodadad Khan's excessive 

greed and brucaliry were used co rationalize his deposition in 1892. 

When Agent to the Governor General (AGG) Browne, deposed 

him, he drew on a discourse of the defects of the princely ruler. 

When he sought che support of the sardars for che abdication, he 

set Kalar on its distinctive trajectory. Similarly, Agency officials 

cited indolence and immaturity as explanations for Mahmud 

Khan's unwillingness to cooperate. It is obvious that the structure 

£[.paramountcy did not generate .rulers responsive co the needs of 

their subjecrs..... Despice rare exceptions, the princes, their thrones 
~ ---- - -. ' guaranteed by British power, were nor committed to the political 

a'llii7conomic development of their scares. 

T HE PROBLEM OF TRIBE 

Tribe has a problematic history in anchro£ological discourse, with -a semantic domain chat oscillates between a universalizing generality ...--
and an ethnographic specificity. In its more inclusive aspect, tribe 

has been used co designate general category of societies in which 

kinship orders social and economic relations. T he universalizing 

tendency in tribal discourse reached a peak in che early 1960s when 

American neo-evolucionisrs proposed a tribal stage in cultural 

evolution (Sahlins, 1968; Sahlins and Service, 1960; Service, 1971). 

The tribal stage generated a debate chat highlighted the varied and 

inconsistent usages of tribe (Fried, 1967). 
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T he anrhropological discourse of 'tribe' was critically shaped with 

che publication of The Nuer in 1940. For Evans-Pritchard, tribes 

were territorially-based political groups, in which che balanced 

opposition of lineage segments serve to maintain public order in 

che absence of forma. leadership. Egalitarian tribal sociery, though 

otzj_erly but without formal leaders, became the ocher of the 

hierarchical, bureaucracic s~, in the sense of an organic 

solidari ty derived from a lineal base, became an escablished 'prestige 

1one' in anthropological theory (cf Appadurai 1986), as a number 

of ethnograp hers applied , modified and adumbrated Eva ns­

Pricchard's concepc of a 'tribe' (Forces and Evans-Pri tchard, 1940; 

Middleton and Tait, 1958). 

T he mid-cwenrieth century rum to evolution and functionalism 

served to exclude hi~torical process. White (1949: 8- l l) argued 

chat evolution, a non-repeticive temporal-formal process, was 

superior co purely temporal history on scientific grounds. T homas 

( 1989) has argued that the exclusion of history was more than a 

mere oversight, chat it was necessary for producing a subject-a 

discrete society wi t h a distinctive culture-amenable co the 

professionalizacion of anthropology as a distincti ve d iscipline. 

Indeed, Evans-Pritchard's determination to reveal the structural 

principles of N uer society led to him exclude or downplay socio­

economic differentiation (Gough, 197 1), and the impact of traders 

dealing in slaves and ivory (Sacks, 1979). The extensive scholarship 

generated by Evans-Pritchard 's N uer research is a testament to the 

breadth and depth of his work and dalso to its historical moment. 

W ith the consolidatio n of post-colonial states throughout the 

I 960s and the I 970s, tribal discourse came under increasing arrack. 

f ried (1967: 5) noted the conn~ions between racism and tribalism 

that formed the basis of a sustained critique fro m indigenous 

scholars and officials of the new governmen ts. Even today, in the 
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popular press, tribe is often used to indicate the rejection of ethnic 

pluralism in the~xt of state failure, as, for example, in the 

breakup of Yugoslavia. A descent into tribalism is a violent 

challenge to civilized life. Thus the negative connotation of tribe 

in contemporary usage amplifies the post-colonial critique of tribe. -Today, 'tribe', often comes adorned with quotes that mark its 

ambiguous yet indispensable qualities. 'Tribe' signals an irony: tribe 

has served as the signifier of a stable past persisting in a dynamic 

present, and in the post-colonial moment, 'tribe' critiques the 

colonial construction of the past. 

Evans-Pritchard's Nuer analysis influenced Middle East ethnography 

and generated a debate regarding tribes and segmentation. 

Abu-Lughod ( 1986: 30) suggests that the attention devoted to 

segmentation and tribal policies reflect a congruence of gender­

based interests between male anthropologists and their informants. 

The focus on structural analysis of tribal formations tended to exile 

tribe from history in a region where tribe and state have a long and 

complex relationship. This trend was reversed by scholars such as 

Garthwaite (1983) and Beck (1986), who studied the great tribal 

confederations of Iran. The specific form that tribal structures 

took was determined by factors such as state relations, the presence 

of long-distance trade, competition for pastoral resources, and 

circulation of tribute. Bradburd (1994) argues that export trade has 

figured significantly in the political economy of Komachi and other 

small tribal formations in Kerman (Iran), for several centuries. 

A recent study by Salzman (2008) demonstrates the difficulties of 

extracting 'tribe' from history. Salzman proposed a view of tribe 

and state as inevitably opposed structures, each of which constitutes 

a dialectical constraint upon the other (2008: 61 ). This consigns 

the Middle East, and its extension into Southwest Asia, to a 

timeless repetition. The ' ... brief European imperial and colonial 
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disruptions in the Middle Ease ... have come and gone', and failed 

co alcer che tribe-state dynamic {Salzman, 2008: 194). When 

hiscorical events become cricica1 elements of what is essentially an 

ahiscorica1 analysis, they cake on an arbicrary quali ty. European 

colonialism becomes a marginal event in Salzman's argument, while 

the violence associated with che eighch-cencury Arab expansion 

becomes central. 

Tribe, as a contemporary issue in Balochiscan, has something in 

common with 'tribe' in che anthropological discourse. Boch 

discourses, in radically differing contexts, are profoundly ahistorical. 

In che former, the role of the state is obscured, while in the latter, 

tribe is still enmeshed in the disciplinary heritage of evolution and 

functionalism. There is a male, kin-based autonomy, at the heart 

of most cribal formations, but variations derived from the common 

base reflect different times and places. When abstract tribe is 

opposed co abstract state as in Salzman's analysis, time and place 

are obliterated. This results in what Cooper (2005: 17) calls 

'ahiscorical hiscorr', a relating of past co the present through 

abstract forces that erase the particular dynamics of time and place. 

Under these cond1Cions, the cribe in contemporary Balochistan, 

e~scing wichin a pose-colonial scare, is essentially the same as it was 

d~ing ch:_ British rimes. To be sure, there is some apparent 

continui ty. The tribes of coday's Balochiscan are still led by sardars, -lineage and collecc•ve responsibility continue co shape the lives_of 

most cribespeople, and there is still a significant degree of auconomy 

in mosr of Balochiscan. Should this be underscood as timeless 

resistance co centralized authority? Or should the scare be faulted 

for colluding with sardars and failing co provide basic services and 

opportunities? 
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TRIBAL GOVERNANCE 

Bricish dominance in Balochistan was directed cowards se~iry of 

borders and maintenance of an acceptable level of publ~ence. 

Paramountcy favoured chiefs who could keep their followers in 

line, and cooperate with their counterparts in resolving inter-tribal 

disputes wirhout British intervention. These chiefs retained 

considerable control over internal affairs and over the disposition 

of disputes. The sardars of Sarawan were notably more successful 

at chis than their counterparts in Jhalawan. Their success was 

determined by structural, historical, and political factors. The 

smaller size of the rribes of Sarawan enabled rheir sardars co keep 

a firmer hold on section leaders, and their aurhoriry was enhanced 

when they accumulated hamsayas (new, unrelated followers) as 

culrivacing cenancs on lands made secure by rhe Pax Briranica. 

These sardars had been the core of rhe Ahmadzai support in Kalar 

and were rewarded for rheir loyalty with productive es tates. They 

had engaged in protracted negociacions with the British early on, 

first for direct relations and lacer for the return of estates confiscated 

after the First Afghan War. Historical experience predisposed the 

sardars of Sarawan co value limiced cooperation wich che British. 

T~ colonial insticucions of tribal governance were the jirga and 

che levies. The jirga was a deliberative body convened by an official 

of che Agen~ consider cases. ]irga deliberat ions produced 

recommendations, based on which che Agency officials made their 

final decisions. They usually accepted rhe recommendations in 

principle, although sometimes modified che terms. The levies were 

native employees whose various casks were linked to jirga 

maintenance. Robert Sandeman, first AGG of the Baluchistan 

Agency, established this form of tribal governance, and it is 

sometimes referred to as the 'Sandeman sysrem'. Sandeman f~ --certain aspects of tribalism-sardari authority and collective 
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responsibility-admirable, and he sought to suengthe~nd / 

-improve them. 

}irga is a Pashto word that refers ro gatherings-Barth (1959: 67) 

calls them assemblies-char can be called for by any landholding 

male Push tun. Push run jirgas have no leader and al.Lmen..are free 

ro speak. They are cal ed for a wide variery of reasons, and the issue 

co be considered usu1lly determines the level of jirga assembled. 

The British appropriation of jirga as rhe deliberative body for 

Kalar's governance is ironic in several ways. What in Pushtun 

sociery is an egalitarian meeting called by any landholding man , 

became in Kalar an institution convened by a colonial official who 

framed the issue and conducted rhe meeting. From the beginning, 

the jirga was seen as a means of strengthening rhe sardars' authoriry 

and aligning chem v. irh rhe colonial srare.6 The notion char the 

British had preserved ancient tribal governance grew stronger over 

the decades until it became an unexamined truth. British officers 

in Querta, reading of rhe growing challenges to colonial auchoriry 

in India, took comfort in rhe belief rhar traditional, i.e. tribal, ways 

retained their hold on the people of Baluchistan. 

If history predisposed collaboration for the sardars of Sarawan, it 

had a contrary effect on the chiefs of Jhalawan. Their larKe tribal 

fo[mat~ons provided space for takkri (section head) intrigue and 

faccionalis~ and rhe jirga-levies system proved incapable of 

devising effective resolutions for rhe chronic succession contests in 

the Zehri and Menga1 formations, discussed in Chapter 8. The 

British desire ro record tribal and takkar units led ro a rise in tribal 

factionalism as rhe headmen of large sections maneuvered ro 

separate and be recogn ized as independent sardars. Agency officials 

sometimes turned ro takkris for internal tribal intelligence, a move 

chat further conrribured to instability. The already limited 

legitimacy of rhe jirga was further undermined when the British 
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were forced co call repeated jirgas co deal with the same problem. 

In pre-colonial rimes, succession disputes had usually led co violent 

resolutions, but the British could nor sanction such action. They 

turned to the jirga to punish dissidence and violence through 

assessment of fines, bonds for good behaviour, and occasional 

imprisonment. 

Kalar exceptionalism was produced over many decades. It involved 

the actions of multiple players with complexly-layered agendas on 

both s ides of che colonial relationship. Agency officials and 

Calcutta were uni ted in maintaining colonial dominance, bur they 

often differed with regard to staffing, budget and tactics. The chiefs 

were not a unitary force, and probably never had been. They varied 

in terms of resources, organization and followers, and their ranks 

were cross-cue by shifting alliances and enmities. T he Khans were 

accustomed co maintaining power by manipulating various sardari 

factions, and, on occasion, ordering the murder of an especially 

recalcitrant chief, an option no longer available to chem. Remote 

colonialism in Balochistan was profoundly political. Occasionally, 

an official would initiate a small-scale project-like the unsuccessful 

silkworm cultivation in Mastung, or tree- planting in Querta, but 

there was no real interest in sustained economic development, as 

rhe principles of paramountcy supported 'traditional ' econo mic 

production. The emphasis on governance rather than development 

has had a pervasive influence on anti-colonial and ethno-nationalist 

movements which have generally focused more on politics than 

economics. 

COLONIAL KNOWLEDGE 

There is a growing literature on colonial knowledge, much of it 

arguing char the collection and classification of numerical and 

ethnograph ic data became an important adjunct co colon ial 
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governance during che nineceench cencury (Cohn: 1987, 1996; 
Smich : 1996; Bayly: 2001; Dirks: 1987, 1997, 2002; Scoller: 2003 

2009). The Bricish Governmenc ac Calcucta mandaced an extensive 

series of volumes ded icaced co enumeracion, classiflcacion and 

ethnography of che provinces and che princely scaces. In 1902, 

Calcucca d irecced che AGG co produce an Imperial Provincial 

Gazecceer, cogecher wich a Baluchiscan Oisrricc Gazecceer series. 7 

The formar and subjeccs co be covered were sec by Calcucca, 

fo llowing che p recedent of similar co m pi lacio ns fo r Ind ian 

provinces developed in 1901 for an echnograph ic survey of che 

princi£!e tribes of India. This pr-;;jecc was excended co Balochiscan, 

where 'an accurace and syscemacic accounc of che cuscoms of the 

various cribes in Baluchiscan, in addicion co ics scientific 

mporcance, would also prove a valuable aid cowards efficienc and 

-;ympathecic adminiscracion.' The survey began as an undertaking 

ndependenc of che District Gazetteers, buc conscraincs of time and 

scaff led co che ethnographic material being incorporated inco che 

Gazetteers. 

le is unlikely chac agency officials welcomed che project ac che cime. 

Much of Kalar was sc II largely unknown, and in British Baluchistan, 

district organization was still a process in progress, as che cerricory 

acquired in che 1879 Treacy of Gandamak had noc yet been fu lly 

absorbed. In face, chc: new discricc of Loralai was created as the data 

was collecced, necessitating che increase in volumes from eight co 

nine. It is nor surprising chac che deadline for completing the 

project was extended cwice. The reporc meticulously documenced 

expenses, che daces char specific volumes were completed, and 

noted che officials involved wich their areas of responsibil ity. 

However, when ic c.1me co che mechods used for che che actual 

collection of che daca, che reporc was silenc. 



INTRODUCT10N 21 

The preface of each district volume indicates that local officials --were posted to the districts for periods ranging from fi ur ~o 

fourteen months o collect data, but how they did this is unseated. 

These men provided drafts, which were then edited by che British 

officials. le is not surprising that the Gazecceers have some serious 

shortcomings. The sections dealing with marriage and che status of 

women are uniformly shallow and formulaic. Slavery was dealt with 

by obfuscation (Chapter 7). Where there were relatively few slaves 

as in Sarawan and Kachhi, chey were either ignored or classified as 

'servile dependents', a category chat also included craftspeople and 

entertainers. In Makran, Kharan, and Lasbela, where slaves were 

more numerous and visible, they were represented as living under 

relatively comfortable conditions. The population figures were, 

also, essentially, unreliable estimates. Nonetheless, the Baluchistan 

District Gazetteer Series is an impressive achievement. The 

economic data regarding land tenures, sharecropping contracts and 

irrigation technology, is extensive and very detailed. The geology, 

and the flora and fauna, are extensively covered. 

The District Gazetteers reveal both the centrality of tribe in British 

administration and the difficulties in conceiving tribes as stable and 

bounded units. There is virtually no tribe chat is a genealogically 

homogeneous body with uncontested boundaries. Tribes are 

internally marked by distinctions of takkars (founding and new­

comer sections). These indicate the ability of tribesmen co relocate 

and shift policical allegiance from one sardar to another without 

abandoning their genealogical identity. This complicated che British 

desire to assign a clear tribal status to all the cribespeople. At the 

tribal and takkar levels, the British appear to have followed political 

allegiance. Thus the British distinguished three independent but 

related tribes of Mengal: Zagar Mengals who resided in Chagai, the 

Mengals of Jhalawan, and the Bolan Mengals (GOB Chagai: 62). 

The dominant takkar of the Jhalawan Mengals contained lineages 
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claiming Persian, Pushtun and Raisani origins (GOB Jhalawan: 82). 

T he British excluded Raisanis located in British Baluchistan, along 

with the Mengal Raisanis, from their enumeration of the tribe in 

Sarawan (GOB Sarawan: 51). 

T he British thought of tribes as belonging to one of the three 

racial-linguistic groups: Pushtun, Brahui, and the Baloch. Yet 

Hughes-Buller, in charge of the 1901 Census of India, found that 

the heterogeneity of the Khetran sections made it impossible co 

classify the tribe as ether Pushtun or Baloch (GOB: Loralai: 98). 

This openness across linguistic and tribal boundries was generated 

by large-scale migration, such as the movement of Baloch into the 

area in the fifteenth century as well as by the more recent small­

scale movement of families and lineages within the territory. 

Mobility underwrote a masculine autonomy while contributing to 

a systematic instability. The Gazetteers inscribe the British struggle 

to bound a tribe and enumerate its sections, even as the Pax 

Britannica opened new traces co cultivation, sparking increased 

movement across tribal boundaries. The tribe was a locus of status 

(genealogy) and contract (allegiance co a sardar). The capacity co 

integrate heterogeneous sections suggests that tribes were fluid and 

inclusive rather than exclusive structures. Under these conditions 

it seems appropriate co speak of tribal formations (Swidler, 1992). 

What the British came co call tribal governance was in face Agency­

sardari governance. Aside from the tribal elite, the British avoided 

i~ceraccion with individuals. Although some British officials 

engaged in invidious comparisons of Brahui, Baloch, and the 

Pushtuns, it was the subject status, not ' race', that was the 

important identity. Subject status was the foundation of legal 

procedures, as it defined which law code would apply and which 

body would adjudicate these. Status determined who was 

authorized co represent rribespeople, clients and tenants. The 
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inabiliry o(__ordinary Baloch co speak for rhemselves and to presenr 

cheir cases to Agency officials, was a crirical source of rhe sardars' 

~r--.~the tribes. Ideally, subject status-tribesperson, 

tenant, or client-fused political and economic relations. When 

chis was not the case, when tribals cultivated the Khan's land, or 

where village lands were apportioned among overlords from 

different tribes, there was space for challenges of several sons. In 

some instances cul tivators challenged the overlords' rights (Mastung 

case, Chapter 4). In others, overlords and thei r agents contested 

one another's rights (Makran, Chapter 8). 

If one were to ask the question, as to who were che real subjects of 

Kalar, one would find no simple answer. The Khan had subjects, 

m9st of whom cultivated his lands. Similarly, the sardars had their 

own tribal subjects . .Ethnic specialists-Jar and Dehwar cultivators, 

Hindu shopkeepers, mo neylenders and perry traders, and the 

Afghans who were in charge of long-distance trade-all, were 

clients of a Khan or a sardar. It would seem that there were no 

proper subjects of Kalar before the British. British recourse to Kalar 

subjecrhood was limited to international relations. Makranis 

became Kalar subjects, rather than subjects of rhe hakoms (local 

chiefs), when the Brirish assessed responsibiliry for raids and 

murders across the Persian-Makran border. Similarly, the tribals also 

became subjects of Kalar when the British demanded their 

extradi tion as persons wanted for criminal activities. The status of 

'Kalat subjecr' had no meaning for local people, accuscomed to 

moving freely across the newly-established international borders 

that bisected cultural-linguistic groups. Although the concept of a 

national status as either a Kalati or a Persian was meaningless on 

both sides of rhe border, the British, for their own convenience in 

adminisrrarion, needed co assign a specific 'nationaliry' co everybody 

in order to distinguish internal and external subjects. 
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Domestically, one was never a subject of Kalar, as subjecthood was 

divided into tribal and ethnic-client identities. After the death of 

ldo (Chapter 5), determining his subject status was essential to the 

course of action. Was he an employee of the Agency at the time of 

his death, or was he simply a subject of the Khan? If the former, 

the Agency was obliged to investigate; if the latter, they were not. 

Although international borders were a priority fo r the British in 

the late nineteenth century, internal borders were established as che 

need arose. The British were fond of pointing our chat politics in 

Kalar was personal, that it was based on relations among che tribal 

aristocracy rather than on political institutions. The space of Kalar 

was, in effect, the outcome of these relations. The hakoms of 

Makran were subordinate to the Khan when he raised a fashkar 

(tribal army) and marched to Makran to collect the revenue due 

him, as otherwise he would not get it. The sardar of Kharan, 

located on the borders of Kalar, Afghanistan and Iran, was at best 

a nominal ally of che Khan. The borders of Kalar were the 

precipitate of aristocratic relations and shifted dramatically from 

time to time. British administrators dealt with che problems arising 

from personal politics in an ad hoc and pragmatic way. They 

established direct relations with the sardar of Kharan, in violation 

of che spirit, if not the letter, of the 1876 Mascung Treaty. The 

intractable hostilities among the Makran hakoms of oases settle­

ments led Agency officials to install their own candidate to govern 

Makran in the Khan's name. The dominance of the personal at the 

expense of the institutional produced a rather de- territorialized 

Kalar, insecurely anchored at its margins. 

Some years ago I came across an intriguing document at the Indian 

Office Records Library (now a part of the British Library). It was 

a report by an Assistant Political Agent sent to investigate a charge 

that Baloch men were selling women to Sindhi men.8 I imagined 
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the seccing in the guesthouse of a locally prominent man, who had 

been given the task of rounding up the men suspected of engaging 

in such dishonourable behaviour. None of the participants wanted 

to be there: neither the junior official who had been sent off to the 

hinterlands, nor the men accused of dishonourable acts. The object 

of the investigation, the young women, were absent. The document 

records an investigation that no one wanted, except perhaps the 

unnamed informant, whose accusation had initiated it. Yee the 

investigation duly cook place, was written up, and remains in the 

archive. 

The report reflects the conditions of production as it is a mixture 

of derailed faces and overarching ambiguity. The names of the 

women in question, were recorded, but they were spoken for by 

a male relative. The APA appeals to the common knowledge chat 

Baloch men sell their women in marriage. This made it impossible 

for the investigator to make an authoritative distinction between 

accepted cultural practice and trafficking in women. Under the 

circumstances, his superiors might prefer to view it as cultural 

practice, although he would continue to monitor the situation. 

This report is an example of what Stoller (2009: 247) calls 

'contrived ignorance'. Read in the pose-colonial context, its plaintive 

appeal to the opaque indeterminacy of native ways is absurd. The 

spurious difficulties of telling a slave from a wife are discussed at 

some length in Chapter 7. Here I want to highlight the complex 

interweaving of bureaucratic form and the carefully constructed 

ambiguity that underwrote deliberate ignorance. The junior official 

offered a provisional resolution-the women were given in marriage 

rather than sold into slavery-while, simultaneously, providing 

details that would support a contrary conclusion, should more facts 

come to light, or should his superiors wish to pursue the issue 

further. (!) '1 - 4- 2-o I 7 
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Contrived ignorance about women was particularly significant in 

colonial Balochistan. The emphasis on border security and the 

principles of paramountcy, amplified by local gender practices, 

produced exclusively masculine colonial spaces. The intrusion of 

women into these spaces was always disruptive. Although male 

cooperation across the colonial divide predominates in the case 

above, intruding women, more typically, produced tension between 

the colonial officials and the tribesmen. A woman who succeeded 

in representing herself before an official had breached cultural 

barriers. The official was obliged to recognize her, even though her 

presence was a potencially embarrassing challenge to his diplomatic 

skills. 

By the turn of the century, British officials had come to regard 

disputes involving women as particularly volatile. The fear that 

such conflicts could spiral into violent feuding led to the policy of 

establishment levy-posts as safe-havens. A woman who fled to a 

post was to be protected until the PA could hear the particulars 

and decide a course of action. Female slaves in colonial spaces were 

especially disruptive, as slavery had been abolished in Britain before 

the Agency was established. Thus, a female slave, who got to a 

court in either British Baluchistan or the Agency Territories, had a 

right to her freedom. However, she was often persuaded to 

relinquish this right when officials brought family members who 

begged her to return. 

Fear of scandal in Britain amplified the difficulties of local women 

in colonial spaces. Abuse of native women was an ongoing concern 

of several feminist and reform movements. W hile the construction 

of the enslaved, helpless native woman was necessary to the self­

fashioning of British women as agents struggling for their own 

liberation (B urton, 1994: Chapter 3), the 'debased native woman' 

trope became critical to contrived ignorance in Baluchistan: she is 
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debased in slavery, debased in marriage. The brutal life of a tribal 

wife was asserted repeatedly in the Gazecceers, where she was often 

described as 'chattel'. Despite clear economic differences between 

the sardari lineages and the cribespeople, only the Jhalawan 

Gazetteer notes a difference between the lives of wives married co 

prosperous men and chose with poor husbands. While I don't wish 

co underestimate the hard domestic labour of tribal wives, the 

formulaic qualities of the Gazetteer descriptions indicate lack of 

knowledge. The figure of the tribal wife as sold in slavery or 

enslaved in marriage served co absolve the British. Tribal society 

itself had created the conditions of her life, blurring the distinction 

between a slave and a wife. Female slavery complicated the British 

position because they were obliged to follow the law. Slavery, when 

found, had to be addressed; marriage did not. Thus, the perceived 

ambiguities between exchanges in marriage and outright purchase 

allowed the AGG co sign off on the case above, categorizing the 

women as wives, not slaves, and noting it required no further 

action. 

This study is provisional, and it could hardly be otherwise, as it is 

built upon colonial archives that are compromised at the point of 

production (Trouilloc, 1995), and must be read against, across, or 

along the grain (Stoler, 2003, 2009). I hope that it will encourage 

other scholars co revise and expand the historical narrative of 

Balochiscan. The colonial Balochistan archive is notable for its 

exclusions. Paramountcy precluded the kind of intrusive 

investigation of native life and habits reported by Thomas (1994) 

for Fiji, and Stoler (2009) for the Indies. Local cultural practices 

further discouraged the development of domestic knowledge, which 

relieved the British from pursuing troubling questions about 

women and slaves. The distance separating Quetta from Calcutta 

compounded the cultural distance of paramounccy. Indeed, 

structured ignorance in some areas such as slavery and the 
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condition of women was del iberately maintained, as is evident in 

Chapter 7. With vircually no permanent European residents, 

Baluchistan in general, and Kalar in particular, were free of the sorts 

of concerns-pauperiz.ation of Dutch seeders and the status and 

character of mixed bloods, for example-that were ongoing 

concerns of Dutch colonial officials (Stoler, 2009). 

T here was no civilian society capable of mediating British policy 

and practice. Missionary activities were limited to Querta in 

Baluchistan, and Jacobabad in Sindh, and the medical services 

which chese missionaries provided were arguably more important, 

certainly more successful than their efforts at proselytizing. 9 British 

recruitment of lower-level clerks and railway labour from India, 

served co exclude tribals from colonial administration and wage­

labour. The commercial sector of Querta originated in merchants 

already known co the British being granted provisioning contracts. 

Ka.lac paramountcy was a policies of fixed social locations. The kind 

of forced modernization enacted in parts of India was absent in 

Kalar. 

The official British archive was marked by a narrow focus on 

governance, of the inst tutions and personnel thac constituted their 

control. The rationale for a jusc and reasonable domination, and 

the means necessary to maintain power, are the fundamental 

subjects of such archives. There is considerable room for 

manipulation in the requirement co report, to narrate events and 

identify participants co superior officials. The ability to shape 

events was amplified by a commonly shared sense of what could, 

or should, be omitted. In che Kalar archive the rational agency of 

natives is perhaps the clearest, most consistent silence. Khans and 

sardars acted, but their actions were often reported without the 

need to attribute motives. Only in the most troublesome instances 

did an official acknowledge agency, and then usually he offered a 
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trivializing motive that denied the ability to plan and implement 

rebellious acts. A template of the native as irrational, arbitrary and 

opaque shared throughout official ranks, defined their motives as 

unknowable. In Baluchistan this template was applied to tribal 

elites and it served co depoliticize resistance, even rebellion. 

On one level the Kalar archive is a narrative of tension between the 

principles of paramountcy and conditions on the ground. This is 

an official debate within British colonialism, framed within the 

discourse of Indian native states. It is a dialogue between the 

various bureaucratic levels of colonial rule. The dialogue covers a 

range of items: there are the hierarchical exchanges involving 

routine administration, such as nominating a successor when a 

sardar dies, there are agency arguments for staffing increases, 

responses to Government of India inquiries for information, and 

Agency reports of official tours to various outlying areas. I have 

privileged these documents over the annual reports of the Agency 

as the reports tend to occlude the anxieties and differences among 

local officials coping with events unfolding on the ground. 

Anxieties were high when the actions of Kalar elites drove che 

discourse. 

The government created, in the interplay between conscrarnmg 

officials in Calcutta and Agency officers on che ground, and 

between the work of the Agency officials and the faccionalized 

sardars, a Kalar chat could no longer function as a native state. le 
was deemed unfit to join che nascent power-sharing Oiarchy in che 

1930s. After the war, with independence looming, the British 

determined chat they could nor honour the terms of the treaty they 

had signed with the Khan of Kalat in 1876. In effect, colon ial 

authorities in Calcutta and Baluchistan had, over time, often in 

response co local challenges, replaced the central paramount ruler 
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with tribal governance, and the fiction of paramountcy could no 

longer be sustained. 

When Ahmad Yar Khan acceded ro the throne in 1932, he was the 

first Khan ro have received British military training. He had served 

in the Zhob Militia, was fluent in English, Urdu, Persian, besides 

several tribal language5, and his interests in mororing and hunting 

were typical oflndian princes (Baluch, 1975: 111). He consistently 

avowed loyalty ro the British. Yet he could not be granted the rights 

accorded the Khan in the 1876 treaty because che Kalar government 

was in fact, consticucionally unclassifiable and unnameable. Further­

more, ic was irreversible; there was no way back co implementing 

the original treaty, no1 was there a clear way forward. 

Notes 

I. There is a growing literature in cul rural tourism. Scronza (200 I) provides a 

survey with a useful bibliography. 

2. The conventional definition of Jagir is a land-grant whose taxes support the 

Jagirdar's troops. Jagirs could be granted for s specified number of years or 

for a lifetime, and were held on condition of loyalty to the ruler. In 1965 a 

prominent sardar, who was in the middle of arguing a land-case with the 

government, defined jagir as 'that property which used to be taxed .... If 

anyone could prove that we were ever taxed and then forgiven the tax, then 

the land would be jagir. We never paid any tax to the Khan at all.' 

3. Ramusack (2004: 2) poin ts out that che category, 'Native State', contained 

considerable diversity, reflecting changes in British policy over che course of 

the nineteenth century. She limits her history of the st.aces ro chose that 

maintained a degree of sovereignty and whose rulers participated in che 

Chamber of Princes, an advisory body insciruced by che British in 1921. 

Kalar, which met the first condition, was not a member of che Chamber of 

Princes. Mir Ahmad Yar Khan declined repeated British invitations to join. 

4. In 1894, shortly after the investment of Mir Mahmud Khan as che Khan of 

Kalar, the Agent co the Governor General (AGG) proposed that he be 

awarded the highest rank in the Scar of India order. His rank ac chat rime 

was the same as char of several prominent chiefs. T he AGG argued chat he 



INTRODUCTION 31 

would nor wear his order unless he was elevaced. AGG Browne co Secretary, 

Governmenc of India, 25 May 1894, HSA Sec. 2, File M-2, Basta 2. 

5. MSS.Eur.F/131/24 , IOR. 

6. In a furcher irony, che Kalar jit;g"a-levies syscem was exported co British 

Baluchistan where ic became che means for administering che Pushcuns. 

7. This discussion is based on a reporc from che AGG co Foreign, 27 February 

1909, H SA, Sec. 3. File M-3, Basca 4. 

8. Assiscanc PA Jhalawan co PA Kalat, 7 August 1932, IO R, R/1/34/48. 

9. The flrsc C hristian converc was oscracized by his Pushcun communicy and 

chcn murdered by his family (H olland, 1958: 72-3). 



2 
Kalar Before the British 

Wolf (1982: 76) suggests that all human societies of which we have 

reco rds are 'secondary, indeed often tertiary, quaternary or 

centenary'. This is e5pecially apt in the case of that region where 

eastern Iran, South-Western Pakistan and Afghanistan, come 

together. It is a frontier region, remote from the imperial regimes 

located in Persia and India, bur periodically incorporated, albeit 

tenuously, in one or the other. Places remote from imperial polities 

have complex and elusive histories, often of great depth. As places 

along a way, they appear intermirtencly in the hiscories of con­

quering armies. Despite the ecological factors underlying their 

remoteness, such spaces arcracted serclers early on. Notwithstanding 

the mountains and the general aridi ty of Balochistan, scattered 

areas amenable co cultivation were occupied by the seventh century 

BCE (Possehl, 1990: 26 1). Excavations at Meh rgarh in Kachhi, 

indicate contacts with H arappa to the southeast, and also with with 

Central Asia (Ratnagar, 2006: 17), and Ramagar speculates that 

\1ehrgarh was the site of a chiefdom. 

T he Harrapans appear co be the first of a long line of peoples 

exercising varying degrees of control in Balochistan. As Balochistan 

became the borderlands to the great empires of Persia and India, 

the region served as a refuge area for peoples uprooted by successive 

waves of conquerors, like the Archaemids, Arabs, Ghaznivids, 

\1ongols and the Mughuls, most of whom were seeking the riches 

of Delhi. The history of Balochisran is one of repeated upheavals 
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and multiple cultural influences. It is unlikely chat Balochiscan 

was a unity during these many centuries, as different localities had 

distinctive histories. During periods of imperial expansion, portions 

of Balochiscan were loosely attached to either the Persian or the 

Indian empire and were required to provide tribute and warriors, 

usually, on an irregular basis. Provincial governors, stationed 

in these outposts with limited m ilitary support, administered 

th rough local leaders. Northern Balochiscan was subject to more 

influence from northern India, while coastal Makran was linked 

to ports along the Persian Gulf (Fiorani, 2003). Differing imperial 

influences, combined with geological variations, contributed to 

considerable variation among the local policies chat arose within 

Balochiscan. The fundamentals of a persistent spatial organization 

seem to have emerged by che end of the third millennium. Seeded 

communities rose and fell within networks chat linked seeded 

peoples with pastoralists, and some form of trading relations moved 

desirable commodities from Central Asia through Balochiscan co 

India and Mesopotamia. This pattern endured, albeit considerably 

altered, into the twentieth century. 

During the sixteenth century large numbers of migrants moved 

into Balochiscan as a protracted three-way contest between the 

Safavid, the Uzbek and the Mughul forces gave rise to a 'Pakhtun 

diaspora' (Ahmed, 1980: 58). Ac roughly the same time, conditions 

in Persia pushed the Baloch eastward, into the territory to which 

they gave their name. Imperial conflicts generated widespread 

regional instability as new migrants competed with the already 

seeded residents for local resources (Baloch, 1987: 27-99). The 

weakening of Safavid rule during che seventeenth century, and the 

Mughuls experiencing a similar decline in the eighteenth century, 

fostered the rise of local policies. Although imperial authority was 

generally nominal in Balochistan, two policies had important 

consequences for local policies. First, in repeated efforts to subdue 



34 REMOTELY COLO JAL 

unruly pastoral nomads, the Safavids had periodically relocated 

large populations. Second, the ethnic compartmentalization of 

mil ita ry, administrative, and mercantile functio ns, characteristic of 

Mughul Ind ia, allowed the merchants and the bankers co operate 

across political borders, and thei r networks screeched fro m India to 

Central Asia (Masson, 1974 [1842]: II, 107). 

The migrations instigated by the Persian rulers initiated conflicts 

with the local people, some of whom had themselves been earlier 

migrants to the area. There was, consequently, an unstable regional 

environment. Tribal formations in Balochiscan reflect chis instability. 

They are similar co tribal formations throughout the region in chat 

a genealogical idiom is used to express political allegiance. The 

founders of most tribal formations had migrated to Balochiscan, 

and tribal charters acknowledge the heterogeneous o rigins of 

component sections. Tribes were not clearly bounded entities, but 

rather the p recipitate of multiple migrations, the fortunes and 

misfor tunes of baccle, and che choices of families seeking economic 

and political security. 

Lindner (1982) suggests that security was a major issue for pastoral 

nomads living beyond the reach of the state. H e believes chat 

poli tical allegiances were more important than kinship because 

violence was a more or less a constant threat. T he importance of 

numbers in an unpredictable environment encouraged policies of 

inclusion rather than exclusion. Baloch tribes were historically 

inclusive, incorporating peoples of Pushcun, Sindhi, Punjabi and 

Persian backgrounds. Barch (1981 [ I 963]) has con crasced the 

assimilative capacity of Baloch tribal formations with the 

exclusio nary practices o f the neighbo urin g Pushcun groups. 

Alth ough Balochi and Brahui were the predominan t tribal 

languages, language was not a critical signifier of identity. 1 Those 

amongst the Rinds, who had settled in Kachhi, spoke Jacki, the 
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language of the people they had seeded with (Masson, IV: 347). 

Masson (IV: 60) reported chat the Sasoli sardar spoke Sindhi rather 

than Brahui, although Sasoli was a Brahui tribe. 2 The multi­

lingualism prevalent today is probably a longstanding phenomenon. 

le indicates considerable interaction across tribal and linguistic 

borders. As Spooner (1988: 599-600) points our, even Islamic 

sectarian differences did not bar assimilation, nor undermine Baloch 

identity. Inclusiveness was balanced by a strong preference for close 

kin-marriage, which produced kin-based camp communities. 

Political allegiance and genealogy are ideologically linked in che 

concept of shad-i-gham (joy and sorrow), the obligation to 

participate in che good and the bad times, co share joy and sorrow 

at all levels, from the life crises of the family co the defence of tribal 

land and honour. An ideology emphasizing collective rights and 

responsibilities, shad-i-gham has material correlates in the household 

estate and the tribal cerritory. le is che existence of che latter char 

gives concrete meaning co shad-i-gham ac the tribal level. In shad­

i-gham, descent and alliance are fused; brotherhood is created in 

action as well as through descent. Typically, one or more immigrants 

co the area are said co have given rise to the takkars (primary 

sections), which formed che nucleus of the tribe. Ocher families 

joined the latter as barok (newcomers) or hamsayas (neighbours). 

When chey or their descendents proved themselves through 

participation in shad-i-gham, chey were granted grazing territory 

and expected co provide warriors at the sardar's request. At chis 

point they became full-fledged members of the tribe, bur their 

origin was nor suppressed. Alchough the tribe represented itself in 

a genealogical idiom, the principle of contract was not abandoned. 

Contract-or alliance-and descent, co-existed, sometimes in 

manifest concradiccion, as when the tribe was said to have 

descended from 'brothers' of differing origins. In using che 

metaphor of ' brothers' whose fathers could nor have been agnates, 
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tribesmen pointed co the dual nature of che tribe as something both 

'given and made' (J. Anderson, 1983: 123). 

The history of the Kalar Khanace can be divided into three 

periods.3 T~e period of confederation, roughly 1666 co 1740, was 

characterized by a combination of military campaigns and 

political alliances chat served co establish Kalar as a local polity. 

Confederation was followed by a period of consolidation during 

which Kalat incorporated the fertile Kachhi plain. The Khanace 

entered a crisis period around 1800 when succession disputes 

weakened Kalar. British intervention in 1839 marked the end of 

the Khanace era. 

The emergence of Kalar as a regional policy was the outcome of 

processes initiated from below and above. From the mobility of 

pastoralism and the chronic contestation that shaped regional 

history, men joined together in contingent military alliance and 

obtained recognition from their neighbours. In 1666, forces led by 

Ahmad Khan with Dehwar4 support cook control of Kalar town 

and established the Ahmadzais as the ruling dynasty, who endured 

until Kalar was incorporated into Pakistan in 1955. 

The confederacy period ended around 1740, when the Khan allied 

Kalar with the Persian conqueror Nadir Shah. Nadir granted Kachhi 

co the Ahmadzais as compensation for the death of Abdullah 

Khan, killed in battle with the Kahlora rulers of Sindh . A large 

territory, some 5,000 square miles, Kachhi provided an agrarian 

surplus that consolidated the Khanate. All major cultivation in 

Kachhi depended on irrigation provided by large earthen dams 

and channeling the spring floodwaters into fields. When sufficient 

water had been channeled into the fields, the dam was broken 

and the water passed down co the next dam. The annual repair 

and occasional replacement of these dams required a major 
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commitmenr o f animal and human labour. British records indicate 

that one hundred yoke of bullocks working for a monrh was not 

uncommon (GOB, Kachhi: 103). Land rights, water rights, labour, 

and the provision of seed, animals, and tools were combined in a 

wide variety of ways, with the specific combinations determining 

the division of the harvest. The crop was generally divided 

between three major gr9ups: the overlords, the proprietors and the 

cultivators. The tributary overlords were the Khan, the sardars, and 

the tribal sections granted a tributary right by their sardar. The 

proprietors and cultivators were Jats.5 This basic division of the 

agricultural process probably developed while Kachhi was subject 

to Sindhi domination. The common dependence on a labour­

intensive irrigation system made each village a collective production 

unit, which was man ifest in the batai (division of the harvest). In a 

pattern common in much of Mughul India, grain piles were subject 

to intricate public division (cf. Neale, 1957), in wh ich, in addi tion 

to the major division, shares were set aside for irrigation coses, for 

the revenue officials, and for some village specialists. T he overlord 

had first claim on the harvest, thus forcing the villagers to bear the 

coses of admin istration and irrigation. 

The acquisition of Kachhi established the Ahmadzais as a landlord 

dynasty. The ruler Nasir Khan I granted portions of Kachhi to the 

loyal tribes that had participated in the batde against the Kalhoras 

at Aliarshar. The sardars, in turn, distributed overlord rights among 

the tribal sections. Like the Khan, the chiefs retained the most 

productive tracts. The sardars of Sarawan , who were the core of the 

Ahmadzai support throughout the confederacy period, received the 

most productive tracts. Nasir's reign, which lasted for almost fifty 

years, was the golden age of Kalar. Nasir established a relatively 

stable al liance with Kandahar, which allowed him ro turn h is 

attention to his southern borders. Kalar attained its maximum 
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cerricorial expansion by che conquest of Mak.ran, Lasbela, and 

Kha ran. 

Nasir's military exploi ts and Muslim piery underwrote his great 

personal auchori ry. According co Gui Khan Nasir, Nasir Khan 

expanded commod1ry production on his permanencly irrigated 

lands. In addition co encouraging increased production of indigo, 

coccon and ghee, Nasir collected cuttings and seeds from Kandahar 

and India and culcivaced large orchards in Kachhi (Nasir, l 953 1: 
I 7 1). After Nasir Khan's death in 1794, the Khanate entered a 

difficult period. The successions of his son and grandson were 

challenged by their cousins, who were supported by various sardari 

factions. These co n flicts were in part due ro rhe internecine 

struggles between Kandahar and Kabul , which destabilized che 

whole region. 

Trade, which had expanded under Nasir, declined after his death. 

Kalar was nor a major t rading centre in che Gulf crade, bur ic was 

enmeshed in important, albeit secondary, regional trade between 

che southern pore owns and Kandahar. The bulk of che com­

modi cies which passed through che Khanace were in transit, 

produced outside it5 limits and destined for distant markers. The 

port cown of Sonmiani, in Lasbela, became a trade and manu­

factu ring centre, specializing in the production of cloth and carpers 

for che coastal trade. Dyestuffs and hides were expo rted to 

Musqac-('Mu scac' nowadays) (Hughes, 1877: 131 - 2). Babi 

Afghans, residen t in Kalar cown, organized che caravan trade. 

Caravans paid trans it taxes as they moved thro ugh the tribal 

cerricories. When sewriry was particularly problematic, che caravan 

leader would hire iribal guards. Although perry theft in transit 

appears co have been common enough co be treated as a business 

cosc, acrual raiding ~eems limited only co several anarchic localities 

where sardari auchori ry was weak. It is likely chat, despite its 
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chronic factionalism rhe aristocracy usually cooperated in 

discouraging caravan raids. 

As in Mughul India (Leonard, 1979), Hindu bankers provided 

loans and luxury goods co rhe aristocracy and financed rhe village 

shopkeepers, who traded in a variety of goods. Shop rents and a 

range of fees and taxes were a source of income co the tribal elite. 

Hindus were under the protection of che sardar who taxed them 

and were, therefore, normally spared in tribal raids. Although 

Hindus were concentrated in che cowns of Kachhi, Lasbela, and 

Makran, they sent agents co shops in the highlands during the 

summer and perry peddlers co the pastoralist camps. The grain 

market was in the hands of rhe wealthier merchants (Masson, 

(2001 (1844] : 292). On occasions, the Hindus would purchase the 

annual tax-farming contracts as well (Pottinger, 1986( 1816]: 9). 

Hindus were also moneylenders of the Khanate, usually loan.ing 

agai nst mortgaged crops rather than land (GOB, Kachhi: 87). 

Their defence against oppressive demands was collective withdrawal 

of service: they would close their shops. Masson (2001 [ 1844]: 84) 

reported an instance when rhe Khan's brother arbitrarily demanded 

money from a Hindu in Korru, and when it was nor forrhcoming, 

he seized rhe Hindu's property. The Hindus, in response, closed 

their shops. After tense negotiations, rhe Hindus gave Rs400 co the 

brother, and rhe shops were opened. Although Masson does not 

provide the amount of the initial demand, it was probably in excess 

of the Rs400 which was finally accepted. Payments of various 

kinds, like transit fees, debt installments and arbitrary assessments 

were subject co negotiation. Ir is likely chat high interest races on 

loans and mortgages reflected the frequency of negotiated panial 

payments. 
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Boch Henry Porcingcr, who travelled rhe Son miani-Kalar rouce in 

18 10, and Charles Masson, who followed him a few years lacer, 

provided useful information about the Hindu and Afghan 

communities and the ca ravan crade. Although Porcinger was 

impressed by che commercial accivicy in the pore cown of Sonmiani, 

resident Hindus told him char business had not yet recovered from 

a recenc raid by pitares who had loored and burned the cown 

(Porringer, 1986(1816]: 11). The Jam (ruler) of Lasbela received 

Pocringer graciously, apparently ignoring reports that Pottinger was 

nor, as he claimed, an agenc for a Bombay merchanc sent co 

purchase horses, bur was instead a British spy. The Jam was curious 

about British incerlopers, and asked Porringer many questions 

about them. He provided lecters to various notables along rhe route 

.ind arranged for rhe Bizenjo sardar to provide Pocringer with an 

escort to Khozdar. The Jam's cooperation was related to his fear 

char Sindhis wanced to appropriate Lasbela, to councer which, he 

hoped to enlist che British as his allies (Masson, (2001(1844]: 17) . 

\1erchancs based in pores where there was adequate security and 

trading taxes were nor excessive. In 1839, Haji Abdun Nabee found 

the Makrani port of Jiwani abandoned. H e was cold char many 

people had moved to Gwadar co escape rhe oppressive demands 

from the ruler of Kech. When he reached Gwadar, he found 

the merchancs chere complaining about the duties imposed on 

chem (Leech, 199 1[1839]: 325-6). The early ninereench-cencury 

importance of Sonmiani pore was in large part due co favourable 

custom races set by the Jams to encourage merchants co locate rhere 

rather than Karachi, which was under Sindh's concrol. The Jam 

aJso underwrote Sonmiani as the pore of choice for the relatively 

lucrative horse trade by exempting horses from ducy (Masson, 

2001 [ 1844]: 303-4.) Before the First Afghan War, as many as two 

thousand horses moved through the pore annually (GOB, Bela: 

130). Caravan trade flourished when the cuscoms rates were kept 
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at a level char made the Sonmiani-Kalac route competitive with che 

Karachi-Gandava route, and che Khan succeeded in maintaining 

security along che way. 

Although Porringer travelled during the winter, off-season for che 

caravan trade, he met merchants from Kandahar or Shikarpur in 

each town along the way. He was impressed by what he saw as rhe 

'influence' of Hindus in rhe serrlements he visited. It was nor the 

Kambrari naib (revenue agent, representative, deputy) who locked 

the gate at Khozdar each nighr bur a Hindu (Pottinger, 1986(1810]: 

37). Pottinger found six Hindu peddlers at Nushki, which was then 

a semi-permanent encampment of about three hundred tents. The 

Hindus were accompanied by their families, suggesting char they 

crusted the sardar's word of protection (Pottinger, 1986[ 1816]: 

124-6). The Hindus of Kalar town had been granted che right to 

levy a small tax on imported goods for the upkeep of their temple 

(Pottinger 1986(1816]: 78). Baloch (1987: 73) notes char a Hindu 

served as financial agent for Mir Mehrab Khan, and died beside him 

when the British attacked Kalar in 1839. 

Pottinger spent about three weeks in Kalar town, which he described 

as having around 2,500 houses within the walls, and some 1,300 

houses outside. The heterogeneous population of Kalar included 

the Brahuis, Baloch, Dehwars, Hindus and Afghans. Dehwars 

guarded che rhree gates into town, and also provided palace guards 

(Pottinger, 1986(1816]: 50). During Porringer's scay, Roohoollah 

Beg, a wealthy Babi Afghan, was killed in Gandava by the Khan's 

brother. The Afghan's sons in Kalar were imprisoned, and his 

property seized. Pottinger was rold the Afghan was believed to be 

spying for the Amir in Kabul. A large parry of the Amir's horsemen 

turned up, seeking to protect Roohollah Beg's sons, which Pottinger 

rook to substantiate the charge (Pottinger, 1986[1816]: 97) . He 

reported no protest about the killing fro m the Babi community. 
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Charles Masson was perhaps the most interesting of the British who 

travelled the frontier before che First Afghan War.6 Although he 

spent several years as a British intelligence agent, he was primarily 

interested in che antiquities of che region. Masson was a harsh critic 

of che officials whose policies led co the war. His comments were 

so caustic chat publication of his journeys was held up until he 

moderated them (Whitteridge, 2002: 175). Masson spent some 

twenty years in che borderlands travelling on his own and by 

attaching himself co caravans whenever he could. 

Masson travelled rwice from Sonmiani co Kalar, first time in 1831 , 

and again in 1832. On his initial trip he had the good fortune co 

meet Kalikdad, a Babi Afghan from Kalar, who was a partner in a 

trading firm wich offices in Karachi and Kandahar (Masson, 

1997(1842] II: 24) , and travelled che Sonmiani-Kalac route 

annually. He came to Masson's aid several times over the years. As 

with Poccinger's party earlier, the road between Bela and Wad was 

judged co be che most dangerous pare of che trip. The Mengals and 

the Biznjos operated, essentially independent of the Khan, and 

sometimes raided 1he caravans. When che caravan cleared che 

Mengal hills without incident, Kalikdad stopped and sacrificed a 

sheep in thanks (Masson, 1997(1842] II: 36-7). Khozdar, which 

had a large Hindu population when Pottinger had visited some 

twenty years earlier, was in decline when Masson visited it, and 

many of its traders had relocated co Wad, a smaller and less well­

locaced village (Masson, 1997(1842] II: 42-3). 

Masson's depiction of Kalikdad provides a sense of the challenges 

in a trader's life. Masson reports an instance where the Khan 

attempted co impose a new caravan-tax but the merchants banded 

together and persuaded him co rescind it (Masson, 1997[ 1842] II: 

89) Merchants balanced the burden of multiple taxation by 

disguis ing the amount of commodities being transported. 
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'Kalikdad, who would be esteemed a fair-dealing man, and who 

pretended to be a very loyal subject, had sm uggled away several 

loads of raisins, besides ingeniously packing three loads upon rwo 

camels, and other expedients.' (Masson, 1997[ 1842] II: 123). 

Sometimes rhese merchants negotiated rhe number of loads liable 

ro payment at a figure below the actual loads (Masson, 1997[ 1842] 

II: 170). Merchants occasionally supported tribal claims for taxes 

in exchange for chiefly responsibility for any losses incurred 

(Masson, 1997[ 1842) II: 155). When security was not effectively 

guaranteed, local tribesmen were hired as guards (Masson, 

1997(1842] II: 166). 

Security had declined on Masson's second trip. He reported 

an escalation of transit fees in rhe tribal territories. (Masson, 

1997[ 1842] II: 167-8). The Khan was apparently unable ro control 

excessive demands from rhe sardars, and he interdicted the route 

from Bela ro Khozdar. A caravan from Kandahar successfully 

ignored the ban, which inspired a caravan from Sonmiani to hire 

guards and travel the interdicted route. Four men, one a son of 

the Mengal sardar, were guards (Masson, 1997( 1842] II: 166). In 

1840, a caravan approached Kalar town just as rhe Sarawan forces 

were preparing ro attack Khan Nawaz Khan. In an effort ro protect 

their merchandise, the traders cached it in the nearby hills (Masson, 

1997[1842] IV: 121). 

Pottinger and Masson describe an austere landscape structu red by 

towns along trade-routes that linked Kalar to the larger region. 

These towns had ethnic residential quarters, a bazaar, and a 

fortified compou nd for the sardar (Scholz, 2002: 71). Information, 

especially with regard to security and markers, circulated widely, 

carried from town to town by merchants with regional interests. 

News of neighbouring polities Sindh and Kandahar, was also 

disseminated, along with news of British interlopers. Trade and 
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commerce underwrote the development of towns as locations where 

regional and tribal interests were negotiated. 

Early n ineteenth-century Kalar can be seen as an aggregation of 

parceled spaces, each controlled with varying degrees of effectiveness 

by a sardar o r the Khan. Kalar was a loose confederation of pascoral 

tribes with a structural ly weak, paramount Khan. T he population 

of Kalar was notably mobile. Mobility is a constant with pastoral 

nomads, but Afghan and Hindu enclaves employed a tactical 

mobility, shifting from one town to another, one patron to another, 

or even leaving Kalar alcogether. T he space of these specialists in 

trade and commerce extended to the region beyond Kalar. Afghans 

looked to Kandahar, wh ile the headquarters of Hindu fi nance was 

Shikarpur (Sindh). Even the tenant-cultivators were mobile. They 

would abandon settlements when security broke down and they 

were no longer protected from marauders. Abandonment continued 

during the British period, when it was often d isputes about 

property or succession within the sardar's lineage that rendered 

cultivato rs vulnerable ro raiding, which was p robably more 

common in earlier times, and is reflective of the availability of 

cultivatable land combined with the lack of securi ty. 

Patronage integrated the tribal sector and ethnic specialists and thus 

was the relationship that underwrote the Khanate. It was a form of 

what Wolf ( l 990: 5 86) called, tactical or organizational, power. 

Patronage organized economic relations across social boundaries 

and linked Kalat into a system of regional polities. It structured the 

flow of tribute and enabled trade and commerce. Patronage was 

based on the payment of tribute for various forms of protection. 

T he need for protection derived from a general insecurity based on 

the decentralized power that made a sardar, effectively, a ruler of 

his tribe's territory. Tribal boundaries were ill-defined and often 

contested. Raiding within the tribal and trading sectors was a 



KALAT BEFORE T H E BRITISH 45 

constant threat. Unprotected travellers were at risk of theft, as 

Masson's first caravan journey demonstrates. Travelling as a stranger 

from Kandahar to Shikarpur, he was robbed repeatedly, first of his 

possessions, then of his money, and finally of his clothing. H e 

survived the trip thanks to a kind caravan-guard, who gave him a 

posteen (sheepskin coat), and the several men who shared their food 

with him (Masson, 1997(1842) I: 249-324). 

Clientage is a form of dependency, but not all dependents were 

alike. C lientage within the tribal population, which occurred when 

a family or lineage sought ro ally th emselves with a new sardar, was 

reversible. If the newcomers demonstrated their allegiance by 

participating in both good and bad tribal times, they became full 

members of the tribe, entitled to a share of the tribal estate. 

Merchants and traders were protected clients of a sardar or the 

Khan, to whom they paid assorted rents and fees, along with the 

occasional arbitrary demand. The clientage of Hindus was not 

reversible; they could switch allegiance from one sardar to another 

by relocating to the new chief's village, but neither they nor the 

traders could operate without a patron. T he merchants could also 

withhold valued services by closing their shops or leaving the 

village, which gave them some means to redress offences to 

communiry members, as was clear in the case above. 

Amongst the cul tivators, Jars were, probably, subject to the harshest 

clientage. T hey were periodic victims of tribal raiding and dynastic 

co nflicts within the sardarkhels (chiefly lineages). D ehwar 

cultivators in the highland valleys of Sarawan had a higher status, 

probably because they had, reportedly, allied with Mir Ahmad 

Khan, the founder of the ruling dynasty. As noted earlier, they 

provided guards for the entry-gates in Kalar town but the Jars held 

no similar Khanate office. In a similar fashion, patronage was an 

axis of differentiation within the eli tes of the tribal secco r. 
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The sardars of Sarawan, along with several northern Jhalwan 

sardars, held the most productive estates, rewards for their loyalty 

co the Khan. Patronage in Makran was complicated by the 

concentration of agrarian wealth in che oases complexes char 

allowed che sedentary dices (hakoms) to dominate the pastoraliscs. 

Patronage was nor simply a concraccual relation, as sardari honour 

was manifest in che execution of the so mewhat conflicting 

obligations co protect their subordinates while punishing any 

possible challenge to their personal authori ty. The honour code was 

egalitarian in chat it was attainable by all persons who coul fulfill 

the obligations related co family and lineage. It was similar co tribal 

honour codes, elsewhere, in its principles: blood-feud, protection 

of guests and dependents, hospitality, death for adulcery. Protection 

is second only co avenging blood, according co Baloch (1987: 82). 

However, a Baloch fo lktale recounted by Dupree (1 973: 127-8), 

suggests the situational priority of protection when it conflicts with 

the obligation to a'venge a death. A man unknowingly hosts a 

traveller who has killed one of his sons. Another son knows the 

guest's identity and kills him. The hose then slays his son for 

dishonouring the family. A more appropriate response would have 

been to exercise emotional restraint and cake vengeance after the 

guest departed and v. as no longer under the protection of his hose. 

T he patronage system, essential to the existence of Kalar, was 

legitimated and enhanced by its assimilation to the honour code. 

Extending rhe protections of the code co relations with non-tribal 

clients provided some sardars with the means to strengthen tribal 

organization and entrench their position as the chief by maintaining 

a generous guest-house. The honour code mediated che contradic­

tions between equality and hierarchy and blurred the differences 

within the patron and the client groups. 
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Kalar was a rribucary chiefdom characrerized by a srraregic use of 

relocation. le was an unusually decentralized example of whar Wolf 

(2001: 46-7) termed the feudal variant of che tributary mode of 

production. Aside from rhe core areas of Sarawan and Norchern 

Jhalawan, the Khanate was renuously anchored to the land. Kalar 

had zones of conrescacion rather chan borders. The reporcs of Haji 

Abdun Nabee and H enry Pottinger indicate chat relocarion was a 

widespread cacric when security declined. Tribal charters indicare 

considerable movemenc among rribes. Even Kachhi vi llages were 

abandoned when inhabirancs were not protected from raiders. 

Mobility was, simultaneously, enabled and constrained by 

patronage, and while men could swirch their allegiances, char sri ll 

has co be done while remaining within che patron-client system. 

Notes 

I. Unless orherwise indicared, Baloch includes Brahui-speaking cribes. 

2. This may have been a funcrion of rhe social conrexr, and rhe sardar may well 

have spoken Brahui as well. 

3. See Swidler, 1992, for a discussion of rhe Khanare period. 

4. Dehwars are a local exrension of the Tadjiks of Afghanisran. 

5. The Jars of Kachhi are a wesrern exrension of people residenr in Sindh and 

Punjab. They are largely culrivators. 

6. An army recruir named John Lewis arrived in India in 1822. Afrer five years 

of service, Lewis, for reasons unknown, deserred, and assumed rhe name of 

Charles Masson. He claimed ro be a rraveller from America. When he was 

unmasked as a deserrer, rhe Brirish offered him a pardon in exchange for his 

services as a 'newswrirer' (inrelligence agenc). Masson provided diligent 

repo rrs for several years. He was evenrually allowed ro resign and devore full­

rime ro his archaeological interesrs. Masson spent some rwenry years in rhe 

borderlands, and he was cerrainly more knowledgeable abour Afghan polirics 

prior ro rhe Firsr Afghan War rhan rhe British Polirical Agenrs in rhe area. 
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The Birth of the Balochistan Agency 

In the early decades of the nineteenth century, the remote lands 

west of the Indus became the borderlands in the expanding British 

territorial control of India. The Russians, too, were expanding into 

Central Asia, and this raised British anxieties about border security. 

Border debates consumed the attention and energy of many British 

officials during the fi rst half of that century. These debates focused 

on the location of the border itself and on relations with polities 

across it. They were shaped by a number of officials whose inter­

pretations of even ts were at odds, often because of personal 

rivalries, and frequently derived from the selective use of limited 

and unrel iable information. Policies proposed at the local level by 

the Political Agents in the field, could run counter to interests in 

Calcutta and Bombay. T hese colonial governments, in turn, were 

subject to the agendas of London-based politicians who were 

attempting to balance domestic politics and international affairs. 

The polities west of the Indus had their own histories of shifting 

borders and sporadic hostilities. Control of major centres-Kabul, 

Kandahar, Peshawar and Lahore-provided a ruler with the 

resources to enlist the support of those tribal militias whose shifting 

loyalties shaped a volatile distribution of power. The centres were 

linked to one another and to smaller local polities in alliances that 

were as often repudiated as they were acknowledged. The presence 

of a new and powerful player in border politics put new pressures 

on the local rulers and intensified the chronic intrigue among them. 
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These policies were liccle known co the Bricish Company ac the scare 

of the nineceench cencury and Brirish srraregic concerns fueled a 

major incelligence projecc to map the borderlands. The Foreign and 

the Policical Deparcmenc of che Government of India recruiced 

ambitious young men, usually with some facility in local languages, 

co serve as envoys to the rulers. Beginning in 1809, the British sent 

a number of agencs chroughouc the border region, and by the 1830s 

chey had mapped che major trade routes and topographical features 

of the region. The border was rife with agencs and double-agencs 

as rulers, court advisors, and Bricish agencs soughc to obcain sources 

of reliable informacion on one another's alliances and strategies. 

Political Agents, responsible for furthering British incerescs, had, as 

Yapp (1980: 183) points our, 'a vested incerest in inducing their 

governments co look beyond che frontier.' For their part, local 

rulers sought ro enlist British supporc in their conAiccs. 

The British governmenc followed a dosed-border policy during the 

early decades of the nineteench cencury, as ics main concerns lay 

elsewhere-wich the Marathas in the Deccan and the Indian scares 

in the south. The colonial governmenc had buffered che North­

Western border wich a series of creacies wich Punjabi, Afghan and 

Sindhi rulers. The border was sec ar rhe Sudej River, and: 

The new north-western frontier consisted of an inner belt of directly 

administered territory shielded by a strong string of states over whose 

foreign relations che Company possessed complete control, whose 

military forces were substantially at its disposal, and over whose 

internal affairs it possessed a varying inAuence. 

{Yapp. 1980: 175) 

However, by che 1830s concerns abo uc Russian ambicions 

prompred London co reassess ics border policy, and Afghaniscan 

came co be seen as crucial co a secure border for India. Bricish 

overcures co Dose Mohamad, ruler of Kabul, foundered on rhe 
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quescion of Peshawar, a Pushrun-dominaced cown which remained 

under his concrol rill 1834, when Ranj ic Singh, exploicing endemic 

hostilicies wichin chc Afghan ruling ariscocracy, secured it for che 

Sikhs. Dose Moham mad soughc Bricish assistance in rescoring 

Peshawar co che Afghans. T he Rajpuc ruler, Ranjit Singh, had been 

a cooperacive ally for many years, and he had influential friends in 

che colonial government. T he scacus of Peshawar would noc be 

negociaced. 

In 1839, the British decided co depose D ose Mohammed, and place 

che more amenable Shah Shuja-ul-Mulk on the chrone. 1 An army 

division charged wirh th is cask would march through Sindh and 

Kalar, and preceding the division's move an envoy was dispatched 

co Kalar co obcain a safe-co nduce agreemenc from che Khan. Mi r 

Mehrab Khan had lit tle confidence in Shah Shuja's abili ty co hold 

Kabul, and he was reluccanc co sign che creaty, which obliged him 

co supply provisions as well as guarancee rhe safe passage of the 

troops. His difficult relations with the sardars, especially those of 

arawan, wh ich was on the route of the Bricish forces, gave him 

licrle hope of enforcing the laccer's compliance with the treaty. 

However, the Khan had liccle room for maneuver, as his cousin, 

Nawaz Khan , a pretender co che Kalar throne, had already jo ined 

Shah Shuja's forces. 

Mehrab Khan signed, but the treaty was not honoured by the cribes 

who harassed and plundered the Bricish along the line of m arch . 

ira Ram (1988(1873): 88-9), a sepoy in Shah Shuja's forces, 

described various forms of harassmenc. Baloch raiders stole whole 

scrings of camels; and w hen the troops passed ch rough che 

Bolan Pass, boulders were rolled down upon them . Wacer courses 

were blocked and some wells del iberacely polluced. The Bricish 

assumed bad faith on Mehrab's pare and, once they had secured the 

passage of che major part of their army to Kabul, undertook a 
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punicive expedicion co Kalar rown, and killed che Khan m the 

ensuing baccle. Although documents obcained lacer by che Bricish 

absolved M ehrab Khan of consp iring with che tribes, the Bricish 

denied che chrone co his son, appoinci ng, Shah Nawaz Khan, 

inscead. The new Khan succeeded co a d ismembered Kalar as che 

Bricish annexed much of Sarawan and Kachhi ro Afghaniscan, and 

policical Agencs were scacioned in Sarawan , Kalar and Kachhi. The 

sardars of Sarawan revolced, and senc for Mehrab's young son, N asir 

Khan II , who had caken refuge wich a discanc chief. Nasir Khan 

joined his supporeers in layi ng siege co che Kalar cown. The 

campaign, which was marked by vacillacion on Nawaz's pare, 

inconsiscency, if nor duplicicy, o n che pare of che residenc Poli cical 

Agenc, and numerous incrigues by faccions on boch sides (M asson, 

2004[ 1843] : C h. 3), ended in Nawaz's submission co Nasir Khan . 

Accepcing che fait accompli, the Bri cish recognized Nasir as the new 

Khan and recurned Sarawan and Kachhi co Kalar. 

THE 'C LOSE B ORDER' Y EARS: 1854-76 
lnicially che Bricish had nor intended ro escablish permanent 

relacio ns with Kalar, and che. croops were wichdrawn in che 

afcermach of che Firsc Anglo-Afghan War, bur the annexacio n of 

Sindh in 1843 and of rhe Punjab in 1849, advan ced the imperial 

bo rder ro Kalar, which requi red a new, consiscenc and effeccive 

policy regard ing Kalar. In 1854, Nasir Khan signed a creacy ch ar 

obliged him to procecc the crade routes, accept Bricish managemenc 

of his foreign relacions and gave che Bricish the righc co scacion 

troops in Kalar. In return che Khan agreed to an annual subsidy of 

Rs50,000 (Aicchison , 1809 XI: 352-4). 

T he Bricish desired a good neighbour, one char would defer co cheir 

regional incerescs and respect scare borders. The policy char guided 

Bricish- Kalar relacions chrough much of che nineteenth century was 
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called 'Close Border'. le was based on formal relacions, usually 

sripulaced by a creary between rhe Governmenc of India and the 

ruler of an unincorporaced terrirory. Colonial authorities rreared 

the border as a scare boundary, and officials were noc ro engage in 

actions char would extend che border (Thornron, 1977(1895]: 18; 

Bruce, 1900: 14). Many Close Border advocates believed chat che 

Indus River marked a defensible Western imperial border. C lose 

Border had worked quite well with Princely Scares in India, where 

it was informally known as 'mascerly inactivity'. 1 lowever, by the 

lace nineceench century chis policy was challenged by officials who 

argued thac imperial incerescs were better served by advancing into 

the hills and controlling che mountain passes. This became known 

as che Forward Policy. Its supporters advocated alliances wich tribal 

leaders having che long-term goal of concrolling che highland tribes. 

The concept of a territorial border that distinguished between the 

subjects wirhin and the ochers wirhouc, was alien ro Kalar. The 

chiefly subjects wirhin were accustomed co appealing ro their 

counterparts for support in factional dispures among themselves 

rnd with the Khan. The struggles over succession to che khanship 

in the lace eighteenth and early nineceench centuries had been 

exacerbated by Kandahari participation. T he effective boundaries 

of Kalar reflected the reach of che Khan, by his abil ity ro persuade 

or coerce che submis~ion of local chiefs. This reach varied from one 

ncumbenc ro another and even during a single reign. In short, 

Kalar did not have borders in che British sense; it had instead ill­

defined traces, zones of concescacion, whose inhabitants often 

raided neighbouring groups and where che authority of local chiefs 

rose whenever the Khan's rule weakened . 

asir Khan II died in 1857 and was succeeded by his sixteen-year 

old half-brother, Khodadad Khan. Although Khodadad was the 

sardars' nominee, relations quickly soured when he declined co 
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rerurn lands confiscated by his predecessor to the Sarawan sardars. 

The British treated the Khan as a head of state and encouraged him 

to behave as such. Khodadad Khan used part of his subsidy to raise 

a small mercenary force composed mainly of Afghans, thus 

attenuating his dependence on the tribal forces controlled by the 

sardars. 2 When the Zarrakzai (Zehri) sardar died without a son or 

brother to succeed him, the Khan arrempted to install his own 

young son as the chief. 

The sardars saw these actions as strengthening the Khan's power at 

their expense. The period from 1855 to 1876 saw Kalat riven with 

strife as the sardars opposed the Khan's efforts to extend his power 

with British backing. T he sardars, however, had rarely, if ever, 

engaged in unified action, and their tactics were shifting and 

uncoordinated. In 1858, some Sarawan and Jhalawan sardars lent 

their support to the Khan. Their forces engaged insurgents in 

Makran and the Marri hills on his behalf. However, Khodadad 

Khan declined to reward this loyalty by restoring their lands and 

allowances. In 1863, several sardars conspired with Khodadad 

Khan's half-brother, Sher Oil, to depose Khodadad. Sher Oil's reign, 

however, was sho rt , as only fourteen months later he was 

assassinated by his own guards and Khodadad Khan was reinstated.3 

Mullah Mohamad Raisani, ranking sardar of Sarawan, played a 

prominent role in tribal affairs during this period. The major 

sardars of Sarawan had a common interest in regaining their Kachhi 

estates, and perhaps this predisposed a coalition of some stabili ty 

and duration, but Mullah Mohammad's skillful maneuvers were 

critical to their effectiveness. Although he had participated in the 

conspiracy that deposed Khodadad Khan, he had also helped the 

Khan escape, and supported his subsequent recall after Sher Oil's 

death. Mullah Mohammad made a favourable impression on 

Sir William Merewether, Commissioner of Sindh, when they first 
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mec in 1854. Merewecher described che Raisani sardar, then about 

cwency years old, as ' handsome, frank and of mosc gentlemanly 

demeanor. ·• 

By the lace 1860s, local uprisings had produced anarchy in Kachhi, 

Lasbela and Makran. Production declined, culcivacors' sicuacion was 

desperate, and sardars were hard-pressed co mai n tai n cheir 

accustomed way of life. In 1868, Mullah Mohmmad Raisani, along 

wich some ocher chiefs, sought British assistance in mediating their 

differences with che Khan. The British agreed on che condition chat 

che Khan would also agree co their mediation and char both parries 

would accept their decision. In March 1869, Col. Phayre, Political 

, uperincendent of Upper Sindh, mec wich Mullah Mohmmad and 

che Kurd sardar, and recorded cheir grievances. The sardars made 

.i number of complaints against che Khan: he had failed co consult 

wich che sardars as was che custom; he had confiscated lands and 

ocher property and used chem co suppor.c his mercenaries; he had 

suspended their allowances; he had failed co give compensation for 

the deaths of several notables. This meeting con firmed Phayre's 

sympathy for the sardars; support for their grievances is manifest 

in che report he cransmicced co Sir William Merewerher, who, as 

Commissioner in Sindh, was responsible for Kalar. ~ 

A staunch supporter of the Close Border policy, Merewecher 

was dismissive of most of che sardars' complaints. He argued 

that confiscation of pro perry and suspension of allowances 

was an appropriate iesponse co rebellion. In any case, the issue 

became moor when che Khan, who had only reluccancly agreed 

co mediation, withdrew from che process. Thi~ put Mullah 

Mohammad in a difficult posi tion, as he had counseled Sarawan's 

sardars co suspend cheir hoscilicies in favour of mediation. In 187 1, 

a tribal fo rce under che Raisani sardar, raided Mascung, Q uetta, 

Dadhur and Bhag. The sardars again sought B~icish mediation, 
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but Merewecher refused on che ground char acknowledging their 

request was rewarding their rebellion. A tribal force raided a large 

caravan en rouce co Kandahar with considerable loss of life and 

property.6 

Merewecher's support of Close Border remained firm despite 

escalating disorder. However, che policy was chal lenged by Robert 

Sandeman, Deputy Commissioner of Dera Ghazi Khan in the 

Punjab. Sandeman's district bordered the Marri (a Baloch tribe) 

territory, who raided there as they did along che Sindh-Kachhi 

border. In 1867, Sandeman had entered into direct negotiations 

with the Marri leaders. His success in controlling raids on the 

Punjab border led him co advocate a similar policy for Kalar. The 

Khan had refused responsibility for the Macri raids on the Sindh 

border, saying chat their tumandar (chief) did not acknowledge his 

authority. There was some truth co his assertion, as Marris' 

submission co Kalar had been nominal even under che strong 

Khans. 

With Punjab's annexation, British dealings with che Marris were 

split between the governments of Sindh and Punjab, and the Marris 

were quick to take advantage· of policy differences between the 

provinces. Merewether's complaint that pacification along che 

Punjab border had increased Marri raiding in Sindh and Kachhi , 

was probably accurate. He was particularly discressed that the tribal 

chiefs were being rewarded with subsidies from che Government of 

Punjab, while the Marris were raiding Kachhi. Merewether wanted 

all che Marris co be placed under a single authority, and in 1871 

the government of India puc the Marri-Bugti affairs under 

Col. Phayre, and Sandeman was co report co him in all macrers 

regarding che Marris. Until he was transferred in 1872, Phayre's 

reports supported Sandeman's reading of the grievances underlying 

tribal unrest. Bue Merewecher com plained that their actions 
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encouraged sa1dari intransigence, and accused chem of deliberate 

subversion of C lose Border. 7 

D ifferences between Merewecher and Sandeman continued when 

Merewecher cook Mazarani Marris into service for the protection 

of the Bolan Pass. The Mazaranis had been seeded for some years 

on the eastern side of the pass and were effectively separate from 

the rest of the tribe. Sandeman argued chat subsidizing the 

Mazaranis would lead to new disturbances as the Brahuis resident 

around the pass and ocher Marris would nor accept the privileged 

position of the Mazaranis. Sandeman's assessment was supported 

when a Brahui force raided the Mazaranis and captured many of 

their animals and in May 1872, the Mazaranis looted an Afghan 

caravan in che Bolan Pass. Sandeman was confident chat he could 

obtain restoration of the looted property through direct negotiations 

with Marri leaders. Merewecher, who prevailed, insisted char al l 

relations with the Marris should cease until the plunder was 

returned. 

Restoration of the plunder was a complicated issue as it was 

d iscovered that several parries had received a share of it, as was 

evident from the face that some non-Mazarani Marris had also 

jo ined in the raid. Additionally, a party of Kurds had intercepted 

the raiders and obtained a portion of the spoils, as h;l.d the Marri 

tumandar (ch ief) and che naib (Khan's agenc) of Mascung. 

Involvement of the naib implied char the Khan had either 

condoned the raid or chat he was unable co control his own 

officials, although the latter was more likely. Under che 1854 treaty 

t'1e Khan was responsible for proceccing crade, buc he resisted 

British pressure co make any restitution and, in turn, threatened to 

withdraw his subsidy D uring che impasse, relations between the 

Khan and his chief minister became so cense char che minister 

appealed co the British for protection. The Khan, in response, 
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turned to ocher advisors, men who were distrusted by the British. 

When the British insisted on their dismissal, the Khan protested 

chat these men had served him faithfully. 8 After rhe British 

threatened to withdraw the political agent at Kalar, the Khan finally 

agreed to compensate the merchants, discharge the suspect advisors 

and restore the chief minister to favour. The dismissed advisors 

were taken to Sindh, placed under surveillance, and threatened with 

arrest if they caused trouble. 

Khodadad Khan's appointments continued to trouble the British. 

In 1873 he approached Azad Khan, the Nausherwani chief in 

Kharan, about becoming the naib of Makran. When the Political 

Agent strongly advised against the appointment, the Khan said the 

British could do what they wished, chat he had lost interest in 

governing.9 Ac the same rime his letters to Merewecher became 

increasingly evasive. H owever, all the while that he was making 

these scacemencs, the Khan was also seeking to increase the size of 

his army, a move noted with so much displeasure by the British , 

that Merewether, finally, withdrew the Political Agent at Kalar on 

8 April 1873. 

The Khan made an immediate overture co Mullah Mohmmad 

Raisani, who responded with a customary deference but refused to 

present himself Raisani, instead, wrote to Merewerher, complaining 

char the Khan was not living up to his agreement ro treat the 

sardars fa irly and enclosed the communication between himself and 

the Khan: 

Ir is evident chat his Highness the Khan is not able co manage the 
country, and will never be so. We S(rdars, Sarawans and Jalawans, &c., 

lament exceedingly, and feel surprised char, nochwichscanding the 

repeated cautions of the British Government, the Khan fai ls co carry 
our their wishes, and has been unable to maintain peace in his country. 
Now all we Sirdars are parcicularly obedienr ro the British Government, 
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and would be satisfed with what char paramount power may wish co 

do for our welfare. We are all quire disgusted with the Khan's aces, but 

hope co continue co meet the wishes of the British Governmenr. 10 

Although the British were officiaJly neutral regarding the Khan and 

the sardars, Mullah \ilohmmad's cooperative behaviour produced 

a slight cilt coward the sardars. Merewether was maneuvered into 

direct, albeit limited relations with him, as a refusaJ co do so might 

have undermined his influence with the other chiefs or inspire him 

Lo return to raiding, as he did in 1871. 11 

Meanwhile, Merewecher and Sandeman continued to disagree 

about the Marris. T he Punjab Government had dealt wich them as 

an independent tribe since 1867 . Although Merewether 

acknowledged that the Khan had little influence with them, he still 

argued that they were the Khan's subjects and should be persuaded 

to behave as such. Further, the Marris had returned only a portion 

of the plunder from the caravan raid in 1872, and Merewether 

believed that chey should be punished for chis, and in order co do 

so, he proposed blockading Marri territory. Sandeman, backed by 

Punjab's provincial officials, argued that a blockade would cause 

suffering among the cribespeople and would nor prove effective 

along Punjab's border 

Merewether had little hope that che Kalac sardars would remain 

friendly indefinitely. He feared chat a failure to force the Khan to 

compose his differences with them would lead to anarchy and 

impel che British co intervene militarily. G iven this probability, 

Merewether proposed a limited military intervention co force che 

Khan and the sardars co resolve their differences. He argued char 

such an action ac char moment would be less costly chan a 

subsequent intervention, bur the Government of India rejected che 

military aJcernacive on the grounds chat it might upset relations 
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with Afghanistan and adversely affect securi ty on the Punjab 

border; they authorized Sandeman, instead, to negotiate with the 

Marris. 

In November 1875, Sandeman, accompanied by an entourage of 

Marri notables, Sikh infantry and Punjab Calvalry, sec out for 

Kalar. He was authorized to investigate the quarrels among the 

Marris and to mediate between chem if possible, to explore ways 

of securing trade through rhe Bolan Pass, and ro assess the Khan's 

willingness for restoration of friendly relations wirh the British. The 

timing of Sandeman's mission was not auspicious as Mullah 

Mohmmad Raisani was enlisting Marri support for an uprising 

againsr the Khan. The Marri tumandar (chief) claimed that it 

would be difficult ro curb raiding in Kachhi until peace was 

restored, and in rhe prevailing stare of unrest, Kachhi was a 

temptation thar the Marris could not resist. Sandeman went on to 

meet with MuJlah Mohammad Raisani and the Sarawan sardars 

who assured him rhar they were willing to sertle rheir differences 

with Mir Khodadad Khan. Without such settlement, they asserted, 

there was no way to secure trade through the Bolan Pass. All the 

notables consulted by Sandeman, assured him rhat peace between 

the Khan and the sardars was fundamental to resolving the issues 

he had been authorized to invesrigate, and he took this as a 

mandate ro write to Khodadad Khan for setting up a meeting. 

Kohdadad Khan's response to Sandeman's lercer revealed suspicion 

of the mission: 

... since the British Government through Sir W.L. Merewcther, 

Commissioner in Sind, settled che differences berween che Brahooees 
and my Government, I have maintained peace with the Brahooees and 
caused chem no injury. Norwithscanding chis, chcy (the Brahooec) have 

broken faith with me, have arcacked my people, plundered their 
propercy, and desrroyed their crops. When che above-named British 
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officer seeded our differences, che Brahooees bound themselves co 

return che plundered property caken from my people and from kafilas 
[caravans] during the rebel lion of 1872, but as yet chey have not done 

chis.12 

The Khan knew thac Merewecher had opposed Sandeman's visic, 

and che face thac Sandeman had consuJced che chiefs prior co 

seeking an audience with him, certainly, could nor have pleased 

Mir Khodadad. The meecing was a failure, as che Khan refused co 

guarancee che safety of caravan crade chrough the Bolan Pass and 

quescioned Sandeman's authority co setcle his dispuce wich the 

sardars. However, che Khan agreed co accepc the submission of che 

sardars accompanying Sandeman, alchough he was clearly dubious 

abouc che loyalty professed by the Marri chiefs. Before accepcing 

their submission, he whispered co Sandeman, 'Nothing bur che 

sword will ever cure che Murrees.' 13 

A month afcer chis darbar (a gachering of chiefs; a royal gachering), 

several of the arcending sardars sent Sandeman a petition: 

According co the ancient custom of che Khelac Stace we humbled 

ourselves before che Khan, making our submission to him, and asked 

for peace and forgivrness .... The Khan then cold us co cake comfort; 

char he had some maccers co refer to che British Government, and afcer 

gercing a reply he would arrange a fair serdement of our case according 

co che ancient Scace laws, and would in che meanti me prevent his 

troops injuring us and our people. He asked us to promise not co injure 

his people, and chis we agreed co. 

This matter being setded we were indulging the hope char all was well, 

when suddenly, when you were still in Khelar, news was received ... 

[char] the Khan's rroops arcacked our people, killed five, and carried 

off some property and flocks .... The Khan fully admicced co you char 

by his orders his troops had injured our people. On our arrival with 

you in che Bolan Pass, afcer leaving Khelat, news reached us of the 
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death of [Sardar) Noordeen M ingul and several of his fo llowers ac che 

hands of che Khan .... le is clear co us thac the Khan's object is co 

gradually descroy h is Sirdars and cake possession of their lands. He 

desires co rule the councry by means of his slaves and servancs, and co 

resume all jagirs and revenue free grants. . . . ince t he Bricish 

Government gave our Khan arms and guns he has used them wich the 

objects (sic) of descroying us, and from char day che ruin of che councry 

commenced .14 

Although Sandeman had failed to negotiate peace in Kalar, his 

missio n did intensify che policical debates about British policy and 

the divisions within Kalar as well, as the passage above demonstrates. 

T he sardars were legitimated as parries in any fu ture efforcs, because 

they had represented themselves as willing to make peace, while at 

the same rime depicting the Khan as subverting chis desire. Their 

petition rep resented a moral claim to the British to follow through 

on Sandeman's initiative. T he Government of India (GOI), fo rced 

to mediate policy differences becween Sindh and Punjab, authorized 

Sandeman to make a second trip co Kalar and make another effo rt 

at mediating the differences becween the Khan and the sardars. 

With chis 1876 decision , the Supreme Government abandoned the 

Close Border policy chat had guided relations with Kalar for some 

cwency-ftve years. Tc was a bitter defeat for Merewecher. Four years 

earl ier he had vigorously argued against Sandeman: 

. . . I would respeccfully ask, has nor my forecasts of evencs been 

exactly ful fi lled? Captain Sandeman has all along been misled by the 

belief chac he has only co gee within the circle of Khelac policies co be 

able co arrive ac once ac the centre, and set all things co rights. Bue, as 

I have repeatedly poinced ouc, he really knew little of the character of 

the Khan of Khelat, or of t he crue merits of the case between the Kb n 

and his Barons, cherefore he was noc able co judge how ic could besc 

be adjusced. His arrival in Kucchi scopped a revolucion which promised 

co bring about che adjustmenc of affairs which Government was 
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waiting for .... The most unforrunare event of all ... has been the 

treacherous behaviour of the Khan so immediately after the visit of 

Captain Sandeman, in having Noordeen Mingul arracked and 

killed .... If rhe breach between the Khan and Sirdars was wide before, 

it is infinitely so now, and quire uncloseable (sic), while grave 

disturbances must follow. 15 

A historical parallel informed Merewecher's position. 'Jc is che state 

of our own country over again .... The chiefs must be made to 

understand that the Khan is regarded as their sovereign ... .' 16 

Merewecher saw the subordination of the sardars as critical to 

progress in Kalar, just as che submission of the barons to the king 

underwrote the political development of England. He envisioned 

colonial support as the mechanism of progress for Kalar. The 

British should judge the loyalty of the sardars and distribute 

rewards and punishments accordingly. The flaw in his argument 

was his undue optimism about what it would take co persuade the 

sardars to accept subordination. Since the Government oflndia was 

not persuaded, they relieved Merewether of his responsibility fo r 

Kalar, transferring authoriry to the Punjab. 

T he dispute between Sandeman and Merewecher was an instance 

of the chronic antagonism between Calcutta and Bombay, and the 

differences between frontier officials and imperial administrators. 

Merewecher and Sandeman had been trained in different schools 

of frontier policy. Merewether had served under Commissioner 

John Jacob in Sindh. As a young officer, he had been responsible 

for policing and administering the border betwee~ Sindh and Kalar 

from 1844 co 1862. \.ferewether rose through the colonial ranks, 

serving as the Deputy Collector and the Political Superintendent 

of the Frontier District in Sindh before his appointment as the 

Commissioner of Sindh. Sensitive to hierarchy and punctilious 

about protocol, his actions were guided by che formalities of office. 
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He scrove for consiscency, as is evidenc in his approach co che Marri 

issue, and in his supporc of che office of che Khan despice 

disapproval of Khodadad Khan's behaviour. 

Sandeman, on the other hand, was schooled in the ways of peri­

patetic, hands-on administration, established by Henry Lawrence 

in Punjab. Tribal cuscom was considered imporcanc in assessing 

adminiscracive accion. Punicive raids by colonial croops were guided 

by che concepc of colleccive responsibiliry, with liccle or no actempc 

co ascercain che actual idenciry of lawbreakers. 17 Sandeman cook a 

pragmacic approach co resolving dispuces. His willingness co subvert 

bureaucracic hierarchy was apparent early on when he first 

persuaded the Superincendenc of Upper Sindh, who was subordinace 

co Merewecher, co give the sardars a sympachecic hearing. 

The Sandeman-Merewecher dispute persisced over a decade, during 

which che diverse subjects of chis dispuce-che Khan and the 

sardars-pursued cheir own caccics in concescing che cerms of 

Kalac's relacions with India, and cheir accions cricically shaped the 

outcome of the dispute. While the emergence of Sandeman as an 

effeccive spokesman for tribal incerescs can be seen as historically 

forcuicous, his effecciveness was concingenc on che sardars' capaciry 

co recognize an ally in cheir long snuggle for official recognicion 

and che rescicucio n of cheir Kachhi escaces. The Governmenc of 

India desired a cooperacive and scrong ruler in Kalar, bur cheir 

unwillingness co back the Khan militarily, as Merewecher had 

urged, doomed Close Border. 

BRJTISH RELATIONS WITH THE KHAN 

The rhecoric of C lose Border acknowledged the Khan as ruler of 

an independenc scare, but chis concradicced che policies and history 

of the region. The khanship was essentially a performacive office, 
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as a Khan attracted sardari support by demonstrating that he was 

deserving of it. Leading successful military campaigns, manipulating 

sardari factions, and delivering swift and often violent retribution 

to sardars suspected of disloyalty, were the keys to a successful 

khanship. There was a radical disjunccure between British notions 

of institutionalized rule, and local ground realities in the way power 

was gained and held. 

T he British, accomplished practioners of royal protocol, were 

punctilious in referring to the Khan as His Highness and to their 

own role as advisors. They represented themselves as patient 

troubleshooting mediators at the service of the Khan. When 

frontier officers reporting to superiors at Bombay and Calcutta 

found themselves in the difficult position of accounting for 

deplorable events oc.curring during their watch, they appealed to 

the iconic figures, the oriental sovereign and the 'perfidious' court 

advisor. The unreflective ease with which these figures were 

deployed to explain the Khan's resistance to their sensible advice 

reflects a confidence that their superiors would readily understand 

and accept such an explanation. 

The Governor of Bombay, writing to Calcutta in 1871, characteriz­

ed Khodadad Khan as follows: 

Whatever his ocher faults may be, che Khan may be considered a 

temperate ruler, who has shown himself ... invariably willing and 

anxious co be guided by our advice. On the whole he may be 

considered, I chink, a favourable specimen of an oriental sovereign .... 18 

The classificatory economy of the final phrase bespeaks the shared 

perception that rationalized British supremacy in India. The 

oriental sovereign was an unstable figure whose only consistency 

was in being located as the other of a European ruler. To the British 

mind, Oriental sovereigns governed by arbitrary and, often cruel, 
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whim, and raised in dissolute harems, chey were given co excess and 

self-indulgence. 19 British relations with the rulers of che princely 

scares had established che type with its variant speci mens, marked 

by a tendency co radical mutation that could transform the 

favourable to the unacceptable with great rapid ity. 

Khodadad Khan was not, often, assessed , in the relatively favourable 

terms above, as British officials had professed disappointment with 

him from the beginning of his reign. John Jacob, Commissioner of 

Sindh , observed in 1858: 

Having smooched the way for him, removed all serious obstacles co 

rhe esrab lishmenc of his auchoriry, placed good and faithful ministers 

around him, recruited his finances, brought his proudest nobles co his 

feet in a scare of cordial obedience, and connected him by marriage 

wirh che best and most influencial famili es, Major G reen [Political 

Agent, Kalar] wishes che young Khan co cry and go alone a lirrle and 

govern his people like a prince; bur hicherco the proposal docs nor 

appear encouraging. The young Khan will not as yet assen himself; 

while his feudal Chieftains, seeing chis, are inclined co despise him, 

and look up only co Major G reen. There is no doubr char rhe Khan 

does noc treat his C hieftains properly .... His Highness cannor, as 

Major Green explains, rule without chem. The truth is rhat these men 

are a rough , bold, manly race, whom a .!llil!l [emphasis in original] 

can govern readily bur nor a feeble false and cunning boy (Khelac 

Affairs: 189). 

This passage is marked by insight and contradiction, boch un­

recognized by Jacobs. His confident assumption that skillful British 

diplomacy established a firm foundation fo r effective rule is blind 

ro the likelihood that these maneuvers in fact undermined 

Khodadad Khan's authority by casting him as a British puppet. 

Instead Khodadad's difficulties are attributed to a failure of 

masculinity. Jacobs indeed knows a truth about the manly Baloch: 
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They do defer co leaders of proven masculine accomplishmenc. Bue 

Jacobs misunderstands his insighc, as he fails co see chac che British 

presence constrained ' khanly' performance, chus undermining his 

aucho ricy. 

In 1872, some fifteen years lacer, Merewech er echoes Jacob's 

complaint: 

... it is clear char his Highness the Khan has given himself over to the 

worst of advisors, discarding rhose who have been rrue and faithfu l to 

him. This is the flm time, since we have had a policical agent at his 

court, chat the advice of the latter has been so disregarded. The Khan's 

present procedure would appear to be more than chat of a man who 

had completely lost his senses, than of a person having the position he 

now holds. Everything has been lardy smoothed for him; his rebellious 

Sirdars have been rc-conciled to him, even che lase, Noordeen Mingul, 

had been made to surrender on terms which were most favourable to 

the Khan, while th( terms which had been imposed on che Sirdars of 

Sarawan, rhough fair and liberal to chem, were in no way degrading 

co him, and ... were in the main points what he himself had granted 

on a previous occas1on.w 

In the fifteen years separating these passages, sardari insurgency and 

the Marri problem had put steady pressure on C lose Border and 

elicited an unrelenting scream of advice from British officials. The 

true and faithful' advisor mentioned by Merewecher, was, Shagassi 

Wali Mohammad , whom Merewether consiscencly termed a British 

ally. When Shagassi was finally forced our of office, the British 

rewarded his loyalty wich a pension. Since che British created him 

1s a man in their service, ic is likely chac the Khan did coo. Nor 

does che Khan's efforc co enlist advisors independent of che British 

.ippear co have been nsensible behaviour. Official reporcs assumed 

char a rational ruler would understand his interests co be identical 

to British interests. Thus, chey denied Khodadad Khan rational 



THE BIRTH OF THE BALOCH ISTAN AGENCY 67 

agency when he resisted their counsel. This enabled che osci llation 

becween che acceptable oriemal sovereign and che hopelessly Aawed, 

perhaps even insane, ruler, co be accepted wichouc question in 

Bombay and Calcutta. 

A mo re informed reading of Khodadad Khan's performance 

suggests chat he was neither feeble nor insane. His efforts to expand 

h is power by enlarging his personal forces and placing a son w ithin 

the sardari ranks were sensible attempts to strengthen his pos ition 

vis-a-vis the sardars and test the limits of British support. As co the 

cunning and fa lse traits attributed co him by the British, duplicity 

was likely a tactical response to their advice, especially when it was 

unsolicited. 

Relations with the British were particularly tense when che Khan 

abandoned Shagassi Wali Mohammad for the three controversial 

advisors mentioned earlier, and chis may have disposed Khodadad 

Khan to seek the counsel of men unbeholden co the British. The 

disposition of these advisors became an increasingly divisive issue. 

The Khan's unwillingness co dismiss them high lighted rhe 

importance rhe Bri tish placed on rheir surveillance of the court. Ir 

was only when they threatened co withdraw the Political Agent ar 

Kalar chat rhe Khan acceded to rhe British demand for rheir 

dismissal. After their departure, the Khan made persistent efforts 

to restore chem co his court: 

Lately it was the pleasure of the English Government to deport three 

of my servants from Khelar. Although they had committed no fault, 

each of these men performed their respective ducies without interfering 

in any other person's business, they served me well in every possible 

way. The removal of these men has injured my reputation throughout 

the country [emphasis added] .... On visiting rhe Governor Sahib 

[the Viceroy), I hinted regarding the release of my three servants .... 

Seeing no attention was paid to this trifling request, 1 considered how 
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ocher representations would be created , and remained silent. I have just 

visited you, my friend, at Shahpoor, and how often did I speak co you 

regarding my three servants. As you would noc listen ro what I had co 

say, no benefit has resulted, and my name has been disgraced (emphasis 

added).21 

Merewecher, who cook calling the viceroy 'Governor Sah ib' as a 

deliberate insulc co che British Govern ment, respo nded wi th a seem 

ldmon icion. 

I have received your H ighness' lercer ... and regret that ics contents 

can o nly be regarded as most unsarisfaccory in rhar chey clearly show 

rhar you are unable co save yourself from rhe trammels of evil advisors, 

and char you pay more accention ro the idle talk of foolish persons than 

co che sound advice of those who work only for your good . .. Ir is 

unbecoming co further discuss che removal of these three men, your 

Highness having been distinctly informed by his ExceUency rhe Viceroy 

char che decision arrived ac in regard co them could nor be alrered.22 

The Khan then assumed the posture of indifference, scaring char 

the British were masters and they could do what they wished. T his 

w ithdrawal appears co have been a response co feeling d ishonoured 

by the British . Earlier Khans had pledged loyalty co Kandahar 

w ithout loss of ho nour, and courcly intrigue was the rul e in Kalar. 

Thus British efforts to vet courtiers and collect palace intel ligence 

had h istorical precedents. What was dist inctive abou t the British 

was their determination co maintain steady, reliable surveillance of 

rhe court whi le barring advisors suspected of harboring anti-British 

inclinations despite the Khan's repeated requests co retain chem. 

The struggle over appointments was surely known co the sardars 

who had their own sources of in tel ligence. This abridgment of 

'khanly' au thority was particularly d isho nouring as th e sardars were 

free of such interference. T he British complained fro m time co time 

abou t o ne sardar or ano ther being influenced by undesirable 
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advisors, but Close Border discouraged formal intervention in their 

affairs. 

Close Border was fated to fail on several grounds. It was predicated 

on che presence of a strong central ruler, bur the ruler it required 

could only have been preserved in his position by the deployment 

of British troops. Calcuna's refusal to authorize a military campaign 

was inevitable, given their limited geopolitical concerns. Much of 

Kalar territory was essentially unknown to che British, and the 

tribal resistance encountered between 1839 and 1872 indicated chat 

a military campaign would be protracted and costly. The sardars, 

less constrained by British oversight, used resistance in pursuit of 

direct relations with the British. When Sandeman emerged as a 

persuasive advocate for such relations, Calcutta had an attractive 

alternative co Close Border. 

SANDEMAN AND THE FORWARD P OLICY 

Authorized to make a second effort at mediation , Sandeman 

returned to Kalar in 1876 and turned his considerable energies to 

securing the Bolan Pass. The pass had long been important to the 

cribes of Kalar, because it linked che Sarawan highland co the 

Kachhi plain and was seasonally crowded with tribal groups moving 

their animals to winter or summer pasturage. The Bolan Pass also 

enabled the caravan trade from the Makran coast to Kandahar. Its 

military importance to the British had been demonstrated in the 

First Afghan War. Sandeman proposed enlisting tribal ass~stance in 

assuring safe traffic through the pass and gave Mullah Mohammad 

Raisani responsibiliry for the overall management. The Kurd sardar, 

Raisani's brother-in-law, was given che dury of providing caravan 

escorts through the pass, and Sandeman entertained a scream of 

visitors paying their respects or seeking mediation. 
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For Khodadad Khan , e nsconced in his palace at Kala r cown, 

Sandeman's accivicies prior co che ir m eeting were a clea r s ign chat 

C lose Border had ended. The Khan expressed his displeasure in a 

letter co Sandeman: 

I am very anxious co meec you, bur on accounr of the appearance of 

cholera in your camp, ir is only righc and proper co delay our meering 

unril rhe danger of infection is passed .. .. I norice whac you say abouc 

che caravans having been escorced co Shawl Koc [Quetca] by Sirdar 

Moala Mahomed, Raisani, and che o cher Brahooee Sirdars. I would 

have preferred had croops escorced che caravans, as ic is due ro rhe fo lly 

of che Brahooees tl-ar rhe Bolan Pass has ever been closed ro rrade. In 

reference ro whar you say abour che produce of che Brahooee lands ... . 

I have an ended co rour wishes in rhe marrer ... and have directed my 

Naibs nor ro inrefere wich rhe Brahooee lands in any way, alchough l 

should have preferred wairing before giving che order unril we had mec, 

because you are a'v\ a re of che bad conduce of the Brahooees and che 

injury they have done co Kurchi.21 

Khod adad Khan cle.uly underscood that Sandeman's negotiations 

with the sardars had undermined his position. There are echoes of 

M e rewether in the Khan's indirect c riticism of Sandeman's ac rions 

as igno ring, if nor rew arding, tribal misconduc t, but Sandeman was 

not sympatheric: 

I am greatly disappoinred co find rhac your Highness hesicaces com ing 

ro meet me according co our agreemenr made when I was in Khelac. I 

was in hopes char your Highness would be so highly gratified ar hearing 

of my mission and of che high consideration of che British Government 

for your Highness ... [thac] your Highness wo uld have shown your 

great appreciarion by readily appoinring Musrung, as proposed by me, 

for our place of meering .. . . Your H ighness must be perfectly aware 

char rhe object of che mission I am conducting is pregnant with resulrs 

connected wich che welfare of the Khelar Scace, and char before 

rejecting my propo~al naming che place where we should meet, you 
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should give the subject your Highness' most complete and careful 

consideracion. 24 

Following a third exchange of letters, Khodadad Khan finally met 

Sandeman at Masrung. He was persuaded co sanction Sandeman's 

arrangements for the Bolan Pass, with che annual coses of securiry 

co be met from che coils collected from caravans at Quena and 

Ohadur, although he complained chat chis would decrease his own 

Bolan revenue. In rerurn, Sandeman agreed to propose a raise in 

the Khan's annual subsidy. 

The sardars of Sarawan and Jhalawan made their submission co the 

Khan in a darbar on 13 July 1876. Sandeman and Khodadad Khan 

signed an agreement chat rescored all cuscomary rights and 

privileges of the sardars and empowered the British co mediate 

disputes arising between the sardars and the Khan. After the darbar 

(meeting of che sardars headed by the Khan), a number of sardari 

complaints against the Khan were seeded, most of chem in the 

former's favour. Almost all of these disputes were about land-rights 

and taxes, and several revealed arbitrary appropriations on the pare 

of che Khan's naibs (revenue deputies). 

The terms of the Mascung Agreement were incorporated in a new 

creary between the Khan and the Government of India, which was 

signed in December 1876. Ocher terms of the treary authorized the 

permanent stationing of British troops in Kalac, construction of rail 

and telegraph lines, and free-trade between Kalar and India. The 

Khan's subsidy was raised to one lakh (100,000) rupees. He was 

presented with a gift of Rs300,000 and informed char the advisors, 

whose removal had been a source of the earlier controversy, would 

be released from their detention in Sindh. 

The creary was the culmination of Sandeman's activist Forward 
Policy. Sandeman was clear that preserving peace in Kalar would 
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Before Sandeman could cum his attention to administering the 

agency, further Russian expansion in Central Asia provoked new 

concerns about Afghan loyalcies.27 In 1878, when the Afghan 

Amir, Sher Ali , resisted British efforts co check growing Russian 

nfluence in Afghanistan, British and Indian croops again marched 

on Kabul. One contingent moved through the Bolan Pass, and 

occupied Sibi and Pishin without incident. Sa ndeman organized 

transport and provisions for chis army, besides negotiating for the 

support of notables in the area. British forces defeated the Amir at 

Kabul and Kandahar In May 1879, che Amir signed The Treaty of 

Gandamak chat ceded cerricories that became British Baluchistan­

Thal-Choacali , Pishin, Hamai and Sibi- co che British. Despite 

their military succes~, the British goal of an Afghanistan united 

under a friendly ruler, proved elusive. The British had co sercle for 

the expedient recognition of Abdur Rahman as the Amir of Kabul. 

In 1880, before completing their troop withdrawal, the Bricish­

lndian forces suffered a costly defeat at Maiwand, near Kandahar. 

T he Afghan victory inspired uprisings in Pishin, Sibi and Zhob, 

forcing the British to withdraw temporarily from Zhob and Loralai. 

Ayub Khan, architect of the Maiwand victory, appealed co the 

Khan, but he and the sardars of Kalar refused Ayub their support, 

instead, they mobilized transport and supplies for the British army. 

Ayub Khan's defeat marked che end of the Second Anglo-Afghan 

War, and both Sandeman and Khodadad Khan were granred 
honours in recognition of their wartime efforts. 

The British were for a time undecided about che scacus of lands 

ceded co chem under the Treaty of Gandamak, but Sandeman 

argued for cheir retention, and in 1887, chey were incorporated 

inco British Baluchistan and admi nistered by che AGG serving as 

che C hief Commissioner. 28 Sandeman, using carrot and stick 

tactics, steadily brought British Baluchistan under control. He was 
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quick to visit discurbed areas where he would call an informal jirga 

(council of notables) and attempt co seccle local d isputes. He 

offered protection co any group who sought it. However, any 

serious challenge co British authority brought swift military action. 

When dissident leaders decided co seek Sandeman's adjudication, 

he created chem leniencly, usually balancing a fine with a reward, 

often a subsidy, or rarely, a land-grant as well. By 1890, British 

Baluchistan had been organized into districts. The relatively 

peaceful districts were administered by Political Officers and levies, 

the ochers from military poses. The government became che 

landowner of record in British Baluchistan, caking the share of che 

revenue formerly owed co che Amir of Afghanistan. jagirs (estates) 

conferred by the Amir were generally confirmed by the British. A 

few new jagirs were granted, primarily co che Jogezai Kakars, with 

che aim of securing their support. 

Robert Sandeman died suddenly on 29 January 1892, ac Lasbela, 

where he had gone co broker a reconciliation between che Jam 

(hereditary cicle of che Lasbela ruler) and his son. Sandeman was 

buried in Lasbela, and rhe Jam had a dome constructed over the 

comb with an inscription naming him che Jam's ' kind and beloved 

friend ' . Alfred Lyall recalled Sandeman: 

He was absolucely wichouc any fear of responsibility, and consequencly 

he was rather imparienr of concrol, so char his very considerable 

adminisrracive capaci ties were besr seen in a rough half-subdued 

country where he could have his own way, chose his own methods, 

and bring inro full play his special faculty of influence over Asiatics. 

For laws, financial rules, and official regulacions generally he had no 

predilection. (Thorn con, 1977(1895]: 291 ) 

Sandeman served as the AGG for almost fourteen years, during 

which he established a mode of governance char persists even roday, 

albeit within che constraints of the Pakistani scare. There was a 
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fo rruirous congruence in Sandeman's activist official and che 

performacive nature of sardari policics.29 Sandeman's hands-on style 

of diplomacy, his wil lingness co travel and spend hours fostering 

alliances resonated w ch many sardars. This mutual respect enabled 

the creation of rwo inscicutions-jirga and levies-that became 

c:encral to a colonial 1dminiscracion in remote Baluchistan. 

Notes 

I. Shah Shuja had signtd a rreacy wirh the British in 1809, when he was ruler 

of Kabu l, but lost the rhrone shortly rhereafrer. Afrer several years as a 

prisoner in Kashmir, he was freed by Ranjit ingh and spent several uneasy 

years as the Rajpuc's gucsr in Lahore. (Shah Shuja had fled Peshawar with a 

fortune in gems, including rhe Koh-i- oor diamond, which Ranjir 

appropriared.) Shah Shuja evenrually seed ed under British prorecrion in 

India, where he spent his years scheming co regain Kabul. In 1833, wirh rhe 

coven approval of the colonial government, he recruited an army co march 

on Dose Mohammad s forces. The bartle was joined ar Kandahar, where Shah 

Shuja marched defeat from rhe jaws of vicrory by fleeing che bactlefleld jusc 

as his army gained cl1e advantage. While Dose Mohammad was engaged ac 

Kandahar, Ranjic in,;h seiz.ed conrrol of Peshawar. 

2. Khodadad Khan incr··ased his mercenary army over rime. In 1869, a Brirish 

Polirical Agent rcporred , che force was 2,000 strong and made up of 

'scoundrels of all so re Paean, and Afghan, and men from all pans of Central 

Asia.' (quored in T hornron , 1977 (1895]: 46). 
3. Merewerher co Governor and President in Council, 5 April l 872, in Papers 

Relating ro the Affai r, of Khelac, o. l, p. 171. 
i. Government of Bomhay ro Foreign, 16 July 1870, in Papers Relating ro rhe 

Affairs of Khelar, o I, p. 17. 
). Phayre co Merewether, 6 December 1869 in Papers Relaring co che Affairs of 

Khelat, No. I , pp. 37-57. T h is account contains a running commenrary by 

Merewether thar clarifies che differences berween chem. 

6. Twelve people were killed and rwenry wounded. Property losses were 

esrimaced at around Rs90,000 (Khelat Affairs 1977 (1872]: 27. 
7 . Secretary Government of Bombay co Secretary Foreign Deparrmenr, 20 April 

1872, in Papers Relac ng co rhe Affairs of Khelac, pp. 181-2. 
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8. Translacion of a lercer from the Khan co che Commissioner in Sindh <laced 

rhe 9rh of jamadi-ul-Awa/ 1289, in Papers Relaring to the Affairs of Khclat, 

No. 1, p. 306. 

9. Diary No. 11, 1873, by rhe Polirical Agenr, Khelac, fo r che Week Ending 

!6ch March, 1873, in Papers Rclacing to che Affairs of Khelac, No. 1, p. 380. 
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Commissioner in Sindh, 26th Safar 1290, in Papers Relating to che Affairs 
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11 . Political Superinrendenr, Upper Sindh Fronrier, to Comm issio ner in Sind h, 
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12. Sandeman co Commissioner and Superintendent, Derajar, 5 February 1876, 

in Papers Relating ro rhe Treary, pp. 112-13. 
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16. Merewerher to Governor and Presidenr in Council , Bombay, 5 April 1872, 

in Papers Relating ro che Affairs of Khelar, p. 180. 

17. See Woodruff (1954: pp. 34-5) for a comparison of front ier policies in Sindh 

and Punjab. 

18. Minute by his Excellency the Governor, I 0 February 1871, in Papers Relating 

co che Affairs of Khelac, p. 84. 

19. Merewerher linked character flaws in Khodadad Khan co his childhood in 

the harem. Merewether to President in Council, Bombay, 26 January 1870, 

in Papers Relacing to rhe Affairs of Khelar, pp. 9, 16. 

20. Merewether to Governor and Presidenr in Council, Bombay, 29 June 1872, 

in Papers Relating co che Affairs of Khelac, p. 269. 

21. Khan co Merewerher, n.d. , in Papers Relaring to the Affairs of Khelac, p. 398. 

22. Merewether to Khan, 10 March 1873, in Papers Relaring co the Affairs of 

Khelat, p. 400. 
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pp. 205-6. 
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Frontier, 31 July 1876, in Papers Relating to the Treacy, p. 254. 
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27. Khokand fell co the Russians in 1876, Khiva and Merv shorcly thereafter. 

28. Sandeman went on I ome leave in 1881, and spent considerable time and 

effort lobbying politicians in London fo r inclusion of the ceded territories in 

the new Agency (Thorn ton, 1977 (1895]: pp. 162-3). 

29. Ir is not su rprising hat Sandeman's style was controversial in Calcutta. 

Among his critics wen· Henry Mortimor Durand, Foreign Secretary, and Lord 

Landsdowne, Viceroy (Tripodi 2011: pp. 63-4). 



4 
The Politics of Space 

Balochistan was a space of tribal territories and towns located along 

caravan trade routes when che British began the cask of creating a 

colonial Baluchistan. The towns were fortified, indicating chat the 

raiding of setclements was fairly common, as was raiding amongst 

the pastoralists themselves. Scholz (2002: 259-62) stresses che 

importance of security in pre-colonial Balochistan. He argues that 

it contributed to the integrity of the tribe, the authority of the 

sardar, and che paucity of settlements. The passes between the 

mountains and the plains were often dangerous spaces. The Bolan 

Pass posed significant problems for the seasonal movement of the 

tribal groups. Pasturage was scant, and the possibility of raiding, 

especially by the Marris, was a constant threat. Scholz (2002: 242) 

reports that well into the twentieth century, the Bangulzais moved 

en masse through the Bolan Pass in a single caravan, protected by 

armed guards. 

Tribal spaces were structured by personal networks based on 

patrilineal and affinal links and on ties of patronage. These socio­

political relations arose from the agency of men seeking to secure 

their families in an environment of variable resources in water and 

pasturage. Links of kinship comprised the networks of most 

cribespeople. While kinship was also primary for sardars and Khans, 

their multiple marriages created wider networks that were further 

extended by patronage relations with the Hindu bankers, 

shopkeepers, and Afghan merchants. These diverse articulations 
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QuErrA: THE SrAcE OF CowNIAL DOMINANCE 

Quecra was a small , fortified village, in pre-colonial cimes. The name 

is derived from the Pushcu word, kwatta, which Raverry cranslaces, 

ac one point, as 'fore' or 'walled ciry (Raverry, 1976 [1878): 6 11 ), 

and ac another, a 'mound' or 'pile of earch, scones o r rocks' (Raverry, 

1877: 288). Archeological evidence indicaces char Q uecca Valley, 

sicuaced ac an elevation of about 1850 mecers, had been inhabited 

for thousands of years, although the settlements were small and few 

in number (Fairservis, 1956; Possehl, 1990; Ramagar, 2006: 89, 

329-30). Quecca village was located at the southern end of a 

network of narrow alluvial valleys between the Bolan Pass, which 

leads southeast co che Indus Plains, and che Khojak Pass, which 

leads northwest to Kandahar and southern Afghan istan . 

Historically che area was commonly known as Sha! o r halkot, and 

it generally fe ll wi thin the administrative sphere of Kandahar. 

T hroughout che sixteenth and the seventeenth centuries, control of 

the area shifted between the Mughal and the Persian empires. W ith 

che rise of the Afghan scare under the Durranis, Q uecca fe ll under 

Pushcun control. Jc is generally agreed chat Ahmad Shah Abdali 

( 1747-73), the first of the Durrani rulers, transferred the revenue 

rights in Q uecca Valley to Mir Nasir Khan I of Kalar as a reward 

for mili ta ry support against che Persians in the Bartle of Meshad in 

1759. 

Prior co the British presence, Quecca Valley was occupied by groups 

of Pushtun and Brahui. In 1895, when the British recorded land­

righcs in the tehsil, they found char the Khan had issued numerous 

revenue-free sanads (land-grants) to Pushcun and Brah ui notables, 

alchough the Raisani5 and che Shawanis were che major land holders. 

Many sanads were rewards for m ilitary service co Mir Nasir Khan I 

rn baccles ranging from Mashad co Delhi. T here were even a few 

earlier sanads issued from che court at Kandahar. T here had been 
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extensive investmenr in karez (man-made underground warer 

channels) irrigarion, and it was not uncommon for the shareholders 

in a karez complex co come from differenr Brahui rribes. In a few 

cases, Pushrun and Brahui held shares in rhe same complex. The 

Revenue Commissioner, who surveyed landholdings in rhe Querta 

niabet (revenue district) in 1895, recommended allowing the 

rribesmen ro retain their revenue-free granrs on rhe grounds char 

rhe I 876 Mastung Treaty prevenred the Khan from interfering in 

the sardars' heredirary grants and, therefore, the Brirish should not 

do so eirher, ar leasr in the near rerm. 1 

The Indians' uprising in 1857, changed forever the way the British 

saw both rhe Indians chey governed and India as a physical space. 

In her account of rhe restructuring of Lucknow in che aftermath 

of 1857, Oldenburg (1984) presents a paradigm for colonial cities. 

She argues char che native quarters became separated from the 

milirary canton ments and che civil-lines for rhe non-military 

European residents. A municipal governmenr and police force were 

instituted co maintain order and safety. To ensure char rhe city 

would pay irs way, rhe government imposed a series of new taxes. 

Founded twenty years after che rebellion and built virtually from 

scratch, Querta muse have seemed an opportunity co create an ideal 

imperial outpost. Sicuaced well away from che rorpor and reeming 

populations of che congested cities of che Indo-Gangecic Plains, che 

highlands of Balochiscan featured a temperate climate attractive to 

Europeans. Though it lacked the grandeur and scale of the major 

imperial centres, Querta was builr on rhe same remplate as other 

colonial ciries, one that King (1990: 47-51) suggests primarily 

reflected rhe eli te middle-class values and inscicucions of the 

mecropolican cenrre. 
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The cicy consisted of rhree physically and socially distinct sections, 

laid our roughly on a grid pattern. To rhe north was rhe area which 

contained the military canronmenr. Ir included barracks and 

medical facilities for European and Indian troops; headquarters for 

infantry, arti llery, and rhe engineer corps; and social institutions 

such as the Anglican , Catholic, Wesleyan and Presbyterian 

churches, a soldiers' home and a Freemasons Hall (Ford, 1918: 3 1). 

The cantonment area also had a military gymkhana, and in 1903 

British India's only 'viilitary Staff College was built there. To the 

south of the canton ment lay the more densely populated civilian 

area, divided into rhe European quarter, the Civil Lines, and the 

Indian quarter. The dividing line between them was Bruce Road 

(now Jinnah Road), with the Indian bazaar and residential area co 

rhe southeast of it, and the European area to irs norrhwesr. Along 

with housing for rhe European civilians, the Civil Lines held the 

Residency where the AGG lived, along with the administrative 

buildings, rhe post office, the railway station, a library, a gymkhana, 

and the Querta C lub. In 1900, the Sandeman Memorial H all, a 

domed building 'purely Oriental in character', where the Shahi }irga 

(chiefly) used to meet, was built (Playne, 1920: 849). Although 

most of these majo r buildings were destroyed in the massive 

earthquake of 1935, the cicy was rebuilt on basically the same lines 

and retains its original pattern today. 

A dispute that arose during Quetta's second decade illustrates some 

of the dynamic between the various sections of the cicy and the 

issues Oldenburg identifies as core colonial concerns. In 1891, 

Calcutta's Foreign Department proposed removing the restriction 

on locating bazaars n Balochistan's cantonments in order to reduce 

inconvenience to soldiers and to increase cantonment revenues. 

However, AGG Sa11deman , in a long memorandum, objected to 

the proposal. H e cited the danger of creating a haven fo r ' bad 

characters' that would be a 'source of crime in times of peace and 
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of serious danger and embarrassmenr in rime of war.'2 Sandeman 

also poinced our char because the civil bazaar served boch che 

canconmenc and the civilian areas, the former received half of che 

cicy's occroi revenue (imporc ducies). For the year 1890, octroi 

constituted half of Quetta's total revenue of Rsl20,000. He argued 

char if bazaars were to be established in the cantonmencs, they 

would bring less revenue bur require more efforc co collect it. 

However, despite Sandeman's pleas, rhe Foreign Office decided that 

conditions in rhe territories administered by Calcutta did not 

warrant a prohibition on bazaars in the cantonmencs of Balochistan. 

Querta's population at that time could be divided inco four socio­

economic groups: the Europeans, who were mostly Bricish military 

personnel but also included administrators and some business­

people; the Indian elite, consisting of high-ranking admi niscracors 

and business-people; che bazaar shopkeepers, craftsmen, and 

labourers, who came from Afghaniscan and India; and che 

indigeneous Pushcuns and Brahuis, masc of whom cultivated che 

fields bordering Querta. The Indian elice were primarily Parsi, 

Hindu, Bohra, and Sikh, with origins outside Querta. le was a 

concern of the British, especially in the early decades of their rule, 

chat there were few Muslim families in this class: 

Endeavours have been made of late years to employ a larger number 

of Muhammadans in the various offices of Baluchistan but attempts 
to increase the percentage of Muhammadan employees have hitherto 

met with limited success owing to the fact that good Hindu clerks are 
far more easily obtainable than good Muhammadan clerks (ARBA 

1902-3: 6) 

The Indian elite was created through che colonial syscem. Their 

prosperity was derived from goods and services provided to the 

British. Typically, they held supply or conscruction contracts, and 

in several instances they had done similar work in ocher pares of 
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the empire. Some remarkable figures are included in this group, 

including Khan Bahadur Burjorji Patel, a Parsi who began his 

business-life as a trader in Kandahar bur lacer carried out a number 

of contracts in che construction of the rai lway from Sindh co 

P ishin. He then established kilns for making bricks and lime, 

introducing the use of coal-dust as a fuel, an innovation char was 

taken up in ocher parrs of India. He lacer opened coal and chromite 

mines in Balochiscan; a manufacturi ng centre in Querta char 

included a flour-mill, an ice-factory and a briquettes factory, and 

a series of mills in indh (Playne, 1920: 858). As their fortunes 

grew, often quire rapidly, fami lies such as che Pacels bega n 

supporting schools a nd cemples. 3 T hey were also generous 

contributors co Bri ush causes. When che British established a 

municipal committee co govern Querta in 1896, men, often from 

this group, were nominated co serve on ic. They also served as 

Honorary Magiscraces, empowered to decide a wide range of civil 

and criminal cases. 

J\Jrhough the British and che Indians interacted politically and 

economically, there was little social mixing. In his memoirs, 

Kekobad Marker, a Parsi businessman who moved from cons­

truction contracts into manufacturing ice and pharmaceuticals and 

served on the munic pal committee, reports that a British officer 

accepted his father's invitation co stay with the Markers when 

visiting Querta in 1919. This was 'unprecedented in chose days as 

British officers norm ally kept aloof and did not freely mi x with 

Indians' (Marker, Vol I 1985: 120). The Markers, and families like 

them, accepted British ways and sought expanded social contact. 

'The only way to make personal concacrs with them was on rhe 

cricket field or through Free Masonry. They [the Parsis], very 

wisely, rook co cricket' (Marker, Vol. I 1985: 137). They also rook 

to Freemasonry. Both Marker and his father were Worshipful 

Masters of the Querta Lodge (Marker, Vol. 198 5: 125). 
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Escablishing Quetca as a distinct colonial space emailed more than 

building a military complex. Although the cantonment was separace 

from che municipaliry, the Bricish were concerned abouc creating 

a sanicary and healchful environment in both. This meant providing 

clean water, a system for dealing with waste, and controlling 

disease. When the British initially occupied Quecca, wacer was 

obtained from shallow wells and springs, but an outbreak of cholera 

in 1885 led to the construction of the centralized water system. A 

reservoir was built at Urak, che nearest location of a reliable source 

of clean water, from where che wacer was piped fourteen miles to 

the canconmenc and the ciry (Raikes, 1932: 600). In subsequenc 

decades populacion growth meanc demand conscancly exceeded 

supply. The supply reached a crisis point in 1929 prompting the 

conscruccion of a beccer intake syscem and a new reservoir (Raikes, 

1932: 604-5) . The entire syscem was robust enough co survive the 

1935 earthquake virtually intact (Pinhey, 1938: 8). Ocher infra­

structural initiatives taken to maintain a sanitary environment 

included the extensive planting of trees along che ciry roads, and 

che construccion of drains-some of which were underground, 

public latrines, and slaughcer sheds for bucchers. The adminiscracion 

began planting crees along the roads in Quecca as early as 1878. 

Later a tree committee was formed, which, on one occasion, 

brought 60,000 cuccings of chinar, poplar, and willow crees from 

Kandahar co Querta (Stebbing, 1905). 

The colonial government placed a priority on proceccing che health 

of che milicary, particularly che British soldiers. As Harrison (1980: 

17 1) observed: 

The direction taken by medical research in India was long inAuenced 

by military needs, whence che actencion co ryphoid, which killed 

European troops, rather chan co consumption which carried off the 

sepoy, or the creatmenc of V.D., which kept the equivalenr of three 
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regiments permanendy in hospiral, as a milirary bur nor a civilian 

problem. 

Concern about the spread of venereal disease made prostitution an 

issue in Imperial India. Since the British policy in India discouraged 

marriage for junior officers and conscripts, the colonial government 

was caught between the spectres of disease and homosexuality, and 

ended up backi ng the regulation of prostitu tion. In 1868, the 

Indian Contagious Diseases Ace was passed in London. This 

allowed a local government to enforce compulsory registration of 

brothels and regular medical examinations for prostitutes, and 

infected women were required to undergo treatment (Ballhacchet, 

1980: 44). 

Racial concerns led to official recognition of two classes of 

prostitutes: first-clas~ prostitutes who were reserved for Europeans, 

and second-class one5 who were patronized by Indians (Ballhatchet, 

1980: 4 1). Regulation of prostitution implied official acceptance 

of it, and the Act nspired vigorous opposition from both the 

Nonconformists and feminists in Britain. Most colonial officers 

viewed regulation as necessary for the health of their troops and for 

harmonious relations wi th the natives. They bel ieved that without 

regulation soldiers would solicit local women, which would upsec 

rhe local populace (Ballhatchet, 1980: 82). However, with leaders 

of the purity movement and many clergy in opposition, the Ace 

was repealed in 1888 (Ware, 1992: 151-7; Burton, 1994: 95-6). 

In the same year Sandeman contracted with Asa Mull, a private 

businessman, for thf construction of a chakla (brothel) in the 

municipal bazaar that would house all the known prostitutes. 

Sandeman, apparently, did not consult with Cakucra regarding this 

project, probably because regulated brothels were so common in 

Imperial Ind ia at the time.4 H owever, the 1888 Act meant that the 



THE POLITICS OF SPACE 89 

Indian Canronmenc Acts and Regularions had co be revised in 

keeping with the law. The inirial tactic was co merge all concagious 

diseases under a revised Cantonmenc Act to concrol them, and to 

locate the brothels outside che cantonments (Ballhatchec, 1980: 

81-7). This is likely che reason char Sandeman concracced with 

Mull and located che brothel in rhe Querta bazaar rather than in 

rhe canconmen r. 

Opposition in Britain concinued, however, as some reformers saw 

the revised Canconmenc Ace for what it was, an effort to concinue 

regulating prostitutes. In 1891, rwo women reformers went to India 

ro invescigare. They found char ir was essential ly business as usual 

in rhe ten cantonments they visited (Ware, 1992: 153-4; Levine, 

1996). Although che brothels had been moved outside the 

ca ntonments, the military still contro lled them (Ballhacchec, 

1980: 75) . Women were required to submit ro medical exams, and 

if they refused treatment, they were expelled . There was a serious 

standoff between London, where the reformers had powerful allies, 

and Calcutta, where colon ial officers believed regulation co be 

necessary for the health of the troops. 

Deregulation won the day, however, in 1895, when the Government 

of India was forced co close cantonment brothels and end com­

pulsory medical exams, but the victory was short-lived . Colonial 

officials continued to argue char the health of rhe troops was at 

stake. Several years of investigations and delicate negotiations 

ensued. Calcutta provided dubious statistics chat indicated half the 

troops in India sough t treatment for venereal disease in the 

unregulated year of 1895 (Ballhatchec, 1980: 88).5 Public opinion 

in Britain swung coward regulation, and a new bill that would allow 

regulation was passed in 1897. 
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A sense of how strongly the colon ial officials supported regulation 

can be found in a series of communications between Sandeman's 

successor, AGG Browne, and the Foreign Department. Browne 

queried Calcutta as co che legal status of che chakla in 1894. The 

Foreign Departmenc asserted that the contract had been drawn 

wichouc their knowledge or consent and should be terminated. 

Browne procesced that local opinion was strongly against closing 

che chakla and dispe1 sing che women throughout the bazaar. As che 

ranking official in an overwhelmingly Muslim agency, Browne muse 

have been sensitive co che potential for serious problems if 

p roscicution was u111egulaced. While one might wonder how che 

public learned of che brothel's possible closing, cheir feelings surely 

ran high . Furthermore, Mull refused co terminate che contract 

wichouc some compensation. Calcutta, in a move similar co their 

averted gaze on slavery (see Chapter 7), advised Browne co cell Mull 

thac he could continue co operate che brothel, and co assure him 

that che AGG would continue co force prostitutes co live there, bur 

' . .. there will be no agreement in existence.' Calcutta established 

deniabilicy vis-a-vis London, while covertly allowing regulation co 

continue. This was nor che end of the scory, however. The AGG, 

concerned about che municipal cosc of providing police oversight, 

asked Calcucca co deduct ic from Imperial funds rather chan 

requiring Quecca co assume the burden. Failing char, Browne 

requested char che cantonment be charged, arguing char 'che chakla 

was built entirely in the interests of the military communicy.'6 

Calcutta, however, "'as nor sympachecic, and chey ordered the 

municipality co pay any expenses connected co che brothel. 

Eventually, che chakla was closed, probably in 1895, bur a policy 

change in 1897, reopened che regula.cion issue. The AGG appointed 

a committee of civil and military officers co make its recom­

mendations. Although che committee was divided as co whether 

proscicuces should be compelled co live in a brothel, ic was 



THE POLITICS OF SPAC E 91 

unantmous m recommending a new municipal hospical for che 

treacmenc of 'concagious disorders' . The AGG and his committee 

proposed thac the cantonmenc assume cosc of this civil hospital 

'maincained encirely in che incerests of the canconment' ; chis time 

Calcutta, though, did permic the charge. 

The measures taken co maintain sanitation and provide medical 

services in Quecca, enabled the ciry co weather repeated epidemics 

much beccer than ocher pares of the agency. In 1899, che Church 

Missionary Sociery escablished che first of two hospitals. In che 

same year, a dispensary serving women and staffed by nurses, was 

established (GOB: Quecca-Pishin: 292). In 1903, a cholera 

outbreak hit Balochiscan. Part of a widespread epidemic of the 

disease in India that year, it first appeared in the village of 

Samungli, seven miles from Quecca. A coral of 967 cases were 

recorded in BaJochiscan, 726 of which proved fatal. Princed 

inscruccions were distributed in Quecca and che canconmenc co 

prevenc ic from spreading, and the effort was largely successful. 

Only eighc cases of cholera were recorded in the canconment and 

forry-chree, overall, in Quecca, whereas I 05 cases were recorded in 

Samungli and 154 in ocher nearby villages (ARBA, 1903-4: 39). 

le is clear thac medical services were provided co the local populace 

early on in the colonial period, al though ic can be argued, as Arnold 

(1988: 16-17) does, chat medical altruism was motivated by such 

ideological concerns as demonstrating the governmenc's benevolence 

as well as its technical and political superioriry. By 1908 there were 

thircy-seven dispensaries and hosp icals chroughouc Brici sh 

Baluchistan. Regional centres such as Sibi and Loralai, had facilicies 

chat included zenana (women's) hospitals. Colonial authorities 

regularly sec up screening programmes and forced dispersal of 

nomads co block che spread of contagious diseases. 
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When the British established their headquarters at Querta, they 

creaced a greatly expanded marker for crops. To make the garrison 

as self-sufficient as possible, the British encouraged the expansion 

of irrigation through sinking more artesian wells, digging new karez 

(man-made underground water channels), and greater use of river 

water (Scholz, 1989: 11). In rhe case of new karez, the government 

reduced taxation for three ye~rs. The owner of a new karez paid no 

revenue in its first year, one-tenth of gross production in its second 

year, and one-eighth of gross production in the third year. Revenue 

Commissioner Crawford argued concessions should be extended to 

ten years, a policy closer to char of Punjab, which awarded rwenty 

years of relief for new irrigation. Revenue polic ies were 

complemented with new cultivacion techniques such as the use of 

green fertilizer and the addition of crops such as lucerne (alfalfa), 

Persian clover, and vegetables, to the system of crop rorarion.7 In 

o rder to prevent the alienation of agricultural land from local 

owners, the British prohibited sale to anyone who was nor 'a 

Parhan, Brahui or Baluch resident of the district in which the land 

lies without the previous sanction of the Political Agenc' (ARBA, 

1908-09: 16). 

In a short decade, Querta was transform ed from a frontier vi llage 

co an urban space, a cosmopolitan city whose population was 

predominately alien. With the exception of Kansi Pushtuns and 

hawani Brahui, who held land in and around Querta, there were 

few local people in the expanding city. The British introduced new 

forms of control and surveillance, as in the regulations regarding 

bazaars and brothels. They imported new medical, educational and 

religious institutions to service city residents. Querta was subject 

to dual governance: military in the cantonment, civil in the 

municipaJity. 
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AGENCY TERRITORIES 

The British created new spaces of control in the traces designated 

Agency Territories. Some of chese-Quetta, Bolan and che railway 

lines, and the niabets (revenue districts) of Nushki and Nasirabad­

were leased from che Khan. Zhob and Chagai became Agency 

Territories in 1896, after a joint Afghan-British Border Commission 

demarcated che international border. Mose of Loralai, which 

bordered Punjab on the east, became Agency Territory the same 

year. With the exception of the Nasirabad niabet, leased in 1902, 

Agency Territory was land chat che British deemed central co 

control and security along the frontier. Agency Territory created a 

di rectly-administered zone between Kalar and the new international 

borders. With the exception of che southwestern Makran-Iran 

border, Kalar was encircled. 

Agency Territory had ics origin in Querta, where, initially, che 

British administered Q uetta on behalf of the Khan, deducting cheir 

costs and remitting che balance co him. In 1883, Sandeman 

reported char Mir Khodadad Khan proposed leasing Quetta tehsiL 

(district) and che Bolan Pass to che British, for a fixed annual rent. 

The circumstances which prompted chis proposal are unknown, 

but ic is likely char che Khan foresaw, and perhaps had already 

experienced, difficulties in retaining effective authority over these 

lands.8 The leases were essentially a legal recogni tion of the de facto 

situation. Subsequently, in 1899 and 1902, respectively, the British 

assumed leases on the Nushki and the Nasirabad niabets as well. 

British interest in Nushki was strategic, since ic was the largest 

settlement on C hagai's eastern border. Kalar had annexed N ushki 

in the early eighteenth century, but soon lost ir to Kandahar. T he 

Persian ruler, Nadir Shah, conquered Nushki and conferred it on 

Kharan in 1740. Nasir Khan I restored it co Kalar, although che 

Khan's control had diminished under his successors. Located at che 
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intersection of cara, ·an routes from Afghanistan and Iran, Nushki 

had been a commercial centre for centuries, although its fortunes 

fluctua ted according co the prevailing securi ty situation and the 

coils exacted by the tribes along the route. Tolls were high and 

security low when the British took control of C hagai. 9 Agency 

officials pressured the Khan to enforce his authority in Nushki but 

when this failed, they pressured him co lease che niabet. Unwilling 

co undertake the e>..pense of sending his troops co N ushki and 

reluctant co lease it, the Khan, at first, asked for a rent of Rsl 2,000 

per year, which was more than double his annual revenue. Although 

the Government of Ind ia wanced co secure and improve the trade 

routes fo r both commercial and political reasons, it was unwill ing 

co pay such a high rent. 10 W hile the Khan and the British were 

bargaining over the rent, the Khan's naib (deputy) fled Nushki and 

the revenue collection collapsed . Under pressure from chis crisis, 

the Khan and the British finally settled on an annual rent of 

Rs9 ,000. 

Problems of overlapping jurisdictions led the British to negotiate 

t he leas ing of Nasirabad. In th e late 1840s, prior to the 

establishment of che Agency, the British had extended the Sindh 

irrigation canals to Kalar territory, with che aim of settling and 

pacifying the border areas. 11 While the irrigation scheme was 

reasonably successfu l in pacifying the border tribes, it created 

jurisdictional problems, chat were furrher complicated, when 

Balochistan became an Agency in 1877. Revenues from the Kalar 

scheme were divided equa.lly berween the Khan and the British 

Government. The British took charge of all land issues while civil 

affai rs were the responsibility of the Khan's naib (Khan's agent). 

T his division of authority did not work well as cu lcivacors appealed 

co British officials for relief from arbitrary actions taken by the 

Khan's officials. 
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The Bricish were uncomforcable parcicipancs in an adminiscracion 

whose mechods chey deplored. T he divided jurisd iccion creaced cwo 

cacegories of culcivacors: Bricish-procecced subjeccs on che land 

belonging co Sindh, and subjeccs of che Khan on land belonging 

co Kalac. T he Revenue Commissio ner of Baluch iscan proposed 

leasing Nasirabad in 1898, which was opposed by che Commissioner 

of Sindh, and in 1902 che G overnmenc of India convened a 

con fe rence on che disposicion of Nasirabad. T he Commissio ner of 

Sindh argued chac Nasirabad should be under che jurisdiccion of 

Sindh as many of ics cenams culcivaced land boch in Sindh and 

Kalac. T he AGG coun cered with the q uescio n of governance, 

scacing that if Sindh assumed its control, che cribal cenants would 

be subject co Si ndh's police. This would place several border cribes 

in che posicion of bei ng under divided auchoricy, which would lead 

co cribal unresc. T he conference, adjourned wichouc reaching a 

decision . 

As had been the case with N ush ki, word thac the Bricish mighc lease 

Nasirabad and furcher excend the canals, somehow, did gee ouc, and 

che Khan was inundated with petitioners seeking land-grants. Mir 

Mahmud Khan d id issue a number of new grants, which, however, 

only fueled che speculation even further. In these circumscances, 

che culcivacors refused co pay revenue co the Khan's naib. Again 

under p ressure of a loo ming crisis, the Governmenc of India 

accepced che Khan's offer co lease Nasirabad 'wi th all my rights 

therein and culcivaced and unculcivaced land forever co che 

Government on an annual rent of Rs l 15,000.' 12 T he amount o f 

the rental refleccs che produccivicy of the irrigated land and che 

Bricish belief chac more efficienc adminiscracio n would increase 

revenues co che point where che lease would be proficable. 
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MAKING BORDERS 

Towards the end of the nineteenth century, the British began 

ordering che space of Balochiscan by setting both external and 

internal borders. This was a complicated and lengthy project chat 

would enable the British to classify people as subjects of Iran, 

Afghanistan, Kalar, or British India. A nationality status was alien 

to the Baloch, whose political bonds were based on allegiance or 

clientage, as they were not subjects of Kalar per se, bur subjects 

only, either of the Khan or of a sardar. Non-tribals in Kalar, such 

as the Hindu shopkeepers or the Afghan traders, were clients of the 

Khan or of the sardar who controlled the town where they resided 

and where they conducted their business. The British themselves 

used nationality only when dealing across an international border 

because ic allowed che British to determine which government 

could be held accoun table for che unacceptable behaviour of 

tribesmen. The British sought to order zones of conflict and 

encroachment by establishing borders char located tribesmen as 

subjects and defined rights and obligations. The borders served as 

the basis for formal negotiations between governments. 

The British initially engaged in making borders on essentially an 

ad hoc basis as specific problems arose. The border between Sindh 

and Kalar was a source of contention prior to the 1876 treaty. In 

1862, British officials in Sindh sec the boundary in an effort to 

establish the Khan's responsibility fo r raids and crimes committed 

in Sindh by tribesmen who evaded punishment by fleeing to Kalar, 

and the line they sec was totally arbi trary: 

Experience shows chat ir is useless co attempt co discover by evidence 
any original boundary between che Provinces. Ir is certain chat no 

distinct or recognized boundary ever existed, and the concradiccory 
assertions of rhe natives of all ranks and stations with regard ro such a 
line only serve co confuse rhe marrer still more ... after becoming 
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acquainted with the localities lay down arbitrarily the boundary line 

as it may ~ (emphasis original) to yourself to be the most 

convenient and equitable to both Khclat and the British Governmenr. 13 

Fixing a border did noc end dispuces abouc accountability 

between che AGG and che Commissioner of Sindh. In 1911, 

chere were several raids from Jhalawan into Sindh, in which 14 one 

shopkeeper was killed and several ochers wounded; besides, 

property valued ac Rs35,000, was scolen. Calcucca was forced co 

referee a dispute between two different systems of governance. 

When Commissioner Younghusband demanded compensation, 

AGG John Ramsay responded char Sindhis had also parricipaced 

in che raids. Younghusband denied chis, while, simultaneously, 

arguing char any Sindhi parcicipacion was led by Brahuis from 

across che border. The AGG proposed a joint Kalac-Sind h jirga 
co adjudicate che case. There were differences regarding the 

constitution and membership of che jirga. The Commissioner, 

operating with a court perspective, wanted a clear British 

domination of che process. The AGG , however, was commicced 

co the jirga as the basic tribal judicial institution in Kalar, and 

resisted what he saw as a 'hybrid creation which could be neither 

a jirga nor a regular court.' 

The Commissioner wanted punishment and resticucion for whac 

he regarded as a 'foreign aggression', in a timely fashion. The AGG 

defended jirga mediation as the only instrument for making sardars 

accountable for the actions of their tribesmen. Younghusband 

would 'accept either a military or a policicaJ solucion, but Ramsay 

argued chac a milicary solution involving che use of imperial ccoops 

in Kalar cerricory would only destabilize che fragile policies of che 

Kalar border. He claimed chac any presence of imperial croops 

would be seen by che Jhalawan sardars as a breach of faith chac 

would make chem even more difficult co control. Calcucca 
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ultimately accepted the AGG's assessment of the risks involved in 

the solution proposed by Sindh, and placed the inquiry entirely in 

the AGG's hands while cautioning him that a successfu l resolution 

depended on the cooperation of the Commissioner. 

Mapping the border with Iran began in connection with the lndo­

European telegraph line through Mak.ran and Persia. The Persian 

government was a reluctant parry to the negotiations, bargain ing 

'hard and actively from a position of relative weakness' (Spooner, 

1988: 6 16). An agreement, demarcating the border from the ocean 

to the vi llage of Kuhak, was reached in 1872. In 1896, a joint 

Anglo-Persian Border Commission sec the boundary from Kuhak, 

which fell to Iran, to Koh-i-Medik Siah, a place which coincided 

with the meeting point of the borders of Afghanistan, Iran and 

British Baluchistan. In the same year, an Anglo-Afghanistan 

commission marked the border from Koh-i-Medik Siah co Nuskhi, 

and the territory of Chagai was allotted co che British. 

T he western border of Kalar was troublesome right from the 

beginning of the colonial period. According to Lieut. Col. Terence 

Keyes, writing long after the fact, Makran was a subj ect of 

d iscussion between the Khan and the Viceroy ac che signing of the 

1876 treary between Kalar and the Government of India. The Khan 

asked for Sandeman's assistance in settling his affairs in Mak.ran. 

The Viceroy replied, ' ... in accordance with your previously 

expressed desire, Major Sandeman on his return to Khelat is to 

proceed co Makran and Panjgur for the purpose of sec-cling, if 

possible, the affairs of that distant portion of your cerri rories.' 15 

T his indicates that the British accepted the Khan's claim co Makran 

as pare of the Kalar State. However, due to che intervention of the 

Second Afghan War, Sandeman's mission to Mak.ran never rook 

place. 
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Under Nasir Khan I, Kalar had annexed the districts of Makran 

and Kharan. Nasir left local rulers in place, taking a portion of che 

harvest. His successors, however, found it difficult co maintain 

Kalar's suzerainty, and the Khan's authority, before the arrival of che 

British, was nominal at best. The Gichki rulers, who had seized 

control of the Makrani oases cowns in che eighteenth century, had 

fallen into chronic dynastic disputes. After che war, che Khan 

repeatedly asked the British co administer Makran on his behalf, a 

proposal firmly rejected in Calcurca: 'The perry internal politics of 

Mekran (sic) are of liccle import co the Government of India 

though, doubtless, they are of importance co the Chief of Kalar 

Scace.'16 Calcucca, with an eye on che botcom line, wanted the Khan 

co station his own troops in Makran. 

Makrani politics was complicated by the Nausherwanis of Kharan, 

who had substantial landholdings in Makran. No chief had played 

border policies more effectively than Azad Khan Nausherwani, who 

had operated independently for many years where the borders of 

Iran, Afghanistan and Kalar converged. Despite strenuous British 

efforts to control arms smuggling, Azad Khan possessed several 

hundred guns and could turn our the largest, best-equipped lashkar 
(tribal army), in Kalar. Ir's nor surprising, therefore, that in 1883 

andeman undertook an arduous journey co meet Azad Khan at 

his residence in Kharan. Although rhe Nausherwan i chief had 

sheltered Nasir Khan II in 1839 after the British had killed Mehrab 

Khan and denied Nasir Khan the throne, the cwo had fallen our 

after Nasir Khan assumed che khanship. Azad Khan sided with the 

rebellious Brahui sardars in 1871. He had furnished troops co the 

Afghans at the Bartle of Maiwand, and his forays into Makran were 

a major source of the disorder prevailing there. 

Sandeman's description of Azad Khan reveals the sympathetic respect 

char underwrote much of his success in dealing with the sardars: 
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In spire of his grear age, Azad Khan rerains his menral faculties 

unimpaired. Bowtd by age, he is unable to mounr a horse wirhour 

assisrance, bur once in the saddle his endurance is grearer than char of 

many a younger man. Possessed of unflinching resolurion, impatient 

of wrong, generous to reward, stern and relentless in punishment, 

Sirdar Azad Khan has above all rhings enjoyed a reputation for 

unswerving honesty. He is never known to depart from his word once 

given, and has a sincere contempt for chicanery or falsehood. (Quoted 

in T hornton, 1977(1885): 181) 

It was a productive meeting for both men. Sandeman was 

particularly pleased with his success in persuading Azad Khan to 

acknowledge the Khan. He ignored the contradiction implicit in 

entering into a direct agreement with Azad Khan while at the same 

time exhorting the chief to submit to the Khan (Redaelli, 1997: 

84). Sandeman also ignored Azad Khan's long years as a freebooter 

in favour of a future cooperation buttressed by a subsidy fo r levies 

for protection of trade and maintenance of peace. A few years after 

this meeting, Azad Khan demonstrated his loyalty. During the 

mapping of the Afghan border he provided 200 camels to the 

survey party. Half of these camels came from his personal herd, 

and fo r these he refused all compensation, even for the loss of the 

thirty-five camels that died or strayed. They were, the Nausherwani 

chief said, a gift. At Sandeman's request, Calcutta responded to this 

chiefly largesse by granting Azad Khan an award of RsS,000. 17 

However, Sandeman had given the sardar a greater reward by 

confirming Nausherwani lands in Makran, which had been under 

dispute with the Gichkis, and this concession would plague 

andeman's successors. 

When Azad Khan d ed in 1885, his sons informed Sandeman of 

the death in a letter that reiterated Nausherwani loyalty while 

rem inding Sandeman of the land-disputes in Makran and Jalk that 

he had settled in their favour. Although there was no recogn ized 
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border ac the time of Sandeman's decision, Jalk was under Persian 

control. The sons claimed char Persian forces were massing co oust 

them from Jalk, against che wishes of ics residents. These challenges 

were a predictable response to Azad Khan's death. They consciruced 

a test of che will and leadership of Nauroz Khan , his successor. 

Although che language of the letter is deferential, che message is 

clear: We aJlied wich you , now our interests are chreacened, and we 

call on you for support. Calcutta instructed the AGG to make it 

very clear char che British would not intervene in Persian disputes. 18 

Persian auchoricy, always tenuous in che borderlands, weakened 

cowards the end of the nineteenth century. Increasing disorder 

led AGG Browne to urge Calcurta to authorize a new Border 

Commission with Persian and Afghan representatives. He argued 

that secure borders would aid in pacifying Makran and help increase 

the trans-border trade. Browne was concerned that the Persians 

were making territorial claims unacceptable to the British, 19 and 

felt that the cooperation of Nauroz Khan Nausherwani, son and 

successor ro Azad Khan, would be critical to che success of chis 

undertaking. The AGG proposed increasing Nauroz Khan's subsidy 

with the following conditions: 

1. che Nausherwani chief would report all border violations by 

the Persian and Afghan governments, and admit no foreign 

visitors without British permission; 

2. Nauroz Khan would cake responsibility for Nausherwanis in 

Makran and support any British military intervention there; 

3. Nauroz Khan would support the Khan of Kalar. 

Although Calcucca supported demarcating che border, chey refused 

to increase Nauroz Khan's subsidy on the ground char ic might 

encourage che Nausherwani sardar co think of himself as equal co 
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the Khan, which would be 'destructive to the theory of the Baluch 

confederacy. '20 

The collapse of Persian authority escalated rroubles in Makran, 

where chronic disputes among the G ickhis and Nausherwanis were 

exacerbated by raiding from Iran. As the Khan's income from his 

Makrani lands decl ined, his resistance to stationing his troops there 

grew. This meant th.it Calcutta could no longer ignore the internal 

policies of Makran. Several British efforts to resolve the conflicts 

failed, and in 189 1 they sent a detachment of regular troops co 

restore order. T he British administered Makran for three years bur 

the Khan was finally persuaded to replace the British fo rce with his 

own troops in 1894, although the British were forced co intervene 

again in 1898 when the allied Nausherwani-Gichki forces rebelled. 

T hey attacked a British survey parry, looted government stores, and 

cue che telegraph line. Troops were sent from Karachi, and the 

major leaders of the uprising were killed in battle (GOB Makran: 

55). Under British pressure, the Khan appointed Mehrullah Khan 

Raisani as his nazim). Mehrullah Khan served in Makran for 

nineteen years, often enforcing order by means that the British 

p referred to ignore. 

l n 1900, Muhammad Umar, a Nausherwani subject of Kalar, 

organized a series of raids in Makran, after which he recreated with 

che plunder to Iranian Balochistan. Twenty-four persons were killed 

during these raids and thousands of an imals were taken. 

M uhammad Umar was rhe grandson of Mir Baluch Khan, a leader 

ki lled in the 1898 rebellion. H e was also rhe son-in-law of Sher 

Muhammad G ickhi, who was murdered by Mehrab Khan Gichki, 

in 1900. T he murder was an embarrassment for che British, as the 

Nazim, Mehrullah Khan, was implicated in it. Captain Henry 

howers, PA Kalar, however, defended the Nazim: 



THE POLITICS OF SPACE 103 

The man (Sher Muhmmad) was pracrically a rebel and the good of the 

counrry demanded his removal. The manner of his removal was 

perhaps regrerrable, bur I would nor lay roo much srress on ir. For one 

thing, che word 'murder', which has been used in che correspondence 

in chis case is, I venrure co think, inappropriace: The word, as we 

understand it, is seldom if ever applicable co cases of bloodshed among 

wild border rribes, and irs use narurally conveys a false impression .... 

I cruse it will nor be rhoughr from rhese remarks that I in any way 

approve of the summary means used by the Nazim .. . I merely seek 

co show chat if all the circumscances of the case be considered 

the ... proceedings were not quire so objeccable as rhe early repons 

of the occurrence would have led one co believe. 21 

The murder initiated an alliance between the Nazim and Mehrab 

Khan Gichki chat underwrote the Nazim's abili ty co enforce order 

in Makran. Although he was officially che Khan's agent, British 

support enabled Raisani co become the de facto ruler of Makran, 

attentive co British interests and essentially independent of the 

Khan . 

After negotiations with the Persian government, Calcucca authoriz­

ed Showers to meet with his Persian counterpart, che Sartip of 

Bampur, co resolve the issue of cross-border raiding. Accompanied 

by several sardars from Sarawan, an escort of 200 rifles, and a small 

detachment of the Sindh Horse, Showers mer the Sartip at Oizak 

(Iran), in 1901. Oizak was the Sartip's choice, who sought co use 

the meeting co further his own agenda. Although Showers's mission 

was the capture of Muhammad Umar, the Sartip wanted British 

assistance in capturing some Baranzai dissidents in control of fo res 

near Dizak. Showers found che Persian forces incapable of 

maintaining order because they were coo few in number, and lacked 

arcillery powerful enough co destroy che fores. Recognizing that a 

failure co cooperate with the Sartip would only escalate the 

rebellion, Showers organized a combined British-Persian force chat 
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persuaded the Baranzais to submit to the Sartip and restore rhe 

looted property: 

... on che whole che results of my visit co Oizak have fallen fa r shore 

boch of che Sircip's promises, and, as 1 muse admic, of my own 

expectations. Muhmmad Umar is sci ll ac large, while a reckoning has 

yec co be come wich che ocher leaders who supported him ... che only 

alternative would seem co be for me co meec wich che Sirrip again in 

che cold season .... 22 

The Anglo-Persian meeting, which followed in 1902, was a more 

ambitious underraki ng.23 Showers was accompanied by a larger 

escort of fifty Sindh Horse, three hundred rifles, and twenty sappers 

and miners, along with a contingent of tribal chiefs fro m Makran 

and Sarawan. The parry carried provisions for three and a haJf 

months. T he Persian contingent, coo, was larger, and ic was led by 

the Governor General of Kirman. The British had two aims; first, 

to sercle compensation for past raids, and then co establish an 

ongoing trans-border process co seccle fucure border complaints. 

They were successful on both counts. A jirga composed of chiefs 

from both sides of che border assessed compensation from those 

Persian BaJoch who had participated in the raids. There was some 

d ifference between Showers and the Governor General regarding 

the liabili ty for blood compensation. The Persian official argued 

chat compensation should be given for deaths during engagement 

with the Anglo-Persian fo rces as well as for deaths connected to 

raiding. There would be so me offsett ing paym ents, which, 

according to the Governor GeneraJ, was in keeping with the local 

custom. Showers refused to accept this argument on grounds that 

it equated a lawless raid against civilians with a government­

authorized campaign against dissident ouclaws. He did, however, 

accede to the Persian request co lower rhe assessment on one chief 

to avoid impoverishing him. 
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The increased show of force was effeccive, as che Iranian Baloch 

raiders surrendered, submitced co che assessmencs and began co 

deliver compensacion. A number of fores were descroyed. The 

Governor General agreed co annual meecings becween the Sartip 

and che Khan's nazim co secde fucure border complaints. He also 

agreed co cake measures against the importation of guns, and co 

station troops at several strategically located fores. Muhmmad 

Umar, who had again evaded capture, fled co Afghanistan. He was, 

lacer, reported co have moved co Siscan (Iran), where he sought 

protection from the local Persian officials. The Governor General 

agreed co allow the Nazim's forces co cross the border in pursuit of 

Muhmmad Umar, should he raid again in Makran. 

Incernal borders were often as concencious as international ones. 

The British had sought concrol of Chagai for cwo reasons: the 

major route from Siscan (Iran) co Nushki traversed Chagai, and 

they wanted to increase security and expand trade. By the time the 

border was established, the British had come co understand che 

difficulties in controlling Kharan. The landholdings of che 

Nausherwanis extended into Chagai, as well as inco Iran and 

Makran. Control of Chagai gave the Bricish a strategic position on 

the northern reaches of Kharan. With the Nazim enforcing order 

in Makran, Kharan was flanked on the south as well. The British 

sought a meeting with Nauroz Khan co determine a Kharan-Chagai 

border. The British wanted co negotiate a new agreement with the 

Nausherwani chief, char would, in addition co setting a border, 

establish several new levies posts, reiterate Nausherwani responsi­

bility for che telegraph line, and embargo arms coming from the 

Gulf. Nauroz Khan, however, had no desire co negotiate these 

issues. In addition, he feared British expropriation of Nausherwani 

lands in Makran, as they had already cried co persuade him co sell 

these lands, though, without success. 
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The chief iniciaced a scracegy of avoidance, ac first, by ignoring the 

letters from the AGG. Afcer five months, however, the AGG's 

patience ran our: 

You say you will be engaged unril February l 5'h in discribucing seed 

and in sowing operacions and thac chen che time of harvest will be so 

near chac you will noc be able to meer Major Whyte. I garher from chis 

char marrers regarding the boundaries of your territory are considered 

by you co be of liccle importance in comparison with culcivacion 

around Kharan. This may be so, but I have for a long rime past both 

verbally and in wming inrimaced co you my wish thac you should 

accompany Major Whyte and assisr him wirh such information as may 

be necessary in your own interests to enable him co make a full reporc 

to me. As you do nor seem to have understood my wish, I am obliged 

co order you co proceed to join Major Whyte wich all possible haste. 

Your failure to do so will necessicace my ordering Major Whyte either 

to proceed wirh his inquiries wichouc you, or co recurn. Neicher of 

chese consequences will be co your advantage and as your friend I wish 

you ro avoid chese consequences. Much delay and expense has already 

been unnecessarily incurred in conneccion with Maj. Whyte's work and 

if chis continues che Gove. of India will be seriously displeased. 24 

T his leccer shifrs uneasily berween sarcasm and vague rhreats framed 

wich imperial condescension. Nauroz Khan had good reason co 

believe char negociacing wich Agency officials was nor in his 

interests. Mindful of Calcuna's sensibilities about native scares, the 

AGG's resorr ro command is modulared by the threat of vague 

consequences chat might ensue from ignoring his order. In fact, the 

more the AGG pressed che boundry project, the more Nauroz 

Khan turned to prevarication as a means of delaying ic. 

Nauroz Khan responded that he was hosting a prominent pir 
(mystic) and wouJd meet Major Whyte in Panjghur (Makran) 

following che pir's departure. The meeting finally occurred in 

March 1908. Nauroz Khan pleaded poor healch, and after 
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exammmg him, a British medical officer found him coo ill co 

attend a furcher meeting. The project was suspended for six 

months. During chis interval Nauroz Khan was reported co be 

planting boundary markers with his father's name on Chagai land. 

When the AGG resumed his efforts co arrange a meeting, Nauroz 

Khan again pleaded poor health, and the medical officer refused to 

clear him for che trip. 

Nauroz Khan died in June 1909. He had succeeded in stalling 

negotiations with the British for almost three years, while 

attempting co consolidate control of disputed lands in Makran and 

Chagai. The British were quick to negotiate with his son and 

successor, Mohammad Yacub Khan, who signed an agreement chat 

continued his father's subsidies and obligated him to the conditions 

proposed in 1907. Yacub signed reluccancly, perhaps concerned 

about the subsidies, which totaled Rsl0,000 per annum. Within a 

year the Sardar was complaining about che Kharan-Chagai border. 

In face, the agreement had located some disputed traces in Chagai, 

which made chem British territory. The British conceded one trace, 

but denied Yacub Khan's claim co several ochers. The chief expelled 

government officials from poses in Kharan and Chagai. Escalating 

tensions came to an abrupt end when Yacub Khan was killed by 

his own bodyguards, probably at the instigation of his uncle, and 

was succeeded by his young son, Habibullah Khan. This put an 

end to British plans to lease the troublesome border traces from che 

Nausherwani sardar, as the AGG would have co obtain Calcutta's 

permission for a permanent land-secclemenc. He did nor believe 

Calcutta would sanction such an agreement with a chief during his 

minority. 

Establishing a boundary between Lasbela and Kalac was another 

incraccable problem. Lasbela and Kalar had enjoyed a relatively 

cooperative relationship, reinforced by inter-marriage between che 
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ruling families, from the lace eighceench century uncil shortly before 

the First Afghan War. The British, probably accepting che Khan's 

claim, designated Lasbela a feudatory of Kalar. 25 In the upheavals 

after che war, Jam Mir Khan, ruler of Lasbela, joined the Mengals 

in several unsuccessful insurgencies during the 1860s, so the British 

exiled him to Karachi. His son reconciled with Mir Khodadad 

Khan shortly before Sandeman negotiated the Mascung Treacy in 

1876 (GOB Lasbela: 26- 33). 

The northern border of Lasbela abutted lands held by the Mengals 

and Bizenjos. There was an indeterminate zone where the Mengals, 

Ilizenjos, and the Jagdals from Lasbela grazed their flocks and 

occasionally cultivated small plots of land. In 1901 , the Jam laid 

claim co chis land by demanding sung (transit tax) on goods passing 

through the rracr. 26 The Bizenjo sardar objected, claiming that the 

tract was Bizenjo's land . The PAs of Kalar and Sou chem Baluchistan 

met to consider his complaint, bur nothing was seeded. Many of 

the Mengals cultivating in the disputed land had submitted to the 

Jam's authori ty and were attending his court. In 1904 the PA Kalar, 

convened a committee consisting of himself, the PA Si bi (who had 

fo rmerly served as the PA Southern Baluchistan), the Khan's 

Political Advisor, and the Jam's wazir (vizier), to settle the case, but 

the Political Agents d isagreed with each ocher and the issue 

remained unresolved. The PA Kalar supported the Bizenjo claim, 

while the Sibi PA wanted a proper mapping before making a 

decision, as the latter wanted co assure the territorial compactness 

of Lasbela as a defence against tribal encroachments. The mapping 

was done in 1906, and when the committee reached a serdement, 

all the parties involved- Lasbela, the Mengals and the Bizenjos­

opposed it. The case dragged on , sidetracked by the First World 

War, and in 1919, the PA Kalar decided that it was easier to avoid 

the issue than to attempt to settle ic. 
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S HARNA: A V ILLAGE IN TIME 

When Charles Masson travelled ro Dulai (Sarawan) in the 1830s, 

the valley already had several villages. The Khan held lands around 

Kanak village, where he built a fore in 1874. The residents of the 

village, who culcivated h is land, were of diverse tribal backgrounds. 

The Shawani and the Raisani sardars had summer residences nearby 

(Masson, 1997( I 842] II: 70). Masson remarked in passing on the 

presence of gardens and trees, which indicates irrigation. H e also 

noted that Dulai, north of Kanak, had no villages, despite the 

apparent fertility of che soil (Masson, 200 l [ 1844] IV: 325). 

Masson's guide was concerned about securi ty and he feared raiding 

by the 'Khakas', probably the Pushcun Kakars, who were said to be 

at enmity with the Raisanis (Masson, 1997[ 1842] II: 72) The 

presence of fortifications in the villages suggests char the lack of 

security probably contributed to the scarcity of settlements in 

Dulai. The suppression of raiding under the Pax Britanica led to 

the growth of settlements in the area. The various forms of 

sedentarization that developed over rime were tribe-based. Although 

the British provided the conditions, che shifts in land-usage and 

che tenancy contracts were the results of tribesmen and the sardars 

responding to the changing political environmenc. The landscape 

of Kanak and other valleys in Sarawan shifced from a few scattered, 

fortified villages, to more varied setrlements-smaller, usually 

cranshumant villages and hamlets, a round which pasroralists 

continued to exploit che seasonal pasturage. T he contacts between 

pasroraliscs and culcivarors, between people of differing tribal 

affi liations, were mediated by sardars, whose lineages beneficed 

from shares in the harvest. 

Jn 1901 , a rough cou nt found 179 villages in Sarawan. A recount 

in 1905 returned 30 l villages (GOB Sarawan: 44). In 1906, the 

British noced sixteen vill ages in Dulai , the largest of which, 
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Babkari, contained about 150 houses whose residents included 

Mengal s, Raisan i ~, Sasolis and Summalaries. Likewise, che 

neighbouring villages were also tribally mixed. There were rwenry­

five (25) karazes and four springs irrigating 9.560 acres of land 

(GOB Sarawan: 22<J). Although not recorded by the British, there 

was also some khuthkava (rainfall) cultivation. The founders of 

Sharna were among chose engaged in chis endeavor. 

Sharna seemed almost timeless when I first saw it in 1962. le rose 

from the desert floor, the walls of its o uter rim of compounds 

joined together, limiting access co the interior. A barely visible crack 

linked it co the surfaced road chat ran down the valley. le was one 

of several villages in central Dulai , smaller and more homogeneous 

than its neighbours. There was no running water, no eleccriciry. 

The mixed agricultural-animal husbandry economy was sti ll pre­

dominately subsistence-oriented, although some onions and 

potatoes were sold co itinerant marketers. The village was all but 

deserted in winter. Most families migrated with cheir flocks co the 

lowland Kachhi plain, where they set up cent-camps and worked 

as day-labourers in the sorghum harvest, for which they were paid 

in kind. 

This impression, hoV\ever, of timelessness was deceptive. harna 

originated as a seasonal camp, some eighry years earlier, when the 

founders were granted a tenancy right by che Raisanis, who held 

most of Dulai as a jagir (estate) from the Khan of Kalar. 27 Sharna 

and its neighbouring villages were examples of the initial movement 

toward sedencarizacion, attendant on the British suppression of 

raiding in Sarawan. 

Ac first, investment in cultivation was minimal, and che fields were 

embanked co catch and hold the scanry rainfall. Once planted, che 

fields apparently received minimal attention until che harvest, a 
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one-quarter share of which wenc co the Raisani overlords (Swidler, 

1968: 83). Over the space of four generations, the serclement 

shifted from a tent-camp co a cluster of adobe houses. The economy 

shifted from cultivation, secondary to pascoral nomadism, co a 

more mixed economy. In the 1930s, Persian-wheel wells increased 

agricultural output by supporting a two-crop annual cycle. The 

turn co irrigation was a major commitment co agricultu re over 

pastoralism, and it was the sale of an imals which provided the 

initial capital for the project (Swidler, 1968: 157). It is likely that 

the Querta market, some twelve miles from Sharna, was an impetus 

for agricultural investment. A sharecropping agreement underwrote 

initial cultivation, and it continued co be an acceptable arrangement 

for cultivators and propriecors through the development of diesel 

machine-wells. With che introduction of the Persian-wheel, the 

proprietary share of one-fourth was negotiated to one-sixth for 

irrigated crops. The change appears co have been negotiated over 

several years with the Raisani sardar consulting with both sides and 

finally backing the new race. 

In 1964, Warren Swidler and I witnessed the inscallacion of che first 

diesel machine-well in Sharna. Within the year, two more machine­

wells were in operation. All of these were financed by partnerships 

of villagers and outside investors. Boch parties preferred chis 

arrangement over the government-backed schemes, which were 

based on annual fixed payments. Most invescors came from Querta 

and had a pre-existing relationship with the organizer of che vi llage 

partnerships. The profits were split evenly between the two parties 

for cen years, after which the machine belonged co che villagers 

(Swidler, 1977). 

In che subsequent chircy years, irrigation technology has kept pace 

with the lowering water cable, bur ac some cost. D iesel mach ines 

have been replaced wich cube-wells and submersible pumps.28 
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Village partnership groups have become larger and the internal 

distribution of shares more complex. Many men hold stakes in two 

or three well-complexes. T he cost of drilling a cube-well and 

installing a submersible pump was 600,000 to 700,000 rupees in 

1995, which has eroded the sharecropping relationship. The 

investment partner finances the whole irrigation installation, and 

takes an ongoing interest in the production cycle, especially, if there 

are only one or two partners. 

One of the largest local investors, HNR, was an investor in che 

1964 diesel machine-wells in Sharna. He had stakes in at least 

eighteen wells in 1995. He was also a major lender, whose terms 

included the right ro market che crops at a commission of 7-8 
per cent. In the few cases of well-complexes being owned by a 

single fami ly instead of a partnership, HNR made loans to cover 

production expenses for che right to the marker commission. 

Investors like HNR, sometimes appointed one of the land-partners 

to serve as an overseer, for assuring proper application of water, and 

in some cases, fertilizer, as well. 

harna has more than doubled in size. Most of the increase has 

come from fami lies who depended on rainfall to cultivate their 

lands. If the rains failed , as they did in 1964, these families were 

forced to seek work elsewhere, leaving their land in the care of 

relatives. There is more economic differentiation than there was in 

1964. The more prosperous households in 1964 were able to 

maintain their relative position in 1995, as well, and had been 

joined by several ocher households. Prosperity was strongly 

correlated with joint-family households, poverty with nuclear 

families. Wages, almost non-exiscenc in 1964, figured in che 

budgets of almost half the households in 1995. AJJ but a coupie of 

these jobs are located outside che village, primarily in Quetta. 

Driving trucks and buses, and assisting on buses, were che most 
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common jobs. In virtually all cases, these men lived in Sharna with 

their families. 

History indicates chat Sharna and its neighbours have been quite 

open to economic change from che beginning. The fragmentation 

of 'ownership', i.e. rights in land, did nor discourage productive 

investments in che land. 'Tribal' landholdings have proven flexible 

enough to adapt to technological improvements over the course of 

the twentieth century. In fact, the proprietary share is still held 

colleccively by Raisani lineages. However, as the cost of irrigation 

increased, the balance between village partnerships and the outside 

investors shifted towards the latter. 

CHANGE AND AMBIGUITY IN THE SPACE OF KAI.AT 

In pre-colonial Kalar, rime and space were in constant play. To the 

extent chat one can speak of borders, they were che oscillating 

effects of tributary relations and unstable alliances. The colonial 

scare, driven by geopolitical concerns, imposed its own spaces, but 

it did so unevenly and over time. The mapping of the Balochistan 

Agency was initially focused on setting international borders, in 

order to locate national subjects a nd assign governmental 

responsibility for their behaviour. These borders endure rill today, 

despite challenges from Afghanistan after rhe emergence of 

Pakistan, although they divide both rhe Pushrun and the Baloch 

peoples, and border control is a problem for Iran, Afghanistan and 

Pakistan. 

The interior space of Balochistan was restructured in complex ways. 

Oirecrly-adminiscered British Balochistan and Kalar Seate were 

joined in the Balochiscan Agency, but administered under different 

laws and policies, producing two ethnically-based categories of 

subjects. Agency territory encircled Kalar, and only che Tran-
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Makran border escaped direct Agency control. The British extended 

cheir control in Kalar over several decades, establishing boundaries 

and borders as ic became expedient co do so. To some extent, che 

rather ad hoc British mapping echoed pre-colonial conditions, and 

boundaries were established when land was contested or when there 

was a need co clari fy subject scacus. In 1909, the Foreign Office 

noted inconsistencies in che borders of Balochiscan as demarcated 

on che map of India and as mapped in che District Gazetteers. T he 

AGG responded chat che maps reflected the state of knowledge ac 

different rimes, noting char subscancial areas of Balochiscan had yec 

co be mapped. 29 As lace as 1940, the boundary between Kha ran 

and Jhalawan had not been settled, a sicuacion char complicated che 

Kharan-Kalac confli ct discussed in Chapter 9. 

Perhaps che mosc important consequence of spacial rescruccuring 

was locati ng the Agency's headquarcers in Quecca. Geoscracegic 

interests had, clearly, mocivaced the British in making this decision, 

but as a result Sarawan was pulled into che colonial orbit while it 

consigned much of Kalar co a new remoteness, distant fro m both 

rail and road connections. Sarawan, arguably, had been che heart­

land of Kalar. The supporc of Sarawan's sardars had underwritten 

the success of the expansionist Khans. Their struggle co regain their 

{achhi estates after the First Afghan War had led co the restoration 

of Sarawan co the Khan. 

The stacus of ambiguous spaces vis-a-vis Kalac-che Marri- Bugci 

lands, Makran and Kha ran, for example- remained unresolved. 

T he British placed che Marris, Bugris and Dombkis, administracively, 

under the jurisdiction of che Sibi District (British Baluchistan), 

largely because they believed chat these cerricories could be more 

effectively controlled from Sibi. Although che Marris and Bugcis 

had only tenuously and incermiccencly been accached co Kalar, 

Dombkis had more consiscencly acknowledged rhe Khan's authoriry, 
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and their lands in Kachhi were wi thin Kalat. Ad hoc decisions of 

che moment would lead to difficult problems after the Second 

World War, problems char Pakistan would inherit after 1947. 
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5 
The Politics of Culture 

In 1893, Mir Khodadad Khan ordered the execution of his wazir 

and advisor, Musraufi Fakir Muhammad, the wazir's aged father, 

his adult son, and his financial agent. This turned out to be his 

final effort to assert control over his palace officials. It precipitated 

a series of events that culminated in Khodadad Khan's forced 

abdication in favour of his son, Mahmud Khan. 

Removing che ruler of a Princely Scace was a serious undertaking 

that generated extensive reports, as officials on the scene were 

required to defend their actions co Calcutta. Noc surprisingly, chey 

typically argued that che rulers were at fau lt. By the lace nineteenth 

century, the Princely Scares had become accepted as integral parts 

of che Indian Empire. British policy had shifted from annexation 

co accommodation, but accommodation brought with it more 

British oversight and interference, and a ruler whose behaviour was 

judged co be unacceptable could be deposed. 1 

The decision to depose a princely ruler, however, was not 

undertaken lightly by Calcutta, as it might arouse co ncerns 

amongst other princes. Groenhout's (2007) analysis of the 

depositions of Holkar in 1886 and Rewa in 1922, demonstrates 

that in boch cases there was no single event chat precipitated their 

removal, but rather a series of actions in which ch e princes' refusal 

to accept British guidance on multiple occasions led to concerns 

about cheir loyalty, and ultimate removal. 
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Kalac's remoceness from che ocher scares had cwo effeccs on colonial 

adminiscracion. le relieved che British from worry about che 

response of ocher princes, but it also put pressure on the different 

levels of bureaucracy. While Calcutta was determined co procecc the 

privilege of office extended to che princes, Agency officials were 

lining up che subsidiary players-Khodadad Khan's son and the 

sardars-necessary co a transition rhac could be endo rsed by rhe 

Government of Ind ia. 

Before the Governmenc oflndia would sanction the removal of Mir 

Khodadad Khan, they required a full reporc of the case. Sandeman's 

successor, AGG James Browne, prepared a lengthy document, 

Record of che Proceeding Against His Lace Highness, the Khan of 

Kalar, which was senc co Calcucca.2 The Proceeding was incroduced 

by an overall summary argument defending Browne's action in 

bringing a case againsc Mir Khodadad Khan, and ic included copies 

of relevant communicacions with the Khan and wich Calcucta, as 

well as cranscripcs of all stacemencs taken from wicnesses. Browne 

divided his argument inco three sections: Sectio n A dealr wirh the 

murders themselves, Seccion B with more general consideracions of 

froncier policy, and Section C with the charges chat the Khan had 

repeacedly demonscraced abuses of power. In Section B, the AGG 

argued char fai lure co endorse the abdication mighc encourage ocher 

princes co defy Bricish auchoriry. He furrher pointed our char 

rescoracion of Khodadad Khan might inspire the A mir of 

Afghanistan or the Persian government, acting under Russian 

mfluence, to meddle in Kalat's affairs. In shore, the AGG argued 

that there were compelling reasons of state and culture that 

precluded any option ocher than his removal. 

The summaries chat incroduce each of the three sections incerpret 

the documencs and evaluate the reliabili ry of witnesses. They reveal 

Browne's decermination to persuade Calcutta chat Khodadad Khan's 
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removal was the only possible resolution of the crisis precipirared 

by the killings. Bue che documencs themselves, combined with an 

expanded historical concexc, support an alternative reading. Browne 

excludes this history as his account is limited co his own abbreviated 

and difficult relationship with the Khan, and excessive rhetoric 

dominates the summaries. The excessive greed and murderous 

inclinations of che Khan are mirrored by Browne's excessive appeal 

to universal civilized values, with Browne frequently employing 

'barbarity' as a descriptor of the Khan's behaviour. Thus he 

emphasizes the advanced age and frailty of the Muscaufi's father, 

carried to his death on a charpoy (four-legged bed) (Proceeding: 

35). The alleged exhumation of the grave of the Muscaufi's infant 

grandson, who died some days before the executions, reflected 

Khodadad Khan's excess of greed, as it was evidence that he would 

leave no stone unturned in his eradication of heirs to the Muscaufi's 

fortune (Proceeding: 19).3 The fourth person killed by the Khan 

was the Mustaufi's advisor, Sherdad. The AGG made a special point 

of this death, as Sherdad came from Shorarud (British Baluchistan) 

and was thus a British-protected subject. Browne challenged 

Khodadad Khan's right to order the death of a British subject. The 

Khan responded char he had 'committed an error' . The AGG 

argued rhat this death was motivated by the Khan's desire co obtain 

the whole of the Mustaufi's estate (Proceeding: 63). 

Browne represents the thirty-six year reign of Khodadad Khan as 

'a long record of broken oaths and violated engagements, varied by 

oppression and brutality.' His removal was inevitable, as: 

... no amounc of punishmenc, or of good advice, or of paper 

curtailment of his power to oppress, would prevent Mir Khudadad 

Khan from bursting our afresh into acts of brutality, which would 

result in the British Government having anew to adopt cowards him 

even sterner measures chan chose necessicaced under rhe present 

circumstances (Proceeding: 154). 
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Given Browne's indictmenc, it is hard co understand why the 

British supported Khodadad Khan for so many years. There is no 

mencion of his loy.tlry during the Second Afghan War, or of his 

cooperation in che construction of rail, road and telegraph lines 

through Kalac. The Proceeding is framed around che Khan's 

insubordination and his excessive and arbitrary behaviour, and he 

is depicted as a paradigmatic example of the oriental sovereign. 

Browne, who became che AGG in March of 1892, acknowledged 

troubled relations with Khodadad Khan from che scare. H e felt that 

the Khan had failed co accord him the respect appropriate co his 

office (Proceeding: 128). Baloch (1987: 142) recouncs an initial 

problem of protocol each man believed char the other should make 

the first formal visit. 4 The issue of insubordination had arisen prior 

co che killings. Ac che 1892 Sibi Darbar (seccing of a royal or chiefly 

audience), Browne had issued an unmistakable, if indirect, warning 

co che Khan: 

... it is a Ruler's place ro show where blame is due to evil deeds. Only 

very lately deeds or unmercifuJness, of brutality, of blood thirstiness, 

of savagery, have been done in Baluchistan, which are a disgrace ro him 

who did them, although he is in a high position which should induce 

him to.give a better example. Ler him rake warning, for these deeds of 

savagery will nor in furure be tolerated by the British Government, and 

let him remember that, although the mill stones of British justice may 

grind slowly, they grind to powder (Proceeding: 22). 

This passage was unusually admonitory and threatening, and it 

would be impossible co imagine Sandeman speaking publicly in 

such terms. The Khan surely viewed it as dishonouring, and 

perhaps as a challenge as well. The caution was a response co 

reporcs that che Khan had ordered che castration of two of his 

servants. There was, apparently, no inclination co depose Khodadad 

Khan for this outrage prior co the murders, and the AGG only 
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intended to impose a heavy fine with a stern warning not to do it 

again (Proceeding: 21). 

On 28 March 1893, Khodadad Khan sent the following telegram 

to Browne: 

You wrore rhac Mustaufl Fakir Muhammad is [a] very faithful wazir, 

and so 1 was very kind co him. He came from Sibi on Tuesday, and I 

called him chis morning in darbar for some Srare business, and in 

conversation he suddenly took over (sic) revolver to shoor me. In the 

meantime my son, Azim Khan, at once snatched away the revolver 

from him and saved me, so as a punishment I have killed Muscaufl, 

his son and father (Proceeding: 13). 

Khodadad Khan suggested that the AGG was mistaken in believing 

the Mustaufi to be a loyal servant to him. The claim that the 

Musraufi had anempted to kill the Khan is flatly asserted, as if 

Khodadad Khan were offering a token explanation for the 

executions, one that could serve as a cover for a legitimate 

punishment, if the AGG were willing to accept it. 

It is not surprising that Browne viewed the killings as deliberately 

insubordinate, 'a studied insult to rhe paramount power' 

(Proceeding: 4), as the Khan had ordered the executions before the 

British could intervene. The Khan presented the AGG with a fait 

accompli. Browne was initially in a difficult position, as he could 

not proceed to Bhag, where the killings had occurred, without a 

military escort, as there was a sizeable detachment of the Khan's 

soldiers stationed there. Calcutta would not have approved the 

unilateral deployment of imperial troops to a town in Kalar State 

without a compelling reason for the action , and AGG Browne 

could not establish such a reason without a proper investigation of 

the murders. At first Khodadad Khan ignored both the requests, 

to either send a witness or present himself before the PA Kalar in 
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person. Although he released the witnesses abouc a month after che 

killings, ic cook che threat of a military action co persuade the Khan 

co travel co Quecca fo r che invescigacion. In seeking Cakucca's 

permission co employ troops if necessary, Browne represented 

Khodadad Khan as irrational and unpredictable, although the Khan 

was noc confrontational and repeatedly affirmed his loyalry co che 

British (Proceeding: 132). 

If che Khan's relations with Browne were far from cordial, his 

relations with the Muscauft were overtly hostile. A few months 

prior co his death, the Muscaufi had asked the AGG co find him a 

position in the colonial administration, as he feared for his life. 

Browne rejected the request and encouraged che Mustaufi co 

continue as advisor to che Khan. In a meeting a month before che 

killings, che AGG enlis ted the Muscaufi's help in persuading 

K.hodadad Khan co turn over the castrated men for medical 

examination. The M uscaufi again expressed fears for his life, but 

agreed co do what he could (Proceed ing: 128). 

The strained relations between che Muscaufi and che Khan appear 

to have reached the boiling point when the Muscaufi's son was 

offered a position with the PA Kalar. Khodadad Khan believed chis 

offer co be a reward fo r the Muscaufi's service co the British. It is 

dear that the Musraufi had cooperated with the investigation of 

che castrations. The prospect of rhe father serving che Khan while 

his son served the British appears co have precipitated Khodadad 

Khan's radical challenge co colonial auchori ry. In face, according co 

eyewitnesses, the Mustaufi's son was the first co be seized when he 

came co cake leave of che Khan before joining che PA's scaff 

(Proceeding: 79, 95). 

This was not the first rime chat differences about court officials 

had caused a ruptu re in Khodadad Khan's relations wich the 
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British. There had been a growing tension about the Khan's 

selection of advisors throughout the early 1870s, prior co the 

establishment of the Agency, which culminated in a threat to 

withdraw the PA Kalat unless the Khan agreed to surrender three 

advisors into British custody. Khodadad Khan reluctancly acceded 

to the British demand, but repeatedly scared his desire to have chem 

restored. le is clear that the Khan viewed chis as impugning his 

honour. 

Khodadad Khan claimed self-defence, but on the weight of the 

evidence, Browne rejected che Khan's claim and called the murders 

an outrage motivated by Khodadad's desire co obtain the Muscaufi's 

considerable fortune for himself. The AGG constructed a reasoned 

argument in support of his position, as according to him, greed 

explained the killing of the Mustaufi's father and son, and it also 

accounted for the disappearance of property records and valuables 

belonging to the Muscaufi. The testimony of witnesses supporting 

the Khan's claim of self-defence was flawed by substantial 

inconsistencies. There appears to have been no real effort to 

construct a consistent and convincing story. Self-defence in the 

narrow sense, i.e. as response to an immediate face-to-face threat 

on the Khan's life, seems improbable. 

Following chis, co resolve the problem between the Khan and 

himself, Browne summoned the sardars co a jirga in Querta. The 

document chat resulted from their deliberations is interesting on 

several counts. It begins with a formal address recounting the 

history of Khan-sardari relations. The chiefs asserted that in former 

rimes when the Khan oppressed them, they would cake their 

grievances co the Amir of Afghanistan. With the signing of the 

Masrung Agreement in 1876, the British assumed the position 

formerly held by the Amir. The sardars claimed chat while, 

formerly, they had been free co avenge the wrongs done by the 
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Khan co chem, che Bricish had prohibiced such accions. They ciced 

the murder of the Mengal chief, along with the deaths of the 

Muscaufi and his family, as outrages char led co their pecicion co 

depose Khodadad Khan in favour of his eldesc son, Mir Mahmud 

Khan (Proceeding: 164-5). There were cwency-six signacories co the 

petition; nocable absences were che Mengal and Zehri (Zarrakzai) 

sardars, who lived ac some discance from Querta. Mohammad 

Sardar Khan Baloch (1 984(1958]: 113) points out that Marri and 

Bugti chiefs were also absenc, along with several Kachhi sardars. 

Although Browne scared that some sardars had written a 'rough 

draft' of the petition encirely on their own without any input from 

the AGG, it is hard co believe thac the PA Kalar did not have a 

hand in shaping this presentation. The whole planning and method 

of the AGG's removal of Khodadad Khan, as located within a frame 

of historical continuity, seems designed co assuage any worries in 

Calcutta regarding the sensitivities of ocher princely rulers and their 

supporters in London. In citing the historical precedent, ic 

confirmed the British as successors of the Afghan suzerain and it 

asserted the deposition as legicimaced by hiscory and custom. The 

PA Kalar had been in couch with various sardars early on, and he 

noted that Sardar Assad Khan Raisani had been consistently helpful 

(Proceeding: 136). 

Following the conventional jirga procedure, a series of questions 

were presented for che consideration of che sardars. One sec relaced 

ro che deaths of the Mustaufi and his family. In these, the sardars' 

recommendations firmly supported the British argument char greed 

had motivated the killings, and the evidence supporting the Khan's 

claim of self-defence was not believable. They asserted chat 

castration was prohibited under Islamic law (Proceeding: 177). 

When the sardars we1e asked to deliberate on a series of grievances 

against the Khan that involved abduction of women and adulcery, 
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however, they declined to make recommendations, passing these 

cases back to the AGG but did urge Browne to take the Khan's 

explanations into consideration (Proceeding: 17 5). In similar 

fashion, the sardars finessed deliberation upon a series of claims 

dealing with Khodadad Khan's oppression of his agricultural 

tenants, saying only chat chey believed chat Mahmud Khan, his son 

and successor, would nor commit such offences (Proceeding: 179). 

Browne took the occasion to consult the sardars about the Khan's 

customary rights and administration of Kalat State. The sardars 

endorsed the Khan's right to appropriace provisions from his 

subjeccs and his right to maintain an army. They also supported 

his right to pass sentences on his subjects, but they recommended 

requiring the approval of the AGG in death-penalty cases. There 

was, however, one significant exception: honour killings were 

exempt from British review. The jirga accepted Browne's proposals, 

unconditionally, for improvement of governance in Kalat. They 

approved che AGG caking charge of che Khan's treasury and 

investing ic in interest-bearing government securities, providing 

subsidies to the Jhalawan sardars, and the addition of a new Native 

Officer co advise the new Khan (Proceeding: 167-8) . 

The jirga's recommendations embody a critical accommodation 

between che sardars and British officials. In maccers of general Kalar 

governance, sardars would comply with British desires, but in 

exchange, the British would defer to the sardars in matters of tribal 

rivaj (custom). The sardars, on the whole, had little sympathy for 

Khodadad Khan, as in his long reign he had th reatened or 

murdered several of their number, bur they supported che rights of 

the ofHce itsel( The issues chey declined co consider were especially 

significant: adulcery, abuse of servants, and oppression of tena nts. 

These the jirga placed within the domain of rivaj, because like che 

Khan, the sardars, also, were overlo rds in their own estates. In 
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refusing to recommend on rhese issues, the sardars served norice of 

their intent to insulare their own relations wirh their tenants from 

any British interference. 

In keeping with Calcutta's instructions, all statements taken duri ng 

the hearing were read to Khodadad Khan. He listened to the 

testimony but declined co exercise his right co call his own witnesses 

o r question chose called by Browne. H e reireraccd his claim of self­

defence and asserted his customary right to the property of slaves 

and servants, although he denied caking possession of the Muscaufl's 

ewels and deeds: 

I looked upon him [The Musraufl] as my slave and his property as 

mine, such was rhe case before. T his rule has been observed since rhe 

rime of my fathers. When a slave or a servant was killed, his property 

was ca.ken by the Khan (Proceeding: 103). 

Khodadad Khan's own testimony, consisred of very brief and 

uninformarive answers co rhe quesrions put co him. With regard to 

the castrations, he said he had ordered chem as punishment for 

adultery. When asked why he did nor delay the killings, he 

responded, 'Ir was my desire.' When asked how many people he 

had killed since becoming che Khan, Khodadad Khan said, '3,500 

men and women' {Proceeding: 103). T he answer, a substantial , 

well-rounded figu re, seems offered in the same spirit as the question 

was asked. 5 The Khan declined co mounc a defence, apparently on 

the grounds that he h.id committed no crimes bur merely exercised 

che customary rights of his office. Arguably he was right, because 

the treaty he had signed with che Governmenc of India in 1878, 

had left domestic affairs in his hands. Browne recorded the Khan's 

assertions, but never addressed chem; presumably, he believed a 

cul rural appeal co outrages against 'civilized' values would place any 

legalistic defence of Khodadad Khan's actions beyond consideration. 
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In any case, che Khan did noc refer co che Treacy, citing only the 

precedent of custom. 

Once Browne had gathered the interested parties in Quecca, the 

hearing proceeded rapidly. When che jirga deliberations were read 

co him, Khodadad Khan said: 

I see che sardars and ryots [tenanc culcivacors] are against me. I am 

contented if my son carries on che work. I will live quiecly and have 

noching co do wich worldly affairs .... I do nor see char I have 

commicced any offence ... (Proceeding: I 05). 

Khodadad Khan kepc his word and was placed under house-arrest 

in Loralai in British Baluchistan, where he lived our che resc of his 

life in quiec retirement. 

Thus che AGG obtained legitimation for che forced succession 

from 'the highest indigenous courc of reference in the country, viz., 

che jirga of che tribal C hi efs of the Baluch confederacy' 

(Proceedi ng: 5). This was reinforced by che cooperation of 

Mir Mahmud Khan, 'indebted to us for being raised much earlier 

than he had any righc co expect, from an insignificant position to 

one of power and dignity' (Proceeding: 5). In shore, che succession 

was managed as if ic had occurred naturally, and che accors critical 

to such a performance, the sardars and the succeeding son, agreed 

co play their roles accordingly. 

However, Calcutca would not endorse che abdication uncil they 

were assured char che case against Khodadad Khan was scrong, and 

char he had been accorded the righcs appropriate co his office. le is 

hard co imagine the circumstances chat would have led co retaining 

che Khan against che AGG's recommendation, bur Calcurca and 

the Agency officials had slightly different priorities in terms of 

dealing with the crisis precipitated by che AGG's dislike of 
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Khodadad Khan's actions. Calcutta, responsible to London and 

sensitive to princely prerogatives, had reservations about several 

accions caken by AGG Browne during the crisis. When the Khan 

initially resisted Browne's request co come co Querta for a hearing, 

the AGG asked Calcutta for military support. The Government of 

India refused, wanting co avoid any action chat might escalate the 

Khan's resistance to open defiance (Proceeding: 139). Officials on 

che ground were co ncerned chat protracted negotiation with the 

uncooperative Khodadad Khan increased the danger of local 

disturbances. Although Calcutta did eventually authorize the 

presence of troops when Khodadad Khan met the PA Kalar, the 

circumstances surrounding the Khan's trip to Querta must have 

worried them. The line berween voluntary cooperat io n and 

persuasion under threat of arrest was virtual ly invisible. Indeed, 

M.S.K. Baloch claims char Khodadad Khan was 'arres ted ' 

(1984(1958): 11 2). The AGG was especially concerned about 

preventing che looting of the Khan's treasury in Kalar town, where 

there was only a small detachment of British troops. When Calcurca 

delayed sanctioning reinforcements, Browne reported hearing char 

Pushcun raiders were moving coward Kalar with the double intent 

of looting and killing (Proceeding: 140). When Calcutta, at first, 

refused co authorize house-arrest for Khodadad Khan during the 

heari ng, Browne reported that the Khan and his son were planning 

to flee to Afghanistan (Proceeding: 143). 

Calcutta had more serious reservations about the governance issues 

put before the jirga. T hey wanted co avoid any appearance of caking 

concrol of the Khan's treasury before the case against Mir Khodadad 

Khan was seeded , and expressed regret chat Browne sought sanction 

~or investing ic from the sardars and Mahumud Khan during the 

murder investigation (Proceeding: 146, 152). There was no 

p recedent fo r sardars having any voice in the disposition of che 

Khan's treasu ry, and Browne's inclusion of chis question in che jirga 
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deliberations was deemed inappropriate by Calcutta, as it 

represented a significant change in Kalat's relations with the British 

governmenc. Furthermore, critics in London might question 

whether the financial and administrative changes were forced on 

Mir Mahmud Khan as a condition of his succession. Calcutta had: 

... expressly declared that the position of the Stare cowards the British 

government is not affected by the transfer of the chiefship from Mir 

Khodadad Khan co Mir Mahmud Khan, and char Mir Mahmud Khan 

succeeds co all the righrs and privileges formerly exercised and enjoyed 

by his father.6 

Therefore Calcutta insisted that the AGG would have to obtain 

Mahmud Khan's voluntary acceptance of the administrative 

proposals after his succession. 

The Proceeding should be read against the background of Calcutta's 

concerns. Browne was on notice, so to speak, to present the 

strongest possible case against Khodadad Khan. His summaries 

were carefully constructed to do this. Having elicited Calcutta's ire 

by purring questions of governance to the jirga, thus making them 

a part of the official record, Browne mounted an extended 

argument for the benefits of investment. The Khan could be 

charged for British military support, and subsidies for the Jhalawan 

sardars.7 The fund could be used to finance a proposed campaign 

to secure the Persian-Kalar border in Makran. Ir might also finance 

irrigation projects, rhe only cited use of possible benefit to the 

people of Kalat (Proceeding: 7-10). The AGG would keep the 

books, bur all expenditures would have to be authorized by the 

Khan. This was a major change in the Kalat-Calcutta relations, as 

it distanced the Khan from the major portion of his treasury while 

shifting it into currency that could more easily be put to purposes 

endorsed by rhe Agency's officials. 8 
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Calcutta accepted Khodadad Khan's abdication in favour of his son, 

Mahmud Khan, in an official Notification dared 19 August 1893. 9 

The Notification cited overwhelming evidence of the Khan's guilt 

in murders and other crimes. It emphasized the deliberations of the 

jirga, casting the s.irdars' recommendations as influencing their 

decision. In a rather ironic ending, Calcutta asserted char: 

... che position of the Kalar Seate towards che British Governnment 

is not affected by the transfer of che government of the State from Mir 

Khudadad Khan 10 Mir Mahmud Khan, and that Mir Mahmud 

succeeds to all his •acher's rights and privileges. 

Mahmud Khan was installed ac a Full Dress Oarbar in Querta on 

10 November 1893. In a carefully orchescraced ceremony, AGG 

Browne fastened a new, bejeweled, emblem on Mahumd Khan's 

curban and proclaimed him the new Khan of Kalar. Browne cook 

the occasion co deliver a speech devoted co the obligacions 

accendanc on the office, paying special attention co the proper use 

of che Scace Treasury: 

There is one point to which I would specially call your attention; you 

muse differentiate between your private fortune and che money which 

comes to you, and which has to be spent for the public advantage. You 

muse ever bear in mind char the Scace is not a mere mine our of which 

co dig money. A portion no doubt belongs to you, bur a large share is 

in reality che right of the public, and should be employed on affairs 

which have to be c.tken up by Government because che public could 

nor satisfactorily undertake chem, such as roads, canals, che pose, and 

a variety of ocher desiderata mo numerous to mention. 

The irony of lecturing che Khan about the proper utilization of his 

treasury after appropriating a substantial portion of it appears lose 

on AGG Browne. 
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le was not coincidental chat new roads copped che list of public 

works the Khan should finance. While the British had constructed 

strategic road works linking Quena co Kachhi, there were only 

cracks co Kalar cown and the rest of Jhalawan. Improved roads were 

fundamental co the British aim of establishing control in Jhalawan. 

Browne turned his attention co the obligations of che sardars. H e 

exhorted chem co accept the authority of the Khan and to take their 

jirga responsibilities seriously. H e urged chem co decide cases 

impartially, which, he said, they had not always done in the past. 

Failure co heed chis advice might lead co fewer cases encrusted co 

chem. This admonition, despite their cooperative deliberations in 

the Khodadad Khan case, suggests chat Browne saw the succession 

of Mahmud Khan as initiating a new and improved Kalar Scace: 

You should all remember chac ic is noc my objecc in any case ro 

interfere with che ancient cuscoms and laws of chis Scare as long as rhey 

are neither barbarous nor cruel. Indeed, I regard che maintenance of 

ancient usages as h ighly beneficial and alcogecher advisable. Wichout 

changing your cuscoms, you can graft on co them what is found co be 

most advisable and useful amongst the customs of ocher nacions . .. . 

Whereas Baluch cusroms are no doubt in many ways better suited co 

rhe habits and customs of the Baluchis themselves, they sho uld 

endeavour co cake all chat would bencfic chem &om chc English laws 

and cuscoms and adopt chem co the old Baluch scock. 

Browne cases Mahmud Khan as che leader responsible for 

modernizing the scare. Bue what, exaccly was the space the Khan 

was co modernize? Certainly, not che tribal lands, over which he 

had no control and from which he derived no revenue. 'Kalar Scace' 

had been collapsed de facto into che Khan's escace, che revenues of 

which should be devoted co che public works chat would further 

British geopolitical interests in transport and com munication. 

When addressing the sardars, Browne emphasized their role as 
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guardians of rradirion, albeir of an improved, more enlightened, 

sorr. The policies of accommodarion linked colonial officials and 

sardars in forms of governance thac rendered the Khan policically 

marginal. Mahmud Khan followed chis leccure on good governmenc 

with a brief scacemenr, pledging co govern with juscice and remain 

a faithful ally of the Bricish Governmenc in Calcucca. 

MIR MAHMUD KHAN AND THE B RITISH 

Like his father, Mahmud Khan was a greac disappo intment co the 

British, although for d ifferenc reasons. Khodadad Khan's actions 

were deemed co be unacceptable enough to call for his abdication 

and Mahumd Khan, perhaps seeing a lesson in rhac, declined co 

govern. The evidence indicaces thac Mahmud Khan's refusal to 

govern was deliberate. His motives are nor clear, although his 

compromised accession and the loss of control over his creasury 

may have played into his refusal. As is seen in the passage below, 

the Bricish explained his resistance as a by-produce of his weak 

characcer. Agency officials consiscencly resisted viewing Mahmud 

Khan's behaviour as policically motivated. The British deplored his 

d isinteresr and his self-indulgence bur were able co live wich his 

failings. Mahmud Khan held office from 1893 un til his death in 

193 1. The theme of Mahmud Khan's inadequacies was established 

soon after his accession: 

The expecrarion of rhe Government of India no doubc was thar Mir 

Mahmud Khan wot.Id cerrainly develop some capaciry as a ruJer, and 

rhac he should be a.llowed as far as possible co govern by his own 

merhods, subjecc only co che raccful admonition and advice of rhe 

PolicicaJ Agent and rhe Polirical Advisor. This expeccarion has been 

alrogerher falsified by experience .... His only idea of governmenc is 

co collecr whar money he can from his Naibs; co spend whar he finds 

necessary on himse f, which is nor very much , and co hoard rhe 

remainder. He rarely leaves Kalar excepc when summoned co Q uecra, 
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and practically he trusts the Political Agent and Political Advisor to 

keep the country in order for him. Consequendy every year the 
Political Agenr is compelled to interfere more and more frequently in 

the administration of the country-the very result which the 

Government of India were most anxious to avoid. 10 

The final sentence above is somewhat disingenuous. Sandeman 

clearly saw that the Forward Policy committed the British co a more 

accivisc role in KaJac's affairs. And despite cheir claims, the British 

were noc willing co lee Mahmud Khan 'govern by his own methods', 

which involved maintaining his authority by manipulation of the 

sardari factions. In face, che British had essentially caken over 

managing che sardars, and when Mahmud Khan did engage in 

sardari policies in Jhalawan, they sought co punish him. If che 

struggle over court appointments was a central issue in Khodadad 's 

cime, financing government expansion occupied a similar role 

during his son's reign. As che British extended cheir control in 

KaJac, the cosc of governance rose. Once che froncier was reasonably 

pacified, Calcucca became resistant co authorizing any increase in 

colonial staff. In the view of officials on the ground, maintaining 

British authority required expanding the levies and increasing the 

number of the Agency's officials. 

Calcutta's parsimony moderated after Mahmud Khan was 

persuaded to authorize British investment of most of his treasury 

in 1893. Shordy thereafter, at che urging of the AGG, Calcucca 

authorized a new officer co serve as his Political Advisor. The office 

of the Political Advisor was structurally divided berween the Khan, 

who paid him, and the AGG, who selected che person co fill che 

pose, subject co the Khan's approval. The Policical Advisor would 

be a native official of the Agency, 'employed at the expense of Kalar 

and for the benefit of the Scace, buc under the orders of the Political 

Agent.' This arrangement seemed designed co allay any fears m 
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Cakuna char the office represented an unacceptable intervention 

in the Khan's authority. He was to be neither the sole servant of 

the Khan nor the British. His duties were to arbitrate disputes 

between the Khan and the sardars, to oversee the Khan's escaces, 

convene local jirgas to resolve petty disputes, and render sensible 

advice co che young and inexperienced Khan. Calcutta noted chat 

there were precedents fo r such officers in other princely scares. 

However, chey signed off with a caution: 

The Government of India desire themselves ro abstain from, and co 

impress upon the locaJ officers rhe necessity of abstaining from 

unnecessary interference in the incernaJ affairs of KaJac. T he Khan 

cannot be expected for some time ro come, ro govern his wild country 

except by KaJac methods, and it would be exceedingly difficulc for him 

co control his curbulenc Sardars and people, or ro carry on che 

government, if his measures were co be subjected ro close scrutiny and 

constant check. 11 

Did Calcucra really want to protect the Khan's latitude to rule? It 

is hard co take the above passage at face value. To the extent that 

there were 'Kalati' methods of governance-manipulation of sardari 

factions and the threat of harsh punishment to rebellious chiefs­

Calcucta would not permit them. The passage seems designed to 

deny what the document sanctioned, a British appointment foisted 

on a reluctant native ruler. In any event, the Khan had his own 

desires. The Political Advisor was quickly drawn into the vacuum 

produced by Mahmud Khan's disinterest in ad ministering his 

estates. T he Khan's tenants, suffering under his unrestrained naibs, 
turned to the Political Advisor for assistance, who soon found that 

he had little time for other duties. It was difficult to cultivate a 

personal relationship with the Khan, as he rarely left his palace in 

Kalar unless summoned co Q uerta. 12 
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In 1897 Mir Mahmud Khan, at the urging of the PA Kalar, 

instituted a Kalar Scace Court to handle both civil and criminal 

cases and Political Advisor was appointed the judge of the court. 

Cases were assigned to the court by the written order of the Khan, 

who bound himself to accept and enforce its decisions. The PA had 

the authority co obtain the records of any case, and to order a retrial 

if he found the proceedings unacceptable. He also had to sign off 

on any sentences exceeding four years, while the AGG confirmed 

sentences greater than seven years. Court procedures would follow 

those in force in British Baluchistan. The Political Advisor could, 

with the permission of the Khan and the PA, refer a case to a jirga. 
It appears that the Khan rook as little interest in administering this 

court as he did in his estates. 13 

In the aftermath of Khodadad Khan's removal, Calcutta was 

particularly sensitive about British intervention in the affairs of 

Kalar State (Todd, 1926: 9). However, Agency officials were 

grappling with accumulating problems resulting from Mahmud 

Khan's refusal co govern, i.e. co oversee his estates and protect his 

tenants. When Maj. H.L. Showers became the PA Kalar in 1900, 

it was clear that neither the Khan nor rhe sardars were willing to 

address the problems. Showers was an interventionist PA, more 

concerned with solving administrative problems than with deferring 

to the fiction of the Khan as the ruler of a princely stare. He saw 

improving the quality of the Khan's naibs as central to administrative 

reform. The naibs came from a variety of backgrounds. Some came 

from prominent tribal families. Some were khanazada, household 

slaves who were trained for the Khanate's administration. Political 

Advisors had not been able ro restrain the naibs, who remitted to 

the Khan only the amount they calculated necessary co retain their 

office. When the Khan did seek an accounting from a naib, the 

latter was likely to flee co British territory, which which put the 

British in a bind since they were unwilling co extradite the naib, 
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fearing he would be subjected co unacceptably harsh punishment 

by che Khan: 14 

T he naibs . . . were moscly men of low origin, dishonest, ignorant and 

incompetent. They kept no proper accounts and what they did keep 

chey evaded subm itting as long as possible .... Supported by a 

degraded and ruffianly body of che Khan's troops the naibs did just as 

chey liked, oppresseJ and excorced all chey could from the people chey 

governed with hardly a shadow of justice or system . . . . The most 

powerful of che naibs was Naib Akram (one of the Khan's slaves!) who 

was in charge of che rich and important Bhag niabet. 15 

Iri 1902 Mir Mahmud Khan and PA Showers reached an agreement 

that reconciled the different agendas held by each man when the 

Khan agreed to place his Masrung estates under the oversight of 

the PA Kalar. Mahmud Khan's refusal co rule his Mascung subjects 

was essentially a refusal co rule chem by che British terms, co 

embrace the British principles of governance. This forced Calcucra 

into shifting from the official policy of minimal interference in 

Kalat's governance, the principle they had arriculated when he 

assumed the masnad (throne) in 1893. Showers clearly thought the 

British could do a better job, and felt that the Agency's oversight 

would increase che productivi ty of the Khan's estates. 16 The duties 

of the Political Advisor were revised co allow him to devote most 

of his time co the Khan's estates. With the Khan's approval, the 

British replaced che uncooperative naibs. Agency officials oversaw 

estate accounts, deducted the costs of management, and remitted 

the balance to the Khan These arrangements were rapidly extended 

to al l the Khan's holdings in Sarawan and Kachhi (Bhag, Dhadur, 

Gandava, and Lehri). The Khan's Kachhi revenues shortly doubled , 

while his less productive estates in Jhalawan were left to his own 

management. 
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Although it is impossible to recover Mir Mahmud Khan's 

subjectivity, co reconstruct his motives for refusing co rule, his 

actions were certainly political in a narrow sense. Having been 

nominated co the throne by the British and constrained within 

paramountcy, having also witnessed the removal of his father, 

Mahmud Khan chose non-cooperation. His choice had the 

significant consequence of allowing him to minimize his contact 

with the British. Mahmud Khan became a skillful obstructionist, 

delaying signing off on British projects for extended periods of 

rime. Agency officials amibuced his non-cooperation co defects of 

character, a rime-honoured formulation readily accepted in 

Calcutta. This rhetorical tactic functioned well as an explanation 

for Mahmud's approach, while denying a political dimension co 

Mahmud Khan's deliberate actions. 

Mahmud Khan's desire to minimize contact with Agency officials 

appears co have been reciprocated. There was a small canconmenc 

about two miles from Kalar cown that contained residences and 

offices for the PA Kalar and the Political Advisor, a pose office, a 

small dispensary, and troop barracks, Kalar was a cwo days' journey 

from Querta. The responsibil ities of the PA and the Political 

Advisor covered a large cerricory, and they spent licde time in Kalar. 

Major Showers, PA Kalar, noted that there had been few attempts: 

to break through the barriers of seclusion and reserve, which His 

Highness has always interposed between his immediate surroundings, 

e.g. the control of his army and the management of his extensive but 

worthless stable, and ourselves. I chink in the 12 years of his rule no 

more than three Agents to the Governor Generals' visits have been paid 

co Kalar. . .. Ar rhe same rime His Highness's own visits co Querta 

and the outer world have been no more than six in the same period. 17 

Meetings with the Khan were consistently difficult, but frustration 

did not erupt into che bureaucratic prose of Agency officials, and 
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the Khan's behaviour, which included regular obscruccion of official 

inquiries and requests, and reneging on agreements reached after 

lengthy negotiations, was explained, instead, in terms of his flawed 

character. 

Neither the PA nor the Political Advisor was in KaJac on 18 March 

1905, when some of the Khan's troops moved into the cantonment 

and sought British proceccion.18 Shortly, thereafter, a party of loyal 

troops, led by the Khan , pursued the deserters, threatening to 

bombard them, and the dissidents fled from che residency to the 

pose office. In the ensuing melee berween the poscaJ levies and the 

Khan's forces, a Dehwar named Ido, a temporary poscaJ levyman, 

was facaJly injured. 

The postmaster sent a telegram on 18 March, informing the AGG 

of the disturbance. The PA KaJat and the Political Advisor, escorted 

by forty cavaJry, arrived at KaJat on 21 March. They initiated an 

inquiry which focused on assessing the actions of the deserters and 

the Khan's response to chem, along with investigating the cause of 

Ido's death. The PA, Maj. McConaghey, interviewed the Khan and 

took statements fro m the deserters who were still in the 

cantonment. The Khan was invited ro send anyone with knowledge 

of the event and a representative ro question the men who had 

made cheir statements. Mahmud Khan decl ined ro exa mine 

witnesses and stated chat he did not intend to send any witnesses 

to the proceeding, but instead he would provide the PA with an 

account of the incident. T his effectively prevented the PA from 

geccing direct statements from the Khan's officers. In a telegram 

sent before the arrival of the PA, Mahmud Kh an denied 

responsibility for Ido's death, suggesting it resulted from an 

overdose of opium. He also denied that Ido, at the time of his 

death, was employed as a levyman by the agency. 
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The Khan stated that soldiers under Commandant Nur Khan had 

commirted numerous thefts and he said he had warned Nur Khan 

that the thieving had to stop. The next day some forty armed 

soldiers, led by Dost Muhammad Khan, Nur Khan's brother, went 

to the cantonment. The Khan sent Nur Khan to give the men their 

pay and to collect their guns, but the dissidents refused to surrender 

their weapons or accept che pay. Concerned that the soldiers might 

damage cantonment property, the Khan led a detachment of 

soldiers with artillery to the cantonment. Under threat of 

bombardment, the dissidents surrendered about half their guns and 

moved from the PA's residence to the post office. The AGG, 

however, was not satisfied with Mahmud Khan's account. He 

sought clarification regarding the grievances of the deserting troops 

and the circumstances of Ido's death. The Khan reiceraced his 

ignorance regarding Ido's death. H e repeated the theft charges and 

stated that he regarded the deserters as mutineers who required 

swift action. 

The British had long deplored the quality and discipline of the 

Khan's troops. Several years after his accession, Calcutta authorized 

Lieut. LeMesurier, to aid the Khan in the instruction and 

reorganization of his army. Some Punjabis were recruited, and the 

army acquitted itself well in battle with che Jhalawan dissident, 

Gauher Khan (see Chapter 6). However, the project foundered on 

Calcutta's desire to give first priority co the development of a camel 

corps to serve in Makran. 19 Over the years che Khan appears to 

have lose interest in maintaining a well-disciplined force. On the 

basis of che statements provided by che deserters, PA McConaghey 

attributed che soldiers' discontent to low pay, which was frequently 

in arrears. The yearly bonus of Rs36 was often reduced by various 

charges, levied by the officers in charge of dispensing it. The Khan's 

violation of the Agency's grounds was 'hasty and ill-considered', 

but che PA acknowledged chat the deserters had put che Khan in 



140 REMOTELY COLONIAL 

an awkward position. The PA believed che injuries sustained by Ido 

during che quarrel becween che levies and che Khan's troops were 

accidencal in nature. The poscmasrer scared thac Ido had asked 

permission to go home after the altercation, saying he did not feel 

well. He died during che night. An autopsy revealed char Ido had 

died of internal bleeding caused by a rupmred spleen. 

PA Showers, on leave when the distu rbance ar Kalar occurred , 

wrote a report to che AGG that was rather different in tone and 

conclusions from Maj. McConaghey's on-scene investigation. 

Showers argued that Ido's dearh, albeit accidental, was 'directly 

anriburable to rhe Khan's actions . .. chat rhere was no intention 

co kill che man ... do[ es] not lessen His Majesty's responsibili ty .. . . ' 

According to Showers, rhe desertions required no immediate action 

from the Khan, whose 'violation of che Cantonment ... was an 

injudicious and improper proceeding char showed bur scant respect 

for rhe d ignity and position of che representative of Governmenc.'20 

The Khan should pay a blood compensation of Rs l ,500 to che 

British, who would then disburse ir to Ido's survivors. 

Showers, who shared che general British concern about rhe Khan's 

army, noted char rhc Khan had been consisrently resistant to 

suggestions for its improvement. He casually nored in passing, rhac 

rhe condition of rhe army should have been dealt wirh when 

Mahmud Khan acceded to che throne, a notion Calcutta surely 

would not have sanctioned at the time. Showers argued chat che 

army could nor be improved with modest reforms as it required a 

fundamental overhaul. The PA made cwo proposals to chis end: 

1. The British wotJd select men of good character from che 

tribes to serve as officers who would recruit tribal soldiers. 

The Khan would have command of che army, once che pay 

scales were worked out with British approval. 
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(Or) 

2. The troops would be recruited from the Punjab and be led 

by rerired officers of the Native Army, under the Khan's 

command. 

Showers preferred the second plan. He did not believe that tribal 

soldiers would be loyal to the Khan, especially as he believed that 

the Khan lacked the character to elicit respect. 

AGG Tucker submitted the formal report of the March disturbance 

to Calcutta on 24 June 1905. He transmitted Mahmud Khan's 

regret over the incident, and his assurance that it would not happen 

again. The Khan accepted responsibility for Ido's death and agreed 

to pay the compensation. The Khan also agreed to raise the 

military's pay and reduce the size of the army. The AGG nored that 

he intended to instruct the Political Advisor to make Kalar his 

headquarters and encourage the PA co spend more rime chere as 

well. Calcutta sanctioned the AGG's proposal, noting that lack of 

British supervision was a factor in the March incident. 

The Khan's claims about Ido over che course of the investigation, 

exemplify his methods in dealings with the British. At first he 

asserted that Ido was a Kalar subject, not employed by the British 

at the time of his death, which was in any case unrelated to the 

disturbances in March. Hence his death should be of no concern 

to Agency officials. When these claims were not accepted, Mahmud 

Khan, under some pressure, agreed to pay compensation for his 

death. In response to repeated requests to provide che payment 

agreed to, the Khan stated chat Ido had died a natural death. It was 

not until July 1907 char British officials succeeded in getting him 

to authorize the compensation. 
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Kalac's administrative charges were funded from several sources. 

The Government of India continued co pay subsidies co the sardars 

of Sarawan and the cost of several of che earliest-established levy­

posts. Jirga expenses were met from the ]irga Fund, which consisted 

of fines and small fees. As che century advanced, the British 

pressured Mahmud Khan co provide new services such as schools 

and medical dispensaries. Agency officials argued char h is coffers 

had swelled under their management, which was certainly true. 

Mahmud Khan's revenues in 1908 totaled Rs805,578, and almost 

all of chis was derived, directly or indirectly, from the British rents 

on the leased areas, the annual subsidy granted in the Mascung 

Treacy, income from the administered niabets, and the Khan's Fund. 

Mahmud Khan was expected co assume an ever-lengthening list of 

charges. 

The Khan's Fund was a particular target in British negotiations over 

Kalar State's charge~. Ir consisted of the annual interest accrued 

from British investment of the Khan's treasury. The fund realized 

about Rs200,000 a year. 21 Initial charges against the Fund were 

support of the ex-Khan's household, subsidies for che Jhalawan 

sardars, and the salary and office of the Political Advisor, for a coral 

of Rs96,000. By 1905 the Fund's expenses totaled Rs207,676, 

leaving che Fund wi h a balance of around Rs40,000. Charges on 

the fund were subject to the Khan's approval, and over the years 

Mahmud Khan had agreed, often reluctancly, co accept a variety of 

charges. These included some new levy poses and public works, 

administrative coses in Makran, an allowance for the PA Kalar, and 

the salary and office for the Native Assistant of Jhalawan. Agency 

officials nor only negotiated additional charges against the Fund, 

but periodically, they pressured the Khan to sanction che transfer 

of charges from the Fund to his personal treasury, or to the niabet 

revenues. In 1906, Mir Mahmud Khan 'contributed' Rs27,000 

from his niabet revenues to the upkeep of his father's household 
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(Todd 1926: 55). Subsidizing the PA's office from the Khan's Fund 

indicates that the distinction berween Kalar State's expenses and 

the expenses administered by the Agency, seems co have been rather 

flexible. In fact, AGG Tucker observed that it was inconsistent to 

charge Kalar Stace's funds with an allowance for a British official, 

and the subsidy was transferred co the firga Fund. Mahmud Khan 

witnessed increasing charges against the niabet funds. In 1906, 

these included additional administrative staff, road maintenance, a 

sericulcure project char proved unsuccessful, and various public 

works. PA Showers, writing to the AGG, pointed our chat the new 

charges: 

if not discussed with His Highness in detail, were all assented to by 

him in that he agreed that the Political Advisor should take over the 

sericulcure operation, the Kalat road, and the maintenance of various 

buildings hitherco maintained by the Khan's Fund .... Thus it only 

seems necessary now that these additional items should be embodied 

in a note supplementary to that of 11th November last and the 

contents communicated, as before, to His Highness the Khan for his 

information. 22 

In a letter of 4 June 1906, Mahmud Khan accepted new levy 

charges against the Khan's Fund, while pointing out that he had 

raised objections co them with both the AGG and the PA Kalar: 

It is the duty of every individual to look at matters concerning him 

from all points and I therefore submitted my representation co the 

Honourable the Agent to the Governor General. But as these have not 

been taken into consideration I do not think it becomes me to trouble 

the Hon'ble the A.G.G. any further. I therefore write to say that I 

entirely accept the proposals made ... You are acquainted with the 

general rule governing the conduct of affairs between superiors :ind 

subordinates. A subordinate, if he has any objections to offer, submits 

his representations. If they are accepted well and good, if not, there is 

nothing more to be said in the marter.23 
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In this passage Mahmud Khan echoes his father's response when 

the British refused Khodadad Khan's plea co retain the controversial 

advisors. The rhetoric of honour has been replaced by a rhetoric of 

hierarchy; when che desires of the subordinate are rejected, he 

acquiesces and withdraws. The cultu ral posture of dignified 

disengagement was convenient for the AGG, who could then assure 

che Government of India chat che Khan had agreed co assume che 

coses of more levies. 

The British portrayed Mahmud Khan as licentious, self-indulgent, 

and above all , greedy. Baloch writers concur in this negative 

characcerizacion. Thus, Baloch (l 984[1958) : 247) describes 

Mahmud Khan as 'a virtual slave of his self, given co luxury and 

debauchery.' He asserts thac the Khan was a gifted musician, buc 

faults him for presiding over a court of 'forbidden pleasures' (MSK 

Baloch, 1984[1958]: 18 1). Mahmud Khan was regarded as a 

dynastic embarrassment by his nephew, Mir Ahmed Yar Khan: 'He 

was just the sore of man most fitted co British political ends. He 

functioned virtually like a dummy ... .' (1975: 109). While there 

is abundant evidence of the personal shortcomings that trouble 

many Baloch, Mahmud Khan was noc quire che British puppet 

suggested by Mir Ahmad Yar Khan. He consiscencly engaged in 

tactics of evasion and delay with Agency officials. His resistance 

forced chem co resort co dubious accounting practices that would 

have embarrassed Calcucca, had they become public knowledge. 

Agency complaints about his greediness deserve a closer look. 

Alchough Mahumd Khan received annual interest from the Khan's 

Fund, the fund itself, which comprised che fortune amassed by che 

previous Khans, had passed co British control. The British deplored 

Mahmud's 'hoarding' of his wealth, which they escimaced co be 

about Rs530,000 (5 .3 lakhs) in 1908.24 The British urged 

investment, bur from Mahmud Khan's view, investment could be 
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seen as losing concrol of his fortune. From his accession in 1893 

co 1908, ehe Khan gave Rs377,272 for roads and agricultural 

improvemencs. In addieion co bearing increased levy coses, Mahmud 

Khan committed Rs l 6,000 annually for roads, schools and 

dispensaries. Most of these monies wenc for roads, which were ehe 

highest priority for the British, who wished to increase ehe mobility 

of boeh eheir offic ials and ehe troops. Alehough the Khan's 

administrators were, according co Agency officials, clearly inefficienc 

and often corrupt, British-backed reforms did not always increase 

ehe Khan's revenues. In che case of Makran, where che Khan 

received about fifteen ehousand rupees a year before che reform, he 

was by che 1920s, making up an annual deficit of close co a 

hundred thousand rupees. Much of chis deficit came from increased 

coses associated with British incer~scs in defending che Iranian 

border and maincaining incernal order (see Chapter 4). 

Fixed charges against che Khan's Fund also rose during chis period. 

The cost of maincaining Khodadad Khan's household had risen 

from Rs27,000 when he abdicated, co Rs80,000, by che 1920s. In 

face, che Khan's Fund was overspenc by chis time, the deficit being 

made up from che niabets' revenues of che Khan. The British 

rransferred charges from one account to another with some 

frequency, and the Khan was often in che position of being 

pressured co accept charges over which he had no concrol for 

projects in which he had no interest. Although Mahmud Khan's 

long reign was undiscingujshed at best, British representations of 

his faults should be read against his desire co keep a distance from 

the British and to reeain concrol of whae was lefc of his wealth. 

The removal of Mir Khodadad Khan was a crieical evenc in che 

hiscory of Kalar Seace. le marked the end of the Sandeman period, 

bur the cooperation between sardars and Agency officials chat 

enabled a peacefu l succession validated hi s belief in rribal 
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governance. The Khan's position, untenable from the scare, became 

further marginali1ed. From rhe beginning, Browne seemed 

determined co dis •·ance himself from the Sandeman style, as 

indicated by his dispute with Mir Khodadad Khan over che visiting 

protocol. He was probably encouraged by Calcutta, who sought co 

replace 'che Sandeman scyle' with a successor more committed co 

bureaucratic admin is tration. The history of the Khan's disputes 

with Agency officitls over court personnel is erased from the 

Proceeding. The provocation of caking the Muscauft's son into the 

Agency's service is occluded in Browne's indi ctment, which 

combined a selective, legalis tic argument with the larger culcural 

discourse of orienta. rulers. His orchestration of alleged chrears­

chac the Khan might flee co Afghanistan, chat his treasury might 

be looced--compellfd Calcutta co sanction his actions, despite their 

reservations Although Calcutta's primary concern was protecting 

pararnountcy, Kalat's remoteness permitted a kind of British purdah 
(curtain camouflage) . Calcutta, hobbled by distance, had liccle 

choice bur co accept Browne's questionable allegations. His 

inclusion of che changes co che Khan's finances in che official record 

clearly annoyed Calcutta, as ic had che potential co generate 

embarrassing questions in London. 

Browne's use of the abdication co seek sardari authorization co rake 

control of the Khan's treasury had no legal or historical jusciftcacion. 

The legi timacy of obtaining sardari support for Browne's proposal 

co invest the money and use che interest co pay subsidies ro many 

of chem is obviously problematic. T he sardars, probably guided by 

che Sarawan chiefs, adroicly deployed a policies of accommodation 

co stake their claims for internal tribal autono my as the price of 

collaboratio n. This was cri tical co che successful management of 

Khodadad Khan's deposition. 
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How Browne obcained Mir Mahmud Khan's agreemenc co che 

invescmenc scheme is unknown, buc budgecary issues clearly 

poisoned che Khan's relacions wich che Bricish for che whole of his 

reign. Similarly, che mocives chac led co Mahmud Khan's refusal co 

rule are unknown, buc ic appears co be a culcurally appropriace 

response co che humiliacion of his facher and co che loss of auchoricy 

and power in che khanship. His caccics forced Agency officials co 

violace paramounccy furcher, increasing cheir dependence on sardars 

and cribal governance, chus seccing che conditions for Kalar 

excepcionalism. 
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6 
The Space of Politics 

The Baluchistan Agency was essentially a byproduct of the first rwo 

Afghan Wars. The first war had failed in achieving a peaceful and 

cooperative Afghanistan, so the British turned to establish ing Kalat 

as a cooperative and dependent Native State. However, the Second 

Afghan War broke out, before the problems attendant on this 

project could be perceived, much less addressed. In 1878, the Amir 

refused co allow the British mission chrough the Khyber Pass. The 

British demanded an apology and when one was noc forthcoming, 

they called up their troops. The war ended in 1880, rather 

inconclusively, as far as che British security goals were concerned, 

but under the Treacy of Gandamak, che British did acquire che 

Pushrun territory that lacer comprised British Baluchistan. 

The distinctive spaces of the Baluchistan Agency were thus created 

in treaties, the first recognizing the Scace of Kalar, while the the 

second established British Baluchistan. The determinations of Kalat 

State governance began wich Calcutta's decision to support 

Sandeman rather than Mereweather. The resistance of the sardars, 

especially che Sarawan sardars, discussed in Chapter 3, contributed 

to British wariness regarding che complexity and cost of using che 

military to produce a centralized Native State with a ruler 

possessing the means to control his subordinates. Sandeman was 

also a central player in the second determination. His confident 

belief that expanding the Agency was good frontier policy, made 

him an effective advocate in London and Calcutta for the 



150 REM OTELY COLONIAi 

incorporacion of Bricish Baluchiscan (Thornron, 1977(1895): 

262-63). 

In pre-Bricish rime~. Bricish Balochiscan and Sarawan were often 

accached co Kandahar, and chere is evidence of populacion flows 

berween che Pushcun and che Brahui-speaking areas. The Sarawani 

Raisanis claim, originally, co have been Spin Tarins. Barch (1981) 

noced char che Marri Baloch incorporaced Pushcuns as che Marris 

advanced cheir norchern border. Wich che possible excepcion of che 

Jogezai Kakars, the inscitucionalized chiefcaincy, characceristic of 

Kalar cribes, was absenc in Bricish Baluchistan. There were local 

notables, men prosperous enough co provide generous hospicality 

in cheir gueschouses, bur chese did nor appear co have been 

heredicary posicions (GOB Quetca-Pishin: 64) . 

Sandeman never altered che caccics char had proved successful in 

negociacing with cribal leaders, which he had inicially acquired as 

a Discricc Officer in Punjab. His willingness co convene jirgas and 

co offer proceccion 10 chose who soughc ic, was an effective policy 

in British Baluchiscan, where it was backed by milicary force. 

Bricish Baluchiscan was organ ized adminiscracively inco discriccs, 

where land was regiscered and the Bricish caxed che harvest. 

increased security led co expanded culcivacion and, probably, 

diminished movemenr across che borders of Kalar. For Sandeman, 

tribal adminiscration transcended any difference berween che 

Push runs of Brirish Baluchiscan and che tribes of Kalar, because ic 

helped inregrace che Agency. However, rhe new jurisdictions, which 

meant paramounrcy or indirecc rule for Kalar, and direcc rule for 

Bricish Baluchiscan, set up differenr fucure crajeccories char would 

become evidenr durmg the policies around Parcicion. 

Calcucca had nvo concerns regarding che Agency. lcs firsc priority 

was security, which it wanted mainrained ac minimal cosc. Ics second 
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was supporcing che appearance of Kalar as a Native Seate, even as 

colonial policies destroyed its fragi le integrity. Calcutta avoided 

the cost of staffing two Agency administrations, one handling 

tribal governance under the sardars in Kalar, the other engaged 

in direct administration in British Baluchistan, by combining the 

two positions. British officials assigned to Baluchistan, wore rwo 

hats that were donned according to location. The AGG became the 

District Commission er when he officiated in British Baluchistan, 

and the Political Agents became the Disrrict Magisrrates. Although 

che merging of che two jurisdictions at the top provided an 

administrative integration, differences between Kalar and British 

Baluchistan, present at the start, increased over time. 

As the British extended their control of British Baluchistan, they 

established District and Sub-district Headquarters and staffed chem 

with a growing number of lower-ranked officials, most of chem 

Indians, who were paid significantly less than British officials. The 

district towns were subject co Indian laws and staffed with police, 

largely recruited from Punjab. By 1900, there were primary schools 

and medical dispensaries in larger towns. The hinterlands were 

adm inistered under the Frontier Crimes Regulations (FCR) and 

cases were heard by jirgas. 1 The Agency Territories of Querta, 

Chagai and Nasirabad, were administered under the same law codes 

as British Baluchistan, with a few special laws for Querta (GOB 

Quetta-Pishin: 215). 

Native officers were cri tical in the Agency's administration. Most 

of chem came from India, and the earliest appointmencs were, 

predominately, Hindus. Diwan Ganpat Rai, who served with 

Sandeman in Punjab, came with him when the Baluchistan Agency 

was established. Ganpar Rai's ancestors had served the MughuJs in 

Multan and the Sikhs in the Punjab. H e accompanied Sandeman 

on all his cours.2 Hittu Ram, a Baloch Hindu, was Sandeman's 
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secretary during che 1876 miss ion char produced rhe rreary 

establishing colonia relations with Kalar (Thornton, 1977(1895]: 
82). When Sandeman became the AGG , Hiccu Ram served as 

his representative on numerous important jirgas (Thornton, 

1977(1895]: 179). In 1888, he was sent co Lasbela co mediate a 

succession dispute (Thornton, 1977(1895]: 202). By 1900, the 

British had recruited some Muslims for service in Balochisran. Kazi 

Jallal-ud-Oin, appointed Political Advisor co rhe Khan in 1900, was 

from a prominent f"amily in Afghanistan and had been a qazi 
(judge) in Kandahar before entering che British service.3 The policy 

of recruiting native officers served co maintain a clear separation of 

colonial adminisrracion from tribal governance. The Agency's staff 

was alien co Baluchistan , and che single exception, Hirru Ram, was 

a non-tribal Hindu. 

jIRGA ADMINISTRATION 

Disputes in Kalar were officially subject co rivaj (customary law) 

.ind routinely went co che jirgas if they could not be serried 

informally. T he PA was expected co use rhe FCR as a guide in 

framing che issues co be considered, however, since Kalar was a 

native state, he could not cite rhe FCR explicirly, either in framing 

1he issues of rhe case or in his statement of rhe jirga's findings.4 

Domestic cases in bo h jurisdictions could be referred ro a qazi for 

adjudication under the laws of Shariat, if both parries agreed and 

bound themselves co accept his decision. 

~andeman saw rhe j 1rga, a council of notables meeting co sercle 

d isputes ranging from crop damage co murder, as an indigenous 

custom. He envisiol'ed a system of tribal governance modern 

enough co accommodate the demands of the colonial scare, while 

retaining what he found most admirable in tribalism: chiefly 

auchoriry and collective responsibiliry. The British saw their right 
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co escablish che jirga as the instirucion co interpret customary law 

in Kalar as derived from che Mascung Treacy, which gave them the 

authoricy co mediate confliccs becween tribes. 5 Calcucca saw the 

jirga as desirable on cwo counts: ic appeared compacible with 

paramounccy and provided governance on che cheap. Public 

mediacion was common in cribal Balochistan; however the British 

cransformed che jirga from a mediacion process controlled by 

parries inceresced in resolving disputes co an institution activated 

and largely controlled by chem. Sandeman sought to improve upon 

custom by introducing British concepts of evidence and by 

standardizing rivaj. T he British official in-charge convened the 

jirga, framed the issues co be addressed, and had che auchoricy to 

reject or modify the decision when seccing the sentence. Jirga 
decisions were thus recommendations rather than binding judicial 

determinations, and these recommendations were based on custom 

and generally apporcioned responsibilicy and punishment (usually 

a fine or a good-conduct bond) among the disputants. Sandeman 

established a hierarchy of jirgas by instiruting the annual Shahi 

(chiefly) jirgas in Si bi and Querta, to consider the most imporcant 

cases. 

The convening official cypicaUy scruccured the relevant issues as a 

series of questions. Some questions addressed, directly or indirectly, 

cradicional practice and customary law. Thus, in the case of 

Khodadad Khan's forced abdicacion, AGG Browne asked the 

sardars whether the Khan, traditionally, had the right to appropriate 

provisions free of charge from his subjects when he visited an area. 

They responded chat the Khan did have that right, but only for 

three days' worth of supplies.6 In a pattern common co British 

colonial administration, local elites, in chis instance the tribal 

chiefs, defined tradition and customary law. ]irga participants were 

also often called upon co legitimate new practices. The Abdication 

Jirga accepted the extension of sardari subsidies to the chiefs of 
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Jhalawan, and they also approved a proposal to appropriate a large 

portion of che Khan's treasury for investment in British securities. 

It is easy co see self-interest in some jirga decisions, easy, coo, to see 

an accommodation ro the British agenda. 

Accommodation worked in multiple ways, however. The greater 

power resided wich rhe British, buc che jirgas did not always ratify 

British desires, and the questions posed to a jirga might be finessed. 

When questioned about the Khan's oppression of his tenants, the 

Abdication jirga bland ly asserted that such mistreatment would end 

with che accession of the new Khan (Proceeding: 179). In 1894, che 

British proposed locating a levy post in Saruna {southern Jhalawan), 

because of a longstanding dispute regarding division of the harvest, 

between the Mengal cenancs and their Chucca proprietors. T he 

Mengal cultivators h.id embanked plocs and claimed chey owed a 

one-sixth share of the harvest to the Chutcas, who argued, however, 

that they were entitled to a one-fourth share. The Chuttas opposed 

the Saruna levy post when they learned it was co be staffed wich 

Mengals. In 1899, th.! British bought che levy post question before 

the Si bi Shahi Jirga. T har jirga, however, declined to address it on 

the grounds they were u nfamiliar wich the area, and suggested char 

British officials should determine the location of che post.7 

ome cases, especially those involving longstanding enmities and 

sardari succession disputes, were not easily resolved. Jirga decisions 

were not always implemented, and a case could drag on for years, 

subject to repeated jirga accemprs co devise an effective settlement. 

Although jirgas were .ictivated and structured by the British, chey 

were arenas of mutual negotiation, where each party engaged in 

defining and defending ics sphere of authority and responsibility. 

The accommodation developed over time, excluded from the jirga 
considerarion chose internal tribal issues and disputes chat sardars 

were willing to adjudicate on their own. 
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The sardars surrendered inter-cribal dispuces and raiding co jirga 
consideracion in exhange for a free hand wichin their respective 

cribes. By che turn of che century, British officials noted a tendency 

for che Sarawan sardars co send the mosc important cases co ajirga. 
Ac the sam~ rime, they asserted char many dispuces involving parries 

from differenc tribes were serried by their sardars wichouc recourse 

co a jirga (GOB Sarawan: 153). This suggescs char rhe sardars were 

relacively successful in controlling che disposicion of disputes. Ir is 

likely char che mosc contentious cases went co a j irga, where che 

blame for an unpopular decision could be attributed co che Bricish 

and che ocher sardars in attendance. The sardars kept many 

domestic confliccs, including most honour killings, outside che 

purview of che jirga. Their collect ive desire co insulate cases 

involving women was evident in the Abdication Jirga. AGG 

Browne sought their recommendations for cases of adultery and 

abduccion brought against che Khan. The sardars declined co advise 

o n chem, turning chem back co che AGG for decision 'after fully 

considering che circumscances and caking the Khan's explanation' 

(Proceeding: 175). There is a remarkable absence of information 

regarding murders of o rdinary cribespeople in che j irga records in 

Kalar. The killings char the British sent co a jirga, typically, involved 

chose of che tribal notables. 

In 1905, a Shahi Jirga considered a case in which a man accused 

of adultery escaped , and an agnace was murdered for the crime. 

T he j irga decided char che murder was juscifted , as it was a cuscom 

of the M agasi cribe co exact punishment on a relative when che 

perpetrator could nor be found. T he PA ascertained chac ocher 

tribes limiced such killings co the actual perpetrator. The PA 

accepted che j irga decision in this case, but the followin g year he 

placed che quescion of collective responsibili ty before the Shahi 
firga, which declared the 'custom co be unlawful' (GOB Sarawan: 

156). The paradoxical notion of unlawful custom reveals the British 
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decerminacion co scardardize the local customs and bring chem inco 

greater conformity wi th Bricish concepts of juscice, despite their 

rhetorical claims chat che jirga was an indigeneous inscicucion. The 

roucinizacion of cuscom smuggled the prediccabilicy and scabiliry 

of law inco cribal adjudication, while, simultaneously, authorizing 

the cuscom as aucheNically a Baloch one. 

Jn 1896, a Shahi]irga was convened co consider a conflict between 

the Marris and Lunis chat involved raids and counter-raids wich 

numerous fatalities. 8 The incident char sec off che round of raids 

involved cwo Marris, who were attacked and killed by a parry of 

Lunis. The Lunis claimed that they accosted the Marris because 

there was an oucbreak of smallpox in che Marris' land and chey 

feared char che Marrs would bring che disease co a nearby Luni 

secclement. According co che Lunis, che Marris drew che firsc blood, 

murdering one of cheir parry, and che Marri deachs resulted from 

chis. The Marris argued char che deachs were deliberate vengeance 

by Darwesh Khan, whose son had been killed by chem. A previous 

jirga had convicted chree Marris for che son's deach, bur che blood 

compensacion had nor been paid . The jirga decermined char 

vengeance, racher than fear of smallpox, was che cause of the initial 

attack. Ten men, four Marris and six Lunis, were sentenced co 

cransporrarion for life. Compensation was assessed ar Rs 18,420 for 

the Marris and Rs8,900 for the Lunis. 

For AGG Browne, ir was che Luni deachs m particular-in che 

mosc violent encounter in che series, Marri raiders attacked a Luni 

parry in British Baluchistan, killing fourteen of chem-char called 

for punishment greacer chan a jirga could impose. The Lunis were 

revenue-paying British subjects killed in Bricish rerricory and cheir 

scarus was clear. The AGG characterized che Marris as 'non-paying 

quasi independent tribesmen.' The Marris were neither proper 

subjects of Kalar, where their status as a tribe paying no revenue co 
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the Khan, would be consistent with other member tribes, nor were 

they independent of the Agency's administration. The Marris were 

an unclassifiable anomaly of colonial governance in Baluchistan. 

Anomalies and ambiguities were tolerated in frontier Kalar State, 

where maintaining Calcutta's administrative standards was difficult 

and, occasionally, counterproductive. Neither proper subjects of 

Kalar nor of British India, Marris were, nevertheless, subject to a 

jirga's adjudication. 

jirgas were authorized to recommend a maximum punishment of 

seven years in jail. AGG Browne believed this to be inadequate 

relative to the death coll. Although he was hesitant, he finally 

decided co send che case to a jirga, and to seek its approval for use 

of the harsher Indian Law in recommending punishments in this 

case. His success is evident in che tone of his report to Calcutta: 

... for rhe ftrsr rime in rhe history of chis Agency, rhe Baluch }irga, 

speaking wirh rhe authoriry of a national Parliamenr, has of ics free will 

and as rhe resulr of its own convictions, recommended char certain 

tribal crimes should be cried by rhe British auchoriries under rhe 

Criminal Procedures and Indian Penal Codes ... rhe Narional 

Parliamenr has now, by irs replies, rhoroughly asserted irs righr to self­

government.9 

Browne's success in obtaining the jirga's permission to apply Indian 

Law in chis case led him to elevate the jirga to the status of a 

'national parliament' . In effect, che jirga transferred the case back 

co the British, hardly a decision appropriate to a 'national Parlia­

ment'. Browne seems to have been oblivious to che contradiction 

of a national legislature demonstrating its ' right to self-governance' 

by authorizing another government to decide certain cases. The 

decision appears to have been an instance of ajirga, in che relatively 

early years of jirga deliberations, assessi ng the benefits of 

acc'.ommodating British desires. 
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THE LEVIES 

Sandeman also instiruted a network of levy-posts manned by the 

local tribesmen. In regions such as Zhob (British Baluchistan) and 

Makran (Kalar), where there was some resistance co British 

authority, the Levy Corps were paramilitary units. Tribesmen 

recruited co these corps were drilled, disciplined and armed under 

the command of British officers. Men in che levies were nominated 

by sardars who typic.tlly placed close agnates in the higher ranks of 

the levies. le was common for sons and brothers of sardars co be in 

charge of levy poses. The more modest District Levies were paid 

less, not issued weapons, and administered by tribesmen. 

District Levies performed a variety of tasks ranging from carrying 

messages co making arrests and collecting witnesses. Sandeman saw 

che levies as reinforcing che principle of co llective tribal 

responsibility embodied in the jirga. He was explicit about this: 

[Levy] posts will become a rallying poinc for the whole tribe in case of 
a raid, and I wish h this connection co emphasize the principle ... 

that the money to be paid is co be regarded as securing in time of need 

the services of the whole cribe and not merely of the few individuals 
whose names are enrolled in our service. 10 

..,...he way the levies were consciruted-in part a form of sardari 

patronage, in part a service funded by the British to facilitate their 

governance-made chem an inter-cul rural field similar co the jirgas. 
Levy-men, especially those serving at fixed poses, were formally 

subject to British officials who paid chem and distributed 

punishments. These included fines or suspension of wages, when 

ctieir conduct was judged unacceptable, and rewards, usually a 

bonus, for excepciona. performance. Mose levy-men served in their 

home localities, and unauthorized absence from the pose was che 

commonest reason for punishment. A sardar could, with Agency 
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agreemenr, replace a serving levy man with another nominee and 

che placing of close agnaces in the higher levy ranks ensured chat 

sardars as well as the officials monicored the levies. 

Some officials in Calcutta saw the sardari allowances as simply a 

glorified form of bribery and blackmail, a reward for good 

behaviour that could be withheld as a punishmenr if the sardars 

were uncooperative. H.S. Barnes, who served under Sandeman, 

however, rejected this view. Barnes argued char sardari allowances 

were embedded in tribal governance. jirga decisions were reached 

only after all parries had a chance co presenr their grievances, 

decisions were governed by tribal custom, and restitution was 

usually apportioned among the disputants: 

The lever of rhe allowances was used co compel che headmen co 

produce che actual offenders, who were chen cried by their own people 
in cribaljirgas, and punishment was awarded in accordance with tribal 

cuscom. If a jirga imposed a fine, and recommended ... chac it could 

be cut from the cribal pay, rhen only were che tribal allowances 
touched ... (Thorncon, 1977[1895]: 304). 

In shore, sardari allowances were a linchpin in the modernized 

tribal system, where British notions of reasonable governance were 

accommodated co tribal honour and collective responsibility. While 

Barnes' defence may have been accurate at che rime, it was nor long 

before che British were withholding subsidies co compel behaviour, 

and on occasion, suspending chem. By 1895, the PA Kalar was 

threatening to withhold subsidies for the Sardars of Jhalawan unless 

they participated in a campaign co capture a dissidenr Zehri 

sardar. 11 Car roe and sci ck subsidy reallocations were em ployed 

several rimes during che Mengal leadership crises discussed lacer. 
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TttE]IRGA-LEVIES SYSTEM: TRlBAL P RACTICE AND 

CowNIAL Ruu 

firgas never considered cases involving Europeans or British 

civilians, as rhese were handled by a British Court, i.e. rhe AGG 

acting as rhe Chief Commissioner. Such persons, if convicted, were 

sent to jails in either Karachi or Shikarpur. Similarly, a Muslim who 

murdered a European or an Indian employee of the Agency was 

never subject to a jirga. These crimes fell under the Murderous 

Outrages Ace, and che penalty was death. The killer's body was 

burned ro prevent his grave from becoming a local shrine, and all 

his property was confiscated. British officials had discretionary 

powers to investigate the associates of such killers ro ascertain 

whether they might have prevented che arrack. Penalties for failure 

ro intervene included fines and forfeitures ofland (GOB Sibi: 262). 

Between 1892 and 1905 the British recorded forty-one killings 

under the Murderous Outrages Ace, most of which occurred in 

British Baluchistan (GOB Loralai: 261; Zhob: 229-30; Sibi: 261; 

Quecra-Pishin: 224). 

Ir is nor surprising char che colonial officials made jurisdictional 

errors from time to time, or char they sometimes manipulated che 

two codes. As long as a case was adjudicated by a Oiscricc 

Magistrate, i.e. as long as che offence was commicred in British 

Baluchistan, remand co a prison in Sirrdh was legal. However, 

British courts had '10 standing in Kalar State. Until che British 

persuaded che Khan to finance a jail in Masrung, disposal of Kalari 

prisoners was a problem, which was occasionally solved by the PA 

signing a remand order as the District Magistrate and sending the 

offender ro Sindh. The official position char British law did nor 

apply in Kalar was reseed in Makran, where, in 1893, a 'ghazi' 

(fanatic) attacked a British lieutenant, and was promptly killed by 

another officer in che parry, pursuant to the Murderous Offences 
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Act, which did not apply in Kalar State.12 The Government of India 

rook note of this ' irregularity': 

The case was ... apparently a perfectly plain one and rhe sentence 

well deserved. No cxceprion need therefore be taken to Kemball's 

action, which seems only to have have erred in a rechnical sense, by 

rhe formal assumprion of jurisdicrion. 13 

Like ocher irregularities, the 'technical error' was excused by che 

behaviour of the native who had elicited an improper response 

from an official. This 1895 example anticipates Showers' defence 

of the nazim's complicity in a lacer murder in Makran. 

Sandeman viewed jirga-levies administration as a means of aligning 

tribal interests in self-governance with British interests for 

pacifkacion of the frontier. In cruch, che jirga-levies system required 

constant British oversight and frequent intervention. le was they 

who determined who would serve, and how che che issues to be 

decided were framed. Jirga attendance was pan of che service for 

which sardars received allowances and failure co appear was seen as 

a serious dereliction of duty. However, many sardars, by not 

attending a jirga, displayed their displeasure with some official act 

or stance, or a general resistance co the colonial situation. 

The jirga-levies system was a contradictory melding of tribal 

practice and colonial rule. It put the Khan in an impossible 

position, nominally acknowledged by the British as che ruler of the 

Kalar Stace, but deprived of both power and authority. The 

Mascung Agreement had confirmed the Khan as head of the Kalar 

Scare and consciruted the British as adjudicators in disputes 

between the Khan and the sardars. Although this agreement 

contained terms for settling specific differences between them at 

the time, it laid out only general principles for their fucure 

relations, enjoining each parry to treat the ocher with justice and 
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respect. The treary of 1876 signed by the Khan and the British 

Government, had incorporated the general principles enunciated 

in the agreement. 14 

Mir Khodadad Khan queried Sandeman about his status relative to 

judicial procedures shortly after the Mastung Agreement was 

signed. Sandeman developed a proposal that attempted to provide 

mediation at the local level while instituting rights of appeal that 

distributed jural authoriry among the Khan, che sardars, and the 

British. A tribesperson could appeal a sardar's decision co the Khan. 

The sardar, in turn, could appeal the Khan's ruling to the British, 

as the final court of appeal. This proposal had the potential of 

weakening the sardars' judicial monopoly in internal tribal disputes 

by providing a means of appeal, and it gave che Khan a significant 

judicial role. The Government of India refused to sanction 

Sandeman's proposal on the grounds chat it would lead to excessive 

Bricish interference in Ka.Jar's governance. 15 Although the British 

continued co treat Kalar as a princely state, the jirga-levies system 

had become the foundation for tribal administration, drawing 

sardars and officials into a joint governing process independent of 

the Khan. The Khan's representative attended the Shahi }irgas and 

signed off on recommendations, but appears co have taken no 

active role in the proceedings. 

Some nationalist scholars view the jirga-1evies system, sometimes 

called the 'Sandeman system', as a deliberately concieved colonial 

plot co cake control of Ka.lac's governance. While this was crue co a 

large extent, such an analysis, however, tends co deprive the sardars 

of their actual role in the whole process. Ba.loch (1987: 141) asserrs 

chat the sardars were 'tamed and bribed' into legitimating British 

nterests. This overlooks the pre-colonial factionalism of the sardars, 

,15 the Khans were accustomed co playing divide and rule tactics 

with the sardars, before the British had appeared on the scene. 
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Ir does nor do justice to che entangled motives evident in che 

procracced British struggle co control the Jhalawan tribes, discussed 

lacer. Breseeg (2004: 167) argues that the 'Sandeman system' was 

a deliberate effort to establish 'direct relations with the Sardars and 

tribal chiefs, bypassing the Khan.' These argumencs treat the 

colonial scare as a monolithic entity whose policies were set ac the 

founding of che Agency. These claims, however, are nor supported 

by the available evidence. Indeed, che fundamental contradiction 

of the Kalar paramountcy was Calcutta's determination co maintain 

the fayade of the Khanship, while endorsing the Agency's policies 

char undermined the office. 

Responsibilities assigned co the levies increased rapidly during the 

early decades of che British adminiscracion as newly-constructed 

telegraph lines and roads required protection and as che volume of 

mail increased. By 1883, Sandeman was pressing che Governmenc 

of India co sanction an expansion of che levies. He argued char che 

levies served British incerescs in cwo ways: they were che most 

economical way co provide rhe necessary services, and they 

strengthened che Government's hand in dealing with the tribes. 16 

In the early years, sardari subsidies and jirgas were limited co 

Sarawan and Kachhi. The Sarawan sardars were long accustomed 

co border policies by playing Kalar against Kandahar. More than 

ocher Kalar chiefs, chey had experienced both armed conflict and 

negotiation in their relations with the British. These sardars had 

borne che brunt of British punitive policies after the First Afghan 

War, when Sarawan was briefly attached co Kandahar and the 

sardars lose their Kachhi estates. A policies of accommodacion 

gradually developed between che British officials and che Sarawan 

sardars. Chiefly auchority was ratified and strengthened in jirga­
levies governance, and the smaller size of the Sarawan tribes made 
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ir easier for the s.udars co control rheir internal dissensions. 

Disputes over succession were rare in Sarawan. 

COLONlAL ADMINISTRATION 

In Kalar, a small sea ff administered an area roughly rhe size of Iraly. 

Responsibility was divided in a rather ad hoc fashion. There were 

rwo Political Agenrs, one (PA Kalar) dealing with Sarawan and 

norrhern Jhalawan, while the other (PA Southern Baluchistan) was 

responsible for Lasbela, Makran, Kharan and southern Jhalawan. 

The Marris, Bugris and Dombkis were administered from British 

Baluchistan. The Khan had repeatedly complained that they refused 

co acknowledge hi~ authority, and conflicrs among the tribes, 

together with the Marris' forays inco British Baluchistan, led co 

their de facro separation from Kalar, despite their historical 

connections to the Khanace. The British, citing pre-colonial 

cuscom, recognized the Raisani and Zehri (Zarakzai) sardars as 

ranking above the r counterparts in Sarawan and Jhalawan, 

respectively. This worked well in Sarawan, where the Raisani sardar 

served on virtually all che important jirgas and on occasion 

represented tribal interests on ad hoc administrative committees, 

as well. le proved, however, less successful in Jhalawan, as the large 

Zehri and Mengal tribes were riven with internal disputes. 

There were around 200 men in the levies for the whole of Kalar, 

so ic is nor surprising that the AGG repeatedly appealed to Calcutta 

for additional officers. Concerned about adminiscrarive costs in a 

native state chat generated little revenue for the colonial scare, 

ini tial requests for such an increase were routinely denied by 

Calcutta. Imperial geopolitical concerns had led Calcutta in che 

early years of che Agency co assume payments to the Sardars of 

arawan for security in the Bolan Pass and co fund a small force of 
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levies, but as their anxieties about the frontier diminished, thei r 

desire to make Kalat a self-sustaining state increased. 

AGG Browne had appealed to Calcutta for Jhalawan subsidies in 

1893, arguing chat they were necessary to the pacification of rhe 

Sindh-Kalar border, bur Calcutta had initially refused to sanction 

the expenditure. The Commissioner of Sindh, backed by Bombay, 

had urged Calcutta to authorize a trans-border police force chat 

would be empowered to pursue criminals in Kalat's territory. The 

AGG had opposed chis plan, arguing char it would undermine the 

Agency's relations with the sardars, and perhaps this led him to see 

Khodadad Khan's abdication as an opportunity to propose investing 

the Khan's treasury as a means of financing subsidies in Jhalawan: 

In all previous communications addressed to you on the subject of the 

disturbed condition of the Sind-Kalat border, my main object has been 

to obtain a grant of money ... to enable me to take these Jhallawan 

(sic) tribesmen into our own service as levies. The chief obstacle to the 

adoption of this obviously desi rable plan was the difficulty of 

obtaining ... the funds for this purpose .... As the money has now 

been obtained without the help of the Imperial Treasury, there is no 

reason for thinking that the Sind-Kalat frontier will not be as effectively 

controlled as other parts of the border. 17 

Although Browne was overly optimistic about ending rhe border 

problems, there is a clear tone of defensive satisfaction in chis 1894 

report on rhe border. The AGG took the occasion co restate the 

differences between the Jhalawan tribes and rhe peoples of British 

Baluchistan and Sindh. The former, being tribal pastoral subjects 

of Kalar, in contrast to the British subjects of Sindh and British 

Baluchistan, had an easier time evading Agency officials. Therefore, 

good relations with sardars were critical to colonial administration 

in Kalat. Browne argued that maintaining the cooperation of 

the sardars and strengthening the levies, were the appropriate 
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mechanisms of control in Jhalawan. His loosely connected 

argument reflected the contradiction of governance in Kalat, 

because the fiction of Kalat's subjects could only be maintained 

by reconstituting them as tribal subjects. Browne ended his report 

with the suggestion that he and the Commissioner be given more 

latitude to administer the border without having to consult either 

Calcutta or Bombay. 

CHALLENGES TO P ARAMOUNTCY 

Limitations to the politics of accommodation emerged early. In the 

1880s Dehwar cultivators in Masrung complained about frequent 

depredations by tribesmen from Sarawan who looted crops and 

stole property. These Dehwars were subjects of the Khan, and when 

his naib was unable or unwilling to protect them, they became 

vulnerable to tribal predators. Sardars were not cooperative in 

investigating such cases and punishing the perpetrators. Their 

interests in protecting non-tribal peoples were limited to those who 

resided in their territories, and they resisted what they saw as doing 

the Khan's work. After several years of escalating cases, the British 

docked che sardars' subsidies and used the money thus acquired co 

hire extra men for the levy force to deal with these cases. 18 

The Mastung problems were a harbinger of the difficulties to come. 

The British concept of Kalar as a state with subjects was faulty from 

the start. The category, 'Kalar subject', did not exist for the local 

people, who understood themselves only as subjects either of a 

sardar or the Khan. Tribal subject-categories were based either on 

genealogy or contract, as was discussed in Chapter 2. Where access 

to land was nor determined by genealogy, it was granted in 

exchange for political allegiance and payment in animals or a share 

of che harvest. Genealogy became a residual subject-category that 

could be claimed if circumstances favoured its activation. 19 
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The complex patchwork of Kalat landholdings, in which some were 

cradicional tribal lands, some were granted as blood compensation, 

some were based on service and some ochers obtained through 

conquesc, produced anomalous categories of people. There were 

tribesmen who cultivated the Khan's lands and were, therefore, 

subjecc co his naibs and entitled to his proceccion. There were aceas 

like Mascung, where tribal landholdings were interspersed with the 

Khan's escace and cribespeople and Dehwars lived in proximicy. 

Mahmud Khan's refusal co govern, i.e. to oversee his estates and 

protect his subjects, led to increasing disputes between his naibs 

and his tenants, especially che tribal cenancs. When chese tribesmen 

appealed co their sardars, they usually obcained support and could 

challenge che naibs. The Khan's subjects were ofcen victimized, 

eicher by cribals or che unrescrained naibs. For example, in che 

Sarawan village of Pringabad, somecime during the 1890s, some 

Brahuis cultivating the Khan's land remitted only a small fraction 

of the Khan's share of the harvesc, but tl1eir sardar refused co gee 

involved in the case. When the British intervened in 190 I, che 

Brahuis were openly defiant, threatening co kill the PA. Afcer being 

punished for insubordination, they agreed co pay their full share. 20 

By the cum of the century, Agency officials were increasingly con­

cerned about Kalac's governance. In the aftermath of Khodadad 

Khan's abdication, Calcutta was particularly concerned about 

British intervention in Kalar affairs (Todd, 1926: 9). Agency 

officials, faced with Mahmud Khan's refusal co govern, struggled 

with numerous village disputes, and finally, they were vircually 

forced co intervene in che management of his es rares. This produced 

a widening gap between Calcutta's obligation co creac Kalar as a 

native scare and Agency officials' need co maintain order. By the 

rime Major H.L. Showers became the PA Kalar in 1900, it was 

clear that neither the Khan nor the sardars were willing to address 

che accumulating problems resulting from che Khan's behaviour. 
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Political Advisors h.id proved unable co restrain the Khan's naibs. 

Many of these naibr remitted co the Khan only the amount they 

thought necessary to retain their offices. When the Khan did seek 

an accounting from a naib, the latter was likely to flee co British 

territory, which put Agency officials in a bind, as they were 

unwilling to extradite the naib, fearing that he would be subject to 

unacceptably harsh punishment at the hands of the Khan. 21 In 

1902, PA Showers obtained permission co reassign a native assistant 

(NA) from the Bol rn Pass to Sarawan.22 In addition to duties 

connected with controll ing the tribes-conveningjirgas, collecting 

fines and administering the }irga Fund-the NA Sarawan was given 

he tasks of overseeing the Khan's Fund , and the public works 

projects, formerly responsibilities of the Political Advisor. 23 T his 

gave the PA better access to the Khan's Fund, as the NA Sarawan 

was directly under him. Even before Calcutta had authorized the 

position of NA Sarawan, Showers was advocating for a Native 

Assistant (NA) for Jhalawan. True co form, Calcutta was ini tially 

resistant, despite persistent unrest in Jhalawan. 

In 1903, Major Showers toured Jhalawan, with an encourage24 char 

included the Political Advisor, seven tribal notables, and a medical 

officer,25 escorted by eighteen levies and a fifty riflemen. Showers' 

report ar the conclus1on of this tour, was an extended argument 

for the appointment o f an NA for Jhalawan. He convened jirgas 
to hear five major ca...es and settled over a hundred minor ones. 

Two of the major cases were variants of the problems encountered 

in Masrung, i.e. disputes between the Khan's naibs and tribal 

tenants. In the Jhalawan cases, the latter refused co provide 

provisions for Showers' encourage. The third major case resembled 

the Raisani-Panni land-case discussed below. T he Chutta and the 

Mengal rribes claimed the same land. In their support, the C huttas 

cited a paper written in 1872 by a British officer stationed in 

Karachi. Showers believed that chis account was unreliable, as the 
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officer had not visited the area himself, and his information had 

come from the Churca informants. The Mengals cited cheir 

graveyards as evidence of their longstanding presence in the 

disputed land. At Showers's urging, the tribes agreed to arbitration 

by two sardars, whose decision was typical in that neither side got 

all that ic had claimed: the MengaJs received only che land chey 

already occupied, bur their right to that land was legitimated. 

Showers gave particular weight to the fourth major case. A widow 

had been engaged by her family to a Musiani tribesman. She 

rejected chis betrothal and sought proceccion with the Sasolis, where 

she arranged her own engagement wich a man from the sardarkhel 
(sardar's lineage). The Musianis ac first refused co mediate the case 

bur when Showers said char he would not leave che area until he 

had settled it, they agreed to present themselves. The widow had 

in the meantime, decided that she would remain unmarried. A jirga 

determined that she should be placed under the protection of a 

neutral sardar. According to Showers: 

It [the case] was one of the gravest ever known in Jhallawan. The 

parcies could never have adjusted it by themselves, and, but for our 

intervention and my opportune arrival at Khozdar, the whole country 

would certainly have been plunged into strife and bloodshed. 26 

Showers surely overstated the case. The potential for widespread 

and uncontrolled violence was asserted in a way char suggests 

Showers assumed Calcutta shared his assumptions about tribal 

women and policies in the con text of what appeared to be a 

looming honour killing. Although it is very unlikely chat Showers 

was cognizant of all the particulars of the case, his representations 

indicate chat he viewed cases involving women as especially 

dangerous and difficult co control. Yee his presentation of the 'facts' 

provides nothing to indicate how an honour dispute between the 
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Musianis and the Sasolis would escalate into a regional conA icc. 

When tribal women came into the purview of Agency officials, they 

were pereceived ro be disruptive. In the figure of a widow on the 

loose, Showers could demonstrate the unpredictable volatility of 

tribal poli tics and the danger of inadequate staffing. 

Showers asserted that, prio r to this rour he had accepted Calcutta's 

rejection of a Native Assistant for Jhalawan, and resolved to carry 

on as best he could. However, his experiences in Jhalawan had led 

him to believe that he would be 'neglectful of the interests both of 

Government and of the Jhallawan people', if he failed to raise the 

question again. Showers's argument was augmented by a petition 

from vircually all the Jhalawan sardars and most of their Sarawan 

counterparts, requesting the appointment of a Native Officer for 

Jhalawan. Shortly afrer receiving these papers, Calcutta authorized 

the position, which in addition to containing instructions about 

the procedures for various types of disputes, specified that the NA 

Jhalawan was to pay special attention to internal relations of the 

Mengals. He was imrrucred ro get ro know the leading men and 

their relations with the sardar and with each other, with an eye 

cowards better control of the tribe.27 

By 1906, the Government of India had accepted the Agency's 

position and acknowledged that the Khan no longer had any 

authority in Kalar. His relations with the Sardars of Sarawan had 

deteriorated, largely due to British actions, and establishing an 

effective jirga-levies system in Jhalawan was proving to be d ifficult. 

Major H.L. Showers argued, that: 

... our incervencion as the guiding and controlling hand in Brahui 

affai rs both in Sarawan and Jhalawan is the inevicable role of che 

supreme power in the councry. We take the place in face of the suzerain 

powers who preceded us. Viz., the Persians ftrsc and then the Ourani 

rulers of Kandahar, with th is difference that-being on che spot, while 
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they were at a distance-our control muse of necessity be not general 

and intermittent but of a close, organized and continuous nature. We 

have no wish to cake chis responsibility on ourselves, but if we wish 

for good order and security in this important frontier region we have 

no option bur to fill che administrative void we find existing. The old 

adminisrrarive system of the counrry, always of doubtful efficiency, has 

now completely broken down. 28 

For two generations the Raisani sardar had served as the middleman 

between the British officials and the Sardars of Sarawan. The loyalry 

of the Raisanis was acknowledged, and rewarded, in the AGG's 

decision regarding a land dispute between the Raisanis and the 

Panni Pushcuns.29 The land in question bordered Sibi, part of 

British Baluc;hisran, and the Raisani holdings ar Mithri, in Kachhi. 

The Panni claim was based on a seventeenth century document 

awarding the land as a jagir (land held on condition of military 

service) to the Pushcun Barazoi rulers of Sibi, while the Raisanis 

claimed that rhe land was theirs due to their conquest. The sardar 

said he had a sanad from the Khan in which he had agreed to a 

Raisani proposal t0 split rhe proceeds from this land. In 1895 chis 

case came before the AGG. He decided chat rhe case could nor be . 
seeded on legal terms, and char the status of rhe land at rhe signing 

of the Treary of Gandamak in 1879 would determine his decision. 

He rationalized his choice of this benchmark ch us: 

The face that the Pannis were theoretically as well as practically, Afghan 

subjects, quasi hostile co England before the signing of this Gundamuck 

treaty, whereas the Raisanees were theoretically as well as practically 

Khelac subjects, and quasi allied co England ar rhe rime of that rreary, 

made ir necessary to carefully guard against the slightest appearance of 

bad faith cowards our allies, as having stronger claims on us than our 

enemies. 
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Any appropriacion co our own use, of land 'de facro' occupied before 

our advent by che Raisanees, on che unfair plea chac the land belonged 

'de jure' co che English power as the policical successor of che defuncc 

Afghan authoriry in Sibi, which had been coo weak co asserc againsc 

the Raisanees, above the rights of its Panni subjects, would have been 

looked upon throughout Khelat as a breach of faich. I considered thac 

petty financial advancages resulcing from our ousting the Raisanees on 

such a plea, should noc be weighed againsc our good name. 

The financial advantage referred co was che land revenue, and had 

che AGG decided in favour of the Pannis, che land would have 

+"alien co Bricish Baluchistan. AGG Browne went on co draw a truly 

scarcling an~ogy co justify awarding che land co the Raisanis: 

A. che Englishman, quarrels wich B. the Affghan; and is assisced in 

despoiling him by C. (a Raisani Balooch child). Many years before A 
came on che scene C had quarrelled wich D {B.'s son) as co che 

ownership of a coy; and had appropriaced ic. B had never incer- fered. 

If A, sixceen years afcer despoiling B, calls himself B.'s heir, and 

plunders C of his coy on chat plea, when ic is obviously impossible co 

ascercain the rights and wrongs of che original quarrel over the roy 

between D and C, the latrer would have every right co think himself 

illused by A. O n chi~ principle, I laid down chac che 'scacus quo' at che 

cime when the Affghan district of Sibi came inco our hands ... was 

co define the Panni and Raisanee limits. io 

The analogy can be underscood as a claim for the superio ri ty of the 

Bricish Empire vis-a-vis che Afghan kingdom. C hild-like dependents 

may engage in trivial squabbles, and it is che responsibili ty of che 

pacernal ruler co procecc his dependents againsc che depredacions 

of outsiders. Although the Afghan ruler of che area did nor, the 

British did. 

T he Raisani sardar's in fl uence over che ocher sardars of Sarawan, 

was based on his standing wich che British, combined with his 
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personal political skills. In 1890, Sardar Asad Khan Raisani 

complained to Sandeman that the ocher Sarawan Sardars had 

objected that he was interfering with the governance of their tribes. 

His letter was a response to a letter sent to Sandeman by the Sardars 

discontented with Raisani's activities. Raisani asserted that he was 

simply following the customary practice that permitted a tribesman 

dissatisfied with his own sardar's decision co appeal his case to the 

Sardar of Sarawan. Raisani sought Sandeman's authorization of chis 

practice, and if chat was not forthcoming, he wanted to res ign as 

the Sardar of Sarawan. Sandeman accepted that it was 'the bounden 

duty of the Sarawan chiefs to recognize the chief Sarawan Sardar 

as their tribal superior in accordance with the old custom of che 

counrry.'31 While the offices of the Sardars of Sarawan and 

Jhalawan, both predated the British presence, it is highly unlikely 

chat they involved the degree of authority that Raisani claimed for 

their position. In response to Raisani's complaint, Sandeman 

devised new procedures for appeals. Contested decisions would 

move from the sardars of the disputing parries to Raisani, who 

should consult with the Sarawan sardars, bur if they were unable 

to resolve the dispute, it would be referred to th e British 

Authorities. Sandeman ended his proposal with the caveat chat it 

was subject to approval by Calcutta. 

There is no record of the final disposition of the proposal. If 

Sandeman did submit it to Calcutta, it was probably denied on the 

same grounds as Calcutta's earlier denial of a similar proposal by 

Sandeman in response to the Khan's inquiry as appeals procedures 

that ignored the Khan, entirely, as the latter proposal did, would 

surely have been unacceptable to Calcutta. 

Although Sandeman's support of Raisani as the ranking sardar in 

Sarawan, probably diminished opposition for a time, Sandeman's 

death in 1892, along with a series of official decisions in the lace 
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1890s, damaged Raisani's influence. He lost an important land-case 

in Eri (Kachhi) to the Shawanis. A more serious setback occurred 

when the British intervened in a longstanding internal dispute 

between the Raisani sardarkhel and the dissident Rustomzai takkar 
(section), in which the Rustomzais fled to Afghanistan. The death 

of Sardar Asad Khan Raisani in 1894, further unsettled the tribal 

politics in Sarawan and the British further exacerbated the 

situation, when in 1896, they allowed the Rustomzais to return 

under their protection. Over strong objections from the new, young 

Raisani sardar, they were allowed to separate from the Raisanis and 

were granted a seat in the darbar. As part of the settlement enforced 

by the British, the Raisanis were made to leave their summer 

headquarters in Kanak for a number of years (GOB Sarawan: 54). 

Jn 1897, Mehrulla Khan Raisani, serving as the regent for the 

minor Raisani sardar, was suspected of disloyalty in connection 

with the raids in and around Quetta that had resulted in several 

deaths. Agency offici tis were concerned with, what they perceived 

as a rising unrest, in Q uena's environs. Mehrulla Khan and the 

Kurd sardar were briefly imprisoned following which they fled co 

Afghanistan. As Showers lacer noted, British suspicions were 

probably unfounded but Agency intervention in tribal affairs, 

especial ly in the Rustomzai affair, which was an internal dispute, 

undermined Raisani's authority and indeed the authority of all 

sardars: 

T he [Raisani] Sirdar's authori ty over his fel low chiefs has all bur 

disappeared and with some of them he is actually at feud. And with 

the practical disappearance of a common head who held the Sarawan 
Brahuis together there has come, not as might at first be supposed, a 

strengthening of the position of the other chiefs, but a weakening of 
their authori ty with their respective tribesmen. AJl the larger tribes are 

subdivided inco powerful groups the heads of which in the absence of 
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superior force or other rescraining influence are ever ready co acr in 

independence of, if nor in opposition ro, che rribal chiefs.32 

Showers associaced a decline in che Raisani aucho ri ry wich a general 

weakening of che sardari auchoriry in Sarawan . T his recalls che fluid 

narure of che pre-colonial cribal formacions. The Raisanis had case 

cheir loc wich che colonial adminiscration, and any sig n of British 

disfavou r, such as the Rustomzai problem , would h ave fueled 

competitive leadership wichin che tribes and am o ng the sardars. 

Tribespeople, as collective accors, are absenc from Showers' analysis, 

but che lack o f scable hierarchies within che cribes, o pened a space 

fo r negotiacio ns between the aspiring lower-level leaders and 

lineage-based nocables. 

In che years between che accessio n of Mahmud Khan and the First 

World War, Agency officials d evoted co nsi derable effort co 

establish ing o rder in Jhalawan. T he Sandeman system of colleccive 

respo nsibil iry, adm iniscered chrough che twin inscicucio ns of che 

jirga and the levies, had been reasonably effective in Sarawan, 

Kachhi and British Baluchistan, where it was buccressed by civil 

and mil itary setclem encs. Excending che jirga-levies system to che 

less accessible regio ns of Kalac, however, proved co be more 

difficult, because the Jhalawan cribes were much larger than their 

Sarawa n co uncerpa rcs. T h e Zehri a n d Men gal tr ibes we re 

essencially mini-confederations, and che sardars were frequently 

challenged by section leaders seeking co fiss io n and become sardars 

themselves. In che la te nineteench cencury, the Zehri and Mengal 

tribes were particularly unstable, as Khodadad Khan had the 

sardars of both t ribes ki lled . Bri t ish incervencio ns and pro longed 

successio n struggles w ithin each tribe, had further destabilized 

t ribal relat ions in Jhalawan . W henever hostilities threa tened to 

explode inco incra-cribal vio lence, Agency o ffi cials convened a jirga 

co settle the source o f the dispute. A resolution, spo nsored by che 
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British and based on che jirga's recommendations, often lasted only 

as long as che officials remained in che area, and hoscilicies 

frequencly broke ouc again when they departed. 

Taj Mohammad Zar.ikzai, che Zehri sardar, was murdered in 1867, 

while a prisoner of the Khan. He had no surviving sons or brothers. 

When the Baluchisc.in Agency was established, Gauhar Khan, an 

aspirant from a distant collateral line, had claimed the Zehri 

sardarship and was embroiled in disputes within the tribe and wich 

ocher Jhalawan sardars. Sandeman made several attempts at settling 

the affairs of the Zehris without success. In 1886, he detained 

Gauhar Khan and convened a jirga to consider various complaints 

against him. The jirga recommended that Abdul Karim, Gauhar 

Khan's cousin, who was also his brother-in-law, be placed in-charge 

of Zehri affairs, but the members declined co consider formal ly 

deposing Gauhar as they considered chis co be an internal Zehri 

ssue. 

nternal conflicts devastated Zehri cerricory, and many villages were 

abandoned. Abdul Karim was able co establish a degree of security 

and encouraged people to return to their vi llages. H e also restored 

much of the land and property looted by Gauhar Khan. In 1889, 

Sandeman asked the Sibi Shahi ]irga to consider the appointment 

of Gauhar's minor son, Yusef Khan, as the sardar of the Zehris. 

Many sardars favoured appointing Abdul Karim, but he declined 

the office, and Yusef Khan was installed instead (Todd 1925: 7). A 

rear lacer, Sandeman released Gauhar Khan co serve as the regent 

for his son. 

When Khodadad Khan was removed from office in 1893, Gauhar 

Khan became openly rebellious. Together with his brother, Pasand 

Khan, Gauhar plundered the Khan's granaries in Kotru. Gauhar 

was also reported to be organizing a jihad in support of the deposed 
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Khan. When Pasand's forces captured a large flock of che Khan's 

sheep, Mir Mahmud Khan was finally persuaded co dispatch his 

troops. Sardar Yusef Khan, who was studying in AJigarh, India, 

wrote to his father, advising him co end his campaign , but Gauhar 

ignored his son's advice. The AGG requested permission co send 

the PA Kalar co Nurgama (Jhalawan) co assess the stand-off 

between Gauhar's and che Khan's troops, but the Government of 

India was at first reluctant to sanction chis action on the grounds 

that it would be seen as British intervention in che internal policies 

of Kalar Scace. Calcutta was persuaded co reverse their position, but 

cautioned the PA co avoid any appearance of taking sides in the 

conflict. The presence of the PA led to the defection of many of 

Gauhar's followers, but he escaped capture because the Khan's 

troops also deserted (Todd, 1926: 8). 

In 1894, Gauhar Khan alienated Pasand by refusing to marry Yusef 

Khan co his brother's candidate. Although this rife diminished his 

following, Gauhar continued co attack and loot villages in 

Jhalawan, resulting in the deaths of several notables. Securi ty 

concerns led che PA to close the local levy-pose and move the staff 

out of the area. Pasand Khan allied with the British and made an 

unsuccessful effort to capture his brother. In 1895, a Sardari Jirga, 

which was convened co consider che problem, recommended 

appointing Pasand Khan as the sardar, but again declined co 

cooperate in capturing Gauhar, reiterating chat chis was an internal 

matter for the Zehri tribe. Under threat of losing their subsidies, 

the Jhalawan sardars provided a small lashkar to supplement che 

Khan's militia. Led by Pasand Khan, this combined force attacked 

and killed Gauhar Khan in 1895 (Todd, 1926: 11- 13). 
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SuccFSS10N CoNrucrs AMONG THE MENGAJ..S 

With Gauhar Khan'~ death, conflict among the different sections 

of the Zehri declined for a time, and the British were able to turn 

cheir attention co the persistent problem of raids by the MengaJs 

m Sindh and Lasbela. The Bombay Government had been trying 

to suppress Mengal ra iding o n rhe Sindh border since the 1850s, 

when the Commissioner of Sindh unilaterally marked a border in 

order to distinguish British subjects of Sindh from those of Kalar 

'rate. In the 1880s, Sindh authorities wan ted che right co enter 

'<alac co capture che raiders, and rhey wanted che Khan held 

responsible for damages. T he Government of India, forced to 

referee the conflicting proposals from rhe AGG and Bombay, sided 

wich che former. They held to che principle of collective cribaJ 

responsibil ity by sanctioning che Agency's proposal to control 

raiding by increasing the number of levy-poses aJong che border. 

This, however, proved ineffective, and che border disputes escalated 

with a rising death coll. The British juggled allowances, reducing 

them for uncooperative sardars and increasing che subsidies of che 

loyal ones, but without much effect. 

T he protracted crisis of leadership among the Mengals tested 

British patience, as ir indicated the limits of che jirga-levies system 

in the context of chronic internal faccionaJism. Legitimacy in che 

tribal sector was continually in play, as it was a consequence of 

sardari performance. When the British attempted to resolve the 

problem of MengaJ succession through che jirga, they subordinated 

performance to a judicial process. The failure of successive jirgas to 

devise a successful resolution to the problem called the legitimacy 

of the jirga into question and encouraged che rapid formation of 

behind-the-scenes all iances. Sardars wirh no direct interest in the 

succession used it to pursue their own agendas, contributing to the 

high velocity of alliance and defection. 
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The sources of Mengal factionalism were located m tensions 

between the senior and the junior lines in the sardarkhe/. There was 

a revenue dispute between, Sardar Shakar Khan, and his uncle, 

Ibrahim Khan, leader of the junior line. Ibrahim had served as a 

regent for Shakar in the latter's minority, and the revenue dispute 

may have originated during char rime. The British brought the case 

before a jirga in 1897, bur che jirga's recommendation d id not 

resolve the tensions between che Shakar and che Ibrahim factions. 

PA Showers met Sardar Shakar Khan Mengal in 1902 and reported 

chat the sardar asked co resign in favour of his twelve-year old son , 

then a student ar Aligarh College in India. Showers agreed ro raise 

the question at che next Shahi ]irga.33 

The decline of Shakar's internal authority was manifest when PA 

Showers c~avelled ro Wad Qhalawan) in 1903. The Mengals, 

cultivating che Khan's land in the Khozdar niabet, refused co 

provide camels co che naib for use by che PA's party.34 T he naib's 

rroops attacked rhe Mengals, and wounded several persons, 

including some women. When the Mengals threatened co accack 

Wad, the ·naib appealed co che British for support. Mi r Mahmud 

Khan declined co send troops co aid his naib. The Mengal lashkar 
looted eight of the Khan's villages in Khozdar. A jirga, convened co 

resolve che conflict, determ ined char there were two cases of blood 

compensation against the Khan: a man who died of his injuries, 

and a baby who died from malnutrition consequent on the 

wounding of its mother. The property damages suffered by the 

villagers were judged co balance out che blood compensation. 

Sardar Shakar Khan had remo~ed himself from the Khozdar dispute 

by going co Lasbela. Displeased with Shakar's absence, the British 

raised the question of tribal management at the jirga, but the 

participants declined co remove Shakar from office and recommended 

appointing his cousin Wali Muhammad (Ibrahim Khan's son) as his 
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vakil (represencativc), with authority to represent rhe tribe. There 

was, however, considerable opposition co Wali Muhammad within 

the tribe which rhc British attempted co negate by emphasizing 

rheir support for h m. They transferred a hundred rupees of the 

sardar's subsidy from Shakar co Wali Muhammad and, additionally, 

allowed the vakil ro collect rhe tribal revenue, as well, bur chis 

failed co quell rhe internal hostilities. By 1905, rhere was growing 

opposition co Wal.i Muhammad collecting the mafia (dues from 

tribesmen). In che following year rhe conflict expanded inco raiding 

on rhe Lasbela border. Wali Muhammad was increasingly resistant 

ro Brirish advice. The Zehri sardar, Pasand Khan, joined by several 

ocher Jhalawani sardars, asked PA Showers ro dismiss Wali 

Muhammad and reinstate Shakar Khan. Showers, was, however, 

nor pleased wirh Pasand Khan's intrusion into Menga1 affairs. 

Under British pressure, rhe vakil was reconciled wirh rhe Jam, bur 

relations soon soured as Mengal tribesmen grazed rheir flocks in 

pastures rhe Jam claimed for Lasbela. Sporadic violence on the 

unmarked border escalated when Mengals from Wad joined their 

brothers on rhe border. Accumulating fatalities and some caravan 

raiding led the British ro convene another jirga in 1907, to assess 

damages and set fines. This rime the participants decided, after the 

deducrions of various claims and counterclaims, that the Mengals 

owed Rs585-8 (annas) co the Jamots for deaths and injuries. A 

no-man's land was established co separate rhe Mengals and the 

Jamors. The jirga recommended rhe removal of Wali Muhammad 

and rhe reinsrarement of Shakar Khan. 

\fajor R.A.E. Benn, who replaced Showers as rhe PA Kalar in 

1907, was embarrassed when Shakar Khan fa iled co appear for 

his insrallarion ceremony. Benn called a jirga that recommended 

transferring the sardarship to Shakar's son Allahdina. Before the 

AGG could ace on this, Shakar Khan joined rhe PA's camp and 

peririoned co resume rhe office. He was allowed co resume the 
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sardarship, but was placed on probation. A thana (levy-post) was 

established at Wad, and Alladina was given charge of it. Probation 

did not elicit a cooperative stance from Shakar and his son, and, 

if anything, their actions were more confrontational than before. 

Shakar again failed to appear for jirgas and would not assist the 

NA Jhalawan in settling the Mengals' disputes either. He also 

failed to remit payments on the blood compensation awarded to 

the Jamots. Shakar appears to have engaged in tactics reminiscent 

of Mir Mahmud Khan's refusal to rule. It is likely that che sardar 

was getting advice from the Khan, who had taken an interest in 

Mengal affairs. Boch Shakar and Alladina contracted controversial 

marriages. The sardar contracted a second marriage with a woman 

from an undistinguished Mengal family and this offended Lasbela's 

ruler, whose sister was Shakar's first wife. Alladina also disgraced 

his family by illegally marrying a woman who was already married 

to one of the Khan's naibs. Furthermore, Alladina deserted his post 

at Wad. 

Yet another jirga was convened, this time at Kalat town. As with 

all the important tribal cases, the British undertook to ensure the 

presence of the major sardars of Sarawan and virtually all of the 

sardars from Jhalawan, as well. After much discussion, they 

supported a British proposal to remove Shakar Khan and install 

his uncle, Ibrahim Khan, as the Sardar, and to move Shakar and 

his son to Querta. This involved a shift from the senior to rhe 

junior line in the sardarkhel. It was also the first time that a sardar 

was to be removed for incompetence, and jirga members 

emphasized that this was not to be taken as a precedent. Shortly 

after the jirga's recommendation, a dissident Mengal faction began 

to agitate for the return and reinstatement of Shakar Khan as the 

Mengal Sardar. 
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Ibrahim was roo old co journey ro Kalac for the inscallacion, so the 

khi/lat (investiture .1ward) was taken ro Wad by a deputation of 

sardars. There were indications chac the support for che new sardar 

was noc as strong as che jirga deliberations had suggested, as several 

of the sardars aban<loned the parry escorting the khi/lat co Wad. 

Alladina escaped the escort caking him and his father to Quetta, 

but was captured before he reached Wad, where his supporters had 

gathered . There were desertions at the Wad thana-posc. A parry of 

Jamocs from Lasbela murdered a Mengal levy-man and mutilated 

his body. This killing escalated the hostilities as relatives of the 

murdered man collected a following ro avenge the outrage. The 

Jam, who saw himse fas the target of the avengers, requested troops 

from Karachi to protect Lasbela, even offering ro reimburse the 

British for the cost of the action. The Khan cook note of the 

chaotic situation in Jhalawan. He was reported co have pointed out 

that removing Shakar Khan for incompecence had put all the 

sardars at potential risk. Even the Nausherwani sardar was drawn 

into the fray when some Mengals sought his mediation. In August 

1908, the British finally responded to che Jam's entreaties by 

dispatching chree detachments of Imperial troops from Karachi, 

one going to Lasbela, while che ochers proceeded ro Kalar. The 

troops were sent as a show of force and as a lase resort if factional 

alliances, for any reason, coalesced into rebellion . The British were 

reluctant ro employ imperial troops against insurgents as fatalities 

on either side would have escalated matters further. 

British intelligence indicated that Ibrahaim Khan had che support 

of a majority of prominent takkris (section heads). Agency officials 

undertook rwo campaigns of incense persuasion, one with che 

recak:icranc Khan and che ocher with che sardars, who were 

pressured to enlist a cribal /ashkar in support of Ibrahim Khan. The 

Khan resisted at first and his unwillingness to endorse che British 

effort was manifested in his refusal to provide troops and co 
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disallow his brother to accompany the PA's camp. He claimed that 

only the release of Shakar Khan and his son could restore order in 

Jhalawan. The Khan was finally persuaded to send letters to the 

insurgents urging them to support Ibrahim Khan. The sardars 

eventually turned out a lashkar of about 1,000 men. Accompanied 

by 500 Imperial riflemen, the PA's party proceeded to Wad to 

install Ibrahim Khan as the Mengal sardar. Under this show of 

force, the dissidents came in and a second reconciliation was 

negotiated. Ibrahim Khan Mengal was finally installed as the sardar, 

and the troops were withdrawn. The Khan's apparent disloyalty was 

excused because as far as it is: 

possible co analyse a nebulous nature, such as the Khan's, it is pleasant 
to report thar he is not naturally ill-disposed cowards us. He has, 

however, an impish sense of mischief which promprs him whenever 

easy opportunity offers co do so without expenditure of energy or 

money, to interfere in the execution of a project nor necessarily to 

benefit his own interests, but merely to have the pleasure of 
disappointing the promoters of it, whoever they might be. 35 

In this official report, Mir Mahmud is deprived of rational agency. 

PA Benn had acknowledged the Khan's refusal to provide troops to 

the British, as it was a matter of record . Benn also noted Mir 

Mahmud's support of the dissidents. Despite the evidence that 

Mahmud Khan was engaged in deliberate political activity, the 

AGG represented his actions as feckless and apolitical, the 

consequence of his immature desire to make mischief. The AGG's 

paternal magnanimity was likely the result of his judgment chat it 

would be unwise to risk further tribal unrest by sanctioning the 

Khan for his disloyalty. 

G iven rhe persuasion required to implement the jirga decision, ir 

is not surprising that the reconciliations arranged at Ibrahim Khan's 

installation began to unravel within months. In an effort to 
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produce permanent peace in JhaJawan, the AGG pressed Calcutta 

for construction of roads in rhe region and proposed the 

establishment of a levy-corps of 524 men with a rransporr corps of 

200 camels, and all of it ro be under the command of a British 

officer. The AGG argued that this establishment should be funded 

by the Khan, partly from estate revenues, which had increased 

under British oversight, and partly through savings resulting from 

the reduced number of the Khan's troops. Alternatively, the AGG 

suggested char the im provements might be funded by charging 

M:ihmud Khan for the cost of the campaign against the MengaJs, 

which the AGG estimated at Rs I 05,000 (25,000 civil, 80,000 

military). The AGG aJso supported the PA's proposal ro redistribute 

the sardari subsidies, increasing them for cooperative sardars and 

reducing them for dissidents. 

In arguing chat the Khan should pay the coses of che JhaJawan 

campaign , the AGG assumed a righteous tone. The British received 

no revenue fro m Kalar State and should not, therefore, have ro bear 

the coses of troop deployment. The Khan, on the ocher hand, had 

a large income and should 'ei ther administer the country himself, 

or pay an adequate share of the cost of its administration and of 

such reforms and improvements as the growing needs of the 

country might from rime ro time demand' (Todd, 1926: 54). Mir 

Mahmud Khan had refused any assistance during the troubles in 

JhaJawan, and the British were justified in demanding that he pay 

the costs. In order to strengthen the British position in JhaJawan, 

the AGG proposed constructing a road from KaJar town co Wad 

and establishing a locaJ levy-corps, to enhance the auchoricy of che 

NA Jhalawan. H e suggested that these charges, along with some 

addirionaJ road repairs, should be funded by the Khan, perhaps 

from the cost of the Mengal campaign. 
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As the Government of India took che proposals under consideration, 

several sections of che Mengals again refused co acknowledge the 

new sardar. By 1910, Ibrahim Khan, already well along in years 

when he was installed, was ill, and his son was acting for him. Both 

father and son asked che British to formally acknowledge che reality 

by appointing Wali Muhammad as sardar. The transfer was 

accomplished in a modest ceremony, wich the NA Jhalawan 

officiating. Wali Muhmmad had been opposed by some Mengal 

takkris in the past, and with his appointment, internal factionalism 

intensified, and disputes about the payment of che mafia (dues) 

continued unabated. The British wanted the sardar to capture Nur 

Muhmmad, a rebellious takkri, who had attacked two levy-posts. 

Ac one he had wounded a levyman, and at che other he had 

destroyed the census records. In addition he had also looted several 

shops belonging to Hindus. 

The new sardar professed ignorance of Nu r's whereabouts, despite 

receiving visits from him. Wali Muhmmad claimed that Nur was 

allied with Alam Khan, a thanedar (head of a levy post) at Saruna, 

who had been intriguing against the British for years. The sardar 

asserted that chis alliance was too powerful for him co take action. 

The PA concluded that he, too, lacked the means to remove Alam 

Khan from his levy-position without the support of the Mengal 

sardar. Benn again urged consideration of the Jhalawan levies corps. 

Failing that, the PA proposed a joint Sarawan-Jhalawan force of a 

hundred men co proceed to Wad and remain there until the 

'malcontents' had presented themselves. Benn succeeded in 

obtaining the support for a lashkar from all the major Jhalawan 

sardars. Shortly after the combined force reached Wad, a quarrel 

broke out between Khan Muhmmad, who was representing his 

father, Sardar Pasand Khan (Zehri), and the MengaJ sardar, as a 

result of which roughly half che Jhalawan contingent left Wad with 

Khan Muhmmad. A petition signed by some Mengal takkris 



186 REMOTELY COLONIAL 

requested the removal of Wali Muhmmad and the NA Jhalawan, 

whom they alleged had favoured the Mengal sardar. 

The British were in a bind as repeated jirgas had failed co quell the 

disturbances. The NA was ineffective, and all the British could do 

was to advise him against making indiscriminate arrests. The AGG 

professed that he could not understand the source of the 'semi­

rebellion' . In face, there had been several indications chat the 

detention of Shakar Khan and Alladina in Quecca was viewed as 

chem being under arrest, and this was fueling at lease part of the 

uprising. Sardar Pasand Khan claimed his son was our of control 

and cautioned the NA to return co Khozdar for his own safety. 

In the meantime, Khan Muhammad petitioned the PA with the 

following demands: 

1. Release of Shakar Khan and Alladina. 

2. Appointment of Alladina as the sardar of the Mengals. 

3. Detention of Wali Muhammad. 

4. Appointment of HabibulJah as the sardar of the Nausherwanis. 

The petition is interesting because Khan Muhammad's demands 

for the sardari appointments in two tribes, one of them not even 

in Jhalawan, are appropriate to the ranking sardar of Jhalawan, but 

not his son. le is difficult co imagine Khan Muhammad sending 

this document without the covert support of his father. Pasand had 

taken harsh measures against internal Zehri challengers in the past, 

and it is unlikely chat he could not control his son. The request to 

protect Habibullah, the young Nausherwani sardar, seems to have 

come straight from Pasand, who had introjected himself into the 

Kharan succession process. 
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In May 1912, the AGG convened a meeting of che sardars of 

Jhalawan to discuss cheir grievances. The sardars surely would have 

recognized a meeting wich the AGG co be an unusual occurrence. 

Their dealings were normally with the PA and his staff. The AGG 

presided over only the most important ceremonial occasions like 

the installation of a major sardar or che annual Sibi Fair. Sardars' 

various efforcs to override the British official hierarchy were 

uniformly unsuccessful. Petitions co AGG or Calcutta were never 

acted upon and often not even acknowledged, and they were simply 

passed back down the ladder, Calcutta co the AGG, the AGG co 

the PA. 

The sardars presented ten requests to the AGG. Although these 

ranged from a sardari appointment co a rearrangement of seating 

at darbars, most of chem involved working conditions and 

compensation. The sardars wanted co end che practice of having 

levies' salaries and debts to shopkeepers deducted from their 

subsidies, and chey also wanted the British co pay roza 
(maintenance) when they were asked to provide the lashkars. They 

asked chat the number of jirgas be reduced. Additionally, they 

wanted an end co the assignment of non-local tribesmen to the 

levy-posts, and to the detention of women accused of adultery, in 

che levy-posts. Further they wanted the NA co treat chem with 

deferential behaviour, by not being seated on a chair when they 

were seated on the ground, and chat he should dismount his horse 

when they approached him. 

The AGG responded co the levy-deduction request by saying that 

levies varied from pose to post and asked each sardar to submit his 

individual report. He agreed that there should be no lien on sardars' 

subsidies for debts co banias (shopkeepers. moneylenders), although 

he reserved the right of the PA to submit in writing a request for 

such deductions. As to maintenance of lashkars in the field, the 
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AGG determined that when a Lashkar was serving outside its tribal 

territory, the British would assume its maintenance. Maintenance 

for lashkars in their own terri tories would be decided on a case-by­

case basis. Although he acknowledged that frequent jirgas were 

inconvenient for the sardars, the AGG pointed out that if the 

sardars could settle more cases among themselves, there would be 

fewer jirgas. The AGG asserted that the levy-men were normally 

assigned to their home areas, but he retained the right to assign 

men al ien to the region to a levy-post. The AGG agreed chat the 

~A should treat the sardars with respect, but indicated that such 

respect should be mutual. H e ignored the deferential tribal 

etiquette proposed by the sardars. As to the objection about women 

held in the levy-poses, the AGG said a woman who fled to a post 

was entitled to protection uncil a jirga could hear the case. He 

allowed chat such women could also obtain protection from sardars 

willing co give securiry for their safery. The AGG declined to 

consider a change n the darbar's seating, as it would mean 

changing a longstanding tradition. 

It is interesting to compare these requests with the ones advanced 

by Khan Muhammad, some months earlier. His earlier list was 

exclusively concerned with tribal policies, while his later list is 

focused on colonial administration. T here is no evidence to suggest 

that these requests played any signiflcanc role in the Jhalawan 

uprisings, although they were surely annoyances to many of the 

sardars. le appears chat the sardars took the chance to present their 

grievances to the AGG to bargain for concessions as members of 

the colonial government. This suggests that the sardars acknowledged 

the real iry of the colonial government, but it did not mean that 

they accepted its legitimacy. The inabiliry to stabilize the Mengal 

leadership through the jirga revealed the contradiction of the Kalar 

paramou nccy. Indirect rule in the absence of a ruler, opened a space 

where the sardars could challenge colonial auchoriry by participating 
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10 a deliberative process, whose recommendations they then 

ignored. 

With few options, and the hope that the AGG's meeting with the 

sardars had defused the Jhalawan situation, the British reinstalled 

Shakar Khan as the sardar of the Mengals in 1912. Shakar Khan's 

rerurn, however, did not bring peace co the Mengals, because if 

anything, disorder increased. Shops were more frequendy pillaged, 

and more levy-poses were deserted. While the PA Kalar could not 

obtain reliable intelligence about internal dissension, the NA 

Jhalawan was, in turn, also overwhelmed. He convened a jirga that 

informed him that plotters in Sasol village were planning an attack 

on his camp, so the sardars advised the NA to strike first. A Lashkar 
attacked Sasol, robbing some shops and houses. Two men were 

killed, and one was wounded. A jirga convened co consider the 

Sasol question blamed the attack on the NA and recommended 

that the British government pay compensation. The sardars decided 

chat the NA Jhalawan bore the sole responsibility and assessed 

RsS,620 against the Agency. The PA Kalar reluctantly accepted the 

recommendation, but reduced the compensation co Rs4,215, on 

grounds char rhe Sasolis had been insubordinate when they fired 

on rhe Lashkar (Todd, 1926: 63). The British paid, perhaps, partly, 

as an acknowledgement char their effort ro replace Shakar Khan 

had been a failure, and partly because they saw no viable alternative 

co jirga-levy governance despite its manifest shortcomings in 

Jhalawan. 

Wirh regard ro the Khan's meddling in tribal affairs, the British 

found themselves in a difficult position. They wished ro punish 

him by charging the cost of rhe military expedition associated wirh 

the removal of Shakar Khan co him, bur Shakar was returned co 

the sardarship before the Government of India had acted on this 

proposal. The AGG explained: 
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... if exisiting orders are enforced, it will be my dury in due course 

co invite His Highness co give his forma l recognition co the 

reinstatement of Sardar Shakar Khan, and, at approximately the same 

time, co invite His Highness co to pay the cost of deposing Shakar 

Khan with the aid of a military force ... If it will seem the reverse of 

equitable co His Highness co be called upon to pay for the consequences 

of action initiated by us and against his real wishes, it will seem co him 

co be doubly inequitable co make the demand for the first time four 

years after ... and just when events appear co have proved that he was 

in the right and that we were in the wrong. 36 

T his as close as rhe Agency's officials got co irony. British reporcs 

remained bureaucratically straight-faced throughout the lengthy 

series of unsuccess ful jirgas and the subsequent repudiation of their 

decisions. In this instance the Government of India saw the 

problem and agreed to absorb the military costs. 

Over the years, the British became deeply committed co tribal 

governance, and the doggedness with which they convened one 

jirga after anorher, attests to chis. The sardars were more wary 

participants in the jirga process. However, they, too, came to see 

the jirga as an arena where they could defend internal tribal affairs 

from j irga deliberat ions and consequent interference, and even 

refuse to consider cases on occasion. Sarawan and Jhalawan sardars 

appear to have developed different tactics for dealing with the jirga. 

Sarawan sardars generally collaborated with the Agency's officials, 

and they appeared to have serried most of the inter-tribal disputes 

themselves. They exercised a degree of control by determining che 

disposition of confl icts. This was largely successful because they 

adm inistered smaller tribes with fewer internal challenges. The 

suppression of raid ing opened the formerly insecure lands to 

culrivarion, benefiting both the sardars and the cribespeople. A 

commitment co cultivation, even on a rranshumanc basis, produced 
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new tribal followers whose sharecropping cenancies concribuced co 

sardari income. 

Collaboration was not an opcion for Jhalawan's sardars as they were 

faced wich greater challenges within their larger tribal formacions. 

As officials convened one jirga after another in the succession 

dispuces, chese sardars tested the possibilities of ignoring o r 

repudiacing che decisions they had supporced in che jirga. For 

example, in che Sasol case, the Bricish believed chac the NA had 

been manipulaced wich false incelligence which encouraged him co 

mounc a pre-emptive actack. Using such a caccic che sardars had 

caken concrol of the process, so when the PA convened a jirga co 

assess responsibility for the losses connected wich the actack, rhe 

sardars judged the NA co be responsible and recommended 

compensacion co be paid by rhe governmenc. The shortcomings of 

the jirga troubled officials both in Querta and Calcuna, and the 

Agency officials began co evolve the reform proposals, which are 

discussed in Chapter 8. 
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7 
The Averted Gaze 

The intercultural arena created through the interactions of colonial 

and tribal hierarchies was profoundly masculine and elitist. Slaves 

and women were excluded from the process, and even o rdinary 

tribesmen had very limited access to it. Once colonial control was 

established in Kalat, Calcutta's primary interest shifted to low-cost 

maintenance and protecting the fiction of an Ahmadzai-ruled Kalat 

State. Agency officials were charged wi th implementing these 

concerns through managerial means, with the permanent presence 

of the British military as a backup. British policies discouraged the 

participation of ord inary tribesmen in the economic and political 

opportun ities created by colonialism. Manual labour for rhe 

construction of rhe railroads was recruited from Imperial India, as 

were rhe 
0 

lower administrative ran ks. T he growth of rhe Querta 

market attracted outside contractors and artisans. Agency officials 

maintained a deliberate segregation of persons subject to tribal 

custom from rhose who were subjects of British India. This 

distanced the rribespeople, who were subjects of a native srare, from 

rhe attention of reformist organizations in Britain. Despite their 

occasionally differing agendas, officials at all levels were united in 

their desire to avoid such attention. 

Slavery and women were major si res of cultural difference in !are 

nineteenth-century Britain. Abolition was a signifier of civilized 

progress and it marked Europe as enlightened in contrast ro much 

of the Middle East and Asia. Where slavery persisted in the 
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colonized regions, it was implicated in a discourse that distinguished 

'oriental' forms of slavery from slavery in che Americas. Ir is often 

asserted char the former was nor as harshly oppressive as che 

plantation slavery of che New World (e.g. Lewis 1990: 101). 

Domestic slavery was often described as sumptuary and uneconomic 

(Caplan 1980: 176). 

Slaves and women had considerable disruptive potential in 

Baluchistan. Agency officials viewed tribal disputes involving 

women as especially dangerous. They believed char such disputes 

incited rash and impetuous action char could easily escalate into 

violence, coo difficult fo r chem co control. PA Showers reflected 

this concern when he noted chat the most important case he seeded 

in Jhalawan in 1903, was that of the runaway widow who rejected 

the remarriage arranged by her family. 

Agency anxieties about slavery were related co political sensitivities 

in London. Any publicity dealing with che miscreacmenr or 

trafficking of slaves would surely have elicited questions in 

Parliament. The difficulties, discussed earlier, associated with the 

Querta chakla (brothel), is an instance of the ability of British 

reform movements co impact colonial practices. Agency officials 

concerned about preventing such metropolitan intrusions, engaged 

in their own form of purdah. The practice of female seclusion 

facilitated this maneuver, and enabled them to blur the difference 

in status between a slave and a wife. Although their differing status 

was perfeccly clear co the cribespeople, Agency officials, engaged in 

a refusal of locals' knowledge. 

By the time the Baluchistan Agency was established in 1877, the 

British had suppressed most of the slave trade in the Persian Gulf. 

However, it was difficult for the British co control the trade in the 

trans-border region of Kalar, Afghanistan and Iran, because here it 
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was small-scale and decenrralized. Captured persons could be easily 

transported across borders and jurisdictions. Mose of the slaves were 

native-born by this time, the descendencs of people brought to the 

area prior to the Agency. Fragmencary evidence suggests that most 

of the lace nineteenth-century local trade consisted of captured and 

kidnapped persons and women, sold by relatives. 

The British-Afghan Wars and the permanent stationing of troops 

in Baluchistan stimulated a regional demand for European guns. 

British efforts to suppress the gun-trade drove the trade under­

ground, where it became linked to the illicit slave-trade. A 1903 

report from Iranian Baluchistan, noted a rise in slaves from Makran 

sold across the border. In one instance, a slave-owner in Iran sold 

forty-nine captive slaves. Calcutta asked the AGG to investigate. 

The PA Kalat denied that trans-border slave-trafficking existed, but 

as he had accepted the word of the Khan's local representative, his 

denial was dubious. 1 However, by 1922, the PA Kalat had 

acknowledged a rise in trans-border trafficking in slaves, associated 

with the arms crade. z 

T he issue of slavery arose shorcly before the founding of the 

Baluchistan Agency. In 1876, a group of some 170 slaves from the 

southern province of Makran, escaped to Gwadar; a coastal port 

held by Oman. 3 Since a 1873 treaty between the British 

Government and the Sultanate of Oman, forbade the Sultan from 

surrendering the fugitive slaves, their owners retaliated by raiding 

and burning a local telegraph pose, cutting the telegraph line, and 

kidnapping a native employee of che Telegraph D epartment. Most 

of the stolen property was eventually returned, and the employee 

was also released unharmed. 
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When Robert Sandeman became the AGG in 1877, he mediated 

the dispute, advocating leniency for the raiders. In reporting the 

case to the Government of India, Sandeman argued: 

Domestic slavery is a time-honoured institution in Baluchistan ... many 
of rhe ideas anaching co che word 'slavery', which are so repellent co 
civilized minds are absent from rhe manners of rhe Biluch tribes. The 

condition of the slaves approaches more nearly that of the serfs in 

Russia before their emancipation .... They are, generally speaking, 

treated kindly (sic}, and as members of the family co which chey 
belong .... I need hardly say chat I have no desire whatever co defend 

even chis modified form of slavery. I merely wish co remove any false 
impressions which might arise from the use of the word. A system of 

this kind, which has the sanction of centuries, cannot be upset in a 

day without disturbing effects; and chis is especially the case when the 
change involves serious pecuniary losses co individuals .... Ir is hardly 

then a subject for wonder char the rude Biluch who dwells in the 

country near Gwadur is slow co appreciate the motives which had led 

the English people co strive so earnestly for the abolition of slavery. 4 

With this paradigmatic statement of nineteenth century European 

ideas about cultural difference and evolutionary progress, Sandeman 

succeeded in setting a policy followed by his successors until 1912. 

The initiating event, the flight of a large number of slaves, is 

omitted in the construction of Baloch slavery as a relatively benign 

institution, significancly different than the plantation slavery 

targeted by the abolition movement. Sandeman incorrectly asserts 

that there was no trans-border trafficking in slaves. He characterizes 

slavery as an ancient and economically important Baloch cultural 

tradition. Despite his professed rejection of slavery, Sandeman had 

in fact, issued a sanad (official document) to the Marris in 1878, 

chat supported their right to own slaves.5 British officials attempted 

to keep a distance from the slavery issue, and it was their practice 

to have sardars and other tribal notables hear cases involving slaves. 
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As Sandeman's successor, AGG Barnes, put it, ' ... we don't wish 

to inquire whether they have slaves or not. The law does not 

authorize us or direct us to do so.'6 

The Slavery Act of 1843 stated that no property rights in a slave 

would be enforced in any British court. The law, however, did not 

extend co Kalar, which as a native scare, had the right co self­

governance in domestic affairs, and Calcutta, caught between 

parliamentary sensitivit ies at home and the practical problems of 

securing the Imperial border at a minimal cost, found it expedient 

to accept Sandeman's position.7- The delicate complicity of the 

Government of Ind a is eviden t in a caution chat Political Agents 

should refrain from saying anything char implied any right to keep 

slaves: 

It would therefore be better char che PA should noc explain co chem 
[Baloch] che necessity of caking proper care of their slaves if chey do 
not wish co lose them, as such language would probably be 
regarded ... as a \ irrual recognition on our part of che institution of 
slavery. 8 

As officers with judicial powers, the Political Agents were put in a 

difficult position. Slaves fleeing to the direcrly-administered 

territories of Sindh and British Baluchistan, were not returned 

against their will co their owners. Despite the caution from 

Calcutta, agents, however, did convey some minimal standards 

necessary for rhem to keep the practice of slavery in purdah: slaves 

were not to be bought or sold, slave-families were not to be 

separated, and they were not to be mistreated. 

It was not always possible, however, to keep slavery behind a veil. 

By the 1890s, some slaves appear co have heard rhat the British 

would not return them to their masters if they fled either to Sindh 

or British Baluchistan, and sorting our cases of absconding slaves 
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could be complicated. One particularly enterprising man, fled with 

his family, from one chiefly territory co another. By che time his 

owner had located him, che alleged slave had enlisted in the militia 

of his new chief and had married a daughter co a local man. When 

che chief claiming his ownership sought British help in his return, 

the man denied he was a slave. The British cited their policy of 

non-return of slaves and refused co intervene.9 

In 1910, an Assistant Political Agent (APA) was presiding over a 

court in Querta when a girl dashed in, flung herself ac his feec, and 

begged him co release her from slavery. 10 lnvescigacion revealed that 

the girl was the daughter of a free-born Jae and a H azara woman, 

purchased by the Raisani sardar as a maid for his wife. A slave of 

bad reputation, who belonged co che sardar's brother, wanted co 

marry the girl. The threat of chis marriage led the mother and 

daughter co concoct a plan. The mother put pepper in her 

daughter's eyes and then begged che sardar co cake chem co Quecca 

for treatment. Since Querta was leased land under direct British 

administration, che APA was obliged co free her. However, he 

worried that the sardar would ger che girl's relarives co persuade her 

co return and accept the marriage. So the official asked the sardar 

co tea, and spoke of the girl, of Raisani's KCIE, and how the King, 

who was soon coming co India, would not like co hear that one of 

his nobles owned and mistreated slaves. Faced with chis pressure, 

the Raisani presented the girl co che APA, and explained that this 

was che only honourable way he could gee out of his promise co 

his brother. The APA arranged the girl's marriage co a Hazara 

militiaman, and boch che mother and the daughter professed to be 

pleased with the marriage. Perhaps the sardar had che lase word 

here, as the APA was reprimanded for interfering in Kalar affairs. 

British officials were generally not as sympathetic in such cases. 

More typical is an 1899 report of a female slave who approached 
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the Political Agent complaining of mistreatment from her master. 

The official noted rhar she 'didn't appear to be in a very bad way' . 

A group of sardars quickly petitioned for her return. The discomfort 

of the Political Agent, obliged to shelter the woman under 

mounting pressure from rhe sardars, is evident in the report. The 

agent concluded with a statement, that if che woman was willing 

co return to her master, he would let her go, It is hard to believe 

that he did not encourage her to return. 11 

While it is impossible to determine how often slaves fled to British 

India during rhe 1890s, it is clear that slavery was a divisive issue 

in British relations with the chiefs. The sardars petitioning for rhe 

return of the woman above, argued rhar the custom of slavery was 

exempt from British interference by the terms of the Masrung 

Treaty of 1876. While the treaty did acknowledge tradition and 

chiefly prerogatives, it did not, specifically, mention slavery, and 

the British rejected the sardars' argument. If the sardars were 

confused about the British position on slavery, it was understandable. 

On rhe one hand they were cold chat the British did nor want co 

know whether they had slaves, while on rhe other, they were 

informally counseled to conform co minimal standards of 

t reacment. Although officials would not return runaway slaves, they 

were often sympathetic to the owners. AGG Barnes, responding to 

a delegation of owners from British Baluchistan, indicated, chat he 

personally felt, rhar ir would be fair to make slaves purchase their 

manumission, bur the law did not permit chis. 12 

Slavery was cited by the Khan, in an objection co a British project 

of completing a surfaced road between the Agency's Headquarters 

in Querta and the Kalar town, where he resided. According to Mir 

Mahmud: 
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Mose of the male and female slaves of the people of char pare of the 

country are becoming obstinare merely on accounr of rhe road which 

has been constructed, and none _of the men of Mastung can, therefore, 

use harsh words co their male or female slaves. Although by 

consrruction of the road nothing else is meant rhan an easy 

thoroughfare, yet the low persons, i.e. male and female slaves are 

entertaining peculiar ideas. If the road were constructed as far as Kalat, 

the people would enrerrain more serious ideas. In chis manner, God 

Forbid, the splendour of Baluchis will be gradually diminished. ll 

The real reason for his resistance co the road was surely che concern 

char ic would abridge che relative seclusion he enjoyed ac Kalar 

cown, although ic remains unclear why he chose co focus on unrest 

among che slaves as his opposition. Perhaps, ic was his argument 

for eliciting che sardari support for his position. 

The number and economic importance of slaves varied between 

different regions in Kalar. In I 911, che British escimaced the 

number of slaves in Kalar ac 17,800, of whom 9,300 were female. 

The slaves were concentrated in che mo re remote areas of southern 

Jhalawan, Makran and Kharan, where male slaves culcivaced their 

masters' fields while che women did their domestic work. There 

were relatively few slaves in Sarawan, where they were primarily 

engaged in domestic work in che chieftains' ho useholds. A 

proportional estimate in 1926 had che slaves comprising about 

4 per cent of che coral population in Jhalawan and che Marri-Bugci 

tribal lands, 6 per cent in Makran and 15 per cent in Kharan. 14 

Slavery practices undoubtedly varied, considerably, from place co 

place and from owner co owner. Slaves intermarried , sometimes ac 

the insistence of their owners. Bride-price was given by the man, 

although ic was sometimes appropriated by che owner of che 

woman. In much of Kalar, male slaves did agricultural work and 

received a portion of the harvest. T hey were similar co poor 
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free-sharecroppers with two major exceptions. Slaves could be 

mortgaged, and if the debt was fo reclosed, rhe morrgager could 

seize and sell rhem. A slave who managed to acquire property could 

nor pass it on to his heirs, and at his death it went to his owner, 

although 15 o nly a few slaves held by weal thy families would have 

acquired property, anyway, usual ly as a result of overseeing an 

owner's estate. Masson (1997[1842] I: 339) reported that some of 

the Khan's khanazada (hereditary slaves) were taught to read and 

write and sent to oversee the Khan's estates. T he town of Dhadar 

in Kachhi, was administered by a slave. Masson (2001 [1844]IV: 

442-3) found char khanazada were favoured over purchased or 

gifted slaves. The Baluchistan District Gazetteers reveal considerable 

ambiguity regarding slavery. There is no mention at all of slavery 

in rhe District Gazetteers of the directly-administered territory. 

T his would appear to be a deliberate omission, as in 19 11 , the 

British estimated about 2,500 slaves in British Baluchistan. 16 By 

rhe 1921 census, servile dependents had become 'tribal followers' 

numbering 21 ,683. 17 The Kalar Gazetteers handle slavery in 

varying ways. Slaves are discretely noted as 'servile dependents', a 

category char also included loris, who were craftspeople and 

entertainers. In Sarawan, though, slaves and loris were merged, 

while in Jhalawan, 'servile dependents' included the descendants of 

war-prisoners. In Kachhi, slaves are not mentioned at all , and the 

only servile dependents were the Jars, who were the non-tribal 

tenant cultivators. 

The Gazetteers' construction of slavery had a male subject, which 

facilitated rhe assertion of benign treatment of slaves. In Kharan, 

slaves were said to engage in a number of occupations, incl uding 

acting as advisors to the sardar and serving in his militia. Some 

were said to advance socially, through marriage with tribal women. 

H owever, it was noted, without comment, that many slaves had 

sought freedo m by fleeing to Si ndh (GOB Kharan: 80). 
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In Lasbela, slaves were represented as a quasi-tribal group, the 

Gadras. There was a village of independent Gadras with 'a certain 

undefined bond of connection', which tied chem to their former 

masters. Gadras were said to have marriages arranged by their 

owners, who were interested in increasing their slave-holdings. 

(GOB Lasbela: 62). The puzzle of a free Gadra, whose offspring 

was a slave, is, perhaps, clarified by material in the Makran District 

Gazetteer. When an owner was unable or unwilling to provide food 

and clothing for his slaves, he could order chem co fend for 

themselves. Should the owner wish co obtain their labour in rhe 

future, he could order chem back (GOB Makran: 108). 

Makran was the only location in Kalar where slaves were included 

in exchanges of marriage among the local Gichki landlord families. 

Ir was scared that, conventionally, an equal number of male and 

female slaves were given (GOB Makran: 72). 18 The slavery issue 

was most acute in Makran and Kharan, where their numbers were 

large and where slaves did a significant amount of agricultural 

labour, but the areas' proximity to British-held Sindh, led to 

repeated escapes. Despite evidence char slaves were nor content 

with rhe conditions of their lives, rhe British consistenrly 

downplayed their miserable condition: 

The condicions of slavery in Makran are very easy, and the few masters 

who were inclined to creac cheir slaves badly have caken warning; they 

know thac any slaves who can prove chac they have been treated cruelly, 

have noc received proper food and cloching, or have been separated by 

sale from cheir famil ies, will be released; and che slaves also know chat 

that can obtain redress in such cases. Mose of che slaves, however, are 

fairly well concenced wich cheir lot and know that on the whole they 

get their livelihood on easier cerms chan if chey had co work for 

chemselves as free men. Abscracc ideas of freedom to not appeal 

strongly to the majority of chem. 19 
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As the above passage suggests, the British maincained their 'don't 

ask, don't look' policy by blurring distinct social categories clearly 

understood by che Baloch: in the case of men, field-slaves and 

sharecroppers; in the case of women, slaves and wives. The 

observation chat che conditions of the poorer free-sharecroppers 

were licde better than chose of che enslaved, was probably accurate. 

The critical factors differenciacing slaves from sharecroppers were 

only an issue when slaves challenged their status, or when they were 

sold co discharge a debt. 

Women were as problematic as slaves for che compilers of the 

Gazetteers. Sections o n marriage and che conditions of women are 

marked by a distanced and repetitive representation of thei r lives. 

In the ethnography of the Gazetteers, the key descriptor for che 

status of women is degradation, variously modified by che adjective 

'extreme' or 'great'. The defining features of women's degraded 

conditions were: I) lack of properry rights; 2) excessive work; and 

3) being sold in marriage. Only in Makran, Jhalawan, and Loralai 

(British Baluchistan) Gazecceers, is there an acknowledgemenc of 

class difference. Women in the prosperous households 'have an easy 

Lfe and have female servancs co help chem' (GOB Jhalawan: 68). 

T he compliers of the Gazecceers appear co be speaking of ordinary 

women in the villages and pastoral nomadic camps of Baluchistan. 

T he repetitive, formulaic description of women's cond ition 

indicates that the compilers knew virtually nothing about che lives 

of tribal women. Degradation is repeatedly linked co the notion 

char young girls were auctioned off and sold co the highest bidder. 

There is lictle in chesc scacemencs chat distinguished a wife from a 

slave. Tribal women were 'chattels' (GOB Kharan: 61). The notion 

chat women lived lives of unrelenting, degraded coil, could hardly 

have been based on direct observation, given the seclusion of 

women. This is a British construction that reflected both the refusal 



THE AVERTED GAZE 205 

of local knowledge and the complexly overlapping categories of 

wives and slaves. Slave or wife, a woman was subject to the sexual 

and domesric demands of a man, and both could be repudiated by 

him-a wife through a divorce, and a slave through a sale or a 'gift'. 

In an ironic turn, ' bride-price', the very practice that facilitated 

British categorical blurring, was a critical Baloch signifier; not 

because the Baloch offered their daughters to the highest bidder, 

but because the material exchanges called 'bride-price', sealed the 

delicate negotiations between two families arranging a marriage. 

Arranging a good marriage was an indication of fami ly honour, and 

the wife's family maintained an ongoing concern for her well-being. 

This, in combination with a man's right to multiple wives, 

discouraged d ivorce. 

The social protections accorded in marriage, did not always prevent 

husbands from abusing their wives, and a generous bride-price 

might tempt a father to overlook the shortcomings of a prospective 

groom. But in most cases, a wife's close parrikin-fathers and 

brothers, especially-gave her the support, which the female slaves, 

married or otherwise, were denied. There was a strong preference 

for marriage within the lineage, which facili tated ongoing contact 

between the wife and her family. Marriages contracted with 

unrelated families were open to the suspicion that a generous bride­

price had tempted a family to overlook the possible shortcomings 

of the husband. 

Slaves were outside kinship; they were constituted as categorically­

d ifferent persons, lacking the familial rights and protections of 

tribespeople. The depiction of Baloch women to be as degraded as 

'slave-like chattel', obscures critical differences in women's lives. 

While neither wives nor the female slaves controlled their bodies, 

wives did have a bodily integrity_ which was denied to the slave 
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women. A wife was not alienated from her procreation, and her 

sexuality, although controlled by her husband, was essentially 

indivisible-so indivisible that even suspicion of adultery could 

lead to her death. Slave-girls, on the other hand, were circulated 

through gift or sale, and their sexuali ty was the property of 

5ucceeding owners. 

The difference between wives and enslaved women is clear in 

the case of jointly-owned slaves. In joint-ownership, a woman's 

offspring were committed to different men, often years in advance 

of their conception. The only reported instance of a joincly-owned 

woman is evocatively concrete. In the 1920s, a Makrani purchased 

'one-half a leg' of a woman for Rs2S. A year later he bought a 

whole leg for Rs50. The report does not specify what services came 

with the ownership of a leg and a half It notes only that the half-a­

leg owner got no sen ice from her, bur was entitled to the proceeds 

of the sale of her fourth child. When her husband died after only 

one child, she was ordered to marry again immediately. 20 

Like their counterpa1 ts in other parts of Asia and the Middle East, 

officials in Baluchistan had a rather androcencric take on sexuality 

and female slavery. British offidals often resorted to the term 

'concubinage' when !>peaking of female slaves. One suggested that 

' the girls generally preferred to be the concubines of a rich man 

rather than the wives of poor men.' He did deplore what he referred 

to as forced 'concubinage' and it is hard not to see such a term as 

anything bur a euphemism for rape, a word that never appeared in 

any British documents.21 

The discourse of benign slavery was based on the distanced and 

deliberate refusal of knowledge on the part of British official~. In 

1914, AGG John Ramsay breached this purdah by going to Makran 

to investigate reports that slaves were being abused. While he found 
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no evidence of physical abuse, he received numerous complaints of 

separation of famili es. Local notables were persuaded co sign 

agreements char they would neither separate children from their 

parents nor husbands from their wives. The AGG's official reporr 

co rhe Foreign Department in Calcucca was measured and upbeat. 

He advised against emancipation, because: 

... such precipitate action would shaccer the whole fabric of economic 

life in the country, and ir was accordingly ro be depreciated in the 

interests of the ghulums [slaves] themselves .... The ghulums have thus 

gained their heart's desire [in the non-separation agreemenrs], and will 

be qu ite capable themselves of voicing any further grievances rhey may 

have.22 

AGG Ramsay enclosed a personal letter with rhe reporr that has a 

very different cone: 

T he faces chat were forced on my notice appalled me; wichour che 

cesrimony of my own eyes and ears, I could hardly have believed that 

slavery of a peculiarly brutal form existed naked and unashamed in 

lndia, and in my own province at thar. ... I believe now chat the evil 

has been crushed- happi ly just in rime ro save us from a public 

scandal. How ir can have escaped publication for so long, I am at a 

loss to understand, even on the supposition char discontented and 

d isaffected persons have never realized whar a powerful weapon lay ro 

their hands .... Ir is a marrer of such personal congrarulacions to 

myself, and a matter, I chink, for congrarulations co Government also, 

char we have forestal led rhe inevirable scandal, and char, while feeling 

ir is my duty to report the existence of the evil, I have been able co 

report ac the same rime char measures have been taken co eradicate ir.23 

The notably different registers of these rwo documents mark a 

fracture between the British discourse of slavery and the actual 

Balochi practice. The separarion of families obscured rhe realiry of 

trafficking of female slaves, many of chem young girls, into whar 
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officials delicately termed 'forced concubinage'. A sardar put it 

more direcdy: 'A girl is ten days here, ten days chere.'24 Ramsay 

abridged che longstanding 'don't look, don't cell' policy, and found 

himself in a difficul t position. Having looked, he was burdened 

with what could not be said in official correspondence, in face, 

what could not even be explicitly acknowledged in a private letter. 

Despite witnessing complaints chat horrified him, Ramsay argued 

against abolition, claiming it would not be in che interests of the 

slaves themselves. The AGG's assertion chat the slaves obtained 

'their heart's desire', 5eems a rhetorical excess chat disrupts normal 

bureaucratic language, an exaggeration, perhaps necessary, to 

recuperate benign slavery from the 'facts chat were forced' on him. 

It is hard co believe chat Ramsay was in fact confident that slaves 

would be capable of protecting the rights specified in the 

agreements, as there was no resident British presence in Makran. 

What could not be spoken is related to the threat of scandal. Who 

were those 'discontented and disaffected persons' who missed an 

opportunity to emba1 rass the British government? The two issues-

5lavery and the sexual abuse of young girls and women-would 

surely have been publicized by those missionaries allied with the 

social purity reformers, who were active in both India and Great 

Britain at the rime, had they learned of chem (cf. Ballhacchec, 1980; 

Burton, 1994; Levine, 1996; Ware, 1992). Calcutta responded co 

Ramsay's report and ignored his letter. 'The Government of India 

appreciates the tactful manner in which you have handled the 

ghulam matter, and I am to congratulate you on the success of your 

negotiations in chis matter.'25 The challenge to 'benign slavery' 

ended during the First World War. British officials, concerned 

about ensuring the loyalty of the Ba.loch sardars, were reluctant to 

pursue charges of abuse, and the Assistant Political Agent, Makran, 

suggested chat complaints were instigated by ' intriguers' in Lasbela: 
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I chink char che enquiries which have been made in recenc years and 

the accion caken in one or rwo proved cases of ill-creacmenc have had 

che desired effect, and there is nor che lease necessicy co cake any drascic 

seeps in Makran uncil the rime is ripe for the consideracion of che 

quescion of domescic slavery in che whole of Baluchiscan. The 

condicions of slavery in Makran are very easy, and the few mascers who 

were inclined to creac their slaves badly have caken warning; they know 

char any slaves who can prove char they have been treaced cruelly, have 

not received proper food and cloching, or have been separated from 

cheir families, will be released; and the slaves know that they can obtain 

redress in such cases .... [ do nor suppose Governmenc desires to 

cackle so big a question while the war is going on, and, cherefore, glad 

as I should be to see slavery abolished, I chink it will be best for che 

presenc to be concent to apply palliative treatment to such cases as may 

arise. I would suggesc that no notice be taken of celegrams from eicher 

mascers or slaves.26 

Sandeman's 1884 representation of benign slavery is echoed here, 

bur wichouc his rhetorical confidence. Like Sandeman, chis official 

felt obligated co record his personal rejection of slavery, while, 

simultaneously, arguing char abolition was impractical in the 

present. There is a careful acknowledgment char slaves are on 

occasion mistreated, balanced by che claim char che adminiscracion 

has taken seeps co punish and prevent such abuse. The assertion 

char most enslaved men were content with their lot and even 

preferred slavery co free-sharecropping, evaded che issues of family 

separation and sexual abuse of female slaves. It also defined chose 

slaves who were nor satisfied with their -condition as minority 

malconcencs, perhaps prone co manipulation by enemy agents. 

The British blurring of wives and female slaves is apparent in a 

report submitted by a junior Agency Official in 1922. He had been 

ordered co investigate a report chat '40 girls and women' from che 

scare of Kalar, had been sold co men in neighbouring Sindh. The 
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informant alleged these sales ro be a response co food shorcages 

arising from several years of drought. The official reporced chat 

sixteen of the women were said to be slaves or females 'having no 

near relatives', while twenty-four were said to have been sold by 

relatives. T he Agent complained that it was difficult co determine 

whether the women in question were being sold as slaves or simply 

married in accordance with local custom: 

You are aware that a Brahui female is sold in marriage (emphasis in 

o riginal) to the highest bidder in rhe same way as a Brahui d isposes of 

his livestock. Under these circumstances the sale of Jhalawan women 

does not call for any special consideration more so as these females 

were ostensibly ghen in marriage (emphasis in original) ro Sindhi 

husbands.17 

This report inscribed a convenient refusal of local knowledge. Local 

Baloch certainly knew the difference between arranging a marriage 

and selling a woman into slavery, and had the Political Agent 

wanted co be more informed, he could certainly have engaged local 

knowledge. At the same time it inscribed a masculine collusion 

across cultural difference co constrain the disruptive and divisive 

potential of women. The successful refusal of local knowledge was 

not simply a one-sided exercise of colonial power. T hose BaJoch 

men who were questioned about chis issue had their own motives 

for celling the official what he wanted co hear. The report can be 

seen as inscribing a performative co llaboration between men 

holding rather different notions of marriage, slavery, and women, 

who nevercheless found it possible, perhaps even easy, co collude 

in fashioning a mutual ly satisfactory understanding. Finally, the 

reporc inscribes the delicate negotiations involved in adjusting 

colonial policy instituted at high levels of government co local 

political interests. Since trafficking in slaves was prohibited while 

slavery was coleraced, albeit deplored, an official conclusion chat 
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che women were being sold would have required furcher accion. 

Indeed, che confusion expressed by che Policical Agenc may well 

have been mirrored by cacegorical blurring on the Baloch side, 

because if chese were in fact marriages, chey may not have been very 

honourable ones, as che women were being senc some distance from 

their kin . The girls and women, who were the subject of che 

invesrigacion, are cextually absenc, and ic is quire likely char they 

were physically absent as well, and che transactions chat senc chem 

co Sindh had already been accomplished. Reporcs concerning 

slavery often ended on an ambiguous note, and this one is no 

exception. The official hedged his conclusion, with the modifier, 

oscensibly. He noted the food shorcage in Baluchistan, and che high 

prices being paid for women in Sindh. Despite the inconclusive 

ending, che AGG noted, 'This is nor slavery-and no action, I 

suggest, is required-nor, is ic observed, is a recommendation of 

che Political Agenc. '28 

The issue of slavery heated up in 1926 when the League of Nations 

proposed abolishing slavery and forced labour chroughouc the 

world. At che request of che British government, che Governmenc 

of India solicited commencs on che proposal. Forced to confront 

the issue, che AGG officially acknowledged the presence of slavery 

in Kalar. Alchough he denied che regular selling of slaves, he noced 

che separation of families. Thar he, apparently, saw no concradiction 

in chis, is perhaps relaced to che blurred cacegories of bride-price 

and gifc. In 1927, the PA Kalar, piously noted, ' Jc was not till the 

actual liberacion of slaves commenced chat it was possible to realise 

the inhumanicy with which chese unforcunace beings were 

created .'29 

In 1926, under strong British pressure, the Khan abolished slavery 

in Kalar. Male slaves engaged in agriculcural labour became 

sharecroppers while che female domestic slaves became household 
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servants, entitled co payment in food, clothes and grain. There was 

considerable resistance co abolition in southern Jhalawan and 

Makran. Some Makrani Baloch threatened co migrate co Iranian 

Baluchistan rather than free their slaves. A few did transport their 

slaves across the border, buc some of che slaves escaped back to 

Makran.30 

Agency officials, responding to concerns boch in London and 

Calcutta, now cook a more active role in abolition: 

Afrer much discussion with Jhalawan Sardars, motebirs and the slaves 

themselves, it seemed clear char che freeing of rhe men slaves could 

cake place wi thout any considerable disturbance of conditions. The 

difficulties came "'ich the kanizes [female slaves] .... So many girls 

have changed hands recently for large sums-in one case for as much 

as Rsl ,000-char the owners will undoubtedly place obstacles in che 

way of their release and will endeavour co obtain bride-price for 

marrying them.31 

In 1927, che Kalar PA used che occasion of a chieftain's wedding 

co gather the slaves present, more than seventy in number, co 

inform chem of their new rights. He reported chat only five families 

sought immediate manumission, while rwo families asked for che 

return of young daughters sold or given away.32 In most cases, 

emancipation appears to have produced little macerial improvement 

in che lives of those newly-freed. Complaints of imprisonment, 

mistreatment, and sale, especially of the girls, continued throughout 

the 1920s. 

Benign slavery was a discourse constructed o n deferral and 

exclusion. le was a differentiating discourse chat marked che 

discance berween British and Baloch cultures. Bue it was British 

veiling of it chat placed the female slaves in a purdah so opaque, 

which made it difficult to distinguish a slave from a wife. Gender 
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was at the centre of rhetorical strategies deployed to maintain 

benign slavery. T hese strategies included the use of terms such as 

'concubinage' and 'sepa~ation of families', to cover rape and 

trafficking of females. T he persuasiveness of the discourse rested on 

a male subject, abstract and disembodied, little different from a 

poor, free sharecropper. A female slave had bodily specificity, which 

disrupted the discourse. 

Colonial officials distanced themselves fro m the practice of slavery. 

Sandeman articulated the cultural distance in his 1884 contrast of 

'rude Biluch' and the 'English people'. Abolition was a natural 

byproduct of Englishness; the political struggles that brought it 

about were erased. Sandeman and his successors looked co some 

future time when it would be possible to impose eman cipation 

without causing economic and political d isruption. In the end, 

when Parliament forced emancipation, it was accomplished without 

the serious dislocations predicted by its apologists. 
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8 
Seeking the Imaginary Balance 

Ever since Khodadad Khan's forced abdication in 1893, the 

Agency's officials had been seeking a colonial stability that 

continously eluded them. This led co reformist efforts at intervals 

of roughly ten years. These reforms occurred in the context of the 

Agency's efforts co establish its authority in Jhalawan, where the 

succession conflicts among the sardars, were a troubling challenge. 

In the early years of the twentieth century, the reformist thrust 

spearheaded by PA Showers, focused on political realism. He 

argued for Calcutta accepting the Khan's shortcomings with a 

consequent expansion of the Agency's staff co compensate for the 

Khan's refusal co rule, and to constrain the sardari politics more 

effectively. Calcutta did officially acknowledge the breaching of 

paramountcy: 

The Government of India recognise chat, as the result of circumstances 

over which they could exercise but little influence, the authority of His 

Highness the Khan over the Sarawan and Jhalawan Sirdars has now 

practically ceased co exist and chat control over the tribes muse, for the 

present at any race, be vested in the Political Agent. Should however 

there be any disposition hereafter on che pare of the Khan or his 

successor co reassert his authority and influence over the tribes, the 

claim will demand careful attention. 1 

They authorized the appointment of a Political Advisor to the Khan 

(PAK) and Native Assistants (NA) for Sarawan and Jhalawan. These 

actions strengthened British domination by extending their reach 
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further into tribal government. The network of personal relations 

Lhar had enmeshed the Khan and the sardars was severely 

undermined. 2 

In 1912, rhe protracted, occasionally embarrassing, problems of 

Mengal succession, led AGG J. Ramsay ro reflect on rhe Agency's 

staffing and tribal governance.3 He believed rhar during rhe years 

of Mi r Mahmud Khan's reign in Kalar, rhe Agency's practices had 

<leparred from the Sandeman's principle of tribal self-governance, 

with rhe unfortunate consequence of undermining the sardari 

authoriry and responsibiliry. The appointments of the Political 

Advisor fo r the Khan along with the Native Assistant for Jhalawan, 

provided tribesmen with new officials to whom rhey could take 

Lheir complaints, thus bypassi ng the traditional tribal leaders. The 

expansion of thana (levy-posts) exacerbated the problem as the 

rhanedars (head of a thana) too, were drawn into tribal d isputes. 

Sardars now had even less need to consider tribal opinion in 

making their decisions because they could now turn to the PA Kalat 

instead, to ensure the implementation of those decisions. As 

Ramsay saw it, the Agency's governance had become more 

expensive and less effective. 

The AGG noted that his predecessors had reservations about Mir 

Mahmud Khan's character, but pointed out that efforts to 

compensate for his 'supposed deficiencies' had placed him in a 

difficult position: ' ... while he remains Khan of Kalar with high 

tides and honours, his work is done for him by officials who are 

not under his control.' Ramsay believed that the present situation 

was untenable: ' I think we must either recognise that our 

interference in Kalar affairs exists and must increase, or we should 

make yer one more effort to get the Khan to take an interest in his 

duties and to induce the Sardars to administer their rribes.' 4 

Ramsay proposed, in effect, to undo the changes instituted by 
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Henry Showers when the latter had served as the PA Kalar in che 

early years of che rwentieth century. In accordance with Ramsay's 

reforms, the PA Kalar obtained the Khan's agreement co the 

following changes: 

1. The annual Kalar budget would be prepared by che Political 

Advisor and sanctioned by the Khan. 

2. The Khan would have three 1akhs (Rs300,000) as his private 

purse. 

3. A State Council would be instituted, consisting of the Khan, 

serving as President, Shams Shah, the Political Advisor, 

serving as Vice-President, and che Raisani, Shawani, Zehri 

and Mengal sardars, as permanent members. 

4. The PA Kalar would be consulted about all issues before che 

Council. 

As part of che agreement, che Khan would relinquish his private 

purse for one year in order co fund che changes. 5 

The new Seate Council met in July 1913, with much pomp and 

ceremony. Shams Shah, speaking on behalf of the Khan, noced that 

'His Highness and his Council agree chat che interests of the 

Government of India and those of the Scace are identical.' PA Kalar, 

Armine Dew, reported char he had caken seeps co encourage the 

sardars co cake more responsibility for cheir tribes. According co 

Dew, the Native Assistants and che thanedars were intriguing 

against che sardars.6 Agency officials sought co implement many of 

Ramsay's proposals, buc most were sec aside wich che beginning of 

World War I. The Scace Council also met only once, as the wartime 

resiscence of che Zehri and Mengal sardars doomed further 

meecings.7 
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WARTIME CHALLENGF.S 

Although the Baluchistan Agency owed its existence in large part to 

the regional politics between Russia and Great Britain, it remained 

relatively free from outside threats until World War I. When Turkey 

joined the Central Powers in 1914, the Sultan declared a jihad 
against the allies. Axmann (2008: 45-57) notes that the Germans 

sought to amplify the effects of jihad by smuggling propaganda 

leaflets into Russian and British colonial territories. German agents 

infiltrated Persia, hoping to incite Persia's Baloch tribes. They 

also sought to enlist the Amir of Afghanistan on their side, and 

although the British failed in their efforts to prevent a German­

Afghan meeting, the Amir remained uncommitted. 

U prisings in the Marri territory, and in Makran and Jhalawan, 

challenged the Agency's authority and stretched its resources very 

thin. Although British military superiori ty was .!1ever in doubt, the 

Agency staff was, in some instances, forced to forego punishing 

actions that would certainly have elicited fines and imprisonment 

in earlier years. Each uprising required at least one military 

intervention, and each reflected local conditions, but all were 

shaped by the war. 

In 1916, the AGG asked Calcutta to authorize an additional 

Assistant to the Political Agent for a period of three years, as the 

Agency's current stalT was hard-pressed to cope wirh the various 

problems in Kalar. He argued that instabili ty in the Zehri and 

Mengal tribes was likely to continue. The Mengals were causing 

trouble on the Lasbela border, while the situation in Makran 

required careful monitoring. It was hoped that with adequate staff 

the Khan could be persuaded to exert more authority, and Makran 

could be secured, following which the office could lapse. T he PA 

Kalar argued forcefully for the appointment of a British officer, on 
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the grounds that he would naturally have more influence over the 

chiefs than a native officer. 8 

Cakutta, during wartime, was especially cost-conscious. In view of 

this, the AGG recommended that the APA be funded by all parties 

benefiting from the appointment, i.e. the Khan, the Jam of Lasbela, 

and the Government of India. Before acting on rhe proposal, 

however, Calcutta directed that both the rulers be consulted about 

sharing the costs, and nor unsurprisingly, they were reluctant. The 

Jam pointed out that Jhalawanis were the trouble-makers, and they 

should pay rhe cost. The Khan argued char since the British had 

assumed control of Jhalawan, they should, therefore, fund the 

office. However, despite their reservations, both rulers were 

persuaded to contribute to the support of the Office. Calcutta 

finally sanctioned the APA in 1918, but could not provide a 

candidate due to the wartime shortage of British officers, and a 

native officer, Seth Kaikobad, who proved to be exceptionally able, 

was appoinred.(Todd, 1926: 101-2). 

TROUBLE IN MARRILAND 

In pre-colonial times, the fractious Marris were only tenuously 

connected to Kalar. They frequently raided their neighbours, 

especially the Bugris on their southern border and Pushtuns on the 

north. Raiding by the Marris led to four British campaigns into 

their lands between 1840 and 1890. Marris attacked and killed 

several railway workers during the 1890s, for which six tribesmen 

were charged under the Murderous Outrages Act and hanged 

(GOB Sibi: 282). Differing ideas about how to resolve the 'Marri 

problem' led to the dispute between Sandeman and Merewether, 

discussed in Chapter 3. When it became dear that the Khan 

would not constrain Marri depredations, the Marris, along with 
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the Bugtis, were placed under the jurisdiction of the PA Sibi in an 

effort to control them. 

Even before the war began, the Marri tumendar (chief) was engaged 

in succession politics with his mukkadams (section-heads). Khair 

Baksh Marri wanted his oldest son, Allahdad Khan, to succeed him, 

but most mukkadams objected at first, on grounds that his mother 

was of low birth. When the PA Si bi met with them, they agreed to 

support the tumendar's choice. In 1915, Khair Baksh said that he 

was too busy to attend the Sibi Shahi }irga and proposed that 

Allahdad represent him. T he British rejected his request, believing 

that Allahdad lacked sufficient influence with the mukkadams. It 

had become a custom for the Marri and Bugti chiefs to meet after 

the jirga and hear inter-tribal disputes. Khair Baksh attended the 

jtrga, but departed immediately thereafter, leaving Allahdad to 

settle the specific cases. The PA postponed the hearing and 

arranged a meeting later at Kohlu (British Baluchistan) . When the 

tumendar failed to appear, the PA and the muqaddams decided to 

hear the cases without him. 

In addition to differences regarding the Marri succession, the 

tumendar had been complaining for some months about colonial 

policies that favoured the Bugti sardar: 

1. The Phailawagh land-settlement unfairly rewarded the Bugtis 

at the expense of the Marris. 

2. In the distribution of money for the levies in the two areas, 

the Bugti chief was granted the money directly for 

distribution to che levies, whereas the levies serving in the 

land of the Marris were paid directly by the British, thus 

bypassing the chief The PA's comments give credence to 

Khair Baksh's complaints: 
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In rhe Marri rribe, the headmen do rhe work and are the men on 

whom we have ro rely. Jn rhe Bugri rribe, rhe Tumandar is the man 

and the headmen of not much importance .... This has always been 
so. Jn the old days when the Marri raided, the sardar srayed in Kahan 

and got his one-fifth share while the raiders were led by rhe 

mukkadams. In Bugti all important raids were led by the Tumandar 
or a close relative. The British are fortunate co have dependable 

mukkadams as the nawab is weak and indolent.9 

Phailawagh was a no man's land between che Marri and che Bugci 

territories, a source of conflict between chem, as parties from both 

tribes raided one another there. In 1905, the British drew a 

boundary chat awarded about three-quarters of the disputed land 

co the Bugcis. The Marris challenged the decision and claimed a 

bias in favour of the Bugcis. AGG Tucker, investigating the records, 

noted chat a preponderance of chem identified Phailawagh as land 

belonging co the Marris. When Tucker questioned the award co che 

Bugcis, the Foreign Department, responded, 'You will doubcless 

recognize that, in a political case of chis character, so me 

consideration may properly be attached co the attitude of the tribe 

at che time of setclement.' 10 This case is reminscent of the Raisani­

Luni land case in the way that cooperative relations influenced the 

AGG's award. 

T hus the Marris' relations with the Agency's officials were some­

what tense, when in December 1917 the PA Sibi approached the 

tumendar and the mukkadams with regard co military recruitment 

of the Marris. He met with strenuous objections, and the leaders 

refused co provide recruits. Several months lacer the Marri and the 

neighbouring Khecrans rose up. The administrative centres of 

Kohlu and Barkhan {British Baluchistan) were looted and burned. 

Bands of tribesmen raided villages in British Baluchistan. Telegraph 

lines were cue, and tribal lashkars attacked army convoys and the 

railway line. Agency officials were quick ro send troops, and 
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eventually the tribal forces surrendered in April 1918, after 

suffering heavy casualries (Axmann, 2008: 63). A jirga in 1918, 

recommended that Rsl36,000 be paid as compensation to the 

Agency for losses it had sustained in the uprising. In addition, 

Rs231,000 was assessed against the Marris for other losses. Khair 

Baksh was deprived of his title of Nawab, and all arms seized by 

the British during the uprising were confiscated. The British 

accepted the jirga's decisions, but after a year the tribe was released 

from these obligations in a general amnesty, and Khair Baksh's title 

was restored (Dehwar, 1994: 206). 

WARTIME TROUBLES ON THE PERSIAN BORDER 

T he wartime resistance in Makran posed particular problems for 

the British, as it involved the Baloch on both sides of the border. 

Furthermore, German agents were encouraging the Persian Baloch 

to rise up against the British. While they were unsuccessful in 

generating a coordinated attack, their efforts did lead to increased 

raiding across the border (Axmann, 2008: 55). PA, Armine Dew, 

reported six significant cross-border raids in about a year and a half 

(November 1914-May 1916) . Each involved fatalities and 

considerable loss of property. Half of the raids were attributed to 

a local chief, Bahran Khan Baranzai, whose rise was associated with 

the collapse of governance in Persian Balochistan. 11 In 1915, 

Bahran Khan invaded Makran with a force of some 1,400 men. He 

robbed the Kech valley as far as Tump, where a Gichkhi chief and 

several members of his family were killed. The British dispatched 

troop1; from Karachi to Pasni, and Bahran Khan's forces withdrew 

across the border. The performance of the Makran Levies and the 

nazim were judged to be unacceptable, and Mehrulla Raisani, who 

had ruled Makran for n ineteen years, was pensioned off. Agency 

resources were severely stretched during the war. Raiding in Makran 

increased, in part, because the PA Kalar had been summoned for 
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consultation with the Government of India and did not get back 

to Makran until the end of 1915. The British were unable co obtain 

compensation for victims of the raiding because they feared it 

would incite further conflict. 12 

In 1916, two British officers were killed at Mand (Makran). PA 

Dew believed that the murderers were Persian 'fanatics' . He argued 

that the disorders in Jhalawan and Makran fed upon each other, as 

dissidents in both areas observed the relatively weak responses from 

the Agency: 

... recent experience has more than ever convinced me char only che 

personal influence obtained through che continuous presence of British 

officers possessed of che necessary training, race and sympathy co deal 

with the hearts and minds and noc only wich che fears of these wild 

frontier people, is ic possible ac periods of universal unrest co keep 

them under control and prevent them from outbreaks which resulc for 

their lack of sense of proportion of che larger affairs of che world 

outside their immediate kin. 13 

In 1914, Mehrab Khan Nausherwani seized the fort at Kuhak 

(Iran) and also claimed rights in Chagai pasture-lands. The British, 

who had little confidence in Mehrab Khan's loyalty, were obliged 

to respond to this provocation with restraint, so they negotiated an 

agreement with him whereby he relinquished his claim to some 

tracts in exchange for recognition of his rights in others. The 

agreement was contingent on Meh rab Khan's loyalty and 

cooperation. Raiding by the Persian Baloch on the Chagai border 

escalated during the war. This led the British to move into the 

Sarhad region of Persian Baluchistan, where they occupied several 

villages. They constructed a railway line to Duzdap (Iran) in 1919 

to secure transport and communications, and they offered subsidies 

to cooperative Iranian Baloch chiefs. However, in the end, the 

British were forced to deal with the raiding along the border by 
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deploying troops under General Reginald Dyer and Sir Percy Sykes 

on the Persian side and sending the PA Kalar to secure the 

cooperation of chiefs in Makran. 

WARTIME CHALLENGES IN J HALAWAN 

When the war began in August 1914, Agency officials were already 

plagued with the insubordination of Sardar Khan Muhammad 

Zarakzai, who had fomented troubles within the Zehri. Nuruddin 

(formerly Allahdina) Mengal joined Khan Muhmmad, and the 

two sardars took an oath to oppose the government. 14 Shops 

were looted, mail was robbed, and Nuruddin's followers pillaged 

and burned the Khan's treasury at Wad. As disturbances spread 

throughout Jhalwan, the AGG requested military assistance, and a 

regiment was sent from Querta to Jhalwan. 15 

The British account of the Zehri sardar's behaviour was typically 

formulaic. He was said to have been cooperative at first, responding 

well to British advice, and settling a number of outstanding Zehri 

disputes. However, when he was rewarded with the ride of Nawab, 

his behaviour changed. According to the British, his elevated status 

as the ranking sardar of Jhalawan went to his head. He became 

arrogant and insubordinate, and turned to disreputable advisors 

for advice. There was some substance to these charges in this 

instance, however. The Khan had repeatedly complained that 

Khan Muhammad was interfering in the affairs of the niabet. Even 

the sardar's father said his behaviour was arrogant. In the face of 

Khan Muhammad's failure to obey several government instructions, 

the PA Kalar alerted the Magasi and the Rind sardars to prepare 

for possible punitive action. Predictably, the Zehri sardar learned 

of this and began to rally his supporters. He informed the PA that 

the Magasis, Rinds and Mengals were going to mount an attack 

against him. The Khan's naib Aed from the Zehri vi llage. 



EEKI G THE IMAGI NARY BALANCE 225 

The British learned , well after the fact, that Khan Muhammad and 

Nuruddin, the Mengal chief, had secretly taken an oath on the 

Quran to oppose the British. As the Zehri sardar gathered more 

allies, hostilities threatened to break out at several locations in 

Kalar. A jirga convened in June 19 15, declared Sardar Khan 

Muhammad an outlaw and removed him from office. Troops were 

se nt from Querta and levies were brought in, and Khan 

Muhammad's allies withdrew at this show of force. 

British characterization of Khan Muhammad began with charges 

of arrogance and insubordination. During che early months of 

1915, he was described as a mischief-maker, implying that he was 

immature and lacking a sense of responsibili ry. When his actions 

seemed clearly insurreccionary, Agency officials labeled him an 

outlaw. These words-immature or childish, mischievous, and 

outlaw or insane-were deployed with such regulariry as to reveal 

a systematic policy of depoli ticization. No dissident sardar, no 

Khan ruLng during the British rimes, escaped depiction with less 

than two or more of these words. 

The British reappointed Khan Muhmmad's father, the aging Pasand 

Khan Zarakzai, co head the Zehri. Pasand Khan's tenu re was shore; 

he d ied in 1918, setting off a round of incense succession poli tics. 

T here was no shortage of claimants. There was one surviving son 

of the former sardar, Gauher Khan, whose exploits were recounted 

earlier. However, Pasand Khan had two sons and three grandsons 

who also aspired co the sardarship. Asad Khan, Pasand's oldest 

grandson, had the strongest genealogical claim, but his candidacy 

was weakened by the mental state of his father, who was said to be 

hopelessly mad. Rasul Baksh was Pasand Khan's youngest son and 

che latter's choice. His claim was strengthened, politically, by his 

affinal ties with rhe Shawani sardarkhel in Sarawan. 
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However, it was Nauroz Khan, Rasul Baksh's older brother, who 

made the first move by sending rhe levy-men to collect rhe sardari 
share of the harvest at Gajan Uhalawan). While the British were 

attempting to arrange a meeting between Nauroz Khan and Rasul 

Baksh, Shah Beg, a younger grandson, activated his claim by seizing 

crops belonging to Rasul Baksh. T he British managed to get the 

three contenders co Masrung before fighting broke out, but as they 

were trying to determine which candidate enjoyed rhe most support 

among che minor sardars of Jhalawan, Nauroz Khan fl ed to Zehri 

and seized Pasand Khan's fore at Gae, where he attacked Rasul 

Baksh's supporters, forcing chem out of che village. A detachment 

of Makran levies was brought in to quell the skirmishes between 

Nauroz Khan's followers, who now included some Mengals, and 

Rasul Baksh's supporters. Nauroz Khan was taken to Sibi to await 

the deliberations of the next Sibi Shahi ]irga. A jirga met to assess 

compensation for Rasual Baksh's property and for deaths which had 

occurred during the skirmishes. Nauroz Khan was fined Rsl0,000 

and sentenced co seven years in jail. The result of all chis 

maneuvering was chat the Zehri sardarship was still vacant at the 

end of che First Wodd War. 

In Febuary 1920, the issue of the Zehri succession finally went to 

a jirga that recommended Shah Beg to succeed his uncle, Pasand 

Khan. However, there was a significant minority vote for Rasul 

Baksh, and in an unusual move, the Khan wrote to the AGG in 

favour of Rasul Baksh. The AGG decided co defer the decision and 

bring the case back to the Si bi Shahi ]irga in 1921. T his time the 

jirga reversed its recommendation, delivering a strong majority in 

favour of Rasul Baksh. In an effort to strengthen Rasul Baksh's 

position, Shah Beg was externed from Jhalwan for three years, and 

the Shawani and Mcngal sardars agreed to pose a good behaviour 

bond fo r Rasul Baksh . T he British further obtai ned a jirga's 
recommendation limiting Rasul Baksh's authori ty. Several minor 
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sardars were granted direct access to the Assistant Political Agent, 

authorized to hear their cases. The authorization of broadened 

access to the Agency's officials appears co have been an efforc co 

enhance the surveillance of Zehri internal affairs. 

In an indication of resistance to the colonial government, the 

Mengal and the Gurgnari sardars failed co attend rhe Sibi Shahi 
Jirga in February 1916. The following month, Sardar Nuruddin 

Mengal and Sardar Shahbaz Khan Gurgnari fled co Persia with a 

band of followers. The cwo sardars were reported co have signed an 

oath against che government and were reportedly seeking contact 

wich che German agen ts. Their departure fueled widespread 

disturbances in Jhalawan. The levies were unable co control che 

si tuation, and the British were again forced co dispatch their troops. 

In an engagement wich the insurgents near Wad, one British officer 

was killed and another was wounded, along with three native 

soldiers. The British responded with mass arrests of Mengals in che 

vicinity, and sent additional troops to the area. The lands of several 

leading sardars, including che Mengal and the Gurgnari, were 

confiscated. These lands were surrendered co Kalac, co be culcivaced 

on behalf of the Khan. The PA Kalar found 'evidence of a strong 

religious feeling underlying the unrest' (Todd , 1926: 80). 

Tribesmen, even chose accompanying the PA's camp, referred co 

chose killed in skirmishes with the British as shaheeds (martyrs). 

Boch Sardar Nuruddin Mengal and Sardar Shabaz Gurgnari 

returned co Kalac, where they were swiftly captured. The Gurgnari 

sardar was carrying a leccer with instructions for sending intelligence 

co the Turks and Germans through a contact in Kej (Makran). 

On 17 September 1916, a Kalac jirga was convened ac Quecca co 

consider the case of Nuruddin Mengal (Todd, 1923: 84-5). The 

accending sardars were asked co consider che following questions: 
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1. Was the Mengal sardar guilty, directly or indirectly, of 

fomencing unrest in Jhalawan ? 

2. Did the sardar go co Persia in order co obtain weapons? 

3. Did he import these weapons from Persia inco Kalar in 

violation of the prevalenc law of Kalar? 

4. Did the sardar incrigue wi th Germans against the British 

Government? 

T he jirga responded affirmatively co all questions and recommended 

death by hanging. Alternatively, if the British rejected the death 

penalty, the jirga recommended a sentence of thirty years 

imprisonment, to be served outside Baluchistan. All the sardar's 

property was to be confiscated , save a share fo r maintaining his 

family. These recommendations indicate that the j irga understood 

the Mengal sardar to have engaged in rebellious actions, albeit 

unsuccessful ones. T he jirga, in effect, yielded the determination 

of the punishment ro the British. As he had done in the earlier case 

of Khan Muhmmad Zehri and Nuruddin Mengal, the PA Kalar 

depoli ticized the decision. H e rejected the death penalty, arguing 

that Nurddin was led astray by the older and stronger Gurgnari 

sardar. PA Dew red uced the sentence to twelve and a half years. 

The j irga offered the sam e recommendations for Sardar Shahbaz 

Khan Gurgnari: death or thirty years imprison ment. The PA 

reduced the sencence co twenty-one-and-a-half years. The lengthier 

sencence reflected Dew's belief that Shahbaz Khan had manipulated 

the younger, more impressionable, Mengal sardar. The British 

confirmed Rahim Khan as the Mengal sardar and Yusef Khan as 

the Gurgnari chief in 19 17. 

British efforts to recruit soldiers were as unpopular in Jhalawan as 

_they were in the M mi areas. While Agency officials were occupied 

in controlling the Marri resistance, Rahim Khan Mengal and Yusef 
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Khan Gurgnari, aJong with severaJ members of their parries, were 

murdered in what appeared co be coordinated attacks. The PA 

Kalat was in Makran, and his Assistant was making arrangements 

to protect the Bolan Pass from Marri raiders (Todd, 1925: 88). The 

absence of officials in Jhalawan forced the AGG to propose the 

payment of compensation for the deaths without further 

punishment if the cwo tribes abstained from furrher attacks and rhe 

recruitment drive was rerminared. 

The adminisrrarion found ir difficult ro persuade the MengaJ 

takkars (sections) involved in the Rahim Khan murders ro meet 

anywhere ocher than Wad. Investigation revealed char one aim of 

rhe killings was co pressure the British ro release the ex-sardars, 

Nuruddin MengaJ and Shahbaz Khan Gurgnari. A jirga was finally 

convened in October 1918 at Quecra, in which a compensation 

was assessed, and hostages were held in Mascung, pending 

payments. Although rhe British had pledged co exact no 

punishment beyond blood compensation, rhey asked the jirga to 

consider whether rhe MengaJs and Gurgnaris could be assessed for 

expenses connected co handling of the disturbances. The jirga 

recommended the additional charge, along with assessments against 

the Mengal takkars for support of a naib ar Wad but ir declined ro 

recommend a candidate for the MengaJ's sardarship. The Gurgnari 

takkris present ar the jirga requested that Shafi Mohammad, son of 

che ex-sardar Shahbaz Khan, replace Sardar Yusef Khan. This was 

rejected , as Shahbaz's family had been explicitly excluded from 

succession at the 1917 jirga (Todd, 1925: 91). 

T he British made a ceremonial show for the first compensation 

paymenc. The PA, accompanied by many sardars of Sarawan and 

JhaJawan and some 200 Makran and Kalar levies, travelled co Wad, 

but the Mengal takkris responsible for rhe payments failed co 

appear. Five parties of levies were dispatched to arrest chem. 
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Although there was some resistance, the levies persuaded most 

takkris to surrender, and they also collected substantial numbers of 

animals, weapons and other property. The payments were made, 

although not voluntarily, as the British would have liked. 

In late 1919, the M engals requesced the appointment of a sardar. 

Internal support was divided between Rasul Baksh, minor son of 

hahbaz Khan, and the deceased sardar's brother, Karam Khan. A 

jirga mer in February 1920 to consider the appoin tment in which 

the Bricish framed che succession wich five quescions: 

1. Should a sardar be appointed at chis time, and if so, who 

should ic be? 

2. If a minor is appointed, who should the sarbarah (regenc) be? 

3. Should the sardar have jurisdiction over all the Mengals, 

including those around Khozdar? If his authority does not 

include them, should he recover mafia (caxes) from them ? 

4. Should the sardar or the sarbarah be obliged to spend time 

in Wad, Saru na, Kanraj and Purali, over che course of the 

year? 

5. How can peace in the tribe and the authority of the Khan 

be secured? (Todd, 1926: 95) 

The Mengals' succession disputes had vexed Bricish officials for 

several decades. The size of the tribe and the factionalism of the 

takkris (seccion heads) consistently undermined British efforts to 

establish an effective and cooperative leader. These questions 

reflected a British effort to more strongly institutionalize the office 

of the Mengal sarda1. 

The jirga endorsed appointing a Mengal sardar and recommended 

Rasul Baksh as ics selection because he had the stronger inheritance 

claim. When Karam Khan agreed to support the nomination, he 
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was appointed che sarbarah. The jirga seated chat all che Mengals 

were subject co che authority of che sardar, giving him che right co 

collect che mafia (i:axes) from all of chem. le further recommended 

chat che sarbarah spend time every year in each of the specified 

settlements. There appears co have been some discussion about che 

final question above. Jirga members suggested chat Mir Karam 

Khan and che takkris should cake an oath on the Quran co keep 

the peace. They further advised chat any takkri who rejected rhe 

sardar's authority or breached the peace, should have his property 

confiscated and be expelled from Jhalawan. 

The relationship between a young sardar and his sarbarah was often 

troubled, as it contained a structural conflict of interest. The 

sarbarah was typically a close agnace, often che deceased sardar's 

brother, who had some claim co che sardarship himself, as in the 

case of che Mengals. The young Rasul Baksh spent most of his time 

with his mother, sister of the former Jam, who had returned co Bela 

co live wich her relatives and rarely visited the Mengal territory. In 

January 1922, Rasul Baksh asked to resign the sardarship. The 

British believed that Karam Khan had intimidated the young 

sardar, and the British were unwilling co accept the resignation 

without exploring che motives leading co it. They encouraged 

Karam Khan co seek reconciliation with his nephew. When this 

failed, che British externed Karam Khan from the Mengal land, 

gave full powers co Sardar Rasul Baksh, and warned the takkris 

against intriguing with him, 

Although che chiefs did not mount a coordinated, sustained 

rebellion, it seems clear chat che war had spurred an increased level 

of resistance, and che British resolve and power were reseed in new 

ways. The Agency was forced co call up troops, and make 

compromises where they lacked resources co exact punishments as 

they had before che war. The political nature of the resistance was 
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manifest in efforts to obtain German assistance and the hostility 

towards the recruitment programme. 

A FINAL EFFORT TO FIND THE B ALANCE 

By the 1920s Agency officials were watching political movements 

in India and Central Asia with wary eyes. Although they were 

reassured by the relat·ve isolation of Baluchistan, there was concern 

that new, non-tr iba l ideologies had reached its borders. The 

Congress Party and the Khilafat Movement had gathered strength 

in Sindh and Punjab.16 T he Russian Revolution had produced new 

levels of instabili ty and violence as the Soviets attempted to secure 

the semi-independent khanates while destroying pockets of Tsarist 

resistance. 

In the Annual Report of 1920-21, AGG Armine Dew sought to 

explain why the political movements which had been gathering 

strength in India after World War I, had lirrle impact in Baluchistan. 

He acknowledged that the 'zeal and industry' of che C riminal 

nvestigation D epartment (CID) had succeeded in keeping Quetta 

'quiet and free from disturbing influences' emanating from Sindh 

and Punjab. He attributed relative calm in the rest of the Agency 

ro ocher factors: the remoteness of Baluchistan, the lack of a press 

that might fo ment unrest, the dispersion of the population, and 

the presence of a large military force. The AGG thought chat chis 

was only a parcial answer. According to Dew, the happy state of 

affairs in Baluchistan was due mainly: 

to the face char che Province already enjoys in ics 'Jirgal or 'Council 

of Elders'-both local and Provincial-an admirable syscem of Home 

Rule which, being free from all hide-bound restrictions and strict rule, 

is perfeccly suited to chem, which gives chem all che scope for 

development and all che opportunities ofinAuencing the Adminiscrarion 

which they can wish for .. .. And ic should be che constant aim of chis 
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Administration and of che Governmenc of India co see char chis system 

is never tampered with either through ignorance or under the impulse 

of mistaken notions of efficiency. 17 

Dew's explanation for the political tranquility of Baluchistan rests 

on the scrength of cribal traditions while downplaying British 

success in conscraining efforts to enlist local support for non-tribal 

political movements. The zealous police, in combination wich a 

high proportion of residents dependent on the government for 

jobs, contracts, and commerce, made Quecca an inhospitable 

location for political activity. The lack of a local press was related 

to government priorities that ranked education below public 

works and medical facilities. There were few schools in the 

Agency, and most of these were located in British Baluchistan and 

the leased territories. According to Dehwar (1994: 242), chere 

were only chree schools in Kalar, a middle school in Mascung 

(Sarawan), and primary schools ac Shag (Kachhi) and Turbat 

(Makran). In response to a 1926 query from the Department of 

Education, Health and Lands in Calcutta, the AGG provided an 

overview of education in Baluchistan with some proposals for the 

future. He associated the lack of schools with a lack of interest in 

education among the tribal population. However, the AGG noted 

there was 234 madrassahs, and he proposed making grants to a 

selected few for upgrading che quality and substance of che 

education chey offered. He believed that a greater emphasis on 

manual training and agriculture would make schooling more 

atcractive to the local people. 18 By chis time, some sardari families 

had educated their sons privately, and a few sent chem to 

Aitchison College in Lahore, which had been established to 

educate boys from well-off and influential, landowning and 

chiefly families. 
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Dew's support of rhc jirga as a bulwark against rhe infections of 

foreign ideologies erases che serious difficulties that challenged 

British auchoriry during the war. Dew served as the PA Kalar 

during the war-years, and chus had directly experienced the 

uprisings. As the PA Kalar, Dew had depoliticized them, while as 

the AGG he erased them. Far from exemplifying 'Home Rule', che 

record suggests that the j irga system had limited tribal legitimacy 

at best. 

Sometime in 1922, rhe AGG solicited a report from the PA Kalar 

about Kalar Scare administration. The major question ro be 

considered was 'whether rhe just balance between the component 

parts of the state', had been disrupted by practices unauthorized by 

che AGG or Calcutta. 19 PA Terence Keyes characterized Kalar as, 'a 

federal Seate with some feudal elements in its conscicucion , buc 

some even (sic) of the sardars and many of che tribesmen have a 

dual status, in one place being revenue paying subjects of the Khan 

and in another freemen of the Confederacy.' The concept of a tribal 

confederacy discincc from Kalar Scace, is rather inconsistent with a 

central problem of the 'just balance' chat impelled the report. The 

designation of subjects and freemen exemplifies the inconsistency. 

Freemen are analogous co subjects in chat both had no existence in 

Agency administration. Freemen were tribal subjeccs of sardars, and 

in face most paid mafia (taxes) to a sardar. Keyes noted additional 

anomalies: Kharan, whose position in the scare 'has never been 

defined', and che position of the Dombkis, Marris and Bugcis, 

nominally pare of Ka.lac, until Sandeman placed them under che 

PA Sibi (British Baluchistan). Despite ics manifest inconsistencies, 

the Keyes report became che aurhoricacive source for lacer officials 

struggling wich the disposition of Kalar in the final years of the Raj. 

As Keyes saw it, the system of 'jusc balance' was Sandeman's 

achievement and was guided by che following principles: 
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1. Minimum inteference with che Khan's niabets. 

2. Independence of the tribal Chiefs within tribal territory and 

collective responsibility for individual actions. 

3. Jirgas co handle inter-tribal disputes, and disputes between 

the tribesmen and the Khan's subjects. 

4. Maintaining the Raisani sardar as the premier sardar of 

Sarawan and the Zehri (Zarakzai) sardar as his counterpart 

in Jhalawan. 

Keyes drew on the earlier reportS prepared by Showers and Ramsay, 

in citing the factors that had created an imbalance. Following 

Showers, he argued that the authority of the Chiefs was undermined 

when the Rustomzais were allowed co separate from che Raisanis, 

and several takkars were de facto separated from Zehri.2° Keyes, like 

Ramsay, saw the expansion of the thanas and their thanedars as a 

second faccor disrupting che balance. O ver time, the thana- model 

instituted in British Baluchistan, was smuggled inco che syscem of 

the Kalar levy-poses as well. In British Baluchistan, thanedars had 

civil and criminaJ authority, and they conducted inquiries into the 

cases that came co them, while their levy counterparts in Kalar 

gradually assumed a similar role, caking on administrative tasks chat 

should have been handled by the sardars. A third unbaJancing 

factor, noted by Keyes's predecessors, was the Khan's 'incapacity' 

that forced the British co intervene in the management of his 

estates. Keyes recommended re-instituting the Kalar State Council 

established by Ramsay, which consisted of the Khan and the four 

major sardars of Sarawan and Jhalawan and was designed co 

integrate the Khan and the sardars in the governance of Kalar. 

Keyes proposed further s teps to overcome the de facto 

compartmentalization of Kalar State political institutions. He 

advocated making the Political Advisor a wazir-i-azam (vizier), and 

transferring some thanas and Makran ad ministration co h im . Keyes 
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also proposed abolishing a number of thanas as a means of restoring 

the sardars' authority and forcing chem to administer their tribes. 

Ramsay, too, had been concerned about the deterioration of sardari 

authority. He also saw this as related co the thanas, whose expansion 

was enabled because they were supported by the Khan's Fund, 

which was controlled by che Agency officials. The Khan had no say 

in che location and staffing of the thanas, these questions were 

negotiated wich che sardars. According co Ramsay, when the 

thanedar and the sardar goc along, che former ended up doing 

much of the work ch,1c should have been done by the sardar. When 

relations between them were problematic, boch appealed co che PA 

Kalar for support, thus drawing che Agency into disputes chat 

should have been serried by che sardars in consultation wich cheir 

section heads. Ramsay saw che cumulative effect of che thana 
system as having two consequences for che sardars. On che one 

nand, ic undermined sardari authority by conscirucing thanedars as 

an alternative means of ajudicacion. On che ocher hand, ic made 

che sardars relatively independent of public opinion within their 

tribes. The sardars were able to make jirga recommendations 

wichouc considering whether these were popular with their 

tribesmen, as they depended upon the Agency's officials for the 

implementation of j1rga decisions. 2 1 

Keyes clearly agreed wich Ramsay's analysis. He proposed policies 

co enhance che sardar's authority within his tribe: 

I. The PA's staff would not accept disputes involving parties 

fro m che same cribe unless che sardar stared that he could nor 

settle the case. 

2. No thanedar in che tribal territory would be allowed co 

investigate local disputes. 
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3. Sardars who failed ro administer cheir tribes would be subject 

ro a jirga composed of the major sardars. 

Keyes viewed che chird procedure as shaming enough co elicit better 

tribal administration. 

What was chis policy of 'just balance' chat che British sought co 

restore? Had it ever really existed? To support their points both 

Ramsay and Keyes cited historical examples. Both believed that ic 

was manifest during the Second Afghan War, when the sardars, 

with their tribes behind chem, were loyal allies of che British, and 

furnished transport and provisions for their troops. Keyes also cited 

a rather problematic example in suggesting chat 'The inherent force 

of che Confederate spirit was shown by che willingness with which 

the Sardars rallied to the Polcical Agent in 1918, when no troops 

were available ... and assisted him to chastise the Mengals.'22 It is 
true chat some sardars, mostly from Sarawan, were loyal and 

cooperative during World War I. However, che uprisings in Makran 

and Jhalawan were serious challenges co colonial authoriry. In a 

maneuver seen earlier in AGG Dew's Annual Report for 1921, 

resistance is expunged from che colonial record. 

The 'j ust balance' envisioned in the early rwentieth century, looked 

back co the Sandeman years when the sardars voluntarily supported 

che British, a rime when sardari authoriry within the tribe appeared 

co be strong. This is che exemplary colonial vision, the gathering of 

tribesmen and colonials, joined together in che British campaign to 

protect the further reaches of che empire. It is a narrative of 

mucualiry berween the colonizer and the colonized. The voluntary 

nature of the relationship is central co che scory. The sardars refused 

che alliance sought by che Afghans during the Second Afghan War, 

and chose instead co support the British, and provided che camel 

transport necessary for the British military campaign. This exemplar 
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of the 'jusc balance', the joining of che colonized co advance che 

goals of the colonizers, conveniently displaces the fi rst meeting of 

British and Balochis during the Firsc Afghan War. There was no 

joining together then, as che tribesmen repeatedly looted che 

imperial troops marching through Balochistan. The British blamed 

Mir Mehrab Khan, unjustly, as it turned out, and attacked his palace 

in the Kalar cown and killed him. The narrative of the just balance 

occludes rhe earlier narrative, whic~ was violent, bloody and unjust. 

The notion that a jusc balance was achieved during che Sandeman 

years and could be rcconscicuced by a return co che policies of char 

rime was delusional. Sandeman's policies were guided by his 

expansionist vision of rhe western border char was harnassed to a 

personal policies chat often led to ad hoc agreements, as in the case 

of his direct dealings with the sardar of Kharan. The fifteen years 

of Sandeman's administration were profoundly non-bu reaucratic. 

He operated within a co ntext of unmarked space, much of which 

was essenriaJly unknown co the British. The Baluchistan Agency of 

Sandeman's rime wai. effectively Sarawan, Kachhi, Lasbela, and che 

southern pare of British Baluchistan. T he Agency of 1923 was a 

very different polilical space, administered by officials more 

securely integrated in the Imperial bureaucracy. 

Ramsay and Keyes saw restoration of che just balance as dependant 

on pressuring che Khan and che sardars to rake more active 

administrative roles n tribal governance. Both ignored the impact 

of some th irty years o f post-Sandeman colonial rule. T heir 

explanation for the deterioration of sardari authority echoed the 

argument proposed earlier by their predecessors with regard co the 

Khan's refusal to rule; his refusal was attributed to character defects. 

Similarly, too many sardars were failin g to pe rform their 

administrative duties. Ramsay and Keyes stopped shore of a mass 

indictment of sardari character, in part because they saw British 
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decisions to elevate the status of minor chiefs as a contributory 

faccor in the decline of sardari authority. Both agreed that a major 

factor in pursuit of restoring the just balance was eliminating the 

ability of tribesmen to seek adjudication at the thana posts. 

The first thana post at Mastung was established in 1892, 1 n an 

effort co deal with the Khan's refusal co rule, i.e. to protect his 

cultivating tenants and the sardars' unwillingness to adjudicate 

disputes between the pascoral tribesmen and the Khan's tenants, as 

was discussed earlier. Over time, the thanas were established on a 

case-by-case basis. Most were located in areas of chronic unrest, a 

few in geostrategic locations. Showers was a strong advocate of these 

thanas. He increased their number in Jhalawan during his tenure 

as PA Kalar. Showers also expanded the duties of the thanedar by 

encouraging them to engage in mediation as well as policing. In a 

few areas where factionalism was entrenched and disputes frequent, 

Showers appointed a tribal notable from outside as the thanedar. 

Most of these outside thanedars came from Sarawan tribes, 

especially the Raisanis and Kurds (Todd, 1926: 29). The majority 

of the thanedars, however, served in their own tribal terricories. 

British officials often referred to thanas by tribal identification, e.g., 

the Mengal or Zehri thana. Most thanedars came from sardari 

families and it was not uncommon for a chief's son to occupy the 

position. By 1923, there were fifteen thanas in Kalat.23 

Keyes and Ramsay's analyses of the decline in sardari authority were 

insightful in several ways, as both displayed a sense of process that 

changed through time. They understood that the jirga provided an 

inter-cultural political arena, dominated by the British, who were 

committed to administering through the tribal custom. On 

occasion , Agency officials sought to 'improve' custom, as in the 

case of trying to limit the vengeance killing to the actual perpetrator 

of the initiating offence. In most, but not all, instances, jirgas 
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accepted the way the presiding official framed the case and 

provided the recommendations sought by the British. Ramsay and 

Keyes noted char the sardars had managed to shift much of the 

responsibility for im plement ing ch e jirga decisio ns fro m 

themselves to Agency officials. W hen ic came to evaluating 

changes in the tribal process related to the expansion of che 

thanas, Ramsay and Keyes fell back on formulaic complaints. In 

a move similar to the British characterizations of the Khan, some 

sardars were represented as refusing co perform their administrative 

duties, leaving the thanedars to pick up che slack. In ocher cases, 

thanedars and sardars were at odds, forcing che British to referee 

their differences. Both officials acknowledged the thanas as a 

British innovation, hence a legitimate subject of changes in British 

policy. Boch fa iled to consider whether the thanas contributed to 

the volatili ty of sardari p olitics in Jhalawan by creating an 

alternative to sardari adjudication. In 1913, PA Dew reported that 

che thanedars and che Native Assistan ts actively undermined 

sardari authori ty. 24 Typ ically, Agency officials could not envision 

tribesmen as poli tical actors whose choices affected che system. 

H owever, che choices of tribesmen seeking mediation were critical 

to viewing the thanedars as part of che p roblem, because a 

thanedar could not have been .a troublesome challenger of che 

chiefs' authori ty unless che actions of his tribesmen constituted 

him chus. Ramsay and Keyes framed their argument for restoring 

the sardari authority within the larger issue of tribal governance 

and turned towards a structural solution : thanas should be 

reduced in number an d responsibili ty for them sh ould be 

transferred co che Wlzzir-i-Azam (Prime minister), formerly, the 

Political Advisor co the Khan. 

It is remarkable char the issue of tribal subjects appeared so rarely 

in the colonial arch ive. T he absence of tribepeople was the result 

of deliberate British policy. In the protocol of Agency administration, 
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it was virtually impossible for a tribal subject to appeal to an official 

above the level of an Assistant Political Agent or, rarely, the PA 

himself. Such appeals were ro utinely referred to the sardars, who 

would, certainly, have been displeased at.the arcempt to go around 

chem. 

The crisis surrounding the leasing of Nasirabad, provides a rare 

glimpse of tribal cultivators recognizing a new opporcuniry.25 When 

rhe irrigation canals were extended into Kalar in 1843, cultivators 

were quick to participate in the project, and quick to understand 

how the arbitrary and corrupt administration of the Khan's officials 

disadvantaged chem vis-a-vis the Sindhi cultivators. In 1898, E.G. 

Colvin, Revenue Commissioner, Baluchistan, reported that the 

Khan's tenants repeatedly complained about being shore-changed 

on water and being denied the agricultural loans available to rheir 

Sindhi counterparts. They challenged their srarus as subjects of the 

Khan on the grounds chat they paid half their revenue assessment 

to the British, and thus should be considered subjects of the British 

Government, eligible for rhe same benefits as the Sindhis. 

According to Colvin, many went to Jacobabad (Sindh) to register 

their land, even rhough such registration had no standing in Kalar. 

Colvin may have overstated the culcivators' willingness to accept 

British auchoriry. The subtext of his report suggests chat they 

recognized the intrinsic superiori ty of British governance, which is 

a dubious assumption. However, the Baloch did recognize the 

material benefits denied chem as Kalar subjects, and they devised 

an argument about taxes and status compatible with British 

concepts. Their agitatio n played a role in the British decision co 

lease Nasirabad, if only in providing Colvin with an argument in 

favour of it. 

Many tenants of the Khan were willing co register complaints 

against him and his naibs when the British were willing to listen, 
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as they were in Mastung in 1876 and during the 1892 deposition 

hearings against Mir Khodadad Khan. Most of the land cases 

involved arbitrary increases in water, crop-shares, and taxes. Some 

petitioners claimed outright seizure of land or water. While the 

British did not hear complaints against the sardars, the frequency 

with which tribal subjects turned to the levies suggests a desire to 

find alternative forms of mediation. 

Agency efforts to persuade the Khan co cake a more constructive 

role in Kalat's governance were vitiated by the declining health of 

Mir Mahmud Khan According to Dehwar (1994: 237), the Khan 

became blind, and the Wtzzir-i-Azam, Mir Shams Shah, became 

effectively 'che ruler of Kalar Scace with vase powers to run the 

administration of the Scace for the next ten years.' 

The British were committed to a top-down administration chat 

produced a structural ignorance about tribal subjects. Proposed 

reforms were backward-looking, designed to restore the illusory 

'just balance' between the colonizers and the tribal elites. Boch 

Keyes and Ramsay advocated reducing institutions and practices 

they viewed as non-tribal. The sardars did not share the imperial 

nostalgia behind the notion of a just balance, and in the twenty-five 

years following Sandeman's death, they adapted to the colonial 

constraints imposed by the British, but each sardar pursued his own 

inceresrs. The notion of a just balance that excluded tribal subjects 

was fundamentally flawed. 
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9 
The Politics of Change 

Alchough British rule was challenged from time co time, Agency 

officials had managed co maintain the tribal system established by 

Sandeman, for more than fifty years. In 1930, Kalar was almost 

as isolated from the Indian Empire as it had been in 1876. Its 

remoteness was underwritten by British policies char supported 

tribal governance and pre-colonial land tenures racher chan eco­

nomic development and education. The decade of the 1930s was a 

historic turning point as a Baloch nationalise movement emerged, 

a new Khan was imesced, and longstanding anomalies of Agency 

governance became ncreasingly problematic for the British. 

Mir Mahmud Khan' long reign ended wirh his death in 1931. He 

died without indicacmg a preference for succession. His son, Anwar 

Jan, said co be weak and easily influenced , was rhe rhe powerful 

wazir-i-azam's, Shams Shah's, choice. The AGG favoured Mahmud 

Khan's aged brother, Mir Mohmmad Azam Jan. He opposed Anwar 

Jan for several reasons: he was Shams Shah's choice, his mother was 

reputed co be a concubine, and he was uneducated. The AGG was 

concerned char Anwar Jan would be the sardars' choice, and he 

wished to avoid rejecting their candidate. He managed co do chis 

by indireccly advocating Azam Jan in a speech before rhe sardars 

and by requesting a verbal vote prior co the official voce in writing. 1 

Azam Jan was also che ca ndidate of che emerging Baloch 

nationalises. In a ceremony attended by che viceroy, Mohmmad 

Azam Jan was installed in 193'2. The viceroy cook the occasion co 
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advise che new Khan to work wich the sardars and cautioned him 

against those who challenged sardari auchoricy, an apparent warning 

against the nationalists (Breseeg, 2004: 212). Mohammad Azam 

Khan's shore and uneventful reign ended with his death in 1933. 

When Mir Ahmad Yar Khan succeeded his father in 1933, he 

was thrust into a Kalar which was no longer isolated from the 

forces chat were unsettling India. The British Government was 

beginning to consider political reforms char would lead co the 

1935 Government of India Acc. The Baluchistan nationalise 

movement, although only a small cadre of elites, had become a 

presence in Agency politics. Ahmad Yar Khan himself embodied 

historical changes in che Kalar Scace. He was born in Loralai 

(British Baluchistan) in 1902, and spent his early years in the 

household of his grandfacher, the deposed Mir Khodadad Khan. 

He was educated by tutors and became fluent in Urdu, Persian 

and English, and was che first Khan co hold official positions in 

the Agency, first as an assistant co che AGG, and lacer, as Adjutant 

in che Zhob Militia. He was stationed in Chagai, where one of his 

duties was the surveillance of communise influence on the Iranian 

border (Baluch, 1975: 111- 12). 

Shortly after his accession, Ahmad Yar Khan sought co resume some 

of the powers chat had been taken by the British during the decades 

when Mir Mahmud Khan had refused co rule. The Khan's formal 

request co assume the responsibilities of his position was 

accompanied by a supporcing petition signed by che sardars. The 

British were cooperative to a point as over che years Agency officials 

had repeatedly assured Calcutta char cheir interventions in Kalac 

were undercaken reluctantly, and were due co Mahmud Khan's 

inadequacies. The AGG drafted a careful response. 'le has been my 

very great pleasure co assure His Excellency che Viceroy char l 
believe Your Highness capable, with good advisors, of discharging 
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wisely and well the onerous burden of responsibility for the control 

of the Sardars and their cribes.'2 The agreement sec out apparently 

attractive terms: the Khan would assume control of the sardars; 

jurisdiction of cases mvolving the sardars or the tribesmen would 

be transferred to him; and he would cake charge of disbursing the 

sardari subsidies paid by Kalar. There were, however, conditions 

Ahmad Yar Khan would have to accept, the most important of 

which were: 

1. No previous orders of the AGG or the PA could be reversed 

without consultation. 

2. A sardar could be deposed only on the advice of a jirga. 

3. Sardars would retain their access to the PA. 

4. The Khan would consulr the PA in cases involving the 

sardars. 

With regard to the last condition, the AGG explicitly stated that a 

failure to consult would be regarded as a breach of the Mastung 

Agreement. Under such circumstances, the AGG would take 

appropriate action, which 'might involve a reversion to the present 

system whereby the Political Agent exercises d irect authority over 

the Sardars.'3 The AGG assured Ahmad Yar Khan that this 

co nstraint on his power would remain confidential. The 

confidentiality being offered was a deceptive purdah; it would 

evaporate if the British believed chat the Khan had violated the 

agreement. In fact, the terms and spi rit of the agreement offered 

the Khan the appearance of rule, contingent on him relinquishing 

the substance. The British had no intention of losing control of the 

sardars. 4 They were also determined to keep a firm rein on the 

Khan, insisting that he consult the PA Kalar before issuing any 

significant order. The British persuaded Ahmad Yar Khan to accept 

Edward Wakefield, a young and inexperienced Assistant Political 
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Agent, as his wazir-i-azam. For the first time a British official was 

appointed to a position of the Kalat State. Although Wakefield said 

his appointment was based on the need to sort out the management 

of the Khan's niabets~ the British probably felt a stronger need to 

have full confidence in the chief advisor to the Khan (Wakefield, 

1966: 111). Wakefield was in many ways a good choice for both 

the British and the Khan. He was energetic, anti-nationalist, and 

had a flair for problem-solving. Wakefield's ingenuity was manifest 

in the ways he found to increase Kalat's revenues, even, on one 

occasion, briefly working against the interests of Calcutta. In 1933, 

some Sindhi silk-merchants took advantage of favourable duties on 

imported silk by shipping to Pasni (Makran) rather than Karachi. 

Calcutta asked the AGG to stop the trade at Pasni. Wakefield's first 

move was to raise the duty from 5 per cent to 33 per cent, which 

was half the race charged at Karachi. · Unsurprisingly, this did not 

satisfy Calcutta, and after several weeks of negotiations, Wakefield 

raised the level of the rate charged at Pasni to chat of Karachi, but 

in the interim Kalar enjoyed a minor windfall in import duties 

(Wakefield, 1966: 112). In 1934, Wakefield enlisted the unpaid 

help of a British engineer to upgrade irrigation in Kachhi. He 

encouraged former residents who had immigrated to Sindh to 

return by providing advances against the harvest. There was a 

bumper crop that year, but the low prices it fetched at auction 

aroused Wakefield's suspicion of price-fixing. He conspired with 

his Punjabi Revenue-Assistant in setting up new Punjabi contractors 

for the auction in 1936, and Kalac's revenues from che grain sales 

more than doubled (Wakefield, 1966: 141).5 

In the same year, Wakefield received a visit from the Bangalzai 

sardar. Although Wakefield does not report the visit as unusual, it 

probably was; sardars would not have been inclined to place 

themselves in the lesser status as a guest with British officials. The 

chief indicated that the Khan might order Wakefield to travel to 
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Kachhi to inspect dams along the Nari River. He cold Wakefield 

that the rrip would be too dangerous and advised him co send his 

assisranr in his place. Wakefield was well aware that summer heat 

in Kachhi was legendary among British officials and highland rribes 

alike. Ir was-and is-summed up in a local saying: 'Oh creator of 

Sibi and Dhadur, why bother to create hell. ' The sardar's prediction 

was fulfilled when Wakefield received a lerrer ordering him co 

inspect rhe dams. Jr was the first wrirren instruction senr ·to 

Wakefield, who, after some thought, 'decided co obey' (1966: 116). 

Wakefield survived rhe difficult journey unscathed, alrhough a 

servant and several horses perished along the way. When he 

returned to Kalar town, Ahmad Yar Khan informed him rhac the 

Bangalzai sardar had suggested the trip as a rest of Wakefield's 

loyalty to the Khan (1966: 118). Wherever rhe rruch. lies in chis 

story, it indicates char Wakefield had become an object of intrigue 

in rhe volatile relations between Ahmad Yar Khan and the sardars, 

so, shorcly thereafter che British reassigned Wakefield. 

Negotiations between che Khan and che AGG broke down over 

several issues concerning che disrriburion of aurhority between che 

Khan and che sardars. The British refused co transfer paymenr of 

the Sarawan sardars' allowances co the Khan. For his pare, che Khan 

would not accept the British right co appoint and dismiss sardars. 

The British claimed chat rhe treaty of 1876 obligated them co 

uphold sardari authori ty. They argued char they met this obligation 

by seeking jirga recommendations in sardari depositions and 

appointments. However, Redaelli (1997: 121) points out chat the 

British had no formal right to appoint and depose sardars. During 

negotiations the AGG noted rhat some sardars were concerned 

about, what he called 'the Raisani faction', which included che 

Bangalzai and Lehri sardars, having coo much influence over the 

young and inexperienced Khan. The AGG worried chat the Khan 

would practice 'divide and rule' tactics with the sardars. 6 This was 
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a truly ironic turn, coming from an official of the government that 

had employed similar tactics repeatedly in expanding the Indian 

Empire. By the late 1930s, relations between the British and the 

Khan were strained, as the passage of the Government of India Act 

in 1935 puc new pressures on their relations. 

The Government of India Ace 1935, was the last British consti­

tutional reform in India. It was controversial in Britain, where 

Conservatives thought it gave Indians too much power, and the 

Socialists criticized it for favouring the princes at the expense of 

the Congress, which opposed it for the same reason. The Act 

envisioned a Federation of Provinces (British India), the Princely 

States, and a few Chief Commissioner's provinces (Wolpert, 1993: 

322). Although the idea of a federation was eventually abandoned, 

provincial governments w~re elected in 1937. The overwhelming 

success of Congress candidates pressured Jinnah to decide whether 

to engage in coalition politics or push for Pakistan as a unified 

Muslim state. When Congress's leaders failed to provide the 

protections Jinnah sought for the coalition option, he committed 

the Muslim League to the Pakistan solution (Wolpert, 1993: 324). 

The policies set in motion by the Act eventuated in British 

acceptance of two successor nations. Before this major realignment 

of the subcontinent, colonial officials struggled to fie Baluchistan 

into the proposed federated structure of the Act. The question of 

Baluchistan's representation in the proposed Federal Assembly, 

highlighted problems of space and governance, long acknowledged 

but finessed by colonial authorities. There were serious difficulties 

at several levels. The provincial status of British Baluchistan made 

it technically eligible to join the Assembly, but its population was 

too small to include it as a separate electorate. The participation of 

Kalat State depended upon the Khan's decision to join. The 

melange ofleased territories, Agency Territories and the tribal areas, 



250 REMOTELY COLONIAL 

furcher complicaced che issue. 'Their implied or express agreemencs 

wich che Bricish Governmenc', meanc chac chere were a number of 

leaders, who, according to Agency officials, had che righc co 

decermine whecher co join che Federacion.7 le was highly improbable 

chat all, or even most of chem, would agree co do so. 

Kharan exemplified che constitutional problems chac had been 

ignored or finessed in the past. When Azad Khan Nausherwani met 

wich Sandeman in 1883, the Khan was nor a parry to che agreemenc 

they signed. However, Azad Khan did cake a seat in the Khan's 

durbar, which implied his submission. On the one hand , the 

Nausherwani sardar was not a signatory co che 1876 Mascung 

Agreemenc, on the ocher, however, he did sign the sardars' pecition 

for che removal of Mir Khodadad Khan in 1892. The issue was 

further muddied by the fact that Kharan had been placed under 

the PA Chagai from l 911 to 1920, giving ic an implied status as 

an Agency territory rather chan part of Kalat.8 Yet Kharan had been 

incorporated in Kalac in official governmenc maps.9 

As che AGG and the newly-constituted External Affairs Depart­

ment, grappled with these inconsistencies over several months in 

1939, tempers became shore. The Govern menc of India asserted 

char ic had always been clear abouc Kharan's subordination to 

the Khan and cook exception to the AGG's complainc chat it 

had shirked resolving Kharan's status in the past. 10 It was the 

Khan's failure to concrol Kharan rhac had rendered it effectively 

independenc. 11 When the Nausherwani Nawab asked the British co 

clarify his scatus, che AGG responded chac he was noc a sardar of 

Kalar Scace but was a member of the Baluch Confederacy, of which 

the Khan was the head. 12 

Lasbela posed a similar problem. In 1932 the Jam wroce directly 

co the Viceroy, requesting Bricish recognicion of Lasbela's 
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independence from Kalar, pointing our that he, the Jam had 

enjoyed direct relacions wich the British for several generations. 

Lasbela, arguably, had a stronger case than Kharan's, since che Jam 

had been, for all intents and purposes, independent from the Khan, 

as Calcutta acknowledged. 13 If, as Denys Bray once suggested, Kalar 

policies were opera bujfa, the farce was as much a creation of the 

British as of the Baloch. 14 The Baloch Confederation was an 

expedient mych, derived from Calcutta's determination co protect 

its foundational fiction of Kalar as a native scare ruled by che Khan. 

Unlike Kalar, which did have a territorial existence, however 

concesced its borders, che Baluch Confederation existed only in che 

colonial archive. 

THE KAl.AT-KlIARANWAR 

British pronouncements on the scacus of Kharan pleased neither 

Mir Ahmad Yar Khan nor Nawab Habibullah Khan. Oissacisfaccion 

with British policy probably concribuced to Habibullah's cum co 

the longstanding Nausherwani land-dispute on the Kharan-Chagai 

border. He was the third Nausherwani sardar to protest British 

claims there. The concesced lands appeared co have figured in che 

Agency's strategy co control Kharan by flanking ic from the north 

and sou ch. In 1910, Habibullah's father, Yaqub Khan, had expelled 

levies from Ladgashc and Sohcagan bur his challenge ended when 

he was assassinated in a palace plot in 1911. In 1925, Habibullah 

Khan again claimed Sohragan bur once again the British rejected 

his daim. 1 ~ Conditions predisposed intransigence from both the 

Khan and che Nawab. While Ahmad Yar Khan was a new and 

unrested leader, Habibullah Khan was che inheritor of his 

predecessors' displeasure with a series of decisions by che Agency, 

and was now presented with yec another adverse ruling. 
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The Nawab made the first moves in Gorjak (Mashkai) and 

Khudabadan (Makran). 16 Gorjak had become an ambiguous space 

in colonial Baluchistan, located in the unmarked zone berween 

Kharan and Jhalaw.rn. In 1938, Habibullah Khan dispatched 

croops co Mashkai w ch the aim of collecting sung (duty) from the 

cransit trade along the Kalat-Pasni Road. Assercing a claim co sung 

was a claim co terricorial control in pre-colonial Kalar. Ir had been 

used some years earlier by the Bizenjo sardar on the Bizenjo-Lasbela 

border. Ahmad Yar Khan would have recognized the sung claim as 

a challenge co his authority in Mashkai. 

Relations berween the sardar and the Khan were further strained 

by a land dispute with a complicated history. In 1896, Mir 

.Mahmud Khan confirmed a Nausherwani grant at Gorjak in a 

sanad with unclear boundaries, buc which may have included the 

neighbo,µring tract of Mascolad. In 1900, the Khan's naib gave 

cultivating rights in Mascolad co a Bizenjo. About 1918, the 

.Muhammad Hasni sardar, serving as the Khan's naib, gave the land 

co different cenants and cook the proprietary share until around 

1930. In 1933, the Nausherwani chief claimed chat Mascolad fell 

within his Gorjak giant. The Khan's naib objected and wanted a 

jirga to consider the case. In 1936 the PA Kalar began caking 

evidence. The PA declined co send the case to a jirga and decided 

1n favour of the Nawab, but the Khan appealed. The succeeding 

PA decided that the sanad held by the Nausherwanis was a fake, 

and awarded the land to the Khan. The PA was perhaps predisposed 

co favour the Khan, as Habibullah Khan was resisting the British 

demand that he cease collecting the sung. 

The case dragged on, with each parry accusing the other of 

territorial encroachment. Ahmad Yar Khan upped the ante by 

pointing ouc that Gorjak was a jagir, held on condition of loyalty, 

and as the Nawab was clearly d isloyal, the land should revere co 
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Kalar. The Nausherwani chief responded chat Kalar had never 

collected revenue on Masrolad, arguing that the Nausherwanis held 

both proprietary and judicial rights in the land. This kind of land 

dispute was probably not uncommon in pre-colonial rimes. When 

a sardar or the Khan failed co protecc his interests in a trace ofland, 

the rights co it effectively passed co an intermediary agent who 

exercised control, perhaps retaining the propriecary share for 

himself, as the Muhammad Hasni sardar did for some years. Given 

Mahmud Khan's apparent disinterest in managing his estates, ic is 

not surprising chat the Nausherwani sardar had been expanding his 

control in che Mashkai area. 

In Khudabadan, rhe Nausherwanis were also claiming both 

proprietary and judicial rights. Khudabadan residents were of a 

mixed-tribal background, and non-resident Nausherwanis, Gichkis 

and the Khan were the principal proprietors. The APA Makran 

reported to the PA Kalar, char prior to 1904, Khudabadan was, like 

ocher Makrani villages, administered by the nazim, acting as the 

Khan's agent. In 1908, Nawab Nauroz Khan, grandfather of 

Habibullah Khan, was said co have ordered his naib co settle the 

Khudabadan cases himself. When the nazim complained to the PA 

Kalar, he was cold nor to interfere in cases involving only the 

Khudabadan residents. By 1931, the naib of Khudabadan, agent 

of the Nausherwani sardar, was seeding cases chat involved the 

Khan's subjects with no objection from Mahmud Khan. 

While a newly-appointed AGG considered affairs in Gorjak, the 

Khan's mastaufi (representative) in Panjghur (Makran), complained 

char the naib of Khudabadan was refusing requests co send residents 

involved in Panjghur cases co him. On 1 November 1939, the 

Nausherwani sardar telegraphed the AGG, asserting chat the PA 

Kalar was ignoring his reports about the Khan's interference in 

Khudabadan's administration. A few days lacer, Habibullal1 Khan 
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called Nausherwani notables co a meeting where he solicited their 

support against Kalat. 

On 18 November, Kharan's forces attacked and burned Malech­

band, a Kalaci pose in Mashkai, capturing four Kalaci soldiers. Kalar 

sardars, in defiance of an Agency order, began co collect lashkars 
and Ahmad Yar Khan proclaimed chat che dispute would be seeded 

in the BaJochi scyle. T he AGG urged him co hold back and lee the 

levy-corps deal with che Kharan forces. H e assured the Khan char 

che sardar would be held accountable. The conflict seemed averred 

when Kharan's forces withdrew in the face of Kalar troops. On 30 

ovember, Ahmad Yar Khan mer with the AGG and agreed co 

defer recaliacion ag.iinsc Kharan. However, che following day 

Kharan's forces re-occupied Malechband. In response, Kalar troops 

occupied ch e Naui.hwerwani village of Parkin, and sho rtly 

chereafcer, cook Malechband and Gorjak. On 6 December, the 

Khan's ch ief minister and four Sarawani sardars went co Parki n co 

stop che fighting and arrange a withdrawal. 

Actual hostilities were shore and limited, but the Kalar-Kharan 

conflict had important consequences. T he British investigation in 

early 1940 clearly showed chat the PA Kalar viewed Kharan as the 

aggressor and its sar<lar, Habibullah Khan, as repeatedly deceptive 

and uncooperative. He had retained his naib at Khudabadan, 

despite Bri tish advice to replace him and had also failed co tell him 

co comply with the APA's orders, who, therefore, had continued to 

collect taxes in Khudabadan agai nst British orders. Furthermore, 

Habibullah Khan had mounted a wily propaganda campaign. He 

turned out a series of letters co the AGG with charges against Kalar 

and claims chat Kharan had always been independent. During the 

Agency's investigation in 1940, the sardar had mobilized petitions 

to the Viceroy from Kharanis in Sindh, alleging ongoing plundering 

by Kalac's forces. T here were occasio nal newspaper a rticles 
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deploring the actions of Kalar in Kharan. 17 The Khan had been 

consistently cooperative with the British during the conflict and 

the subsequent investigation. The only serious British concern 

about Kalar's conduce during the conflict was the looting, especially 

by the Jhalawan troops, who had stripped inhabitants of a couple 

of villages of all their possessions. Several sardars were reported to 

have participated in these raids. 

Ahmad Yar Khan had every reason co be pleased with che response 

of the Kalati sardars co the Nausherwani challenge. They had turned 

our an impressively large lashkar, which according to the PA's 

estimate numbered around 1,700 tribesmen. The Sarawan sardars, 

more accustomed co cooperating with Agency officials, had backed 

the Khan. The PA noted that the Kalaci forces would have achieved 

a decisive victory over Kharan, had the British not intervened. On 

23 January 1940, the Khan requested a determination of fault, 

to be decided by the British rather than a jirga, and he wanted 

the Kharan-Jhalawan border officially demarcated . The PA Kalar 

was clearly sympathetic to these conditions. In a letter dated 18 

February to the AGG, the PA recommended a public finding chat 

Habibullah Khan was to blame for the conflict, and advocated 

public apologies to Ahmad Yar Khan and the AGG. Additionally, 

he suggested that the sardar should also be forced to dismiss and 

exile from Kharan, the shagassi, who had led Kharan's forces. 18 

Since Calcutta had its own agenda, and wanted the blame to be 

equally distributed between Kalar and Kharan, the PA's recom­

mendations were not implemented. The AGG, however had strong 

reservations about this: 

The major blame in my opinion attaches co Nawab Habibullah Khan, 

who committed rwo unprovoked acts of aggression against a State, 

whose suzerainiry over him he had only recently been required by the 

Crown Representative co acknowledge .... I think he [the Khan] was 
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genuinely nervous about his position and inAuence as Ruler of Kalar 

and Head of the Kalar Confederacy, if he failed to take up Kharan's 

challenge. 19 

Although Calcutta took a harsh position with regard to the 

pillaging by Kalat's forces, che Colonial Officials certainly 

understood that plunder was legitimate spoils of war for many 

indigeneous subcontinental forces. It seems to have been their 

justification for equal distribution of blame. However, Calcutta's 

position was based on wartime concerns. Kharan was located on 

the essentially uncontrolled borders of Afghanistan and Iran. There 

was concern that Habibullah Khan might intrigue with the Afghans 

or Persians 'or both if he is pressed too hard. He might even follow 

the practice, which is not without precedent in Baluchistan ... [and] 

abscond across the Frontier.'20 There was particular concern about 

Iran, where, German presence and influence had grown in the 

1930s. 21 In an effort to obtain reliable surveillance in Kharan, the 

British sent an official to advise Habibullah Khan. The Nawab 

welcomed the envoy because he saw chis as recognition of Kharan's 

status of equaliry with Lasbela. Calcutta's wartime policy diverged 

from the Agency's practical concerns in maintaining stabiliry in 

Kalar. The AGG was forced to deal with an angry Ahmad Yar 

Khan, who saw the British rewarding the Nawab for his territorial 

challenge to the Khan's auchoriry. This determined the Khan's 

recalcitrant position vis-a-vis Agency officials at a particularly 

critical time. It led Ahmad Yar Khan to make decisions chat had 

adverse consequences after the war. 

T he Khan saw Kalar as victimized by Calcutta's refusal to formal ly 

sanction Habibullah Khan. The decision dishonoured him and 

damaged his relatiom with the sardars. Appealing to Article 5 of 

the 1876 treary, Ahmad Yar Khan asked to open direct relations 

with the Government of India. 22 What he had hoped to gain from 
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chis request is unclear but perhaps he was not aware of the 

differences between the Agency and Calcutta, and had lost 

confidence in the AGG. Then again, he might have hoped chat he 

could persuade officials at the higher levels co change their position. 

In any case, while Calcutta acknowledged the Khan's right co such 

representation, they opposed exercising it, pointing out chat it was 

an unnecessary expense, as all formal relations would continue co 

go through the PA Kalar and the AGG.23 Calcutta's decision came 

at a critical time in British- Kalar relations, as the new Khan had 

demonstrated his desire co resume the responsibilities of his office 

while working cooperatively with the Agency's officials. 

Furthermore, the Government oflndia made another decision that 

alienated Ahmad Yar Khan. They confirmed the policy of treating 

Kharan as de facto independent of the Khan, though still formally 

a dependancy of Kalar: 

There is a great difference becween che AGG acting as an arbitrator 

becween cwo independent rulers and cwo parties, one of whom is 

subordinate co che ocher. The Khan claimed char a dispute becween 
him and the Chief of Kharan should be decided under Article 5 of the 

Treacy, as if he was an ordinary Kalar Sardar: the Chief of Kharan, 

supported by che unbroken practice of more than 50 years, refuses 
arbitration on such cerms.24 

B ALOCHISTAN AND THE 1935 G OVERNMENT 

OF I NDIA A CT 

T he proposed Ace called for an elected Federal Assembly, and chis 

raised the question of voting procedures. AGG Norman Cater did 

not believe that a universal franchise was workable. Querta, with 

its large non-tribal population, could dominate the vote, possibly 

returning a non-Muslim representative. Cater supported voting 

with 'some version of the Sardari and ]irga System which forms the 
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foundation not only of our administration but of the whole social 

edifice of Baluchistan.'25 When the AGG solicited comment from 

the PAs, they expressed reservations about harnessing the electoral 

process co the jirga system. They pointed out chat the jirga was not 

based on any proportional principle of participation, nor was it a 

body whose process lent itself to electoral contests, being based on 

compromising differences to arrive at an acceptable settlement. 

Furthermore, election through the jirga system would leave urban 

interests unrepresented. 26 

The extensive correspondence between London, Calcutta and 

Quecra from 1933 co 1939 demonstrated the impossibility of 

reconciling the two systems of governance. The intricate 

bureaucratic regulations designed to protect designated interests in 

India and ensure the quality of electoral candidates were unworkable 

in the Baluchistan Agency. When the Government of India Act was 

passed in London in 1935, Mir Ahmad Yar Khan queried the AGG 

about its effects on his Scace. Would Kalar remain a frontier state, 

separate from the other Princely Scates, without direct relations 

with the new Federal Assembly, as the PA Kalar had suggested?27 

Or would Kalar fall under the regulations relating to the other 

Princely Scares? If the latter were the case, Mir Ahmad Yar Khan 

would have to decide whether co accede. When the AGG sought 

Cakucra's advice on these questions, the Foreign Department 

responded that, under the provisions of the Act, a state chat was 

incapable of meeting the regulations would nor be allowed to 

federate, i.e. His Majesty would not accept the Instrument of 

Accession. The Foreign Department also pointed out chat if the 

Khan were allowed co accede, paramountcy would cease, and the 

Federation would not acknowledge any previous rights enjoyed by 

the sardars, nor any such rights formerly granted to the Jam of 

Lasbela. If the sardars were co object to federating, His Majesty 

would not accept the Instrument of Accession. Given the 
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circumscances, ic would be the cask of the AGG co see char che 

Khan did noc decide on accession, thus avoiding placing che Bricish 

throne in an embarrassing posicion. The PA's suggescion char Kalar 

mighc remain a froncier scare 'co a greac excenc aloof from che resc 

of Indi a, and having no direcc relacions wich th e Federal 

Government', seems designed co encourage Ahmad Yar Khan's 

desire for independence and co prevent a royal embarrassmenc.28 

The Government of India Ace was shelved during the war, and in 

the rapid pace of the subconcinenc's pose-war politics, the anomalies 

pf Kalar were again finessed as it was incorporated inco che category 

of Native Scares. 

The difficulties of applying che reform regulations made it clear 

chat Calcucca and the Agency needed co devise a unified position 

on Kalar. Ir became the AGG's cask co present Kalac's constitutional 

hiscory in a way chat defended the Agency's policies and practices 

co Calcu tta. In 1934, AGG H. Weighcman, wrote a lengthy memo 

on this subjecc.29 He noced char chere had been a longstanding 

debace among British officials as co whether the Governmenc of 

Kalar was basically feudal or federal. The Govern menc of India had 

taken the feudal position at che signing of the 1876 creacy, noting 

chat the Khan did noc rule directly, but through the sardars. 

However, Sandeman stated chat che Governmenc of Kalar was 

federal, as the Khan had supreme auchoricy in external affairs and 

sardars had the obligatio n co provide troops ac his requesc. 

Sandeman's federalist argumenc is somewhat weak, as it is unlikely 

chat any Khan had any kind of supreme auchoricy off the battlefield. 

While is is true chat the sardars had an obligation co provide the 

troops, che abilicy of a Khan co enforce chat obligation was limited. 

After Khodadad Khan's removal, che sardars endo rsed certain 

changes in Kalar governance, but Weightman pointed out chat the 

Government of India would not accept these changes unless 
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Mahmud Khan agreed to them, which, under some pressure, he 

did. The Agency faced new challenges when Mahmud Khan refused 

to govern and the sardars shirked their administrative duties. This 

led co an increase in the Agency's scaff, two Native Assistants and 

a Political Advisor co che Khan. 

British interference in Kalat's domestic affairs became constant, a 

5ituation chat the Government of India had wished co avoid, 

alchough they sanctioned the staffing that made it possible. AGG 

Ramsay in 191 2, and Terence Keyes, PA Kalat, in 1923, proposed 

reforms directed coward persuading the Khan and the sardars to 

perform their administrative duties, as was discussed earlier. 

According co Weightman, Calcutta's response to Keyes's note on 

the constitutional question in 1926, 'made it clear that they had 

no idea what che constitu tion of Kalar was.'30 

Mir Mahmud Khan's declining health inspired the AGG, Frederick 

Johnston, to undertake yet another summary of Kalat's constitutional 

history. Johnston foresaw the possibility chat Mahmud Khan's 

successor might seek restoration of the powers accorded him in the 

treaty of 1876. le was Johnston's view that the British could not 

permit him such independence. T he AGG recommended drawing 

up a new treaty with the ailing Mahmud Khan, but eventually 

decided that the Khan was coo sick co pursue the matter.31 

Weightman, arguing from Keyes note of 1926, said that the British 

had underwritten the sardars' independence from the Khan when 

Sandeman instituted the jirga as the basis of tribal governance. 

Keyes had rej ected Calcutta's characterization of Kalar as a 

confederacy, arguing instead, that it was a 'multiple federal state', 

and the Khan embodied this multiplicity: autocratic ruler in his 

niabets, feudal overlord in the sardari grants held on the obligation 

to support the Khan and provide warriors at his request, and head 
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of che confederacy in the tribal territories. Keyes claimed that ac 

some earlier, yec unspecified, time, the Khan held all the land with 

perennial water, which gave him a status superior co the sardars. 

According co Weightman, Calcutta abandoned che effort co define 

the Kalac government, and fell back on realpolitik: Kalac was a 

frontier state and maintaining cooperative sardars trumped the 

rights of the Khan. Weightman seconded chis position, concluding: 

We must of necessity have a tranquil state on our lines of communica­

tion in the event of war and we must ensure against the spread of 

anti-social propaganda from external sources via the state. We must 

therefore do che Khan something less than justice . .. the Khan can 

have no practical authority whatsoever {emphasis in original) in the 

tribal areas .... 32 

As a coherent constitutional history, Weightman's report leaves 

much co be desired. By appealing co Keyes's tortured analysis of che 

Khan's multiple statuses, it undermines the territorial incegriry of 

Kalac and calls its statehood into question. Weightman asserted chat 

Calcutta had determined the impossibility of defining Kalat's 

governance, and then seconded Calcutta's conclusion chat, 

regardless of creary obligations, the Khan could not be allowed co 

strengthen his auchoriry with che sardars. 

While the British devised their version of Kalat's constitutional 

history, Ahmad Yar Khan created an alternative construction. In 

the Khan's account, 'misunderstandings' occupy a central position 

in Kalac's history since the first arrival of the British as a colonial 

power on che scene. le was a misunderstanding chat led che British 

co murder Mir Mehrab Khan and plunder Kalac cown in 1839. 

Subsequent misunderstandings arose from che intrigues of sardars 

and the ignorance of Sandeman's successors. The Khan, like the 

British , portrayed che Sandeman years as a time of cruse and 

friendship. It was in chis context chat Quetta and che ocher leased 
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lands were granted co che British. Ahmad Yar Khan noted chat the 

events leading co Khodadad Khan's removal occurred within the 

Khan's jurisdiction. He suggested chat AGG Browne exceeded his 

authority in seeking sardari approval for changes in Kalac's 

governance. The Khan asserted char chis was a violation of the 1876 

Treacy. Ir weakened Mahmud Khan's authority and resulted in the 

abuse and impoverishment of Kalac's subjects by che sardars, che 

naibs and the state's officials. Ahmad Yar Khan called for a new 

treaty chat would reiterate the terms of 1876 and protect the 

interests of both parries. He also requested che cancellation of che 

Nushki and Nasirabad leases; conrrol of subsidies paid co sardars; 

restoration, with arrears, of a road-fund chat had been suspended 

for many years; and direct collection of various revenue sources. 

These proposed refo rms would be announced at a darbar in 

Quetta.33 

The creation of a revisionist hiscory, even one conceived co further 

royalist inrerescs, was a step in the developmenr of a national 

identity. Ahmad Yar Khan's selectivity was astute as he cited the 

most egregious British actions, while avoiding issues, like the return 

of Quecca, which would have been tantamount ro proposing a 

British withdrawal. In effect, the Khan sought a creacy chat would 

replicate che basic terms of the Treaty of 1876 , but wou ld 

subordinate the sardars. Ahmad Yar Khan's attempt co challenge 

che British narrative of Kalar wh ile remaining loyal to them, was 

doomed by the decision to privilege the de facto tribal confederacy 

and the sardars over che treaty with the Kalar Scare. 

The cenrral contradiction of the Kalar Scare was char Calcutta 

formally recognized the Khan as its ruler while acknowledging a 

de facto tribal governance. This was the problem envisioned by 

Merewerher a cenrury earlier, when he advocated military support 

co back up the authority of the Khan. Calcutta's goal of securing 
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the border at minimal cost led it to go with Sandeman's tribal 

policy. While Kalat and the Baluchistan Agency in general, were a 

remote spa~e in the empire, Agency officials and Calcutta could 

soften the contradiction with finesse, bur events, local and 

international, caught up with decades of ad hoc colonial policies 

chat papered over the frequent breaches of paramountcy. The 

ascendance of a new, activist Khan, along with the proposed 

constitutional reforms, revealed the cost of issues deferred and 

finessed: a polirically isolated and undeveloped quasi-scare, unfit co 

participate in the new Indian government. 

T HE B ALOCH N ATIONALIST M OVEMENT 

Baluchistan was unpromising ground for the growth of a narionalisc 

movement. The population·was scattered in encampments, villages 

and small rowns. T here were few schools and literacy was rare. 

Querta, the only city in che Agency, was effectively British territory. 

Neither tribal chiefs nor Agency officials were sympathetic co such 

ideas. Yet the beginnings of a nationalist movement emerged in the 

late 1920s, probably out of informal conversations among a small 

number of educated Baluchis, who began co question colonial 

governance. The movement became more o rganized as the 

'Anjuman-e Iccehad-e-Balochan wa Baluchistan' in the early 1930s, 

under the leadership of Mir Yusuf Ali Magasi and Abdul Aziz Kurd. 

The founders of the Baloch nationalise movement came fro m 

different tribal and economic backgrounds. Yusuf Ali Khan 

Magassi, son of the Magassi sardar, was educated at home in Persian 

and Urdu. Abdul Aziz Kurd's father was a civil servant of Kalar. A 

third early member was Mohammad Hossein Anka, whose father 

was a labourer who had moved the family co Mach (Bolan) in 

search of employment. Anka attended primary school in Mach and 

graduated from a high school in Querta (Breseeg, 2004: 206; 

Dehwar, 1994: 243-4). 
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Yusef Ali Khan's family went into exile in Multan {Sindh), when 

the sardar ran afoul of Mir Shams Shah, Mahmud Khan's powerful 

wazir {vizier; minister). le was during this period chat Yusuf Ali 
Khan 'imbibed Congress ideas.' In 1929, shordy after the family 

returned co their home in Kachhi, Mir Yusuf Ali Khan published 

an article in a Lahore weekly chat criticized colonial governance 

and called for Mir Shams Shah co be replaced. Agency officials 

reported this co be the first time char Congress's ideas had appeared 

in Kalar, and described the article as 'highly inflammacory'.3'1 The 

British recognized the threat posed by a non-tribal policies focused 

on colo nial relations and responded harshly co Magassi's article, and 

jailed him for a year in Mascung (Sarawan). According co Baloch 

(1987: 151), Abdul Aziz Kurd and Magassi mec during chis time. 

The Baloch nationalises, inspired by the growing screngch of the 

Congress, developed ac a contingent moment in Balochiscan 

history. The declining health of Mir Mahmud Khan led to 

maneuverings around the question of succession co the khanship. 

When Mir Mohammed Azam Khan dismissed Shams Shah shortly 

after his investiture, the Anjuman saw chis as a victory, but it was 

probably due co Shams Shah's backing of Mir Mahmud's son for 

the succession and noc due co any efforcs by the Anjuman itself. 

Mohammed Azam Khan invited both Yusuf Khan Magassi and 

Abdul Aziz Kurd co a meeting, and according co Baloch (1987: 

152), the meeting was inconclusive buc the Khan did warn Abdul 

Aziz Kurd chat the Anjuman's activism was dangerous. 

The most significant accomplishment of the Anjuman was the 

organization of cwo All-India Baloch Conferences in 1932 and 1933 

(Axmann, 2008: 148). Boch were convened in Sindh, as the British 

would not have allowed such meetings in Querta, the only easily 

accessible location in Baluchistan. The first, ac Jacobabad in 1932, 

amacced more than 200 people, including Abdus Samad Achakzai, 
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a noced Pushcun nacionalis~ leader (Breseeg, 2004: 215). Although 

many young progressive Baloch were presenc, the leading sponsors 

of the conference were tribal notables. As Axmann (2008: 149) 

notes, the appointees co the executive board of the conference 

included chiefs of the major tribes in Baluchistan. The ruler of 

Khairpur, a native state, gave the presidential address, cautioning 

the Baloch against the dangers of negative policies (Baloch, 1987: 

154) . The resolutions passed at the conference reflect the 

heterogeneous interests of chose attending. They ranged from 

constitutional reforms, the unification of aU Baloch, economic 

development and the expansion of educational facilicies, to the 

closing of brothels. The unification o f all the Baloch was a 

complicaced question. Just before the conference, the Anjuman 

published a map of a 'Greater Baluchistan', that included some of 

the leased territories and parts of Punjab and Sindh (Breseeg, 2004: 

215). The unification resolution called for joining the separately 

administered units of Kalar and British Baluchistan, an indication 

that the participants were united in oppositi~n to colonial rule and 

did not view Baloch and Pushtun nationalisms as politically distinct 

at the time. This position was confirmed by Abdus Samad Khan 

Achakzai's testimony given before the Joint Select Committee on 

Indian Constitutional Reforms in 1933. H e denounced both the 

FCR and the customary law. H e viewed the latter as a collection of 

the 'moods and fancies of sardars.' Achakzai proposed a Shahi jirga 
as the federal legislature of Baluchistan, with the constituent states 

of Kalar, Lasbela and Kharan, subject to their princely rulers. British 

Baluchistan would be governed as a Governor's Province under a 

C hief Commissioner with a council.35 Achakzai's proposal was 

designed to reassure the political interests of the standing rulers and 

sardars. In its effort to integrate past political structures with a new 

federaced centre, it was a scruccuraUy, unwieldy proposal. 
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The second Baloch conference was convened in H yderabad, Sindh, 

in 1933. T he agenda echoed the concerns expressed the previous 

year regarding political , economic and educational issues. Shortly 

aft:er the second conference, Abdul Aziz Kurd, who was serving as 

the General Secretary of the Anjuman , was arrested . He had 

published several anicles that challenged the Agency's governance. 

H e advocated the return of the leased territories and called for the 

integration of Marri- Bugci into the Kalar State. The British placed 

the depositi on of Ku rd before a Shahi firga at Sibi, which 

recommended three years imprisonment (Breseeg, 2004: 216). 

T he Anj uman suffered a serious loss with the untimely death of 

Mir Yusef Ali Magassi in the earthquake that devastated Querta in 

1935, following wh ,ch, Abdul Aziz Kurd assumed the leadersh ip 

of the Anjuman. By this time, differences within the Anjum an had 

developed over the question of whether to cooperate with the 

British in efforts for reform. The radicals opposed chis, arguing that 

the British were the enemy (Baloch, 1987: 158). T he accession of 

a new, more activist Khan, probably intensified this debate, the 

moderates viewing it as an opportunity co advance the less 

controversial items on their agenda. T he more radical members left 

the Anjuman in 19J7 and fo rmed the Kalar Scace N ational Parry 

(KSNP). T he interests and tactics of the four parties-the Khan, 

the sardars, the nationalists and the British, converged and diverged 

in fluid, unstable ways. T he local parries had a common interest in 

opposing colonial rule, but had very different ideas about what 

should replace it. T he nationalists envisioned some form of 

representative government, while the Khan sought co regain powers 

appropriated by the Bri tish. The sardars were not unified and they 

tended co play opportunistic poli tics, some al lying with the Khan, 

some with the nationalists, and some with the British, often 

shifting their allegiances. Sardari politics were particularly unstable 

and disruptive. At one moment the sardars al lied with the Khan 
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against the British, petitioning rhe Khan to 'assume direct control 

of all our affairs.'36 When the British failed co rake the petition 

seriously, the sardars abandoned the project. At another moment, 

a sardari faction intrigued to disrupt Wakefield's relations with the 

Khan, thus undermining the Khan's standing with Agency officials. 

The fragile and transitory alliances enabled the British to play their 

own version of divide and dominate. 

Relations between the KSNP and Ahmad Yar Khan were 

cooperative at first, as both sought reforms in the state and both 

wanted co curb the sardars. Writing some years after che fact, 

Ahamd Yar Khan outlined his agenda when he assumed the throne. 

H e had hoped co enlist the support of political activists of all 

persuasions and to 'purge out' sardars aligned with the British 

(Baluch, 1975: 118). Political realities soon led him to drop the 

purge and make overcures to the sardars. As the KSNP became the 

odd-man-out in Kalar policies, it accelerated both its criticism of 

the sardars, and its demand for a representative government. On 

the eve of the war, the KSNP could claim some success. Although 

it was still a small parry of educated elites, it recruited new 

members from the ranks of scare employees, and it persuaded rhe 

Khan to abolish a few truces (Baloch, 1987: 155-6) . These modest 

achievements did nor sir well wirh rhe sardars and Agency officials. 

Tribal forces disrupted che annual parry meering at Mascung 

(Sarawan) in 1939. The Shawani sardar submirced a petition to 

Ahmad Yar Khan, demanding the arrest or expulsio n of KSNP 

leaders and banning of the parry. Although no one was arrested, 

the Khan banned the KSNP and exiled its leaders (D ehwar, 1994: 

266-8), who established their headquarters in Querta. Shortly 

rhereafter, World War II began, and all political activiry was 

banned, which encouraged the KSNP to turn cowards the Congress. 

Even as the Muslim League gained momenrum after the Lahore 

Resolution, KSNP cultivated ries with the Congress.37 In 1944, 
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KSNP joined the All-India Peoples States Conference, which was 

closely aligned with Congress (Axmann, 2008: 158- 9) . 

In the final years before the war, the British, the sardars and the 

Khan, maneuvered with an eye towards external political forces. 

The Khan sought legal advice from Jinnah, head of the Muslim 

League, regarding Kalac's status (Baluch, 1975: 131-2). The British 

worked to retain control of the Khan and the sardars while 

attempting to sore out Kalac's position within the concexc of 

Imperial reform. The KSNP allied with che Khan in supporting a 

unified Kalar Scace that included Kharan, Lasbela and the Marri­

Bugci territories. The Khan and the sardars played complicated 

strategies of alliance against the British and in competition with 

each other for British support. 

The struggle between the Congress and the Muslim League in India 

had barely begun when the Anjuman was formed. It is not 

surprising that Baloch nationalises turned co Congress before che 

war. As the Muslim League gathered strength, ics platform of a 

unified Islamic sta te conflicted with the KSNP's aspirations. 

Although the Baloch nationalists differed as co whether the goal 

should be greater autonomy within some form of union with a 

post-colonial Indian government or an independent Baloch state, 

all were wary of a Baluchistan submerged within a successor Islamic 

state (Redaelli, 1997: 146). 

In the late 1930s, the Muslim League had minimal presence in 

Baluchistan. It was essentially a one-man operation run by Qazi 

Muhammad Isa, a Pushcun lawyer from Pishin (British Baluchistan). 

The League attracted a small following that was predominately 

Pushtun. For his part, Ahmad Yar Khan viewed communal politics 

as an Indian issue, alien co Kalar, where Hindu shopkeepers and 

traders had longstanding relations of patronage and protection with 
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the Khan and the sardars, but the KSNP's antipathy co Pakistan 

would have serious consequences in the postwar period. 

The policies of pre-War Baluchistan was dominated by a struggle 

for power among the elite actors, and economic reform did not 

figure significantly in any parry's agenda. All of chem- the British, 

the Khan and the sardars-were committed co maintaining the 

pre-colonial land-tenures. Agency policy stabilized che system by 

mediating land-disputes and setting boundaries. The marginalization 

of economic issues was related co the historical conditions of early 

Baloch nationalism. British colonialism in Balochiscan was 

fundamentally political, and to che extent chat the Agency's officials 

did encourage any economic development, they directed cheir 

efforts to the leased niabets of Nasirabad and Nushki, and of British 

Baluchistan, where they cook the overlord's share from most of the 

cultivated land. As the dominating parry in Baluchistan, the British 

were determined co control the distribution of power. T he Khan 

and the sarda rs, whose economies beneficed from British 

adminiscracion, engaged che colonial state at the political level. The 

nationalises, constrained by the power of rhe other actors, focused 

on sardari exploitation, which they saw as the barrier to political 

and economic reform. 

In 1940, the British established the Council of National Defence, 

an organization co integrate che rulers of che N ative Scares and 

strengthen their loyalry co Great Bricain.38 Ahmad Yar Khan, still 

angry about British fai lure co sanction Kharan, was not inclined co 

do the AGG's bidding. He declined to join the Council on the 

grounds that Kalar was not an Indian native state. The Government 

of India. was not pleased, as Ahmad Yar Khan was the only invited 

ruler co ' tefuse what the British clearly viewed as an 'honour' . 

Calcutta pressured the AGG co persuade Ahmad Yar Khan to 

change his mind. AGG Aubrey Metcalfe in cum pressured Ahmad 
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Yar Khan, pointing our that this was no ordinary invitation and 

should be accepted. The Khan wrote directly to the Viceroy, 

stressing Kalat's independence and scaring chat he wished to remain 

aloof from Indian affairs. External Affairs (formerly rhe Foreign 

Department) again urged the AGG to obtain the Khan's agreement 

ro join. This time Ahmad Yar Khan yielded, but with the following 

conditions: 

1. His agreement would in no way airer the status of rhe 

Khanate, nor would his parciciparion commit him co join 

any subsequent governmental body. 

2. He would not be obliged co attend meetings, bur could send 

a personal representative, who would be allowed to attend all 

meetings. 

These conditions were unacceptable ro rhe Government of India, 

and the invitation was withdrawn, with the assurance that the 

Khan's decision in no way altered Kalat's sracus as a native scare. As 

Redaelli (1997: 177) poinrs out, the 'assurance' that Kalac's status 

will be unchanged by che Khan's action is best read as British 

rejection of his claim char Kalar was an independent, rather than a 

native, stare. 

Redaelli views Ahmad Yar Khan's refusal co participate in che 

Council of Defence was a critical mistake. The Khan's isolationist 

5tance during rhe critical wartime period led the British ro distrust 

him, despite his frequent avowals ofloyalty. The Baloch nationalists, 

too, turned away from him, while Jinnah had little difficulty 

working around him. 'Mir Ahmad Yar Khan thus managed to 

precipitate what he had desperately tried ro avoid, namely the 

merging of his state with the possible future state entities of the 

Indian subcontinent' (Redaelli, 1997: 178). It is easy in hindsight 

to fau lt the Khan and the sardars for pursuing factional, local 
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concerns and ignoring the rise of Islamic nationalism m India. 

However, it seems unlikely that even the most adroit statesmanship 

would have produced a substantially different outcome. Once the 

British accepted Pakistan, neither they nor the Muslim League 

would have supported an independent or semi-autonomous Kalar 

as a permanent polity on the border of the new state. In the scant 

years between the end of the war, y.rhen the ban on political activity 

was lifted, and the birth of Pakistan, politics in Balochistan 

remained intensely local. There was little sense chat events 

unfolding in India would eventually determine che future of 

Balochiscan. The pre-war pattern of unstable alliance was now 

complicated by the rapid proliferation of organizations. Ahmad Yar 

Khan continued to pursue his vision of an independent state, while 

Colonial Officials worked co maintain control of the political arena. 

This was more easily done in British Baluchistan, where they had 

a freer hand than they had in Kalar. There were two significant 

organizations in British Baluchistan: the Muslim League, headed 

by Qazi Isa, and the Anjuman-i-Wacan, founded by Abdus Samad 

Achakzai in 1938. The Anjuman sought conscitucional reform and 

was allied wich the Congress Parcy. Achakzai established a 

newspaper, lstiqlal, in Querta, which was shut down from cime co 

time, but it reported on local policies throughout che 1940s and 

1950s. Ic was mentioned with some frequency in the official 

Forcnighcly Reporcs, usually for its critical seance on local 

organizations and cheir leaders. 39 Achakzai had close relations with 

Abdul Ghaffar Khan, leader of the Khudai Khidmatgar in che 

NWFP (now renamed Khyber Pakhrunkhwa-KP).40 The Anjuman 

lacked the support-base of the Khudai Khidmatgr and was in an 

increasingly vulnerable position vis-a-vis che Provincial Muslim 

League. In 1948, Qazi Isa cook legal action against Achakzai for 

what was called disruptive propaganda in his newspaper. Although 

Abdus Samad was only briefly detained on that occasion his 
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continuing activism, however, led frequencly to such episodes of 

detention . Anjuman-i-Watan was essentially a reformist movement, 

and Achakzai's frequent imprisonment indicates the greater control 

of the Agency's officials in British Baluchistan. The extent of the 

Anjuman's support in the Pushcun areas is not known, although 

Axmann (2008: 165) speculates that in the 1940s, it was probably 

close to char of the Muslim League. 

Colonial authorities employed several tactics to dis rupt policical 

organ izations. Police in Quecca kept political meetings under 

surveillance and reported to the AGG's office. Colonial Officials 

compiled dossiers on the leading activists that were used to justify 

orders externing them from their core supporters, while in some 

cases such leaders were transferred out of Baluchistan. This was an 

effective tactic with the Railway Workers' Union, which led to a 

strike in 1947 . However, by 1948, the police reported that the 

Querta Railway Trade Workers Union had collapsed as a resul t of 

its leaders getting frequently transferred. British officials were wary 

of the unio ns because they believed that nat ionalists were 

encouraging their accivism .41 

When local protests persisted or escalated, multiple interests were 

rapidly drawn in. In December 1945, four local chiefs from the 

Nushki area wrote co the PA Chagai, stating that Gui Khan Nasir, 

a prominent member of the KSNP, had organized a political parry. 

T hey further stared that such parties were prohibited in their 

frontier area: 'Tribes have maintained the peace, and now we fear 

the leaders of this parry (KSNP) will meddle in our affairs.'42 T he 

feared meddling involved octroi- import-taxes in Nushki, which 

the new organization had publicly criticized. In January 1946, the 

PA Chagai reported a 'plot to discredit senior officials.' The plot 

consisted of circulati ng stories about administrative mismanagement 

and gambling in which some officials were engaged. Gui Khan 
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Nasir was named as a plotter, along with Maulvi Ghulam Haider. 

The latter, associated with the KSNP, was said co have attended a 

Congress school in Deoband (India) . He ha~ applied for permission 

to open a school in Nushki, bur the PA had rejected che request. 

By March the AGG decided co visit Nushki, where he met with a 

large crowd complaining about irregularities in rationing of wheat. 

British intelligence led the AGG to see these complaints as fueled 

by a faction in che Badini tribe that cook any opportunity to 

obstruct the smooth functioning of the administration. 

Ac this point there were two disputes raging in C hagai: the issue 

of taxes, with the nationalists opposing the sardars' traditional right 

to tax; and the question of rationing irregularities, wh ich pitted 

both the nationalists and che Badini fact ion against the 

administration and the sardars, whom the nationalists charged were 

wichholding-and perhaps selling-the public's wheac rations. The 

British re-escablished order in Chagai by expelling Gui Khan Nasir 

from Kalar and bringing seven others before a jirga. The jirga 
recommended caking securi ty bonds for good behaviour in che 

amount of Rs5,000 from each man, while any form of 'public 

assembly' was also temporarily prohibited in Nushki. 

AGG Savidge, who held office in 1948-49, had his hands full as 

Baloch nationalist activity increased and tensions between the 

Muslim League, still headed by Qazi Isa, and the sardars, simmered. 

When the Viceroy nominated Nawab Assadullah Raisani co the 

Council of State, Qazi Isa objected on grounds that a Baloch could 

nor represent Pushtun interesrs.43 T his appeal co ethnic difference 

was perhaps only an expedient tactic, bur it seems to have been 

ill-advised, as it reinforced che image of the Muslim League as a 

Pushtun organization. Qazi Isa would have been a logical candidate 

for this posi tion and was said to be Jinnah's choice as well (Axmann, 

2008: 114), but it appears that he was blocked, perhaps due co his 
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reputation for difficult behaviour. In any case, Qazi Isa's turn co 

ethnicity alienated the Baloch sardars and inspired chem to organize 

in a loose federation. The sardars professed loyalty co Pakistan and 

claimed char they could guarantee the loyalty of che tribesmen, so 

they saw no need for the Muslim League in Baluchistan. Qazi Isa 

charged chat the sardars were unrepresentative and irresponsible, 

and advocared che elections of rhese sardars.44 

On rhe eve of the subcontinent's partition, Ahmad Yar Khan, in 

1946, submitted a final appeal co rhe Cabinet Mission for the 

acceptance of Kalar as an independent scare. The Cabinet Mission 

had a mandate co devise a plan char would allow the British 

Government co transfer power to a single union char would 

include British India and rhe Princely Scares. The Khan's appeal 

was essentially a legal brief in the form of three memoranda 

prepared by Sir Sayyid Sultan Ahmad, a distinguished attorney in 

international law. T hey supporced the Khan's claim chat Kalar was 

nor a Princely Scace bur rather an independent ally of the British. 

The British Government's termination of past treaties should, 

therefore, rescore Kalac's pre-colonial independence. Lasbela, 

Kharan, and the Marri-Bugci cerricories, historically connected co 

Kalar, should be included in the transfer of power along with the 

leased lands of Quecra, Nasirabad and Nushki. 45 The argument 

ignored the realities on the ground, as it was ultimately military 

force that had maintained Kalar during the British period. The 

Imperial anomalies that had developed when Kalar was a 

' remotely governed' space in the Indian Empire, were not 

acceptable co the new scare emerging from Imperial dissolution. 

The failure of the Cabinet Mission postponed che resolution of 

Kalat's status, but the Khan must have realized that rhe British 

were nor sympathetic to his aspirations. The future of Kalar 

would rest with a successor scare. 
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The face of Bricish Baluchiscan was serried by a Special }irga in June 

1947. Wich some reluccance, boch che Congress and che Muslim 

League accepced che British argument char it would be impossible 

to consciruce a more representative body in the rime available. The 

}irga was composed of Pushrun chiefs and representatives of the 

Querta Municipal Committee. In a controversial referendum, the 

jirga voted to join Pakistan, and Bricish Baluchistan became a 

Governor's Province under Jinnah's aurhoriry. 46 

AFrER INDEPENDENCE 

The years berween che founding of Pakistan in 1947 and che 

imposicion of One Unic in 1956 were characterized by impractical 

visions, mutual distrusc, and recrograde politics. The new nation 

grappled with a series of daunting problems: resenlement of 

millions of refugees, shortages of trained personnel in the 

bureaucracy and military, and the integration of che rwo wings of 

Ease and West Pakistan. 

The carving our of a new Muslim-majoriry scare of Pakistan from 

British India had been che vision of che Muslim League's leadership, 

most of which came from che United Provinces in India, and they 

were chus refugees in che new state. Many of chose who became 

citizens of West Pakistan ac panicion had litcle commitment, 

initially, co che new country. As che successor scare char denied che 

British desire for a single pose-colonial union , the Pakiscani 

leadership saw their country as che more vulnerable parry vis-a-vis 

India. Political conscraints led the Muslim League co move 

cauciously in cheir relations wich che Princely Scares. Under the 

circumstances, ic is not surprising char che rulers of chese scares 

maintained a rather distanced stance cowards Pakiscan ac firsc. Nor 

is it surprising char the Musl im Leaguers had a deep distrusc of 

chose who expressed any reservacions about Pakistan. 
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This discrusc, combined wich ignorance, dominated relations 

berween che Khan and Pakistani officials from che scare. Douglas 

Fell, who had held several postings in Baluchistan, joined the 

Khan's staff in 1947. He represented Kalac in negotiations wi ch che 

British and che new scate of Pakistan. Fell found mosc Pakistanis 

he dealt wich, co be woefully uninformed about Baluchistan. There 

was opposition co Fell's appointment from the scare. According co 

Col. A.B.S. Shah, .Minister of States and Frontier Regions, (MSFR), 

Fell 'was never fr endly to Pakistan and cowards the end we 

suspected he was double-dealing.' Fell, in his turn, believed chac 

Kalac would have to accede co Pakistan evencually, buc he found 

the terms offered by the Pakistanis co be insensitive and harsh .47 

The year 1947 was critical in Kalar-Government of Pakistan 

relations. On 4 August, a few days before independence, Ahmad 

Yar Khan signed a scandscill agreement wich Jinnah and che Viceroy 

chat affirmed che independence of the Kalar Scace. According co 

che terms of the agreement, both the Government of Pakistan and 

the Khan, would seek legal counsel as to whecher Pakistan was 

bound by previous treaties between Kalar and the British-Indian 

Government. In che meantime, Pakistan would observe che terms 

of such treaties. The standstill agreement was internally inconsistent, 

acknowledging Kalac's independence while, simultaneously, 

constituting Pakistan as che ' legal, conscicuciona1, and political 

successor of the British.' As Axmann (2007: 211) points out, chis 

had the effect of 'putting che future existence of the khanace of 

Kalar at the mercy of Pakistan.' 

Shorcly after independence on 14 Augusc, Ahmad Yar Khan 

declared Kalar independent and promulgated a constitution chat 

provided a bicameral legislacure composed of che Oar-ul Khas 

(Upper House, comprising che Sardars), and che Dar-ul Awam 

(Lower House, comprising the commoners), in which the laner was 
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to be elected. According to Agha Nasir Khan, who was chen 

governor of Jhalawan , tehsil {district) jirgas constituted the 

electorate, and the election was conducted on a non-party basis 

{Axmann, 2008: 227-8). Under the circumstances, the apparent 

success of the KSNP candidates is somewhat su rprising. At their 

first meetings, both the Dar-ul Awam and che Dar-ul Khas passed 

resolutions affirming che independence of Kalar and supporting 

friendly relations with Pakistan. 

The constitution also established a Council of Ministers, a body 

controlled by the Khan, who appoinced its members. They had 

advisory responsibilities and served ac his convenience (Baloch, 

1987: 179). The Khan had the righc co appoint ten of the forty-six 

members of che Upper House and five of che fifry-five members of 

the Lower House. This was a constitutional monarchy with a very 

strong monarch. As Baloch (1987: 180) points out, the conscicucion 

failed co address the scams of Lasbela, Kharan and Makran. Thus 

the spacial dimension of the scare was finessed, as it had been earlier 

by the Bricish.48 

Even before independence, the Government of Pakistan had been 

trying co persuade the Khan co sign the Agreement of Accession 

and relinquish his claims to the leased lands. The institution of the 

parliament in Kalat and the electoral success of the KSNP increased 

che Government of Pakistan's determination co seccle che Kalar issue 

as soon as possible. In March 1948, the Government of Pakistan 

announced separate accession agreements with the Jam of Lasbela, 

the Nawab of Kharan and Sardar Bai Khan of Makran. Wilcox 

(1966: 104) points out chat che terms of these agreements ceded 

foreign affairs, communications and defence co che federal 

government, but left considerable latitude co the rulers with regards 

co their domestic affairs. The terms dearly descended from British 

paramounrcy. Bai Khan, a local Gichki chief, was expediencly 
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elevated to the newly-created position of the Nawab of Makran, 

and was then authorized by the Government of Pakistan co 

negotiate the scan.s of Makran (Axmann, 2008: 240- 1). The 

Government justified its legally questionable acceptance of che 

accessions on grounds chat the Khan of Kalar was guilty of 

disloyalty co Pakistan. Ahmad Yar Khan was accused of seeking 

alliances with India and Afghanistan, charges which he denied 

(Baloch, 1987: 187). The Khan attempted to summon the sardars, 

but few of chem appeared.49 The Government began co move 

troops to Makran and KaJac, and on 27 March , the Khan signed 

the Instrument of Accession to Pakistan. There were scattered 

protests, probably fomented by KSNP members. Shortly, thereafter, 

prominent nationaJists were arrested, and the Pakistan Muslim 

League (PML) stepped up irs campaign against the KSNP. 

On I 5 April 1958, che Khan's brother, Agha Abdul Karim, 

appealed to the Baloch ro join him in rising up against che 

Accession. Like many dissidents before him , Abdul Karim crossed 

into Afghanistan where he could await supporters and organize the 

resistance but relatively few tribesmen answered his call. so According 

co Dehwar (1994: 328-9), the nationalists were divided on rhe 

question of armed struggle. Some opposed the Prince's action on 

grounds that there was insufficient Baloch support and no active 

support from the Afghan government. Indeed, the Afghans told 

Abdul Karim co accept a refugee status or leave rhe country 

(Breseeg, 2004: 242). On 8 July, Abdul Karim's forces crossed back 

into Pakistan but after a brief skirmish with Pakistani troops, he 

surrendered. A sptcial jirga recommended a fine of RsS ,000 and 

ten years imprisonment for him. Ocher dissidents received various 

fines and sentences. 

After the failed uprising, the Government of Pakistan pressured the 

Khan co terminate Douglas Fell's contract. The Pakistanis claimed 
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that Fell, serving as che wazir-i-azam, should be removed on 

grounds that he was incapable of dealing with palace intrigue, since 

he apparently had -not been aware of Abdul Karim's plans. The 

Khan denied the charge and argued for Fell's retention. Col. A.S.B. 

Shah, (MSFR), charged Fell with mismanagement and inability to 

keep control of anti-Pakistan elements in Kalac. The mismanagement 

charge was subsequently determined to be unfounded, but Fell was 

eventually, persuaded to resign. Brigadier Purves, hired to upgrade 

Kalac's troops, was also removed, although charges against him 

appeared limited to his friendly relations with Fell. Several Baloch 

officials of the Kalar State were also expelled. 51 

The Government of Pakistan had prevailed, but the greater 

challenge was how to integrate Balochiscan into the new state. 

Axmann (2008: 238) points ouc chat, essentially, the Government 

extended the British colonial system to each of the four acceding 

units of Balochistan. In the new paramountcy, an Assistant Political 

Agent (APA) was appointed for each unit co advise the ruler and 

his chief minister { Wtzzir-i-Azam). For Kalar, Lasbela and Kharan, 

this was a return to the status quo ante, and it was reasonably 

successful. However, Mak.ran proved to be more difficult. 52 In a 

move reminiscent of Mir Mahmud Khan, Nawab Bai Khan refused 

to rule, at lease not on the terms sec out by che Government of 

Pakistan. He resisted supervision, interfered with the APA, and 

ignored protocol by contacting the MSFR direccly, bypassing the 

APA. The Nawab's intriguing, which complicated his relations with 

the APA, was probably inevitable, given the long history of 

internecine disputes among the Gichki lineages in Makran. 

Repeated efforts to persuade Bai Khan to cooperate in modernizing 

Mak.ran were of no avail. In 1951, the AGG, Aminuddin, argued 

against maintaining the separate units. His reservations appear co 

have been predominately economic. The Federal Government was 

po ised to cake over che custom ports, abolishing the raxes 
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traditionally levied by the Jam and the various G ichkis. As for 

Kharan, '. .. che state can barely afford her existing ridiculously 

cheap system of administration and, until some way is found of 

making the desert pay increased dividends, cannot contemplate the 

cost of any reforms.'' 3 

By 1952, the Government of Pakistan had succeeded in obtaining 

federation agreements from the four rulers, and the Baluchistan 

races Union (BSU) was founded. It was an expensive organization. 

The acceding princes were granted tax-free privy purses: Kalar 

received Rs425,000, Makran Rs200,000, Lasbela Rsl 70,000, and 

Kharan Rs61 ,000 (Wilcox, 1966: 150). Kalac's Scace Securities of 

Rs4 l ,500,000, which had been frozen by che Government of 

Pakistan, were released co Mir Ahmad Yar Khan as his personal 

property. These securities were purchased from monies appropriated 

from che Khan's cre.1sury by AGG Browne in 1892, during the 

forced abdication of Mir Khodadad Khan. The legal grounds for 

che seizure were d ubious ac best, which is probably why che 

securities were returned co Ahmad Yar Khan. 

The BSU was to have a chief minister appointed by che Council 

of Rulers and vetted by the Government of Pakistan. There was co 

be a Legislative Assembly with nvency-eighc elected representatives 

and twelve appointed sardars. This Assembly wotdd choose 

members of a cabinet co advise the Council of Rulers (Axmann, 

2008: 262). The Council was established, and it produced an 

interim conscicucion. The Wlzzir-i-Azam of Kalar was appointed the 

chief minister for che Union. However, the legisl:uive elections 

never cook place, and the Council deadlocked on most issues 

(Wilcox, 1966: 151). 

Ac che 1954 Sibi Darbar, a number of sardars presented a pecicion 

co the AGG char called for merging che BSU with che Balochiscan 
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Province. T his precipicaced opposicion from the Constituent 

Assembly of Pakistan (CAP), which was scruggling co create a 

national conscicution. In order to forescall an open baccle berween 

che federalists in che CAP and che Governmenc's supporcers, which 

were backing the merger of che scares and provinces of West 

Pakistan into a single unit, the states of BSU were designated 

'special areas', subject to the Chief Commissioner of Balochistan 

but withouc representation in the provincial legislacure. The states 

were thus linked to the province, but not integrated into it. Thus, 

a rather torcured compromise, averred the immediate crisis by 

postponing che administration and allocation of the scares. The 

underlying crisis of representation berween the Eastern and Western 

wings of che country was to prove more serious for Pakistan. In an 

effort to escablish parity berween the wings, che provinces of West 

Pakistan were merged into a single province under the 'O ne Unit' 

scheme in 195 5 and this marked the end of the Kalar policy. There 

was considerable resistance to O ne Unit in Balochiscan with 

widespread demonstrations in defiance of a ban on political action. 

The army moved into Kalar town and detained che Khan, who was 

placed under house-arrest in Lahore. When the army attempted to 

collect the tribesmen's weapons, che resistance sciffened. Lashkars 

formed and engaged in guerilla tactics, especially in southern 

Jhalawan, for more than a year as the government's forces bombed 

villages believed to be supporcing the rebels {Harrison, 1981: 
27-8) . In 1960, representatives of the insurgents and the 

government met to end the hostilities. Apparently, the Baloch 

leaders believed they had an amnesty and safe-conduct agreement 

with the government, but they were arrested {Awan, 1985: 228). 

All were hanged, save Sardar Nauroz Khan, who was given a life 

sentence in view of his advanced age. 
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POLITICS AND llEsISTANCE SlNCE O NE UNIT 

The imposition of One Unit in 1955 fueled Baloch nationalism. 

Although some sardars had accepted ic, che Baloch nationalises chat 

Harrison (1981: 41) calls the criumvirace-Nawab Khair Baksh 

Marri, Acaullah Khan MengaJ and Ghaus Bux Bizenjo-were 

united in their opposition co ic. The federal government revoked 

the sardarships of Mengal and Macri. In response, their governmenc­

appoinced successors were assassinated, army poses were attacked, 

and Marri and Mengal were jailed. 

The reconscicucion of che provinces after che separation of 

Bangladesh posed new problems in Balochiscan. Some Pushcun 

nationalises backed a proposal co sever che former British 

Baluchistan and merge ic into the NWFP (now KP). A coalition 

ed by che Jogezai nawab and che Muslim Leaguer, Qazi Isa, 

advocated creation of rwo prcvinces char would generally conform 

co Kalar and British Baluchistan, respectively. A third proposal co 

retain the borders of che Baluchistan Agency was backed by a 

coalition of both nationalise and tribal BaJoch , along with some 

Pushcun notables. The secclemenc of Quecca was a central 

problem, and a united Balochiscan carried the day (Titus and 

Swid ler, 2000: 58). 

A shore-lived NAP-JUI coalition government was formed in 

Balochiscan after che 1970 elections chat brought ZuJfikar Ali 

Bhutto and The Peoples' Party co power.54 In authorizing che 

provincial government, Bhucco enumerated seven conditions 

relating co cencre-p1ovince rights and duties, che equality of all 

residents of BalochiHan, and proceccion of the Sui Gas complex. 

A.xmann (2007: 234) notes char all seven of rhe conditions were 

violated. The inexperienced and undisciplined NAP government, 

faced an equally undisciplined sardari opposition. There was 

ample room for the central government co exploit the situation. 
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Mazari (2000: 286) believes char Bhuno deliberately played 

Nawab Akbar Bugti against che NAP leadership. The result was a 

series of escaJacing clashes. NAP engaged in an affirmative action 

program, replacing Punjabi civil servants with Baloch. This was 

especially sensitive in che Punjabi-dominated police, and ic led co 

a police strike, and disorder escaJaced across the province. 55 Bhutto 

dismissed the government after ten months, and che NAP leaders 

were arrested. This led co a four-year insurgency, a more serious 

challenge co the scace than the preceding uprisings. 

The insurgency was cen tred in che Marri area, where Sher 

Muhammad Marri led a movement, the Pararis, which had been 

active there for a number of years. He came from a lineage of 

acciviscs. He, along wich his father and uncle, were imprisoned for 

anti-British (and anci-sardar) accivicies during che 1920s and the 

1930s. He was an avowed Marxist-Leninist with no ties co the 

Communise Party of Pakistan, which opposed separatist movements 

on grounds that they undermined national liberation. The Pararis 

aimed to establish a liberated space in che Marci area, from where 

chey could launch a full-scale struggle for an independent 

Balochistan (Harrison, 1981: 29-33). The insurgency sparked a 

largely spontaneous uprising in Jhalawan. Self-selecced leaders, 

ofcen students, organized guerilla bands chat carried our hic-and­

run accacks. 

The insurgents accacked army poses, ambushed military convoys 

and accacked trains. The army responded with ground and air 

accacks and destruction of crops. Estimates of insurgent numbers 

vary widely. Ac the high end, Harrison (1978: 141) escimaces about 

50,000 Baloch were involved in the fighting, 11 ,500 of them in 

organized units. NAP claimed about 3,000 fighters. In 1974, the 

third year of che uprising, the insurgents intensified their campaign. 

In addition co hie-and-run raids, they disrupted rail and road links. 
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T he army responded with expanded helicopter attacks. T here was 

a major army attack in Chamalang Valley, where helicopters had 

h<'rded a large number of Marris, many of them women and 

children. The Marris were subjected to mortar fi re, hel icopter 

gunships and strafin g by fighter planes. O ver a hundred guerillas 

were killed, and almost a thousand captured, along with large flocks 

of sheep and goats. T he Pararis never fully recovered from this loss. 

Like many dissidents befo re them, the Pararis began moving to 

Afghanistan, where they set up camps and received support from 

the Afghan government. They renamed themselves Baloch Peoples 

Liberati on Front (BPLF). In Afghanistan, after ideo logical 

differences had come to the fore and internal factions had weakened 

the BPLF, the insurgency faded away. Bhu tto's turn to the army 

after d ismissing the NAP- JUI government, was pol itically costly. 

Talbot ( 1998: 224) sees it as derailing his effo rt to subordinate the 

military to the civilian government. 

The expansion of higher education under Bhutto in the 1970s, 

fostered the growth of student activism, and new voices entered the 

B;Joch nationalist d iscourse. While the nationalist sardars tended 

to emphasize th e betrayal of the Kalar State sho rtly after 

independence, the students were more interested in the current 

situation of the Baloch . The Baloch Students O rganization (BSO), 

with branches in Q uerta and Karachi, generated several cadres of 

student leaders. Axman (2007: 422- 8) argues that the BSO has 

had a protracted and problematic relationship with the national ist 

sardars. Internal differences with regard to the sardars were cross­

cut with differences over militancy and mod eration. These 

contributed to chronic factional ism in the BSO and the emergence 

of splinter groups. Sardars have affiliated with and abandoned 

student organizations in ways reminiscent of the tactical politics of 

colonial times. Although BSO leaders were repeatedly disillusioned 

by the sardars' opportunistic poli tics and authoritarian leadership, 
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it has been difficult for them to become fully independent from 

them. 

In 1977 General Ziaul Haq led a coup that overthrew Bhutto. Zia 

freed the imprisoned NAP leaders, offered amnesry to insurgent 

leaders, and released several thousand prisoners. The ban on politics 

and the departure of che Mengal and Marri leaders co Europe 

underwrote a relatively calm period in nationalist politics. 

Axmann (2007: 608-10) argues thac the parliamentary decade of 

1988-99 was detrimental to the Baloch nationalist movement. 

Factional leaders struggled among themselves for power and 

parliamentary office. The more conservative nationalist sardars, 

wich the advantage of vote banks, played electoral politics more 

effectively, and the radical wing of the movement essentially 

disappeared. 

The Soviet invasion of Afghanistan in 1979 had significant long­

term consequences for Balochistan. The war generated a flood of 

refugees, mostly Pushtun. le also led to a flood of outside funding, 

largely from the US , to support the mujahideen opposition to the 

Soviets. The Inter-Services Intelligence (ISI) of Pakistan, 

consolidated power by serving as a conduit for the distribution 

of weapons and funds co its client mujahadeen. 56 The presence of 

some 1.5 million refugees heightened tensions between the 

Baloch and Pushcuns. 

The JUI got more votes in the 1988 elections than it had received 

earlier, largely as a result of ethnic and sectarian tensions. Ticus 

(nd: 20) reported some friction between the JUI and Pakhroonkhwa 

Milli Awami Parry (PK.MAP), a Pushtun nationalist organiztion, 

and the NAP during the elections. The nationalists accused the JUI 

of enlisting support as well as illegal votes from Afghan refugees. 

The JUI complained that tribal leaders did not allow JUI workers 
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co campaign in rheir cerritories. The srarus of religious minoriries 

was also a source of disagreemenr as many JUI supporcers would 

like ro see rhe Zikris of Makran declared non-Muslim.57 JUI 

enrered another coaliLon governmenr wirh Baloch narionaliscs and 

i 11dependenrs legislarors. 58 

Conducring a provinc.al census in Balochisran has been a polirically 

charged projecr for many years. Pase arremprs ar enumerarion were 

mer wirh such resistance thar the census was postponed. A census, 

conducred under military supervision, was finally accomplished in 

1988. PKMAP, which had complained about pasr over-counring of 

the Baloch, boycotted rhe census, and many Pushruns rejected the 

1988 resulrs. Release of rhe 2012 census is likely co generate 

challenges from some of the parries. 

h is easy to criticize che Provincial Assembly, as almosr all of che 

f fty-one elected members have ministerial portfolios, which means 

that rhere are more minisrers rhan deparrmencs. The graft and 

corruprion char plague che governmenr at all levels, is a problem. 

However, rhe assembly is an imporcanc polirical arena for 

negoriarion in a province with rwo major erhniciries, boch of which 

are highly facrionalizcd. The national parries-PPP and rhe PML 

(N)-are well-represcnred, although their members pursue local 

agendas, somerimes ar rhe expense of che parry posirion. JUI, also 

a national parry, has been che major Pushrun parry since rhe ftrsr 

coalition governmenr. The Baloch nationalise parries and 

lndependenrs are also important in coalirion-building. Sardars are 

discribuced among rhe parties, and major sardars can usually counr 

on rribal vore-banks. Forming a governing coalit ion is a complicated 

process, and the exchange of supporr for favours conrribuces co che 

unsavoury reputation of the provincial governmenr. 
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10 
The Afterlife of Paramountcy 

AJchough colonialism was imposed upon che colonized, ic can be 

besc seen as an ongoing negociaced relationship between parries of 

unequal power. The aims of colonizers varied in place and rime. 

The colonized, coo, differed in cerms of cheir economic and 

political organ izac on and in che caccics and scracegies chey 

employed co mediate cheir lesser power. The British engaged in 

severa l versions of colonialism in che land char became Pakistan. 

Direct rule was imposed in large portions of Sindh and Punjab, 

where che co nscruccion of extensive irrigation works increased 

agricultural yields char underwrote a new class of large landowners. 

Paramounccy, che principle governing relations between the 

colonial scare and the Khan of Kalar, was a very conservative 

variation of colonia.ism, and officials governed through a modified 

version of che pre-colonial political order. 

Just as colonialism varied in time and space, there was more than 

one path to decolonization. Pakistani independence was achieved 

through conscicucional policies rather chan a liberation struggle. 

Pakistan is 'a nation fo rged not in reaction co a foreign colonial 

master, bur in opposition to competing colonial subjects' (Shaikh, 

2009: 43). Th~e subjects came co be distinguished by religion, a 

differentiation chat scruccured nationalist politics in che final 

decades of the Raj. Thus che idea of Pakistan was centred in 

Muslim righcs rather chan a scare ideology (Nasr, 200 l : 47). The 

vision of Pakistan was largely held by Muslims from North India 
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who came as refugees and provided many of the officials and most 

of che leadership of the new state. Short of resources, unfamiliar 

with many of che citizens of the new state, the fledgling government 

endorsed local alliances established by che British. The decision co 

work through local leaders, who were largely landlords, had 

important consequences. The old bonds of clientage continued co 

shape che lives of the newly-constituted ci tizens, and Pakistan was 

a distant abscraccion for many. Political constraints foreclosed che 

possibility of effective land-reform. 

The ethnic identities chac shape Pakistani policies today were not 

created by the British, buc colonial policies made them salient in 

new ways. By giving local leaders a relatively free hand in 

administering their estates, the British distanced themselves from 

the subjects of these leaders. When the Government of Pakistan 

assumed these colonial relationships, ic was ac che expense of the 

scace. 1 As Nasr (2001 : 51) puts ic, the state was born weak and 

lacked public support. 

Successive governments have dealt wich the legitimation problem 

in two ways. First, they played on fears of neighbouring states, 

especially che chreac posed by India. ' Pakistan's nationalism is 

primarily anti-Indian: chis is che essence of che country's identity' 

Qaffreloc 2002: 38) . The second legicimacion tactic has been co 

turn coward Islam when opposition co a sitting government is on 

the rise. Jalal ( 1995: 234) points our chat tensions between an 

Islamic scare and inclusive citizenship in a nation-state were 

inevitable, since Muslim nationhood does not support equal rights 

of citizenship. Bhutto and Zia both turned co an exclusionary Islam 

co legitimate rheir regimes.2 Shaikh (2009: 43) sees these actions 

as threatening the status of all non-Muslim minorities 'who are now 

in danger of being increasingly regarded as compatriots sharing a 

common territory rather than as citizens with a claim co legal and 
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polirical equal icy.' The narrowing of 'stare Islam' has been associated 

with increasing violence againsr Shias, who comprise abour 20 per 

cenr of the national population (Talbor, 1998: 28). 

TRIBALISM AND NATIONALISM 

Today Kalar denores only a discricr in the province of Balochiscan. 

The largest province in rerms of size, Balochisran has the smallest 

population of all.3 Balochistan falls at the bottom of the national 

scale with regards to infant morcalicy, povercy and literacy. When 

the province attract5 national attention, it is often in ways chat 

highlight its ongoing remoteness. The conditions-nationalism and 

tribalism-that rroubled relations berween Kalar and Pakistan at 

the time of independence, continue to cause tension. Despite 

Zulfikar Ali Bhutto's efforcs co abolish sardari privileges in 1976, 

sardars remain powerful players in the districts that were formerly 

Kalar. The adult sons of sardars, active since the early days of 

Pakistan, have by and large inherited their fathers' powers. In the 

1990s, liberal newsweeklies ran articles derailing Pushcun-Baloch 

tensions and tribal vendettas. Although the articles are generally 

quite insightful in locating tribalism in the larger narional and 

inrernarional concexr, rhe dominanr image is rhe retrograde 

persistence of sardan power. 4 

Maintaining a tribal confederation under rhe guise of a native state 

worked well enough for the British, given their geostrategic aims 

in Balochisran. However, the status differences rhey encoded­

tribal subjecr, Brirish subject, or citizen, a racially reserved scacus 

for British and Europeans-are incongruenr wirh a modern state, 

where ci tizenship is inclusive, based on a notion of status equalicy. 

The persisrence of tribal governance today is an effect of state 

legitimacy compromised by corruption, indifference and lack of 

accountabilicy. The institution of provincial governments in 1970 
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created a space where state and local power commingle, where 

sardars hold elected office while continuing co administer tribal 

governance. Cri~icism of the provincial government echoes the 

charges often leveled against the federal government-rampant 

corruption, nepotism, and incompetence. This suggests that 

governance problems in Balochistan cannot be explained solely in 

terms of what Pakistanis find distinctive in the inhabitants, i.e. 

tribalism and ethno-nationalism. 

Tribalism and nationalism are not dichotomous processes in 

Balochistan . Although each has a vision at radical odds wich 

the other, tribalism and nationalism are complexly interwoven. 

The nationalist movement arose within tribalism, and as long as 

sardars dominated the leadership, the movement did not transcend 

tribal identities. When the BSO ·emerged, it struggled co find an 

independent political voice. 

The persistence of tribalism is rooted in the realm of daily life with 

its ordinary problems and conflicts. Here, subject-status dominates 

citizenship for many Baloch. Subjecthood has its own institutions: 

the jirga and customary law descended from the Frontier Crimes 

Regulations. Mamdani (2001: 654) points out that civil law and 

customary law are radically different, the first being a language of 

rights that set limits co the exercise of power, while the language of 

custom confines the subject within power. Tribal affuiation is not 

the encompassing status that it once was, however. There is a 

shifting from tribe to ethnicity in process, evidenced in the rise of 

the Baloch nationalist movement. Recently the Pushtun refugees 

from the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan have amplified ethnicity 

as some Baloch are concerned about becoming a minority in the 

province. 



294 RI MOTELY COLONIAL 

Tribalism and nationalism have histories shaped by dominant 

powers, first the British, now the Pakistani government. The recent 

history of both should be read against the instability and corruption 

of successive Pakistani governments. There have been three military 

coups since 1947, each followed by years of martial law, during 

which political activity was banned , and many nationalist leaders 

were jailed. These repressive periods weakened rhe positions of 

those nationalists who were willing to engage in parliamentary 

politics to further Baloch aspirations within a Pakistani state. 

An important source of the continuing sardari authori ty is the 

onging use of the jirga to settle disputes. Today it may be a 

government official who seeks to convene a jirga, usually because 

it will produce a rapid decision . Ticus (199 I: I 85-9) notes that the 

government convened two jirgas during the 1980s to adjudicate 

disputes that erupted into riots between Pushtun and Baloch 

transport workers. The government, chat on the o ne hand deplores 

the cont inui ng influence of sardars, yet o n the other hand turns co 

tribal practice ro resolve a labour dispute, is nor only endorsi ng rhe 

jirga, it is extendi ng its scope. In recent years, the jirga has 

expanded in other ways as well. From its base as a local assembly 

to deal with local d sputes, it has been employed in the convening 

of all Baloch by the current Khan of Kalar, and by the Government 

of Pakistan in convening Pushruns on both sides of the Pak.istan­

Afghanistan border. Most ironically, President Musharraf called for 

a jirga to address provincial-centre issues. 5 

A jirga may be an attractive option for a tribesperson because it is 

guided by familiar principles, and it is swift and relatively 

inexpensive while a court case typically goes on for years. The latter 

is perceived to be expensive, not o nly because lawyers need to be 

paid, but also because popul ar belief holds that one must bribe 

various officials in order to obtain a desi red result. Resort to jirga 
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adjudicacion creaccs a complicaced relacionship of favours owed and 

collected becween district officials and sardars. Each parry lends a 

degree of legi cimacy co che ocher, bur che sardars are the bigger 

winners in chis exchange. In addtion to jirga adjudicacion, sardars 

concinue to hold frequent audiences where chey provide a variety 

of services-a leccer of incroduccion, mediacion of village dispuces­

co pecicioners. These audiences, cogccher wich che jirgas, enacc an 

ongoing public cribalism. 

The concemporary jirga is clearly a pose-colonial jirga, fusing cribal 

and nacionaliscic elements. Like its colonial predecessor, it operaces 

ac differenc levels, from village co echniciry. However, ic operaces 

boch wichin and oucside rhe scare. From rhe scare's perspective, ic 

is extra-judicial, a form of vigilancism, yet state officials employ 

jirgas on occasion .6 le appeals ro 'cradirional law' in making a 

decision. Jirgas have become a symbol of tribal backwardness co 

most non-tribal Pakiscanis. Their cencral position in a Pakistani 

discourse marks a critical discinction between a subject and a citizen 

that reinforces tribalism and constitutes Baloch as the ' incernal 

ocher' of the state. The Baloch are seen as passive and gullible, 

either dominated by corrupt sardars or under the sway of 

nationalises engaged in treason. However, for many Bal~ch, the 

scacus of cicizen offers little of che rights, duties and protections 

chat citizenship normally confers. 

There is a tendency co view honour-killings as a discinccive tribal 

practice. Jirga decisions in volving honour-killings gee special 

attencion in che national press. In face, honour-killings are a 

national problem, as chey occur throughout Pakistan. An honour­

killing is an assertion chat women's bodies are sires of masculine 

kin control. In this respect, it is an aspect of a wider tension 

between locality and rhe federal governmenc. 
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Tribal practice, manifest in jirgas and honour killings tends to 

obscure the fact that citizenship is ethnically mediated for most 

Pakistanis. The Baloch are not alone in developing an ethno­

nationalist movement. In the early years of Pakistan there were 

similar movements in Sindh and the North-West Frontier Province 

(now Khyber Pakhcunkhwa) as well. Jaffrelot (2002: 22-6) argues 

that in both the cases, a combination of repressive measures and 

expanded access to government positions, defused them. While 

Baloch nationalises have experienced the harsh repression, rewards 

from the centre have been meager.7 

Baloch grievances against the Government of Pakistan are long­

standing, and the fai lure of the government to address them has 

fueled che growth of the latest phase of the Baloch nationalist 

movement. These grievances-the suppression of Baloch 

nationalism, the failure to invest in economic development, and 

the imposition of large-scale projects like Sui Gas and the Port 

of Gwadar without provincial input-have widespread support 

in Balochiscan. These are not solely 'tribal' issues, they are ethnic 

and economic issues, as well. The government's willingness to let 

them persist, unaddressed for more than half a century, enabled the 

growth of a radical wing of the nationalist movement. 8 Whenever 

the opposition erupts into violence, successive governments have 

curned to force rather chan choosing co negotiate. However, as time 

and experience have repeatedly shown, these issues do not lend 

rhemselves to military solutions. 

Two events, only months apart, were central to the recent escalation 

of violence in Balochistan. Ir is difficulr to see these as anything 

other than the government's determination to demonstrate its reach 

in the province. In late 2005, despite growing resistance to the 

expanding military presence in the province and to the Gwadar 

seaport project, President Musharaf went to Kohlu to announce a 
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package of development projeccs for the discricc. His decision co go 

co Kohlu was intended co demonsuace thac the government could 

impose icself ac will, even wichin Marri cerricory. Federal 

governments have never been very popular in che Marri area, and 

ac the time che army was conscructing a new canconmenc in Kohlu, 

which was an especially unpopular move. The presidential parry 

was subjecced co a rocker accack, which was cermed as an 

'assassinacion accempr' by the government, and co which ic reacced 

harshly. As Musharraf ordered more regular croops co Balochisran, 

the militant nacionalisc groups escalaced their hie-and-run raids. 

In chis cense environmenc of mutual hoscilicy, Nawab Akbar Khan 

Bugci's public opposition co che governmenc was especially 

provocacive. Prior to the Kohlu actack, Bugti had accused the 

governmenc of a cover-up in a rape case at Dera Bugci.9 The 

Nawab, an agile and experienced politician, had a long record of 

opposicion co che governmenc's policies relaced to the nacural-gas 

projeccs at Sui. He deployed the rhecoric of cribal honour to 

pressure the governmenc co pursue the case, in response co which 

government forces mounted a fierce attack on Dera Bugti. Milicant 

nationalises responded wich hie-and-run strikes, blowing up gas and 

rail lines, and attacking police poses. Incense rocketing damaged 

much of Oera Bugri, causing many of che residents co flee 

(Axmann, 2008a: 276-7). Bugci's compound was repeatedly 

targeted, and he went into hiding. He concinued his opposition co 

the governmenc, and kept giving interviews co the national and 

international press. The army attacked his hideout in Kohlu and 

killed him in August 2006. Bugti's death sparked widespread 

demonstrations in Balochistan, which continued despite a curfew 

and mass arrests in Querta. 

The government calls this ethno-nationalist violence 'terrorism', 

and responds with terrorism of its own. In turning to domestic 
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terrorism the scare blurs ic own boundaries, repudiating ics commit­

ment co order char is fundamental for ics legitimacy. le is widely 

held char the security agencies and che Frontier Constabulary are 

largely responsible for kidnappings, disappearances, torture, and 

extra-judicial murdus char occur frequenrly. Local police are 

reluccanc co register or invescigace chese cases. 10 Some underground 

nationalise groups have brought on cheir own terrorism, cargecing 

resident minorities, predominately Punjabis. 

Baloch tribalism is largely che produce of British paramounccy, and 

ic is convenient for c'ie Government of Pakistan co assert char the 

tribes and sardars are outmoded relics of colonialism. However, jusc 

as paramountcy changed tribal formations, so, coo, government 

policy has altered er balism by extending che scope of che jirga, 

further weakening the judicial process. Jusc as some sardars adapted 

to paramouncy, che} have worked within the Pakistani electoral 

system, bur they also maintain complicated and private relations 

with nationalise groups. 

In a similar fashion , the Baloch, past and present, have taken 

advantage of economic opportunities when they arise. Their move 

from pastoral nomadism co mixed economies of culcivacion and 

animal husbandry, and lacer from subsistence co marker production 

in Sharna and neighbouring villages accest co Baloch openness co 

change when it is generated from below. The economic factors char 

linked che Baloch and cheir sardars have changed, and cribal 

loyalties have accenuaced. 

While there is widespread support for che grievances advanced by 

Baloch nationalists, i is unclear how much of chis support extends 

co che caccics of che militant underground. Criticism of sardari 

behaviour is on chc rise, especially among students and civil 

5ervants. The British d id not succeed in finding a 'just balance', in 
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pare, because they denied ordinary Baloch a voice. This is scill a 

chal lenge for both the present and the furure. 

Notes 

I. The rooted cerrirnrialiry of ethnicity posed problems fo r che refugees 

(mohajirs), whose language was the Urdu of North India and who had no 

ancestral land in the new scace. They did become territorial ly clustered, 

seccling in che Sindhi cities of Hyderabad and Karachi. In the early 1980s 

che Mojahir Qaumi Movement {MQM), an organiucion representing che 

mohajirs' interests, emerged in Ka rachi {Verkaaik, 2004: 56-87). 

2. Bhucco declared Qadianis (aka 'Ahmedis') co be non-Muslim, depriving chem 

of some cicizenship righcs. Zia excended chis exclusio n by criminalizing their 

claims co Islam. 

3. Balochiscan comprises abou t 42 per cenc of Pakistani cerricory, bur contains 

only abour 5 per cent of che nacional population (Cohen, 2004: 219-20). 

4. See, for example, 'Tribes' in Newsline, June 1993; 'The Policies of Vendetta', 

in The Herald, September 1994; 'Traditional Justice and che Absent Scare', 

in The Herald, March 1999; ' Holy Crusade· in Newsline, January 1993; 'Can 

Balochistan Survive?' in The Herald, March 1992. 

5. Baloch sardars rejected this overture. See ' BNP Rejects 'Official }irga' on 

Balochistan Issue: Ulterior Morive', Dawn, 30 October 2006. 

6. According ro Lieven (20 I I : 94-7), jirgas are surprisingly popular coday. This 

should probably be read as an indictment of che justice system, although chere 

is a hint of Imperial nostalgia in some of his elite informants. 

7. In 20 I 0, the Govern ment issued Aghaz-e-H aqooq-e-Balochisran, a wide­

ranging sec of proposals and recommendations regarding Balochiscan. The 

proposals dealing wich security have been critici1ed by the Baloch because 

chey expand military presence in the province. The p roposals dealing with 

mega-projects such as Gwadar Pore and resource-exrraccion are also very 

controversial. Given rhe current mucual distrust, implemencacion of much of 

the package seems uncerrain. 

8. Axmann (2008a: 262) daces rhe emergence of rhe militant Baloch iscan 

Liberation Army (Bl.A) co 2000. He argues char che assassination of Justice 

Muhammad Nawaz Marri, a longtime opponent of Nawab Khair Bux Marri, 

was a precip iraring faccor. 

9. T he victim was an employee of Pakistan Petroleum. T he alleged rapist was 

an army officer whose father was said co be close co President Musharraf. 
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I 0. In what is only a partial listing, The South Asia Terrorist Portal (SATP) 

reporced 150 incidents with at least one fataliry in 20 I 0. There were 347 

deaths. In the same year, the Human Rights Commission of Pakistan (H RCP) 

collected a list of 198 missing persons in Balochistan. www.satp.org/ 

satporgtp/councries/pikistan/Balochiscan/index.html, accessed 4/20/2011. 



Coda: Gwadar 

'Miniature donkeys emerging from the sea! Gwadar was a place of 

wonders, slipping through an hourglass' (Kaplan, 2009: 4). The 

visual incongruiries of Gwadar el icir time-bending visions for 

visirors. When a remote place like Gwadar becomes the focus of 

narional , regional, and global aspirations, and multiple srares are 

involved, ir becomes a sire of fanrasies and nighrmares. The ability 

of rhe central governmenr in Pakisran ro impose its ambitions upon 

Gwadar is impressive but limited, as its success has generated an 

inrense response from the local people. T his is a fertile matrix for 

appeals to the past and the future. Is Gwadar the epicentre of a 

twenty-first century 'Great Game', with energy and transport as its 

spoils? Could Gwadar become a Pakistani Dubai or Singapore? At 

the turn of the lasr century Gwadar inspired grandiose schemes. 

There would be pipelines and new highways, an expanded 

international airport and coastal resorr communities. 

Bue Gwadar has also become a site of anxiety and fear. Is it like a 

cavalry pose in che American Wild Wesr, a harbinger of defear and 

displacement? These disparate visions, and their underlyi ng 

anxieries, are fundamental ro the recent explosion of violence in 

the province. 

In 200 l , Gwadar was a small fishing village of about 5,000 

residents, while today irs population esrimates range from 80,000 

to about 125,000 (SchmidJe, 2007: 2; Wirsing, n.d.: 16). At present 

Gwadar is a site of stalled, partially abandoned, developmenr. For 

some local residents, its fai lure was determined by the authoritarian 

way it was imposed. The new century began with land speculation 
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char reached bubble proportions before it collapsed in 2006. 

Following com mo n practice, rhe army personnel were offered land 

at concessionary rates. Many who rook advantage of the offer 

quickly resold their plots at considerable profit. Labour for port 

development was imported. Access ro the port project was closed 

for most locals. These facrors-land speculation and imported 

labour- heightened Baloch distrust of the central government's 

mega-development schemes. Furthermore, the grandiose claims of 

.1 future Dubai on the Makran coasc, fueled anxieties about the 

Baloch becoming a minority within the province of Balochistan. 

Baloch critics of the Gwadar project often cite the Sui gas example. 

l\lchough the gas fields are in Balochisran, the province has received 

itde benefit from them. Royalties are substantially lower than those 

paid in the newer gas fields. There has been little training for the 

few local men, who are employed as unskilled workers. Sui, like 

Gwadar, was a top-down project; the provincial government had 

no significant input in either case. Boch Sui and Gwadar are federal 

cransplanrs with little connection to their environment. 

The Gwadar Project was imposed upon Makran at a time when 

Baloch identity had become a subject of local discourse (Fabierri, 

1986). The patron-client relations char characterized rhe colonial 

period had been undermined by new econom ic options. Young 

men were choosing labour migration to rhe Gulf Scares rather than 

spend their lives in cultivation. Their remittances fueled demand 

for manufactured goods, and some Baloch moved into the local 

commercial sector. Profits from smuggling, a longstanding activity 

along rhe coast, increased with rhe expansion of rhe drug-trade. In 

the 1980s, many }.lakranis were very conscious of rhe changes 

produced by new sources of income and their impact on patron­

client relations. In this context, rhe international scale of rhe 

Gwadar Project elicited resistance among rhe Baloch. 
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Gwadar is the result of a neoliberal assemblage of national, regional, 

and global interests. China, the major investor in the Port of 

Gwadar, has long envisioned a highway tO Xinjiang that would 

restructure the remoteness of that region. Gwadar has been a 

linchpin in Pakistan's desire to increase energy supplies while 

gaining a greater voice in regional politics. The government backed 

two pipeline proposals, one linking with the energy-rich Central 

Asian Republics, the other to the natural gas fields of Iran. 

Although each has been entangled in neighbourly distrust, 

proponents srill hope to construct them. At a further reach, the 

United States opposes the Iran pipeline for political reasons. 

The Pakistani Government can impose itself militarily rn 

Balochistan, because the army can control the Pore of Gwadar and 

the transport infrastructure in Makran. The nationalists, however, 

have significant support and backing in the towns and highlands. 

Each parry constrains the other as neither can prevail. The conflict 

is political, a disagreement about provincial-centre relations. The 

turn to violent insurgency is the consequence of a government that 

has, over many years and regimes, become increasingly authoritarian 

and violent. The Gwadar Project indicates how easily resistance 

escalates in the face of an unresponsive, often hostile, administration. 
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